Institute of Medical Microbiology and Hygiene Center of Infectious Diseases Faculty of Medicine Saarland University, Homburg (Saar)

Role of the Low Molecular Weight Protein Phosphatases PtpA and PtpB on Infectivity of *Staphylococcus aureus*

A Dissertation Submitted in Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) of the Medical Faculty of Saarland University

2021

By Mohamed Ibrahem Elhawy born on 21.05.1989 in Egypt

Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. sc. nat. ETH Markus Bischoff Univ.-Prof. Dr. med. Thomas Volk Univ.-Prof. Dr. med. Karsten Becker

Univ.-Prof. Dr. med. Michael D. Menger

Tag des Promotionskolloquiums: 15.06.2022

Dekan:

Declaration

The work presented in this thesis was carried out in the period from April 2017 till July 2021 in the Institute of Medical Microbiology and Hygiene (IMMH) at Saarland University.

This thesis is written in a cumulative way and the corresponding publications are presented in the results section of this thesis after having a permission from the participating authors. A complete list of publications of the author of this thesis is presented in the publications and conferences section. The author of this thesis is the main author and/or a co-author in the following peer-reviewed publications:

- <u>Elhawy, M.I.</u>, Molle, V., Becker, S.L., Bischoff, M., 2021. The Low-Molecular Weight Protein Arginine Phosphatase PtpB Affects Nuclease Production, Cell Wall Integrity, and Uptake Rates of Staphylococcus aureus by Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes. International journal of molecular sciences: IJMS 22, 5342.
- <u>Elhawy, M.I.</u>, Huc-Brandt, S., Pätzold, L., Gannoun-Zaki, L., Abdrabou, A.M.M., Bischoff, M., Molle, V., 2021. The Phosphoarginine Phosphatase PtpB from Staphylococcus aureus Is Involved in Bacterial Stress Adaptation during Infection. Cells 10, 645.
- Gannoun-Zaki, L., Pätzold, L., Huc-Brandt, S., Baronian, G., <u>Elhawy, M.I.</u>, Gaupp, R., Martin, M., Blanc-Potard, A.B., Letourneur, F., Bischoff, M., Molle, V., 2018. PtpA, a secreted tyrosine phosphatase from Staphylococcus aureus, contributes to virulence and interacts with coronin-1A during infection. Journal of biological chemistry 293, 15569-15580.

Printed with the support of the German Academic Exchange Service (Deutsche Akademische Austauschdienst) (DAAD)

Dedicated to...

My Family My Mother's Soul

Table of contents

Table of contents	I
Abbreviations	
List of Figures	VII
1. Summary	1
2. Zusammenfassung	3
3. Introduction	6
3.1. Staphylococcus aureus	6
3.2. S. aureus infections and diseases	7
3.3. Multi-drug resistance of S. aureus	9
3.4. S. aureus is a well-armed pathogen	10
3.5. S. aureus-host immune cells battles	14
3.6. Protein phosphorylation in bacteria	16
3.6.1. Protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) in bacteria	17
3.6.2. Protein arginine phosphatases (PAPs) in bacteria	20
3.7. PtpA and PtpB in <i>S. aureus</i>	21
3.8. Protein phosphatases as potential drug targets	23
4. Aim of thesis	25
5. Results	26
Article (I)	27
Article (II)	45
Article (III)	65
6. Discussion and conclusion	81
6.1. Discussion	81

6.2. Conclusion	90
7. References	
8. Publications and conferences	
9. Curriculum Vitae	125
10. Acknowledgment	

Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Full name
agr	Accessory gene regulator
AMPs	Antimicrobial peptides
Arg	Arginine
Asp	Aspartate
АТР	Adenosine triphosphate
Aur	Aureolysin
B. subtilis	Bacillus subtilis
C3	Complement component 3
CC	Clonal complex
CA-MRSA	Community acquired-methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus
CDC	Centers of Disease Control and Prevention
CHIPS	Chemotaxis inhibitory protein of S. aureus
ClfA	Clumping factor A
ClfB	Clumping factor B
Cna	Collagen adhesion
C. burnetii	Coxiella burnetii
CtsR	Class three stress gene repressor
Cys	Cysteine
CWA	Cell wall-anchored
Da	Dalton
dAdo	2'-deoxyadenosine-5'-monophosphate into 2'-deoxyadenosine
DEA/NO	Diethylamine NONOate
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DSps	Dual specific phosphatases
Еар	Extracellular adherence protein
ECDC	European Centre of Disease Control and Prevention

eDNA	Extracellular DNA
Efp	Extracellular fibrinogen binding protein
ECM	Extracellular matrix
Efb	extracellular fibrinogen binding protein
Emp	Extracellular matrix protein
ETA	Exfoliative toxin A
ЕТВ	Exfoliative toxin B
ETs	Exfoliative toxins
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
Fc region	Fragment crystallizable region
FLIPr	Formyl peptide receptor-like 1 inhibitor
FnBPs	Fibronectin binding proteins
FnBPA	Fibronectin binding protein A
FnBPB	Fibronectin binding protein B
fMLP	Formyl-Methionine-Leucine-Phenylalanine
GC	Guanine cytosine
HA-MRSA	Health-care associated methicillin resistant S. aureus
His	Histidine
Hla	Hemolysin α
Hlb	Hemolysin β
IE	Infective endocarditis
IAIs	Implant-associated infections
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1
lgG	Immunoglobulin G
IL	Interleukin
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
kDa	kiloDalton
LipA	Listeria phosphatase A
L. monocytogens	Listeria monocytogens
LMW-PPs	Low molecular weight protein phosphatases
LMW-PTPs	Low molecular weight-protein tyrosine phosphatases
Мbp	Mega base pairs
MDMs	Monocyte-derived macrophages
MOF	Multiple organ failure
MPtpA	Mycobacterium Protein tyrosine phosphatase A
MPtpB	Mycobacterium Protein tyrosine phosphatase B

MRSA	Methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus
Mtb	Mycobacterium tuberculosis
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenosine dinucleotide phosphate
NETs	Neutrophil extracellular traps
nm	Nanometer
NO.	Nitric oxide
NPPCs	Non-professional phagocytic cells
nuc	Nuclease
P-loop	Phosphate binding loop
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PAPs	Protein arginine phosphatases
pArg	Phosphorylated arginine
PGN	Peptideolycan
PHPs	Polymerase and histidinol family of phosphoesterases
PMNs	Polymorphonuclear leukocytes
PPs	Protein phosphatases
PRRs	Pattern recognition receptors
PTMs	Post-transnational modifications
PtpA	Protein tyrosine phosphatase A
PtpB	Protein tyrosine phosphatase B
PTPs	Protein tyrosine phosphatases
PTSAgs	Pyrogenic toxin superantigens
psm-α	Phenol soluble modulin-α
PVL	Panton-Valentine leukocidin
qRT-PCR	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
RKI	Robert Koch Institute
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SAK	Staphylokinase
S. aureus	Staphylococcus aureus
S. typhi	Salmonella typhi
S. typhimurium	Salmonella typhimurium
SaPIs	Staphylococcus aureus pathogenicity islands
SCIN	Staphylococcal complement inhibitor
ScpA	Staphopain A
SEM	Scanning electron microscope
Ser	Serine

SEs	Staphylococcal enterotoxins
SERAMS	Secretable expanded repertoire adhesive molecules
S. flexneri	Shigella flexneri
SpA	Staphylococcal protein A
spp.	Species
S. pneumoniae	Streptococcus pneumoniae
SptP	Salmonella protein tyrosine phosphatase
SSIs	Surgical site infections
SSSS	Staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome
SSTIs	Skin and soft tissue infections
StK1	Serine/Threonine protein kinase
STKs	Serine/Threonine kinases
Thr	Theronine
TLRs	Toll like receptors
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha
TSB	Trypticase soy broth
TSS	Toxic shock syndrome
TSST-1	Toxic shock syndrome toxin-1
Tyr	Tyrosine
WHO	World Health Organization
H ₂ O ₂	Hydrogen peroxide
μΜ	Micromolar
μm	Micrometer
α	Alpha
β	Beta
Y	Gamma
δ	Delta
Δ	Deletion

List of figures

Figure 3.1: SEM of S. aureus.	.6
Figure 3.2: Virulence factors of <i>S. aureus</i>	11
Figure 3.3: PTPs in bacterial pathogens and their impact on host cells	18
Figure 3.4: 3D-Structures of PtpA and PtpB in S. aureus	22

1. Summary

The bacterium, Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus) is an opportunistic pathogen which can infect a variety of tissues resulting in a wide spectrum of infections ranging from mild cutaneous lesions to serious clinical manifestations such as endocarditis and osteomyelitis. This pathogen is also a common cause of implant-associated infections (IAIs), which are usually difficult to treat. A major characteristic of infections caused by S. aureus is being recurrent and long-standing. This latter characteristic is probably due to the ability of this pathogen to penetrate and survive within different types of cells in the human body including both professional and non-professional phagocytic cells (NPPCs). Many bacterial pathogens that are capable of surviving intracellularly in host immune cells secrete signaling molecules to modulate host cell signaling in order to survive in these cell types. The molecular mechanisms promoting the intracellular survival of S. aureus in professional phagocytes are not fully understood. However, the survival of S. aureus in these immune cells contributes to the dissemination of this pathogen to different body organs during infections using the socalled "trojan-horse delivery system" mechanism. This mechanism is clearly dangerous when macrophages particularly are occupied with viable S. aureus, owing to the mobility and longliving nature of macrophages compared to other immune cells.

Across evolution, bacterial pathogens adapt their genomes in order to be able to counteract adverse environmental conditions during infections. Post-translational modifications (PTMs) of proteins are common mechanisms used by bacterial pathogens to modulate their immune evasion strategies. One common PTM mechanism utilized by many bacterial pathogens is phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of bacterial and host proteins. *S. aureus* is known to use this reversible phosphorylation of proteins to modulate metabolic processes and the activity of diverse global regulators, however its relation to staphylococcal pathogenesis is not fully characterized and asks for further investigation.

This thesis focuses on the characterization of potential roles of two low molecular weight protein phosphatases on the infectivity of *S. aureus*. These two proteins are called PtpA (<u>Protein tyrosine phosphatase A</u>) and PtpB (<u>Protein tyrosine phosphatase B</u>). Both these phosphatases were not fully characterized in *S. aureus* till the beginning of this study, despite

1. Summary

the fact that homologues for both proteins have been already reported to promote infectivity of pathogens such as *Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb)*, *Salmonella typhimurium (S. typhimurium)*, or Yersinia spp. By studying the impact of these proteins on the interactions of *S. aureus* with host cells, especially macrophages, it became clear that both, PtpA and PtpB, play important roles in pathogenesis of *S. aureus* by enhancing the bacterium's ability to survive inside macrophages. Both proteins also promoted the *in vivo* infectivity of *S. aureus* in a mouse model of infection. Moreover, a number of intracellular host proteins were identified as putative binding candidates for PtpA after being secreted inside macrophages during infections. Importantly, the protein Coronin-1A was phosphorylated on tyrosine residues when macrophages were infected with *S. aureus*. This protein is a crucial component of the cytoskeleton of highly motile host cells and is implicated in various immune-mediated responses. Thus, PtpA could be identified as a tyrosine phosphatase secreted by *S. aureus* to promote the intramacrophage survival capacity of this pathogen during infections, presumably by interacting with intracellular host proteins including Coronin-1A.

In the second half of this study, i investigated the impact of a *ptpB* deletion on the stress response and infectivity of S. aureus. Here, i observed that this protein arginine phosphatase (PAP) is also required for the intracellular survival of *S. aureus* inside human macrophages. Subsequent analyses revealed that the phosphatase activity of PtpB in S. aureus is modulated by the oxidative status of the bacterial cell. When mimicking different kind of stresses encountered by S. aureus upon engulfment by macrophages, i noticed that the deletion of ptpB reduced the capacity of S. aureus to cope with oxidative-, nitrosative- and acidic stress, suggesting that PtpB enhances the intracellular survival capacity of S. aureus inside macrophages by increasing the bacterial fitness against the major stresses generated inside these immune cells to kill the internalized bacterial cells. Additionally, PtpB also exerted a protective effect in S. aureus against phagocytosis by polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs). In this regard, cells of the *ptpB* mutant displayed additionally a decreased ability to release nucleases, which are important to degrade the Neutrophil Extracellular Traps (NETs) produced by PMNs upon activation. PtpB is also required for the overall proteolytic activity of S. aureus. Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) analysis uncovered a modulatory effect of PtpB on the expression of various virulence factor encoding genes including $psm\alpha$ (endocing phenol-soluble module α), *aur* (encoding aureolysin), *nuc* (encoding nuclease) and also RNAIII (a regulator of the agr locus). Finally, i found that PtpB is also involved in maintaining the cell wall integrity of S. aureus, presumably by modulating the activity of selected autolysins/regulators involved in cell wall homeostasis.

2. Zusammenfassung

Der opportunistische Krankheitserreger S. aureus ist dazu imstande, verschiedene Organe/Gewebetypen zu infizieren, und dadurch Infektionen der Haut bis hin zu ernsten klinischen Komplikationen wie Endokarditis, Pneumonie oder Osteomyelitis auszulösen. Dieser Erreger ist zudem ein häufiger Verursacher von Implantat-assoziierten Infektionen, die in der Regel nur schwierig zu behandeln sind. S. aureus-Infektionen sind zudem oft wiederkehrend und chronisch, wobei die letztere Eigenschaft vermutlich auf die Fähigkeit des Pathogens zurückzuführen ist, in verschiedene Wirtszelltypen, wie professionelle und nichtprofessionelle Phagozyten inserieren zu können und in ihnen für mehrere Tage zu überleben. Die intrazelluläre Überlebensfähigkeit von S. aureus in diesem Immunzelltyp ist eine wichtige Pathogenese-Eigenschaft dieses Bakteriums, die zur Verbreitung des Bakteriums im Körper des Menschen bis in entfernte anatomische Bereiche beiträgt, ein Mechanismus, der im Englischen als "trojan-horse delivery system" bezeichnet wird. Die molekularen Mechanismen, die die intrazelluläre Überlebensfähigkeit von S. aureus in diesen professionellen Phagozyten erhöhen, sind bisher nicht vollständig aufgeklärt. Für verschiedene andere pathogene Bakterien ist jedoch bekannt, dass sie sich intrazellulär in Immunzellen behaupten können, indem sie dort Signalmoleküle sekretieren, die die Wirtszell-Signalwege so modulieren, dass die internalisierten Bakterienzellen in diesem Wirtszelltyp zu überleben vermögen. Viele dieser Pathogene nutzen dabei post-translationale Modifikationen (PTM) von Proteinen, um ihre Immunevasionsstrategien zu modulieren. Die Phosphorylierung/Dephosphorylierung von Wirtszellproteinen stellt dabei für viele Pathogene eine wichtige Form der PTM dar, die Abwehrmechanismen des Wirtes zu umgehen. Die reversible Phosphorylierung wird auch von S. aureus dazu genutzt, metabolische Prozesse und die Aktivität verschiedener globaler Regulatoren zu steuern. Die Bedeutung dieses PTM Mechanismus für die Infektiosität von S. aureus wurde bisher jedoch nur unzureichend charakterisiert, weshalb weitere Untersuchungen in diesem Bereich wünschenswert sind.

Diese Arbeit fokussierte sich daher auf die Charakterisierung zweier Niedermolekulargewichts-Proteinphosphatasen, PtpA und PtpB, hinsichtlich ihrer Rolle während der Pathogenese von *S. aureus*. Beide Phosphatasen sind in *S. aureus* schon seit

längerem bekannt, wurden bis dato aber noch nicht in Hinblick auf ihre Bedeutung für die Infektiosität von *S. aureus* untersucht, obwohl für andere pathogene Bakterien wie *Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb), Salmonella typhimurium (S. typhimurium)* und Yersinia spp. gezeigt werden konnte, dass Homologe der beiden Proteine wichtige Virulenzfaktoren darstellen. Durch meine Untersuchungen konnte ich zeigen, dass sowohl PtpA als auch PtpB wichtige Virulenzfaktoren für *S. aureus* darstellen, die beide die Überlebenskapazität von *S. aureus* in Makrophagen steigern und die Virulenz des Pathogens während der Infektion erhöhen.

PtpA wird dabei vom Bakterium in das umgebende Milieu sekretiert, um mutmaßlich mit Wirtsfaktoren, wie Coronin-1A zu interagieren. Dieses Protein ist eine wichtige Komponente des Zytoskeletts migrierender Wirtszellen und ebenso für die Immunantwort der Wirtszelle von Bedeutung. Da PtpA auch nach Phagozytose durch Makrophagen innerhalb der Wirtszelle sekretiert wird, liegt die Vermutung nahe, dass auch *S. aureus* durch die Sekretion dieser Protein-Tyrosin-Phosphatase das intrazelluläre Überleben der Bakterienzelle innerhalb der Immunzelle fördert. In Einklang mit dieser Hypothese konnte in Untersuchungen mit einem *S. aureus*-basierten Leberabszessmodell der Maus gezeigt werden, dass PtpA für die *in vivo* Infektiosität von *S. aureus* von großer Bedeutung ist.

Im zweiten Teil meiner Promotion beschäftigte ich mich mit der Protein-Arginin-Phosphatase PtpB. Ebenso wie PtpA fördert PtpB das intrazelluläre Überleben von S. aureus in Makrophagen, anders als PtpA wird diese Phosphatase von S. aureus jedoch nicht in das umgebende Milieu sekretiert, sondern übt ihren regulatorischen Einfluss innerhalb der Bakterienzelle aus. PtpB scheint dabei die Fähigkeit von S. aureus zu fördern, mit Stressbedingungen, wie sie im Phagolysosom von Makrophagen nach Aufnahme von Cargo anzutreffen sind, umzugehen. So verminderte die Deletion von ptpB in S. aureus die Fähigkeit des Bakteriums, mit oxidativem-, nitrosativem- oder Säurestress umzugehen. Weiterführende Untersuchungen zeigten zudem, dass die Protein-Arginin-Phosphatase auch eine protektive Rolle für S. aureus, der Phagozytose durch polymorphkernige Leukozyten (PMNs) zu entgehen, einnimmt. Ebenso förderte PtpB die Sekretion von extrazellulären Nukleasen, einem weiteren wichtigen Immunevasionsmechanismus von S. aureus, den von Neutrophilen gebildeten extrazellulären Netzen zu entgehen. Zusätzlich unterstützte PtpB die proteolytische Aktivität von S. aureus und dessen Widerstandsfähigkeit gegenüber lytischen Agenzien wie Triton X-100 oder Lysostaphin. Darüber hinaus konnte ich zeigen, dass PtpB die Transkription von verschiedenen, für Virulenzfaktoren kodierende Gene beeinflusst, darunter *psm*α (codiert für die phenollöslichen Moduline α1-4), *aur* (codiert für die Proteinase Aureolysin), nuc (codiert für die Nuklease 1) und RNAIII (eine regulatorische RNA und Masterregulator des agr Lokus). Last not least zeigte eine ptpB Deletionsmutante in dem S.

aureus-basierten Leberabszessmodell der Maus eine deutlich verminderte Fähigkeit, vier Tage nach Infektion eine erhöhte Bakterienlast in der Leber und in den Nieren hervorzurufen, und unterstreicht damit die hohe Bedeutung auch dieser Phosphatase für die Virulenz von *S. aureus*.

3.1. Staphylococcus aureus

In 1880, the Scottish surgeon Sir Alexander Ogston reported grape-like clusters of bacteria from slides prepared of pus extracted from an abscess in a septic knee joint and he named them *Staphylococcus* (Greek: *staphyle*, "a bunch of grapes"; *kokkos*, "berry or grain") (Ogston, 1881; Ogston, 1882). Shortly thereafter, the German physician Friedrich Julius Rosenbach was able to successfully isolate and identify the species *S. aureus*, based on the yellowish-orange (golden) pigmentation of their colonies (Latin: *aurum*, "Gold") (Rosenbach, 1884). This golden pigmentation is due to the production of a carotenoid pigment called staphyloxanthin, which exerts an antioxidant activity in this pathogen (Clauditz *et al.*, 2006; Xue *et al.*, 2019). Nowadays, *S. aureus* is described as Gram-positive bacterium that appears in pairs or grape-like clusters when observed using Gram-staining and light microscope (Foster, 1996; Harris *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, the scanning electron microscope (SEM) reveals roughly spherical cells with a relatively smooth surface and a diameter of 0.5 to 1.0 µm (Greenwood and O'Grady, 1972) (**Figure 3.1**).



Figure 3.1: SEM of *S. aureus.* Cells of *S. aureus* are clustered in colonies and appeared spherical with a relatively smooth surface (scale bar is 2 μ m) (N. Bannert, K. Madela, Robert Koch Institute (RKI), 2011).

This organism is non-motile, non-spore forming and grows aerobically or facultativeanaerobically at a wide temperature range of 15-45°C (Foster, 1996; Missiakas and Schneewind, 2013). Furthermore, it is catalase-positive and is often hemolytic when grown on blood agar plates owing to the production of four types of hemolysins known as α -, β -, γ - and δ -hemolysins (Dinges *et al.*, 2000). In addition, nearly all isolates of *S. aureus* are coagulasepositive (Brown *et al.*, 2005; Preda *et al.*, 2021). The genome of *S. aureus* is nearly 2.8 mega base pairs (Mbp) in size with a relatively low genomic GC-content (Kuroda *et al.*, 2001). In addition to this "core genome", *S. aureus* harbors an additional assortment of extrachromosomal accessory genetic elements such as prophages, plasmids, pathogenicity islands (SaPIs), transposons, and insertion sequences (Baba *et al.*, 2008; Malachowa and DeLeo, 2010). This accessory genome constitutes genes mostly encoding virulence factors and antibiotic resistance genes (Jamrozy *et al.*, 2017), making *S. aureus* a very heterogeneous bacterial species (Lindsay *et al.*, 2006).

3.2. S. aureus infections and diseases

Being a part of the human normal flora, S. aureus asymptomatically colonizes the human body (Sollid et al., 2014). Although the nasopharynx is the most important site for S. aureus colonization (Williams, 1963; Peacock et al., 2001), this bacterium can be also found in the intestine, perineum, axillae, and on the skin (Armstrong-Esther, 1976; Wertheim et al., 2005; Bhalla et al., 2007; Acton et al., 2009; Sollid et al., 2014). It is now well-established that, S. aureus permanently colonizes nearly 20% of the human population all the time and an estimated 30% of humans carry S. aureus transiently (Eriksen et al., 1995; Kluytmans and Wertheim, 2005; van Belkum et al., 2009). This commensal relationship is usually unproblematic and harmless to the immunocompetent host, however certain immune-related conditions including a weakened immune system and altered microbiota can stimulate the bacteria to attack its hosting body, which may result in a wide range of diseases ranging from mild infections of the skin to severe and even life-threatening forms of pneumonia or septicemia (Lowy, 1998; Tong et al., 2015). Nasal colonization is now well-known to be closely linked to the incidence of S. aureus-induced bacteremia, where the risk in colonized patients is 3-fold higher than in patients who are not colonized (Marzec and Bessesen, 2016). Besides humans, S. aureus further colonizes mammals including many farming- and household animals such as dogs, horses, sheep, pigs and cattle (Sutra and Poutrel, 1994; Quinn et al., 2011; Smiet et al., 2012), a characteristic representing a potential risk factor for dissemination of S. aureus infections back to humans (Lowder et al., 2009; Haag et al., 2019).

The pathogenesis of *S. aureus* infections involves up to four phases: local infection, systemic dissemination, metastatic infections, and toxinosis (Thomer *et al.*, 2016; Pietrocola *et al.*, 2017; Horino and Hori, 2020). Localized cutaneous infections develop when *S. aureus* is inoculated into the skin through a cutaneous incision or a breach. When reaching the underlying tissue, this pathogen creates its characteristic local abscesses or even induces more complicated clinical manifestations such as furuncles, carbuncles, cellulitis and pyomyositis (Roberts and Chambers, 2005). In this context, *S. aureus* is one of the major nosocomial pathogens, and the most common cause for surgical site infections (SSIs) (Tong *et al.*, 2015, Bhattacharya *et al.*, 2016; Pal *et al.*, 2019), with nearly 2% of all surgical incisions being reported to be infected with *S. aureus* in the United Kingdom (Lindsay, 2008).

If *S. aureus* reaches the lymphatic channels or blood, it may induce bacteremia and spreads systemically to different body organs causing a wide range of infections such as pneumonia, endocarditis, septic arthritis and epidural abscesses (Bamberger, 2007; Clerc *et al.*, 2011). *S. aureus* is reported as a leading cause of blood stream- and infective endocarditis (IE) infections in industrialized countries (Malachowa and DeLeo, 2011; Tong *et al.*, 2015). Additionally, *S. aureus* is one of the main causes of osteomyelitis (Lew and Waldvogel, 2004; Kavanagh *et al.*, 2018), a severe inflammatory disease of bones characterized by necrosis and loss of the bone matrix (Marriott, 2013). Furthermore, implant-related infections induced by colonization of medical devices such as artificial heart valves, intravascular catheters or synthetical joints with *S. aureus* are highly problematic for patients and difficult to be eradicated (Darouiche, 2004; El-Ahdab *et al.*, 2005; Stuart *et al.*, 2013). These infections are induced and even maintained by *S. aureus* owing to a variety of features supporting this pathogen including adherence molecules, invasive determinants and biofilm induction factors (Archer *et al.*, 2011; Heilmann, 2011).

Even without a systemic infection, several specific syndromes can arise due to extracellular toxins secreted by *S. aureus*. The main syndromes induced by such toxins include toxic shock syndrome (TSS), scaled skin syndrome, and food-borne gastroenteritis (Archer, 1998; Tong *et al.,* 2015). Importantly, the toxic-shock syndrome toxin-1 (TSST-1) is a superantigen expressed by several strains of *S. aureus* and induces the TSS (Kulhankova *et al.,* 2014), a severe manifestation characterized by several symptoms including high fever, erythematous rash and multiple organ failure (MOF) (Raumanns *et al.,* 1995). Staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome (SSSS) is another life-threatening condition resulting from disruption of keratinocytes adhesion by the secreted staphylococcal exfoliative toxins (ETs) (Mishra *et al.,* 2016).

3.3. Multi-drug resistance of S. aureus

Infections caused by S. aureus were initially tried to be controlled by penicillin since its implementation on the market in the 1940s (Rammelkamp and Maxon, 1942). However, the extensive use of penicillin resulted in the rapid emergence of penicillin-resistant strains of S. aureus (Rayner and Munckhof, 2005). Nearly all clinical isolates of this pathogen are nowadays resistant to penicillin, and most of these strains secrete a β-lactamase enzyme called penicillinase to hydrolyze the peptide bond in the β -lactam ring of penicillin, rendering it inactive (Heesemann, 1993). Attempting to control the newly emerging resistant strains, the penicillinase-resistant semisynthetic penicillin, methicillin was introduced into the clinical field (Chambers and Deleo, 2009; Jokinen et al., 2017). However, the resistance against methicillin was also reported by the evolution of methicillin-resistant S. aureus (MRSA) strains (Jevons, 1961). Notably, these MRSA strains did not replace other S. aureus strains, instead they represent additional infectious strains (Lindsay, 2008). A major characteristic of MRSA strains is their tendency to accumulate additional resistance determinants that are functional against other classes of antibiotics such as aminoglycosides and tetracycline, rendering these isolates often to be described as multidrug-resistant strains (Trzcinski et al., 2000; Benito et al., 2014; Khosravi et al., 2017).

The glycopeptide vancomycin and other semisynthetic lipoglycopeptides were thus developed and proved to be efficient, despite side effects, against severe infections caused by MRSA strains (Hiramatsu, 2001; Zeng et al., 2016). However, S. aureus managed again to develop a guite fast resistance against vancomycin, and the number of vancomycin-resistant S. aureus (VRSA) isolates is still increasing in the hospital setting, making treatment options against these infections highly limited (Tenover et al., 2001; McGuinness et al., 2017; Cong et al., 2020; Shariati et al., 2020). The Centers of Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) reported at least 11.000 death cases and over 80.000 severe MRSA infections in the United States in 2011 (Dantes et al., 2013). Furthermore, MRSA was reported to be the most prevalent antimicrobial resistant bacterial pathogen detected in hospitalized patients in Europe, North Africa and the Middle East (ECDC, 2012). The percentage of MRSA isolates among S. aureus infections in the hospital setting is still highly alarming, with over 50% of invasive infections in Portugal and Romania being reported to be caused by MRSA strains (ECDC, 2015). In the USA, the CDC reported a slow rate in controlling MRSA bloodstream infections in hospitals, despite of an overall decrease in MRSA infections in this country (CDC, 2019). Initially, infections caused by MRSA strains were thought to be only limited to hospitals (health careassociated methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus or HA-MRSA), however, beginning in the 90th of the last century, they were also increasingly detected outside the hospital setting and known as "community acquired methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus" (CA-MRSA)

infections (Raygada and Levine, 2009; David and Daum, 2010). In this regard, several geographically and genetically distinct CA-MRSA isolates were already observed worldwide (Stegger *et al.*, 2014). In a study performed by Self *et al.* (Self *et al.*, 2016), CA-MRSA strains were reported to be a major cause of community-acquired pneumonia in adults and healthy individuals even without having contact to health care settings. Similarly, several other studies concluded that CA-MRSA isolates are a common cause of severe necrotizing pneumonia (Gillet *et al.*, 2002; van der Flier *et al.*, 2003; Gómez *et al.*, 2009). In addition, Moran and colleagues (Moran *et al.*, 2006). reported that MRSA is considered the predominant causative agent of community associated skin and soft tissue infections (SSTIs) in patients admitted to the emergency departments in 11 hospitals in the USA. Because of this, both MRSA and VRSA strains have been classified by the World Health Organization (WHO) as high priority pathogens emphasizing the urgent need to develop new therapies to treat infections induced by these isolates (Govindaraj and Vanitha, 2018).

3.4. S. aureus is a well-armed pathogen

The ability of *S. aureus* to invade different cells of the body and induce such a wide range of severe diseases is attributed among others to its large arsenal of virulence factors (Figure **3.2**) (Lowy, 1998; Foster, 2004; Gordon and Lowy, 2008; Otto, 2014; Jin *et al.*, 2021). *S. aureus* harbors genes encoding a variety of virulence factors including adhesion molecules, immune-modulatory molecules and toxins (Li *et al.*, 2019). The expression of these virulence factors in *S. aureus* is tightly regulated by a sophisticated network of regulatory molecules ensuring that they are expressed only as needed (Bischoff *et al.*, 2001; Bischoff and Romby, 2016). These factors and regulatory molecules work together in a coordinated manner to support this pathogen to attach to host cells, break down the host immune protective shield, enhance tissue invasion, induce persistence, and establish infections (Kim *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 3.2: Virulence factors of *S. aureus.* Several virulence factors are expressed by *S. aureus* in order to establish infections and subvert the host immune responses. These virulence factors include adherence factors, invasive molecules, toxins and immunomodulatory molecules (adapted from Jin *et al.*, 2021).

A number of cell wall components of *S. aureus* are considered crucial virulence factors in this pathogen. Of importance, the capsule plays a central role in the resistance of this pathogen to the phagocytic clearance by host immune cells (Kuipers *et al.*, 2016). Being a Gram-positive pathogen, *S. aureus* contains a 20-30 nm thick peptidoglycan (PGN) layer which has a protective function in addition to providing a scaffold for attachment of other virulence factors, especially those required for adhesion (Sharif *et al.*, 2009). In addition, PGN fragments released during cell wall turnover induce the release of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) (Wang *et al.*, 2000), a pleiotropic pro-inflammatory cytokine contributing to the inflammatory cascade (Wajant *et al.*, 2003).

Early in the initial stages of growth of *S. aureus*, a variety of cell wall associated proteins are synthesized in order to promote the attachment process in this pathogen. One major class of *S. aureus* adherence molecules comprises proteins which are covalently attached to the cell wall PGN and are commonly known as cell wall-anchored (CWA) proteins (Geoghegan and Foster, 2017). Members of the CWA proteins are staphylococcal protein A (SpA), collagen adhesin (Cna), Fibronectin binding proteins A and B (FnBPA and FnBPB respectively), and clumping factors A and B (ClfA and ClfB respectively) (Foster and Höök, 1998; Lowy, 1998). In addition to adhesion, some of these molecules also mediate immune-evasive functions

during staphylococcal infections. As an example, the staphylococcal protein A (SpA) is 42 kilodalton (kDa) protein that can bind the Fc region of immunoglobulin-G (IgG), thus hindering opsonophagocytosis, because IgG-coated bacterial cells avoid being recognized by Fcreceptors on PMNs (Jansson et al., 1990; Foster, 2005). SpA also contributes to adherence of S. aureus to platelets and damaged endothelial cells by binding to a specific host factor (von-Willebrand factor) under low shear stress (Hartlieb et al., 2000; Viela et al., 2019). Fibronectin binding proteins A and B (FnBPA and FnBPB respectively) attach to fibronectin in the extracellular matrix (ECM) and on the cell surface mediating adherence of S. aureus to human endothelial cells (Peacock et al., 1999). Moreover, the intracellular invasion of S. aureus inside NPPCs depends on the interaction between staphylococcal fibronectin binding proteins (FnBPs) and the cellular integrin α 5 β 1 (Sinha *et al.*, 1999). Clumping factors A and B (ClfA and ClfB) are two S. aureus adhesion factors which are crucial for staphylococcal infections (Moreillon et al., 1995). ClfA is required to the adhesion of S. aureus to the soluble plasma fibrinogen by binding to the C-terminal region of the fibrinogen y-chain (McDevitt et al., 1997; Herman-Bausier et al., 2018). Similarly, ClfB binds to fibrinogen (Walsh et al., 2008) and also to the squamous epithelial cell envelope protein, loricrin promoting nasal colonization of S. aureus (Schaffer et al., 2006; Mulcahy et al., 2012).

Another important category of adhesion factors in *S. aureus* is the so-called "secretable expanded repertoire adhesive molecules" (SERAMS). Members of this group of adherence molecules are secreted but partially rebound to the cell wall and includes exoproteins such as coagulases, extracellular adhesive protein (Eap), extracellular fibrinogen binding protein (Efb), and extracellular matrix protein (Emp) (Chavakis *et al.*, 2005). The main function of these adhesion molecules is to mediate the attachment of the pathogen to host cells and/or to modulate the host immune response. Remarkably, Eap interferes with migration of leucocytes towards sites of *S. aureus* infections by interacting with intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) on the surface of endothelial cells (Haggar *et al.*, 2004; Chavakis *et al.*, 2005). Similarly, Efb contributes to complement inactivation through changing the conformation of the complement component 3 (C3) (Hammel *et al.*, 2007).

In later phases of the infection process, the synthesis of extracellular proteins is activated in *S. aureus*, converting the bacterial cells from being adherent to invasive (Kubica *et al.*, 2008). To accomplish this invasive role, *S. aureus* secrets several exotoxins and enzymes including nucleases, proteases, lipases, hyaluronidases, and collagenases (Dinges *et al.*, 2000). Importantly, *S. aureus* secretes large numbers of cytolytic toxins such as hemolysins, leukocidin, and Panton-Valentine leukocidin (PVL), if equipped with the corresponding genes (Aarestrup *et al.*, 1999; Kaneko and Kamio, 2004). α -hemolysin (Hla) is one of the best characterized and most potent membrane-damaging toxins of *S. aureus*. This toxin acts by

creating pores into the cell membrane of diverse host cells and is particularly active against erythrocytes, lymphocytes, platelets and monocytes (Liang et al., 2011; Vandenesch et al., 2012). Several strains of S. aureus also secrete β -hemolysin (Hlb), which is a type Csphingomyelinase damaging the sphingomyelin of a variety of host cells (Dinges et al., 2000). A two-component toxin is the y-hemolysin (formed as HIgAB or HIgCB), which targets mainly the human red blood cells and leukocytes (Seilie and Bubeck Wardenburg, 2017). The δhemolysin is a low molecular weight exotoxin of S. aureus and acts by forming multimeric structures and lysing many cell types (Novick et al., 2003). This toxin is also regarded as a member of the phenol-soluble modulins (Cheung et al., 2014). Panton-Valentine leucocidin (PVL) is another bicomponent toxin produced only by specific S. aureus isolates and consists of two components, LukS-PV and LukF-PV. Both components assemble in high concentrations into a pore-forming heptamer within neutrophil membranes, thereby inducing neutrophil lysis, or internalize in low doses into the cell to form pores into the membranes of mitochondria, thereby inducing apoptosis of the cell (Kaneko and Kamio, 2004; Boyle-Vavra and Daum, 2007). Furthermore, S. aureus may produce additional types of exotoxins, if containing certain pathogenicity islands, including TSST-1, the staphylococcal enterotoxins (SEs) and the exfoliative toxins A and B (ETA and ETB respectively) (Bohach et al., 1990). TSST-1 and SEs are known to act as pyrogenic toxin superantigens (PTSAgs), owing to their ability to stimulate the proliferation and activation of T-lymphocytes, thereby inducing a cytokine storm during infections (Marrack and Kappler, 1990). ETA and ETB are epidermolytic toxins largely responsible for the induction of the SSSS (Ladhani et al., 1999), a severe desguamating skin rash characterized by hydrolysis of keratinocytes and formation of pusfilled bullae (Leung et al., 2018).

Specifically, human-adapted variants of *S. aureus* also express a variety of secreted and cell surface-associated immunomodulatory molecules to evade the host immune response (Okumura and Nizet, 2014). Remarkably, the chemotaxis inhibitory protein of *S. aureus* (CHIPS) and the formyl peptide receptor-like 1inhibitor (FLIPr) interfere with PMNs extravasation and chemotaxis during infections (Thammavongsa *et al.*, 2015). In addition, *S. aureus* secretes the exoprotein staphylokinase (SAK) in order to inactivate the α -defensins and disturb the human complement system, thus modulating the immune evasion mechanisms used by this pathogen (Foster, 2005; Buchan *et al.*, 2019).

3.5. S. aureus-host immune cells battles

Upon infection, the host immune system immediately starts a battle against invading pathogens such as *S. aureus* by using several protective mechanisms (Koch *et al.*, 2012). As a result, numerous host immune cells, including among others neutrophils and macrophages, are activated and recruited to sites of infection (Chaplin, 2010, Selders *et al.*, 2017).

Neutrophils constitute 50-70% of all leukocytes in the human body, and thus represent a very important part of the host innate immune system (Mortaz et al., 2018). While circulating in blood, neutrophils are attracted to site of infection by chemical mediators which are formed and secreted through diverse host cells at the infection site (Rosales, 2018). After approaching the infection focus, neutrophils recognize the pathogen via interactions mediated by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) such as Toll like receptors (TLRs). These receptors interact with conserved microbial molecules called pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMPs), allowing neutrophils to target and internalize bacterial cells. Uptake of bacteria by the immune cell induces the formation of a phagosome around the internalized bacteria, which will subsequently maturate into a highly cytotoxic compartment called phagolysosome to kill the phagocytosed bacteria (Abbas and Lichtman, 2009). Alternatively, neutrophils have the ability to kill extracellular bacteria without engulfing them by releasing the so-called NETs upon activation (Kaplan and Radic, 2012; Apel et al., 2021). These traps consist of decondensed DNA as backbone known as extracellular DNA (eDNA) together with proteases and antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) such as defensins and myeloperoxidases (Brinkmann et al., 2004). This combined activity of trapping and destroying pathogens have been reported to be very effective in controlling S. aureus infections (Wang et al., 2017). However, S. aureus is not helpless against activated neutrophils and possesses many strategies to resist neutrophilmediated killing. Interestingly, S. aureus may counteract the trapping by NETs via the secretion of nucleases which degrade these immune-decorated DNA nets (Berends et al., 2010; Thammavongsa et al., 2013). Furthermore, S. aureus may modulate NETosis by secreting the SERAM Eap, which is a potent inhibitor of neutrophil elastase (Stapels et al., 2014), a major host factor triggering the decondensation of chromatin and thus NET formation (Papayannopoulos et al., 2010). Additionally, Eap prevent the formation of NETs by aggregating the decondensed DNA on the neutrophil cell surface (Eisenbeis et al., 2018). The S. aureus nuclease-driven degradation of NETs is also deleterious to macrophages because S. aureus converts the DNA degradation products 2'-deoxyadenosine-3'-monophosphate and 2'-deoxyadenosine-5'-monophosphate into 2'-deoxyadenosine (dAdo), which in turn stimulate apoptosis of macrophages (Thammavongsa et al., 2013). Notably, Hoppenbrouwers et al. (Hoppenbrouwers et al., 2018) demonstrated that SpA mediates NETosis in S. aureus in a process linked to the ability of this pathogen to kill neutrophils. Another way of protection

against neutrophils is the secretion of proteases by *S. aureus* in order to inactivate neutrophils. Staphopain A (ScpA) is such a protease produced and secreted by *S. aureus* in order to render neutrophils to be unresponsive to CXCR2 chemokines, thus interfering with neutrophil migration during infection (Laarman *et al.*, 2012). The second Staphopain, ScpB, is involved in staphylococcal spread of infections by interacting with CD31 on the surface of neutrophils (Smagur *et al.*, 2009). Aureolysin (Aur) is a zinc-metalloprotease produced by *S. aureus* which is particularly important for the bacterium after being phagocytosed by the immune cell to protect them inside the phagolysosome by enhancing its resistance against AMPs (Kubica *et al.*, 2008).

Macrophages are another important partner in the immediate battle against infections with S. aureus. In contrast to neutrophils, macrophages are less immunoreactive cells, a requisite for these cells to patrol tissues searching for pathogens (Davies and Taylor, 2015). When facing S. aureus at the site of invasion/infection, macrophages phagocytose S. aureus and subsequently destroy the bacterial cells by using a multitude of killing mechanisms (Pidwill et al., 2021). The importance of macrophages in controlling S. aureus infections was clearly demonstrated when animal models with depleted macrophages were infected. Surewaard and colleagues (Surewaard et al., 2016) reported that depletion of macrophages in mice infected with S. aureus yielded increased bacterial loads and mortality. Likewise, depletion of alveolar macrophages interfered with the clearance of S. aureus infections in murine lung infection models (Cohen et al., 2016). However, macrophages do not necessarily succeed to control S. aureus infections, and they may even act as intracellular niches for S. aureus, thus allowing bacterial persistence and dissemination. Michailova and colleagues (Michailova et al., 2000) reported that S. aureus can survive phagocytosis by rat and mice macrophages. Human monocyte-derived macrophages (MDMs) also failed to kill all internalized S. aureus cells and allowed for an intracellular survival of S. aureus for at least seven days after internalization without killing the hosting macrophages (Kubica et al. 2008). These long-term intracellularly persisting S. aureus cells may even start to kill the hosting cell later to release themselves into the extracellular milieu, which, together with the migrating ability of macrophages within the body, is suspected to significantly contribute to the dissemination of S. aureus within the host by seeding infections at distant anatomic sites (Lacoma et al., 2017). Such a scenario is exemplified by phagocytosis of S. aureus by Kupffer cells in the liver of mice, which is followed by a bacterial escape into the peritoneal cavity, where the bacterial cells were again phagocytosed by peritoneal macrophages. Surprisingly, these two waves of phagocytosis by macrophages were not successful to eliminate S. aureus, instead they provided new intracellular niches for the bacterium, and dissemination of the pathogen to other internal organs was observed (Jorch et al., 2019).

The complement system is a central part of the human immune response against bacterial pathogens (Dunkelberger and Song, 2010). It is composed mainly of several proteins which are activated by cleavage in three different ways: the classical, the alternative and the lectin pathway (Seelen et al., 2005). During bacterial infections, proteins of this system are activated in order to recognize the invading bacterial pathogens, thereby forming enzyme complexes known as C3 convertases (Rooijakkers et al., 2009). These complexes cleave the complement component C3 into two proteins, C3a and C3b (Ricklin et al., 2016). The protein C3b is required for opsonization of S. aureus cells, making them palatable for phagocytic cells during phagocytosis (Cunnion et al., 2004). Deficiency of C3 in mice has been shown to increase their suitability to S. aureus infections (Na et al., 2016). Inactivation of the complement system is one of the major mechanisms used by S. aureus to override host innate immunity and to establish infections. To accomplish this, S. aureus secretes among others Aur to cleave C3 to C3b, which is then degraded by the combined actions of factor H and Factor I in the serum (Laarman et al., 2011). This depredation of C3b results in poor opsonization and phagocytosis of S. aureus by phagocytic cells. Similarly, S. aureus secretes the SERAM Efb to inhibit the classical and alternative pathways of activation by binding to the α -chain of C3, thereby blocking its deposition (Lee et al., 2004). Reduction of the enzymatic activity of C3 convertase complexes is also accomplished by the staphylococcal complement inhibitors (SCIN) (Jongerius et al., 2007). Moreover, SpA and SAK inhibit recognition of S. aureus by C1q component resulting in inhibition of the classical complement activation pathway (Laarman et al., 2010; Cruz et al., 2021).

3.6. Protein phosphorylation in bacteria

Reversible protein phosphorylation is a PTM controlling several biological processes in all living organisms (Ubersax and Ferrell, 2007; Sacco *et al.*, 2012; Salomon and Orth, 2013). In these organisms, a wide range of amino acid residues such as arginine (Arg) aspartate (Asp), histidine (His), serine (Ser), threonine (Thr) and tyrosine (Tyr) can be modified (Roskoski, 2012). Bacteria utilize these reactions mainly to adapt to adverse environmental conditions which usually change rapidly (Kobir *et al.*, 2011). This way, adding of negatively charged phosphate groups, usually originating from adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to side chains of amino acids induces a variety of fast transcriptional responses (Johnson and Barford, 1993; Hunter, 1995). Thus, phosphorylation can result in a direct modification of the activity of targeted proteins or establish docking sites for other phospho-binding domains (Waksman *et al.*, 1992; Seet *et al.*, 2006). These domains are required for other downstream protein-protein

interactions and are thus central for phosphorylation-based signal transduction pathways (Jin and Pawson, 2012).

Major characteristics of theses reactions are being dynamic and reversible (Soulat *et al.,* 2002). Thus, phosphorylation/dephosphorylation reactions are controlled by two kinds of opposing enzymes: phosphotransferases (also known as protein kinases) and protein phosphatases. The opposing functions of these enzymes thus control the extent of phosphorylation status of proteins, where kinases add phosphate groups on amino acid residues and phosphatases remove the phosphate moieties from the amino acid side chains (Mijakovic and Macek, 2012). In addition of being important for the regulation of numerous bacterial intrinsic pathways, several pathogens translocate these enzymes into host cells to interfere with host signal transduction pathways (Canova *et al.,* 2014). Excellent overviews on pathogen-encoded phosphatases reported to modify host-pathogen interactions by directly interacting with protein targets within host cells are given by (Whitmore and Lamnot, 2012; Heneberg, 2012).

3.6.1. Protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) in bacteria

Phosphorylation of proteins on Tyr residues has been long considered as a mechanism specific only to eukaryotes, where it comes at the head of many signal transduction pathways, and thus controlling a variety of cellular processes including cell division, cell growth and metabolism (Fantl *et al.*, 1993; Hunter, 1995). Later on, protein phosphorylation on Tyr has been reported to occur in both, Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria as well (Cozzone, 1993). In addition to its considered role as a regulating device of bacterial physiology, previous work linked this PTM also to the virulence and survival capacities of some pathogens (Ge and Shan, 2011; Whitmore and Lamont, 2012). As such, numerous bacterial tyrosine phosphatases were also reported to be secreted into host cells during infections (Whitmore and Lamont, 2012).

Structure:

Bacterial PTPs can be categorized into three distinct groups: eukaryotic-like and dualspecificity phosphatases (DSPs), the polymerase and histidinol family of phosphoesterases (PHPs), and the low-molecular-weight protein tyrosine phosphatases (LMW-PTPs) (Aravind and Koonin, 1998; Standish and Morona, 2014). DSPs catalyze the dephosphorylation of substrates on phosphorylated Ser and Thr residues in addition to Tyr. The DSPs and LMW-PTPs enzymes utilize a common catalytic mechanism that includes the conserved cysteine-X5-arginine (C-X5-R) motif in the phosphate binding loop, where cysteine attacks the phosphorus atom of the phosphotyrosine residue of the substrate (Whitmore and Lamont, 2012). The Arg residue also interacts with the phosphate moiety of the phosphotyrosine (Tiganis, 2002). Members of the LMW-PTPs and PHPs families are specific for phosphorylated Tyr residues and are found across a spectrum of genera including bacteria and eukaryotes (Aravind and Koonin, 1998). In addition, phosphatases of the PHPs family have four motifs in common, termed domains I to IV, which are required for the metal binding (Davis *et al.,* 1994).

Functions:

Since the discovery of the first bacterial tyrosine phosphatase in 1992 (Zhang *et al.*, 1992), a large set of phosphatases has been identified in different bacterial pathogens. The biological significance of these PTPs is still not fully understood, however, in some bacteria, they have been reported to play an important role as secreted effector proteins and are integrated in the potential manipulation of signal transduction pathways of host cells during infections (Kennelly and Potts, 1996; Caselli *et al.*, 2016). In **Figure 3.3**, PTPs and their proposed functions in different pathogens during infections are summarized.





The Gram-negative bacterium, S. typhimurium secretes the LMW-PTP SptP (Salmonella protein tyrosine phosphatase), which is a required for full virulence of the intracellular pathogen in the mice infection model (Kaniga et al., 1996). SptP suppresses mast cell degranulation, which in turn reduces the recruitment of PMNs and facilitates bacterial dissemination (Kawakami and Ando, 2013). Salmonella typhi (S. typhi) is another bacterial pathogen secreting a SptP-like phosphatase called StpA in order to disturb the host cell cytoskeleton during infection (Arricau et al., 1997). Similarly, the PTP YopH is secreted by pathogenic Yersinia spp. into mammalian host cells to block phagocytosis by subverting phosphotyrosine signaling pathways in the host, thus inhibiting bacterial uptake by host cells (Hamid et al., 1999; Montagna et al., 2001). This process is achieved by dephosphorylation of proteins of the focal adhesion complex such as p130Cas and focal adhesion kinase (FAK) which in turn inhibits phagocytes by detaching of actin structures (Persson et al., 1997). In addition, YopH suppresses the degranulation of neutrophils by blocking Ca²⁺ signaling and prevents T-cell activation (Persson et al., 1999; Yao et al., 1999). Coxiella burnetti (C. burnetti) is Gram-negative obligate intracellular pathogen encoding a phosphatase called Acp, which is reported to inhibit the activation of neutrophils via repressing the metabolic burst of formyl-Met-Leu-Phe (fMLP)-stimulated cells (Li et al., 1996). Shigella flexneri (S. flexneri) is another example of a Gram-negative bacterium producing a DSP called OspF, which dephosphorylates mitogen-activated protein kinase and prevent histone H3 phosphorylation (Arbibe et al., 2007). A reduction in histone H3 phosphorylation interrupts the access of the transcription factor NF-kB to the chromosome, allowing S. flexneri to modulate host cell immune response strategies (Whitmore and Lamont, 2012).

In Gram-positive bacteria, PTPs were documented in both pathogenic and non-pathogenic bacterial species. The pathogen *Listeria monocytogens* (*L. monocytogens*) secretes the protein *Listeria* phosphatase A (LipA), which exerts a dual function as a tyrosine and phosphoinositide phosphatase (Beresford *et al.*, 2009; Kastner *et al.*, 2011), and is reported to enhance the bacterial load and inflammatory cytokine production in *L. monocytogens*-infected mice. Of importance, the genome of *L. monocytogens* does not encode proven Tyr kinases (Glaser *et al.*, 2001). Thus, LipA produces these effects mostly by dephosphorylating Tyr-phosphorylated host cell proteins or lipids (Kastner *et al.*, 2011). Likewise, the human pathogen *Mtb* secretes two LMW-PTPs known as MPtpA and MPtpB (abbreviation of Mycobacterium Protein tyrosine phosphatase A and B respectively) (Koul *et al.*, 2000; Grundner *et al.*, 2005). Expression of MPtpA is upregulated when the bacterial cells are internalized in host cells, and it interacts with the host vacuolar-H⁺-ATPase complex and blocks its trafficking to the mycobacterial phagosome, thus hindering the process of phagosome maturation (Bach *et al.*, 2008; Wong *et al.*, 2011). The phosphatase MPtpB
suppresses the innate immune response by inhibiting the production of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) as well as the expression of interleukin (IL)-1 β and IL-6 (Zhou *et al.*, 2010, Fan *et al.*, 2018). In addition, it contributes to the intracellular survival of *Mtb* inside host cells by acting on cytoskeleton proteins such as Coronin-1 and Profilin-1and blocking phagosome-lysosome fusion (Dhamija *et al.*, 2019).

3.6.2. Protein arginine phosphatases (PAPs) in bacteria

In fact, phosphorylation of proteins on Arg residues has become a hot topic in bacterial physiology only recently (Suskiewicz and Clausen, 2016). In a few Gram-positive bacteria such as *Bacillus subtilis* (*B. subtilis*) and *S. aureus*, hundreds of phosphoarginine (pArg) sites were described in the bacterial proteomes (Elsholz *et al.*, 2011; Junker *et al.*, 2018). Initially, YwIE was identified as the first PAP to be discovered in bacteria, which counteracts the phosphorylating functions of McsB, a protein arginine kinase in Gram-positive bacteria (Elsholz *et al.*, 2011; Fuhrman *et al.*, 2009; Fuhrmann *et al.*, 2013). Trentini *et al.* (Trentini *et al.*, 2016) stated that both proteins are required for the regulation of pArg-based cellular pathways. Further studies categorized the pArg-phosphatase YwIE within the LMW-PTPs family and it was initially thought that YwIE acts only on phosphorylated Tyr residues (Xu *et al.*, 2006), as it adopts the conserved set of active site residues specific for this family of phosphatases (Zhang, 2003). Surprisingly, Fuhrman and colleagues (Fuhrmann *et al.*, 2013) observed that YwIE is highly specific to target pArg residues, and its activity towards pArg residues is attributed to a Thr residue within the catalytic loop CXXXTCR (S/R).

Arg phosphorylation is also known to affect the regulation of various cellular functions in bacteria (Schmidt *et al.*, 2014). The McsB/YwlE pair was shown to regulate the activity of the heat shock response regulator CtsR (Class three stress gene Repressor) of *B. subtilis*, a central transcription factor involved in stress adaptation in Gram-positive bacteria. Under stress conditions, *B. subtilis* releases McsB to phosphorylate and inhibit CtsR by displacing it from DNA preventing the protein-DNA complex formation, which intern increases the expression of the two heat shock genes: *clpC* and *clpP* (Derre *et al.*, 1999; Fuhrmann *et al.*, 2009). Subsequently, the products of these two genes constitutes the ClpCP degradation system required for degradation of misfolded proteins (Michel *et al.*, 2006). Importantly, Trentini and colleagues (Trentini *et al.*, 2016) reported also that McsB-mediated Arg phosphorylation functions as signal for this degradation system, allowing it to recognize stress-damaged proteins. In addition, the highly nucleophilic cysteine (Cys) residue of YwlE acts also as a sensor for oxidative stress forming a reversible disulfide bridge inactivating the protein Arg dephosphorylating activity (Fuhrmann *et al.*, 2016).

3.7. PtpA and PtpB in S. aureus

S. aureus contains a tyrosine phosphatase, called Phosphatase C (du Plessis *et al.*, 2002). This phosphatase is a homologue of protein CpsB, which shows a PHP-activity in *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (*S. pneumoniae*) (Morona *et al.*, 2002). Interestingly, the genome of *S. aureus* encodes two additional phosphatases of the LMW-PTPs family termed PtpA and PtpB (Soulat *et al.*, 2002). Both proteins contain the two conserved active-site sequence motifs (D-P-Y) (amino acids 120 to 122: aspartic acid, proline, tyrosine) and (C-X₄-C-R) (amino acids to 15: cysteine, 4 unknown amino acids, cysteine, arginine), which are designated to characterize this family of phosphatases (Soulat *et al.*, 2002). The genome analysis of different strains of *S. aureus* showed that *ptpA* and *ptpB* are widely conserved across this species. Furthermore, both genes are separated by ~221,000 nucleotides, suggesting that they do not belong to the same operon. By calculating the nucleotide sequence, the molecular mass for both proteins were estimated to be 17,493 Da for PtpA and 15,790 Da for PtpB (Soulat *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, Comparative sequence analysis revealed that both proteins share a sequence similarity of 50% and sequence identity of 27% (Vega *et al.*, 2011).

Structurally, both PtpA and PtpB follow the general architecture specific for LMW-PTPs. On one side, PtpA is a single domain protein with a central connected four-stranded parallel β -sheet forming the active site. Sheet 1 and helix 1 are connected by the phosphate binding loop (P-loop) which harbors the catalytic Cys residue (Cys8). The P-loop adopts the CX4CR motif of LMW-PTPs comprising residues 8 to 15. This motif is also surrounded by five helices. Helix 5 is present on one side of PtpA and two 12 and 15 amino acid long loop regions which are further stabilized by three β -turns are located on the other side (**Figure 3.4A**) (Vega *et al.*, 2011). In addition to Cys8, a second Cys residue (Cys13) is also found in the P-loop and functions to provide protection against oxidative inactivation of the catalytic site (Raugei *et al.*, 2002). On the other hand, PtpB is also a single α/β protein folding into five α -helices and four β -strands which are then connected by a number of unstructured loops. Long helices and loops flank the centrally located and twisted four-stranded β -sheet. The P-loop is located between the C-terminus of the β 1 and the N-terminus of α 1. In addition, a variable loop of residues connects the β 2 and α 2. A long flexible loop harboring the DPY motif connects the α 4 and α 5 helices. (**Figure 3.4B**) (Mukherjee *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 3.4: 3D-Structures of PtpA and PtpB in *S. aureus.* (A) PtpA consists of 4chain β -sheets (beige) connected to the P-loop (yellow). This loop contains the catalytically active cysteine (Cys8) and is framed by the 5 α -helices (gray) (Vega *et al.,* 2011). (B) PtpB consists of 4-chain β -sheets (turquoise) and 5 α -helices (pink). The P-loop forms the active site and connects β -sheets and α -helices (Mukherjee *et al.,* 2009).

Both PtpA and PtpB showed reactivity toward phosphorylated Tyr substrates in S. aureus (Soulat et al., 2002; Mukherjee et al., 2009). Notably, deletion of ptpA or ptpB did neither influence the *in vitro* growth kinetics nor the cell wall integrity of S. aureus if cultured in rich medium (Vega et al., 2011), leading to the assumption that both phosphatases might be involved in infectivity of this bacterium (Vega et al., 2011). Interestingly, Brelle and colleagues (Brelle et al., 2016) reported that S. aureus secretes substantial amounts of PtpA into the growth medium during the *in vitro* culturing, even though this protein shows no obvious export pathway signal at its N-terminus. PtpB was originally categorized as LMW-PTP in S. aureus with a specificity towards phosphorylated Tyr residues as mentioned previously (Soulat et al., 2002). However, a striking feature of PtpB is its ability to dephosphorylate pArg residues in S. aureus. This feature was only recently revealed by Junker and colleagues (Junker et al., 2018), who observed that deletion of ptpB in the S. aureus strain COL, a MRSA strain belonging to clonal complex 8 (CC-8), produced 207 proteins with pArg sites in the ptpB deletion mutant compared to only 8 sites in the wild-type strain. This finding indicated that the ptpB mutant strain lost its ability to dephosphorylate Arg-phosphorylated proteins. This overlap of Tyr and Arg phosphorylation by PtpB is of major concern, because it indicates that the conserved active site of LMW-PTP might target not only phosphorylated Tyr but also phosphorylated Arg residues, if the catalytic loop consists of a CXXXTCR motif. This dual function might be explained by the fact that phosphorylation of Arg involves the formation of high energetic phosphate ester bonds (Hunter et al., 2012). The chemical properties of these

3. Introduction

bonds suggest the possibility of the occurrence of phosphate transfer to other proteinogenic amino acids such as Tyr, if they are accessible for the catalytic domain.

Among the pArg proteome, a number of regulatory proteins were found to be phosphorylated on Arg residues in *S. aureus* when *ptpB* was deleted, including CtsR and MgrA (Junker *et al.*, 2018; Junker *et al.*, 2019). In *S. aureus*, CtsR act mainly as a repressor of heat shock genes, which is inactivated under oxidative and other stress conditions, thus ensuring a fast and efficient adaption of bacterial cells to such stresses (Elsholz *et al.*, 2011; Wozniak *et al.*, 2012). This inactivation results presumably from the McsB-induced phosphorylation of Arg residues within the DNA-binding domains of CtsR, as has been observed for the CtsR homologue of *B. subtilis* (Krüger *et al.*, 2001). Earlier work on McsB demonstrated that its staphylococcal homologue is involved in pathogenicity (Wozniak *et al.*, 2012), suggesting a similar role for its cognate phosphatase PtpB in *S. aureus*.

The Sar-family transcription factor MgrA is major global multiple gene regulator controlling the transcription of around 350 genes (Luong *et al.*, 2006), which are involved among others in capsule biosynthesis, toxin production, nuclease production and autolytic activity of *S. aureus* (Ingavale *et al.*, 2003). In addition, MgrA acts as an oxidant sensor via its unique redox-sensitive Cys12 residue which is located in the N-terminal helix α 1 in the dimerization domain. Various reactive oxygen species (ROS) including hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and organic hydroperoxide were reported to disturb the hydrogen bound network around Cys12, which in turn results in in dissociation of MgrA from its DNA target sequences. This oxidation-sensing mechanism is used to modulate several signaling pathways utilized by *S. aureus* during infections (Chen *et al.*, 2006).

3.8. Protein phosphatases as potential drug targets

Since protein phosphatases (PPs) represent a large family of bacterial signaling enzymes, they are considered as attractive key targets for new therapies (Martins *et al.*, 2015; Stanford and Bottini, 2017). Despite this, most of the clinical trials aiming to develop new drugs targeting protein phosphorylation are directed towards the inhibition of protein kinases (Cohen, 2002; Kurosu and Begari, 2010). Nevertheless, a number of protein phosphatase inhibitors were also developed as potential drugs, however, the majority of them are exploited against infections caused by *Mtb* and Yersinia spp. (Grundner *et al.*, 2008; Chiaradia *et al.*, 2008, Bahta and Burke, 2012). One such trial targeted the ClpC1 ATPase enzyme, an essential enzyme of the ClpC1P1P2 proteolytic complex required for viability of *Mtb* (Akopian *et al.*, 2012; Gavrish *et al.*, 2014). In addition, specific chemical inhibitors against MptpA and MptpB

3. Introduction

were identified and considered as alterative strategy to using antibiotics. These inhibitors target different mechanisms including the disturbance of the protein catalytic loop (reviewed in Ruddraraju *et al.*, 2021). The PTP YopH produced by *Yersinia* spp. has been also investigated in depth in order to develop specific inhibitors, which act mostly by binding to the active site of this enzyme (Taylor *et al.*, 1996; Phan *et al.*, 2003). Similarly, Hu and colleagues (Hu *et al.*, 2004) performed docking study of the YopH and the *Salmonella* SptP in which they revealed distinctive characteristics in the binding modes of both proteins. In a trial to enhance the inhibitory potency against YopH, Lee *et al.* (Lee *et al.*, 2005) described a modification of the previously characterized monoanionic pTyr mimetic-based PTP inhibitors in which adding the 5-methylindolyl group at the N-terminus resulted in a potent inhibitory effect against the YopH.

Likewise, novel drugs are required to combat infections caused by *S. aureus* and encounter the multidrug resistance developed by this pathogen (Payne, 2008; Nelson *et al.*, 2021). Inhibitors of protein phosphatases have been already considered as promising putative agents to combat infections caused by this pathogen (Jarick *et al.*, 2018). However, the majority of trials focused mainly on developing specific inhibitors against Ser/Thr kinases (STKs), which are important virulence modulators in *S. aureus* (Zheng *et al.*, 2016). A challenge to be overcome is to develop selective therapeutic agents against PtpA and PtpB due to their highly conserved active site. However, several features of the active site and surface organization of the staphylococcal phosphatases, especially PtpA (Vega *et al.*, 2011), supporting the idea that developing new therapies specifically targeting these phosphatases in *S. aureus* might be feasible.

4. Aim of thesis

Infections caused by MRSA strains represent an ongoing health problem, causing high morbidity and mortality (Raygada and Levine, 2009; Turner *et al.*, 2019). This fact has been more complicated due to the emergence of several MRSA strains reported to be resistant against almost all currently available antibiotics (Vestergaard *et al.*, 2019). For these reasons, it is of highest priority to find new treatment methods against infections induced by this pathogen. In order to be able to develop new anti-infectious medicines, there is an urgent need to know more about the molecular mechanisms used by this pathogen to establish infections, especially those involved in interactions of *S. aureus* with the host immune cells.

The low molecular weight protein phosphatases (LMW-PPs) are already well investigated in other bacterial pathogens and linked to the ability of these pathogens to induce and establish infections. The fact that S. aureus contains two LMW-PPs, PtpA and PtpB, which were only partially characterized in this pathogen at the beginning of this thesis work, let to the motivation to investigate and characterize the roles of these two proteins on the infectivity of S. aureus in this thesis. Having the structure of *S. aureus* PtpA and PtpB available in hand from previous studies (Mukherjee et al., 2009; Vega et al., 2011), we are then potentially one step closer to target these proteins. Specifically, i intended to characterize the effects of deletion of *ptpA* or ptpB on the intracellular survival capacity of S. aureus inside macrophages, and the effect of both proteins on the *in vivo* infectivity of S. aureus in a mouse model of infection. Given the impact of PtpB on the Arg phosphorylation of CtsR and MgrA in S. aureus (Junker et al., 2018; Junker *et al.*, 2019), the ability of the $\Delta p t p B$ deletion mutant cells to adapt to different stress conditions was also investigated. In addition, i intended to investigate the effects of a ptpB deletion on the exonuclease activity, and the proteolytic, hemolytic and autolytic activities of S. aureus. In order to gain deeper insights into the molecular mechanisms that are responsible for the PtpB-driven effects on stress adaptation and infectivity of S. aureus, qRT-PCR analyses were planned for stress resistance and virulence genes presumably influenced by PtpB.

5. Results

This cumulative thesis is based on three peer-reviewed publications which are presented in this part.

Article (I)

PtpA, a secreted tyrosine phosphatase from *Staphylococcus aureus*, contributes to virulence and interacts with coronin-1A during infection

Reprinted with the permission from Laila Gannoun-Zaki, Linda Pätzold, Sylvaine Huc-Brandt, Grégory Baronian, **Mohamed Ibrahem Elhawy**, Rosmarie Gaupp, Marianne Martin, Anne-Béatrice Blanc-Potard, François Letourneur, Markus Bischoff, Virginie Molle.

<u>Status of publication</u>: This manuscript was published in *Journal of Biological Chemistry* in October 2018.



PtpA, a secreted tyrosine phosphatase from *Staphylococcus aureus*, contributes to virulence and interacts with coronin-1A during infection

Received for publication, April 20, 2018, and in revised form, August 16, 2018 Published, Papers in Press, August 21, 2018, DOI 10.1074/jbc.RA118.003555

Laila Gannoun-Zaki^{‡1,2}, Linda Pätzold^{§1}, Sylvaine Huc-Brandt[‡], Grégory Baronian[‡], Mohamed Ibrahem Elhawy^{§3}, Rosmarie Gaupp[§], Marianne Martin[‡], Anne-Béatrice Blanc-Potard[‡], François Letourneur[‡], Markus Bischoff[§], and Virginie Molle^{‡4}

From the [‡]Laboratoire de Dynamique des Interactions Membranaires Normales et Pathologiques, Université de Montpellier, CNRS, UMR 5235, Montpellier 34000, France and the [§]Institute of Medical Microbiology and Hygiene, University of Saarland, 66421 Homburg/Saar, Germany

Edited by Ursula Jakob

Secretion of bacterial signaling proteins and adaptation to the host, especially during infection, are processes that are often linked in pathogenic bacteria. The human pathogen Staphylococcus aureus is equipped with a large arsenal of immune-modulating factors, allowing it to either subvert the host immune response or to create permissive niches for its survival. Recently, we showed that one of the low-molecular-weight protein tyrosine phosphatases produced by S. aureus, PtpA, is secreted during growth. Here, we report that deletion of ptpA in S. aureus affects intramacrophage survival and infectivity. We also observed that PtpA is secreted during macrophage infection. Immunoprecipitation assays identified several host proteins as putative intracellular binding partners for PtpA, including coronin-1A, a cytoskeleton-associated protein that is implicated in a variety of cellular processes. Of note, we demonstrated that coronin-1A is phosphorylated on tyrosine residues upon S. aureus infection and that its phosphorylation profile is linked to PtpA expression. Our results confirm that PtpA has a critical role during infection as a bacterial effector protein that counteracts host defenses.

The success of *Staphylococcus aureus* as a pathogen and its ability to cause a wide range of disease patterns are the result of its large arsenal of virulence factors that is controlled by a sophisticated network of regulatory molecules (reviewed in Refs. 1 and 2). A number of experiments assessing the invasion and the intracellular survival of *S. aureus* in endothelial and epithelial cells as well as osteoblasts suggest that such events may contribute to the persistence of *S. aureus* during infections such as endocarditis, bovine mastitis, and osteomyelitis (3).

Other work demonstrated that S. aureus bacteria possess a high level resistance to neutrophil (4) and macrophage (5) mediated killing, and it has been proposed that professional phagocytes may serve as intracellular reservoirs of S. aureus (5, 6). It is nowadays well accepted that the facultative intracellular lifestyle of S. aureus contributes to recurrent infections that are frequently observed with this species (7). The pathogen is able to replicate in the phagosome or freely in the cytoplasm of its host cells, and may escape the phagolysosome of professional and nonprofessional phagocytes, subvert autophagy, induce cell death mechanisms, such as apoptosis and pyronecrosis, or may induce anti-apoptotic programs in phagocytes (reviewed in Ref. 8). Earlier work demonstrated that a subpopulation of ingested S. aureus bacteria can survive for up to 7 days within macrophages (5, 9), and a number of S. aureus global regulators and secreted virulence factors have been identified that contribute to this ability (5, 6, 10-13). However, one strategy utilized by a number of pathogenic bacteria, the secretion of bacterial signaling proteins into target host cells (14, 15), thereby directly modulating host signaling networks, has not yet been studied with S. aureus.

Recently, numerous host-pathogen interactions were found to be dependent on pathogen-secreted phosphatases (16-20). Bacterial tyrosine phosphatases catalyze the dephosphorylation of tyrosyl-phosphorylated proteins, which in turn can result in either the propagation or inhibition of phospho-dependent signaling. Whereas bacterial tyrosine phosphatases can be intimately involved in a number of cellular processes, one major theme has become apparent with the involvement of tyrosine phosphatases as secreted effectors with the potential for manipulation of host cell signal transduction pathways (18). Although a detailed picture is yet unavailable, a role of secreted bacterial protein-tyrosine phosphatases during host infection has been identified in different facultative and obligate intracellular pathogens, and the strategies employed by them are currently being elucidated. For instance, the protein-tyrosine phosphatase YopH is a major virulence factor of Yersinia spp. that is injected into epithelial cells by the type III secretion machinery of the pathogen. YopH can uncouple multiple signal transduction pathways (21), and in human epithelial cells, YopH dephosphorylates several focal adhesion pro-

J. Biol. Chem. (2018) 293(40) 15569–15580 15569 © 2018 Gannoun-Zaki et al. Published under exclusive license by The American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Inc.

This work was supported by grants from the ATIP/AVENIR Program (to V. M. and L. G.-Z.). The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest with the contents of this article.

This article contains Figs. S1-S3.

¹ Both authors contributed equally to this manuscript.

² To whom correspondence may be addressed. Tel.: 33-4-67-14-47-26; E-mail: laila.gannoun@umontpellier.fr.

³ Supported by the German Egyptian Research Long-term Scholarship (GERLS) program.

⁴ To whom correspondence may be addressed. Tel.: 33-4-67-14-47-25; E-mail: virginie.molle@univ-montp2.fr.

teins, including p130Cas (Cas), focal adhesion kinase, and paxillin (22-24). Similarly, Salmonella typhimurium translocates the low-molecular-weight (LMW)⁵ protein-tyrosine phosphatase (PTP) SptP into epithelial cells to reverse mitogen-activated protein kinase activation (25). Moreover, SptP is required for full virulence in murine models of disease (26). Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) secretes two LMW-PTPs, termed PtpA and PtpB (27). Expression of PtpA in Mtb is up-regulated within monocytes, and PtpA is secreted from Mtb into the host macrophage cytosol and disrupts key components of the endocytic pathway, resulting in the arrest of phagosome maturation (20, 28). Human vacuolar protein sorting 33B (VPS33B), a regulator of membrane fusion, was identified as the cognate substrate of PtpA, and it is assumed that PtpA impairs phagolysosomal fusion in Mtb-infected macrophages by dephosphorylation of VPS33B (20). A Mtb ptpB mutant was shown to be impaired in its ability to grow in human macrophages (20), and to display a decreased survival rate in a guinea pig model (29).

A wealth of information has been gained from studies aimed at deciphering the pathophysiological events during S. aureusmacrophage infection (reviewed in Ref. 30), but the signaling pathways leading to these adaptations are still poorly understood. The Gram-positive pathogen is known to produce two LMW-PTPs, PtpA and PtpB (31). Earlier work demonstrated that the S. aureus PtpA dephosphorylates not only protein tyrosine phosphates, but also protein ribulosamine 5-phosphates as well as free ribuloselysine 5-phosphate and erythruloselysine 4-phosphate (32). However, deletion of *ptpA* and/or *ptpB* in S. aureus did neither affect the in vitro growth kinetics nor the cell wall integrity of the mutants, which led to the assumption that the S. aureus Ptp homologs might have some specialized functions during infection (33). Support for this hypothesis is given by our recent observations, indicating that PtpA is secreted during growth of S. aureus, albeit of the fact that the protein lacks a clear export pathway signal sequence (34).

Here we demonstrate that PtpA contributes to the intracellular survival capacity of *S. aureus* within macrophages, and participates in the infectivity of this pathogen. Additionally, we show that PtpA is secreted by *S. aureus* upon ingestion by macrophages, and identify potential PtpA interaction partners within this host cell type.

Results

S. aureus PtpA is required for intramacrophage survival

Given the impact of the Mtb PtpA homolog on the persistence capacity of this pathogen within macrophages (35, 36) and the findings that *S. aureus* persists readily within this host immune cell type we wondered whether the PtpA homolog of *S. aureus* might fulfill similar function(s). For this purpose, *ptpA* deletion mutants in *S. aureus* strains Newman, a frequently used laboratory strain, and SA564, a low passage clinical isolate, were generated. First, we determined the survival rates of S. aureus WT and ptpA mutants within RAW 264.7 cells at 45 min post-gentamicin treatment (pGt) (Fig. 1A). Already after this short period of time, a significantly smaller proportion of intracellular surviving cells were observed in RAW 264.7 cells infected with the ptpA mutants of Newman and SA564, respectively. Cis-complementation of the ptpA mutants with a functional ptpA locus reverted in both cases the intracellular survival rates to levels comparable with WT strains (Fig. 1A). Notably, ingested SA564 bacteria were killed much faster by RAW 264.7 cells than Newman cells. After 45 min pGT, about 80% of the ingested Newman bacteria were still viable and cultivable, whereas this was only the case for 16% of the ingested SA564 bacteria (Fig. 1A). Next, the effect of PtpA on intracellular survival of S. aureus Newman in macrophages was determined at a later infection stage (Fig. 1B). Similar to the situation seen at 45 min pGt, significantly reduced survival rates were observed in macrophages infected with the Newman $\Delta ptpA$ mutant at 22 h pGt when compared with the WT and the cis-complemented derivative, respectively, indicating that the survival defect of the *ptpA* mutant in macrophages is maintained over time. In vitro growth curves performed with WT and mutant Newman strains excluded that deletion of *ptpA* in *S. aureus* might affect the bacterial growth in suspension (Fig. 1C).

S. aureus PtpA contributes to infectivity of S. aureus in a murine abscess model

Because PtpA enhances the survival capacity of S. aureus within macrophages (Fig. 1, A and B), we hypothesized that PtpA may affect the infectivity of S. aureus in vivo. To address this hypothesis, we next assessed the ability of the strain triplet SA564/SA564 $\Delta ptpA$ /SA564 $\Delta ptpA$::ptpA to cause disease in a murine abscess model (37). Consistent with our intramacrophage survival findings (Fig. 1), a significant decrease (about 2-log) in the bacterial loads in liver was detected in mice infected with the $\Delta ptpA$ mutant as compared with mice challenged with the WT strain (Fig. 2). Mice infected with the ciscomplemented $ptpA^+$ derivative SA564 $\Delta ptpA::ptpA$ displayed significantly higher bacterial loads in liver than in $\Delta ptpA$ mutant-challenged mice, although the levels remained lower as seen in WT-challenged animals, however, this effect was not statistically significant (p = 0.215). These data suggest that PtpA positively contributes to the infectivity of S. aureus in mice.

PtpA is secreted intracellularly upon S. aureus macrophage infection

We recently demonstrated that PtpA was secreted into the extracellular milieu by *S. aureus* under *in vitro* growth conditions (34). To test whether PtpA might be also secreted by *S. aureus* into the host macrophage, we used the *cis*-complemented *S. aureus* derivative Newman $\Delta ptpA$.:ptpA_FLAG (34), which facilitates detection of the expressed PtpA by anti-FLAG immunoblotting. Macrophages were infected with the Newman $\Delta ptpA$ mutant or the *cis*-complemented Newman $\Delta ptpA$.:ptpA_Flag derivative expressing PtpA_FLAG, lysed at different time points pGt, separated from the intracellular bac-

⁵ The abbreviations used are: LMW, low-molecular-weight; PTP, protein-tyrosine phosphatase; VPS, vacuolar protein sorting; pGt, post-gentamicin treatment; GFP, green fluorescent protein; GST, glutathione S-transferase; CorA, coronin-A; Ni-NTA, nickel-nitrilotriacetic acid; TSB, tryptic soy broth; cfu, colony forming unit; m.o.i., multiplicity of infection.



Figure 1. PtpA promotes *S. aureus* **survival in macrophages.** *A*, *S. aureus* short-term survival in infected macrophages. Cells of *S. aureus* strains SA564 and Newman and their isogenic $\Delta ptpA$ mutants and *cis*-complemented derivatives, respectively, were used to infect RAW 264.7 macrophages (5×10^5 cells/ml) at a m.o.i. of 20 for 1 h at 37 °C followed by 30 min incubation with gentamicin. Macrophages were then incubated for 45 min in complete media supplemented with lysostaphin to kill extracellular bacteria that might be released from lysed macrophages during the successive incubation time, and subsequently lysed in 0.1% Triton X-100. Survival rates are given in relationship to the intracellular bacterial cell numbers seen pGt treatment. Results represent the mean \pm S.D. (n = 5), *, p < 0.05; *NS*, not significant (Mann-Whitney-*U* test). *B*, *S. aureus* long-term survival in infected macrophages. RAW 264.7 macrophages (5×10^5 cells/ml) were infected with a m.o.i. of 20 of *S. aureus* strains Newman (*black bar*), Newman $\Delta ptpA$ (*white bar*), and Newman $\Delta ptpA$.;ptpA_Flag (*gray bar*), respectively, and co-incubated for 2 h at 37 °C, followed by plate counting. Survival rates are given in relationship to the intracellular. Survival rates are given in relationship to the intracellular bacteria cell numbers seen immediately after gentamicin treatment. Data represent the mean \pm S.D. (n = 5), *, p < 0.05; *NS*, not significant (Mann-Whitney-*U* test). *C, in vitro* growth kinetics of the *S. aureus* Newman ($\Delta ptpA$::ptpA_Flag (*gray bar*), respectively, and co-incubated for 2 h at 37 °C. Followed by a gentamicin.]

teria and processed for anti-FLAG immunoprecipitation and Western blot analysis. PtpA_FLAG could be detected in increasing amounts in macrophage lysates over time upon cell infection with the *ptpA* complemented Newman strain $\Delta ptpA$::*ptpA_*FLAG, whereas no such signal was observed in Newman $\Delta ptpA$ -infected macrophages (Fig. 3*A*).

To exclude that the PtpA__{FLAG} signal might originate from lysed bacteria, we transformed the Newman $\Delta ptpA$ mutant and the *cis*-complemented Newman $\Delta ptpA$.:*ptpA*_FLAG derivative with the green fluorescent protein (GFP) expressing vector pMK4_GFP. Following macrophage infection with these pMK4_GFP harboring derivatives, no GFP signal could be detected in the cleared macrophage lysates after concentration by GFP immunoprecipitation (GFP-trap, Chrommoteck), whereas strong GFP signals were detected in the bacterial pellets that were obtained from the macrophage lysates by centrifugation (Fig. 3*B*). In the same samples, PtpA__{FLAG} was detected

SASBMB

in the bacterial pellet and after FLAG-immunoprecipitation from the cleared lysates of the Newman $\Delta ptpA::ptpA_FLAG +$ pMK4_GFP-infected macrophages, whereas this signal was not seen in the cleared lysates of macrophages that were challenged with the pMK4_GFP-transformed $\Delta ptpA$ mutant (Fig. 3*C*). Taken together, these findings indicate that the PtpA_FLAG signal detected in the lysate fractions of macrophages infected with the Newman $\Delta ptpA::ptpA_Flag$ derivative was not substantially caused by intracellular bacterial lysis, suggesting a secretion of PtpA into macrophages.

PtpA interacts with several host cell proteins in pulldown experiments

Because PtpA is most likely secreted into host cells, we next assessed whether this bacterial derived phosphatase might interfere with host cell signal transduction pathways. To identify host cell proteins that might interact with PtpA, we

J. Biol. Chem. (2018) 293(40) 15569–15580 15571



Figure 2. Effect of *ptpA* deletion on infectivity of *S. aureus* SA564 in a murine abscess model. C57BL/6N mice were infected via retroorbital injection with 1×10^7 cells of *S. aureus* strain SA564 (*black symbols*), SA564 $\Delta ptpA$ (*white symbols*), and the *cis*-complemented derivative SA564 $\Delta ptpA$::*ptpA* (*gray symbols*), respectively (n = 10 per group). Mice were euthanized 4 days post-infection, the livers were removed and homogenized in PBS to determine the bacterial loads. Each *symbol* represents an individual mouse. *Horizontal bars* indicate the median of all observations. *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; *NS*, not significant (Mann-Whitney-*U* test).

developed a strategy combining the use of the slime mold Dictyostelium discoideum, and our PtpA functional mutants. D. discoideum is a eukaryotic professional phagocyte amenable to genetic and biochemical studies, and in our case allowing the ectopic expression of PtpA in large culture volumes. In a second approach, we used a "substrate trapping" strategy, based on a methodology used to identify substrates for the Yersinia phosphatase YopH in HeLa cells (38), or Mtb PtpA host interactants (20). The latter mechanism-based approach utilized a catalytically defective mutant of PtpA to trap substrate complexes. PTPs contain a cysteine nucleophile (Cys-8 within the highly conserved sequence $C-X_5-R$) that forms a phosphocysteinyl intermediate during catalysis (39). We hypothesized that a cysteine to serine mutation at position 8 of the S. aureus Newman PtpA ORF (PtpA_C8S) would result in a catalytically defective PtpA variant that, like other similar PTP family mutants, might "trap" host substrate proteins by stabilizing the covalent enzyme-substrate complexes. To confirm that the C8S mutation in S. aureus PtpA affects its activity, we first tested the recombinant His-tagged versions of PtpA and PtpA-C8S with the substrate p-nitrophenylphosphate. Our results demonstrate that phosphatase activity of the S. aureus C8S mutant was indeed abrogated (Fig. S1).

Lysates from *D. discoideum* overexpressing PtpA_C8S__{FLAG}, or expressing the FLAG alone as a control, were next incubated with beads coupled to an anti-FLAG antibody. Afterward, beads were extensively washed, and bound proteins were subsequently stripped off and separated by SDS-PAGE before MS analysis. The proteins identified under each condition were compared and purged of those interacting with FLAG alone (Table 1).

The putative interactants of PtpA identified by this approach are involved in different cellular pathways involving cell adherence or endosomal trafficking. Two of them, lysosomal- α -mannosidase ManA and Arf-GTPase-activating protein DDB0167328, likely play a role in cell adherence (40, 41). Lysosomal- α -mannosidases are members of the glycoside hydrolase family 38. They are involved in the catabolism of Asnlinked glycans of glycoproteins and play a vital role in

15572 J. Biol. Chem. (2018) 293(40) 15569–15580



Figure 3. PtpA is secreted in macrophages during infection. A, PtpA secretion in macrophage lysates. RAW 264.7 macrophages (5 \times 10⁵ cells/ml) were incubated for 2 h with either *S. aureus* Newman $\Delta ptpA$ cells or *S. aureus* $\Delta ptpA$ cells complemented with a FLAG-tagged *ptpA* (Newman $\Delta ptpA$::*ptpA*_Flag) at a m.o.i. of 20, and nonphagocytosed bacteria were subsequently removed by gentamicin/lysostaphin treatment. Macrophages were lysed at the time points indicated, centrifuged to eliminate intracellular bacteria, and macrophage lysates were subjected to immunoprecipitation and Western blotting analyses using anti-FLAG antibodies. B and C, control immunoprecipitations to rule out bacterial proteins leaking in macrophage lysates. RAW 264.7 macrophages (5 × 10⁵ cells/ml) were infected with Newman $\Delta ptpA$: ptpA_FLAG harboring plasmid pMK4_GFP and Newman $\Delta ptpA$ harboring plasmid pMK4_GFP at a m.o.i. of 20, respectively. At 3 h pGt, infected macrophages were lysed in 0.1% Triton X-100, and centrifuged at 14,000 \times g. The obtained supernatants corresponding to macrophage lysates were immunoprecipitated with GFP-trap beads (Chromoteck) (B) or with anti-FLAG antibodies coated on agarose-beads (C), whereas the pellets containing intracel-lular bacteria were resuspended in an equal amount of PBS with protease inhibitor mixture and lysed in a bead-beater (Retsch, MM400). Immunoprecipitated proteins and bacterial pellets were resolved on SDS-PAGE and detected with an anti-GFP (B) or anti-FLAG (C) antibody. M kDa, molecular markers.

SASBMB

Table 1	
Major PtpA interactants identified by mass spectrometry	

Protein name	Accession number	Sum PEP score ^a	Coverage ^b	Number of peptides ^{c,d}	Mass
	%				kDa
V-type proton ATPase subunit A	P54647	3216	65	30	68.16
V-type proton ATPase subunit B	Q76NU1	454	35	12	54.84
Coronin-A	P27133	435	33	10	49.18
Cathepsin D	O76856	421	19	6	41.09
Vacuolin-A	O15706	196	13	6	66.25
Lysosomal α -mannosidase	P34098	131	7	4	113.36
Arf GTPase-activating protein	Q9Y2X7	110	10	3	64.89
Phox domain-containing protein vps5	Q86IF6	26	9	2	61.92

^{*a*} Sum PEP score: sum of –log(PEP) (PEP: posterior error probability), which is a probability that a Peptide Spectra Matches (PSM) is incorrect. The lower the PEP, the higher the sum PEP score.

^b % of protein sequence coverage.

^c A peptide is identified by one or more PSM corresponding to relevant MS-MS mass spectra leading to the identification of a peptide. A protein is identified by several

peptides (# Peptides).

^d The cut-off is validated by the SEQUEST HT algorithm and corresponds to at least two peptides to identify the protein.

maintaining cellular homeostasis, cell adhesion during development, viral infection, or immune response (40). Among several functions, Arf-GTPase activating proteins are notably regulators of specialized membrane surfaces implicated in cell migration involving adhesive structures in which the cell membrane is integrated with the actin cytoskeleton (41). Additionally, proteins related to endosome function and trafficking have been co-immunoprecipitated with PtpA: Vacuolin A, Cathepsine D, and Phox domain-containing protein Vps5. Vacuolin A is a flotillin/reggie-related protein from Dictyostelium that oligomerizes for endosome association (42), and Cathepsin D is an aspartic endoprotease that is ubiquitously distributed in lysosomes to degrade proteins and activate precursors of bioactive proteins in pre-lysosomal compartments (43). Vps5 belongs to the family of sorting nexins containing a Phox homology domain and might be a component of the retromer complex. These proteins are involved in regulating membrane traffic and protein sorting in the endosomal system (44). Interestingly, V-ATPase, previously identified as an interactant of M. tuberculosis PtpA (28), was captured also in our substrate-trapping assay, suggesting that in S. aureus a similar interaction might occur. Moreover, the host protein coronin-A (CorA) was identified as putative PtpA interactant (Table 1). Interestingly, the mammalian homologue coronin-1A (Coro-1A) was reported as being retained on phagosomes containing living Mtb, while being rapidly released from phagosomes containing inactive mycobacteria (45). Furthermore, genetic depletion or RNAi-mediated gene silencing of Coro-1A were later reported to inhibit the survival of mycobacteria within macrophages (46-48).

PtpA interacts with coronin in vitro

As Coro-1A was shown to be important for the survival of mycobacteria in infected macrophages (45–49), we decided to investigate the putative interaction of *S. aureus* PtpA and Coro-1A in more detail. First, we performed GST pulldown assays to verify the interaction between PtpA and *D. discoideum* CorA (Dd_Coro-A) (Fig. 4A). Fusion proteins combining GST and PtpA (PtpA_GST) were immobilized onto GSH-agarose beads and incubated with *D. discoideum* cell lysates expressing a myc-tagged-Dd_Coro-A (myc-Dd_Coro-A). Bound proteins were stripped off the beads and subjected to Western blotting analyses with an anti-myc antibody. As displayed in Fig. 4A, myc-Dd_Coro-A was pulled down with the PtpA_GST

SASBMB

fusion, but not with GST alone. This observation strongly suggests that PtpA interacts with CorA from *D. discoideum*, thus supporting our MS findings.

Next, we assayed the interaction of the S. aureus PtpA with human Coro-1A (Hs_Coro-1A) by using a pulldown assay (Fig. 4B). His-tagged versions of PtpA (PtpA_His) and the catalytically inactive PtpA_C8S (PtpA_C8S_His) were overexpressed and purified as previously described (34), bound on Ni-NTAagarose beads and incubated with BL21 lysates expressing the recombinant Hs_Coro-1A protein harboring a GST tag (Hs_Coro-1A_GST). As control, PtpA_His beads were incubated with BL21 lysates expressing GST alone. Ni-NTA-agarose beads without PtpA were additionally incubated with GST or Hs_Coro-1A _GST to confirm that beads alone could not interact with GST fusion proteins (Fig. 4B, upper panel). Protein complexes were pulled down, separated by SDS-PAGE, and transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane before detection by anti-GST and anti-coronin-1A antibodies, respectively. In this assay, Hs_Coro-1A_GST was retained on beads when PtpA_ C8S_His was present, whereas no signal was seen with the PtpA_His version (Fig. 4B, lower panel). Additionally, GST alone did neither in absence nor presence of the His-tagged PtpA fusion proteins bind to the beads (Fig. 4B). Taken together, these data suggest that specific complexes were formed between S. aureus PtpA and Coro-1A either with the D. discoideum CorA or the human homologue Hs_Coro-1A.

Coronin-1A is phosphorylated on tyrosine residues upon infection

To test whether Coro-1A might serve as a tyrosine-phosphorylated substrate for PtpA *in vivo*, we infected RAW 264.7 cells with *S. aureus* Newman and its isogenic $\Delta ptpA$ mutant, respectively, and lysed the macrophages for 30 min and 3 h pGt. The murine macrophage Coro-1A homolog (Mm_Coro-1A) was subsequently immunoprecipitated with an anti-Coro-1A antibody, and the tyrosine phosphorylation status of Mm_Coro-1A was determined by Western blotting analyses using anti-phosphotyrosine antibodies. We observed that phosphorylation of Mm_Coro-1A on tyrosine residues was increased upon infection, and this effect seemed to be influenced by PtpA (Fig. 5A). Infection of RAW 264.7 cells with *S. aureus* clearly enhanced the tyrosine phosphorylation signal of Mm_Coro-1A at both time points analyzed. Interestingly, in lysates of Newman

J. Biol. Chem. (2018) 293(40) 15569–15580 15573



Figure 4. PtpA interacts with Coro-1A *in vitro. A*, the interaction between PtpA and *D. discoideum* CorA was confirmed by GST pulldown assay. The indicated GST fusion proteins were expressed in *E. coli*, bound to GSH beads, and then incubated with *D. discoideum* cell lysates expressing myc-tagged-Dd_Coro-1 (Dd_Coro-A_myc). Beads were washed, eluted by boiling, and bound proteins were revealed by Western blot analysis with an anti-myc antibody. *B*, the interaction between PtpA and human Coro-1A was tested by pulldown analysis. His-tagged versions of PtpA (*WT*) and the catalytically inactive PtpA_C85 (*C8S*) were constructed, produced. and purified as described under "Experimental procedures." BL21 lysates expressing Hs_Coro-1A__{GST} or GST alone were prepared and incubated with the PtpA__{His} derivatives immobilized on Ni-NTA-agarose beads. The bound proteins were eluted and resolved by SDS-PAGE followed by immunoblotting using anti-GST and anti-Coro-1A antibodies. Empty Ni-NTA-agarose beads were used as a control. *, nonspecific signals co-precipitated with PtpA_C85__{His}. *M kDa*, molecular markers.

 $\Delta ptpA$ -infected macrophages, about 2-fold higher phosphotyrosine signals (2.2 ± 0.7; n = 6) were observed at 3 h pGt than in lysates of RAW 264.7 cells that were challenged with the parental strain Newman. Therefore, our results reveal for the first time a tyrosine phosphorylation of Coro-1A, as previous records of phosphorylation for this protein were related only to Ser-Thr residues (50–52), as well as its PtpA-mediated dephosphorylation.

Coronin-1A is not dephosphorylated in vitro by recombinant PtpA

The observation that Coro-1A can be Tyr-phosphorylated, and that its Tyr-phosphorylation status seemed to be influ-

15574 J. Biol. Chem. (2018) 293(40) 15569–15580

enced by PtpA, prompted us to assess whether Coro-1A might be directly dephosphorylated by PtpA, as previously reported for some Mtb PtpA substrates (20). Thus we tested the ability of PtpA and of the catalytically inactive PtpA derivative PtpA_D120A (34) to dephosphorylate the murine variant of Coro-1A. PtpA_D120A was chosen for this dephosphorylation assay as it corresponds to the commonly used phosphatasedefective PtpA mutant PtpA_D126A in Mtb (20, 28, 53, 54). First, Mm_Coro-1A was purified by immunoprecipitation from *S. aureus* Newman-infected macrophages. Equal amounts of the immunoprecipitated Mm_Coro-1A were then incubated with recombinant PtpA derivatives for 30 min and 1 h, respec-

SASBMB



Figure 5. Coro-1A is phosphorylated on tyrosines in vivo but is not dephosphorylated by PtpA in vitro. A, immunoblot analysis with anti-Coro-1A (upper panel) or anti-phosphotyrosine antibodies (bottom panel) of immunoprecipitated (IP) endogenous Coro-1A (Mm_Coro-1A) from lysates of RAW 264.7 macrophages infected with cells of S. aureus Newman (WT) or the isogenic $\Delta ptpA$ mutant. Noninfected macrophages and infected macrophages were treated with gentamicin for 30 min and subsequently incubated with lysostaphin to kill extracellular bacteria that might be released from lysed macrophages during the successive incubation time. Noninfected and infected macrophages were lysed 30 min (NI T30 min and T30 min) and 3 h (NI T3 h and T3 h) pGt treatment. B, immunoprecipitated Mm_Coro-1A from lysates of macrophages infected with strain Newman for 30 min pGt were incubated in the absence (–) or presence (+) of 2 μ g of PtpA_{-His} or PtpA-D120A_{-His} at 37 °C for the time points indicated (*T0*, 30 and 60 min). Proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and probed with anti-Coro-1A (upper panel) or anti-phosphotyrosine (bottom panel) antibodies on the same blot. Contents of Mm_Coro-1A and Tyr-phosphorylated Mm_Coro-1A in lysates of S. aureusinfected macrophages prior to concentration by IP are indicated in the input lane (input). M kDa, molecular markers.

tively. Proteins were subsequently separated by SDS-PAGE and electrotransferred to a membrane. The Coro-1A and Tyr-phosphorylation signals were revealed using anti-Coro-1A and antiphosphotyrosine antibodies, respectively (Fig. 5). However, no clear reductions in the phosphorylation levels of Mm_Coro-1A were observed after incubation with either PtpA or the catalytically inactive PtpA_D120A. All together, these data indicate that Mm_Coro-1A is a bona fide substrate for tyrosine phosphorylation, and that PtpA seems to affect Coro-1A Tyr-phosphorylation in an indirect manner. Notably, a similar observation was made with the Mtb PtpA, which is able to interact with

SASBMB

PtpA affects survival of S. aureus during infection

the V-ATPase subunit H without using this protein as a catalytic substrate (28).

To identify putative Tyr-phosphorylation sites of Coro-1A, we next performed an in silico analysis with the ORFs of the Coro-1A variants used in this study. The alignment of the amino acid sequences of the three Coro-1A homologues identified 94% of homology between the Mm_Coro-1A and Hs Coro-1A ORFs, whereas the Dd Coro-A homologue shared only 38% of homology with the human Coro-1A (Fig. S2). Despite the comparably low degree of conservation between Dd_Coro-A and the two mammalian Coro-1A variants, four Tyr-residues were identified as conserved among the three species. A subsequent alignment of 25 Coro-1A homologs of various eukaryotes including protists, fungi, and animalia confirmed a very high conservation of these four Tyr residues (Fig. S3), supporting the idea that these sites might be involved in the Tyr-mediated phosphorylation of this protein.

In a first attempt to identify the host kinase responsible for Coro-1A Tyr-phosphorylation upon S. aureus infection, we tested the spleen tyrosine kinase Syk on Mm_Coro-1A Tyrphosphorylation, as Syk is highly expressed in RAW 264.7 cells (55), and implicated to play a pivotal role in macrophage-mediated inflammatory responses (56). Moreover, one of the human coronin homologs, coronin-1C (sharing 62% of identity to Hs_Coro-1A at the amino acid level), was previously identified as ligand of Syk in B-cells (57). However, we failed to detect any tyrosine phosphorylation signal on Coro-1A after co-incubation with Syk in our in vitro phosphorylation assays (data not shown), indicating that Syk is not the kinase responsible for Tyr-phosphorylation of Coro-1A.

Discussion

Our results provide the first interactor candidate identification of host partners of the secreted phosphatase PtpA, and its involvement in the process of infection and intracellular survival of S. aureus. The macrophage survival and infection data suggest an important role for PtpA during infection. Our coimmunoprecipitation studies indicate PtpA interacts with a number of host factors including Coro-1A, and revealed that this actin-binding protein can be phosphorylated at tyrosine residues. Together, these findings suggest a role for PtpA as modulator of the host immune response, particularly after uptake of S. aureus by macrophages. As the impact of Tyr-phosphorylation on Coro-1A function/activity was not studied yet, we can only hypothesize that phosphorylation of the Coro-1A Tyr residue(s) might affect the intracellular distribution of this actin-binding protein within macrophages, as it has been suggested for serine/threonine-mediated phosphorylation of coronin-1. Indeed, protein kinase C-dependent coronin-1 phosphorylation on Ser and Thr residues was identified as an important mechanism to modulate the intracellular distribution of this protein during phagolysosome maturation. Earlier work studying the phagocytosis of opsonized zymosan particles by HL-60 leukemia cells demonstrated that phosphorylation of coronin-1 by protein kinase C triggered the dissociation of the actin-binding protein from nascent phagosomes (51). Another study performed with mycobacteria-infected macrophages showed that coronin-1 accumulated on bacteria-loaded phagosomes, and

J. Biol. Chem. (2018) 293(40) 15569–15580 15575

Table 2

Strains, plasmids, and primers used in this study

		Ref. or
Strain or plasmid	Relevant genotype or characteristic(s) ^a	source
S. aureus		
Newman	Laboratory strain (ATCC 25904), wildtype	
Newman $\Delta ptpA$	Newman $\Delta ptpA::lox66-aphAIII-lox71; Kanr$	34
Newman $\Delta ptpA::ptpA$ Flag	Newman $\Delta ptpA$ derivative <i>cis</i> -complemented with pEC1 ptpA Flag; Em ^r	34
SA564	Clinical isolate, wildtype	60
SA564 $\Delta ptpA$	SA564 $\Delta ptpA::lox66-aphAIII-lox71; Kanr$	This study
SA564 $\Delta ptpA::ptpA$	SA564 $\Delta ptpA$ derivative <i>cis</i> -complemented with pEC1_ptpAc; Em ^r	This study
E. coli		
IM08B	SA08BΩP _{N25} -hsdS (CC8–1) (SAUSA300_0406) of NRS384 integrated between the essQ and cspB genes	62
D. discoideum		
DH1-10	Axenic, uracil auxotroph D. discoideum strain	64
Plasmids		
pDXA	D. discoideum vector	63
pFL1290	pDXA-3 × myc-Coronin-A corresponding to pDXA vector with a 1338-kb fragment covering the ORF for the <i>D. discoideum</i> coronin-A (<i>corA</i> ; Gene ID: DDB_G0267382; NCBI reference sequence: XM 642251.1) fused to 3 × myc tag.	This study
pDXA_PtpA-C8S-Flag	pDXA_PtpA-C8S-FLAG corresponding to pDXA vector with a 0.8-kb fragment covering the ORF for the \overline{S} . aureus ptpA gene fused to 3 × FLAG tag.	This study
pEC1	pUC19 derivative containing the 1.45-kb ClaI <i>erm</i> (B) fragment of Tn551	61
pEC1_ptpAc	pEC1 with a 0.8-kb fragment covering the C-terminal part of ORF RT87_RS09705 and the putative terminator region (NCBI reference sequence: NZ CP010890.1).	This study
pETPhos PtpA C8S	Modified from pETPhos PtpA (34)	This study
pCDFDuet GST Cter up1	Modified from Novagen pCDFDuet-1	This study
pCDFDuet-Coro-1A-GST	pCDFDuet-GST Cter Up1 with a 1.4-kb fragment covering the ORF for the human Coro-1A (NCBI reference sequence: NC_000016.10) optimized for bacterial expression and fused to GST.	This study
Primers		
OL989–5'-BamHIx2 (forward)	GGATCCGGATCCATGTCTAAAGTAGTACGTAGTAAA	This study
OL990-3'-XhoIx2-stop (reverse)	CTCGAGCTCGAGTTAGTTGGTGAGTTCTTTGATTTTGGC	This study
Nterm_PtpA_C8S	ATGGTAGATGTAGCATTTGTCAGTCTTGGCAATATATGTCG	This study
Nter_PtpA_flag_C8S_IF_Bam	GAATTCCCGGGGATCCATGGTAGATGTAGCATTTGTC AGT CTTGGCAATATATGTCG	This study
Cter_PtpAflag_Xho_pDXA	ATCTATCTCGAGTTATTTATCATCATCATCTTTGTA	This study
Nterm PtpA Bam_pGEX	TAT <i>GGATCC</i> ATGGTAGATGTAGCATTTGTCTGT	This study
Cterm PtpA Hind IF_pGEX	TATCATCGAT AAGCTT CTACCCCTCTTTCAAATTTGCATC	This study
MBH425	GCAATTAT <u>GAATTC</u> TTTCAATGTTGC	This study
MBH426	GCT GGTACC GAATTAAGAAAAGTTACTTACGCC	This study

^{*a*} Em^r, Erythromycin resistant; Kan^r, kanamycin resistant.

that this protein was actively retained by viable mycobacteria residing inside phagosomes (45) suggesting that the retention of coronin-1 on mycobacteria-loaded phagosomes is responsible for suppressing phagosome-lysosome formation (58). More recent work demonstrated that trimerization of coronin-1 was essential for mycobacterial survival, and that the transition from the trimer to the monomer form was regulated by serine phosphorylation (59). In the light of the latter findings one may speculate that Tyr-phosphorylation of Coro-1A might also affect the spatial distribution of this protein in S. aureus-infected macrophages, and that the bacterium attempts to modulate this process via PtpA. However, it is unclear yet whether Tyr-phosphorylation of Coro-1A affects the trimerization of this protein, and further work is required to understand how PtpA recognizes Coro-1A and/or other putative interactors identified by our co-immunoprecipitation studies, and whether and how they participate in the establishment of S. aureus survival and virulence.

Experimental procedures

Bacterial strains and culture conditions

The bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study are listed in Table 2. *Escherichia coli* strains were grown at 37 °C in LB medium supplemented with antibiotic when required. *S. aureus* isolates were plated on tryptic soy agar (BD Bioscience) supplemented with antibiotic when required, or grown in tryptic soy broth (TSB) (BD Bioscience) medium at 37 °C and 150 rpm. The Newman $\Delta ptpA$ mutant derivatives were pre-

viously constructed (34). The SA564 $\Delta ptpA$ mutant was obtained by phage transducing the *aphA*III-lox-tagged $\Delta ptpA$ mutation from Newman $\Delta ptpA$ into the low passage clinical isolate SA564 (60).

Construction of the S. aureus ptpA cis-complementation strain SA564 Δ ptpA::ptpA

For *cis*-complementation of the *ptpA* mutation in strain SA564 $\Delta ptpA$, a 0.8-kb fragment containing the C-terminal part of ORF RT87_RS09705 located downstream of *ptpA* (RT87_RS09695) was amplified by PCR from chromosomal DNA of *S. aureus* strain SA564 using the primer pair MBH425/MBH426 (Table 2). The resulting PCR product was digested with KpnI/EcoRI, and subsequently cloned into KpnI/EcoRI-digested vector pEC1 (61) to generate the suicide plasmid pEC1_ptpAc. *E. coli* IM08B (62)-derived plasmid pEC1_ptpAc was directly electroporated into *S. aureus* strain SA564. A SA564 derivative that integrated pEC1_ptpAc was subsequently used as a donor for transducing the *cis*-integrated pEC1_ptpAc into SA564 $\Delta ptpA$, thereby replacing the *aph*-tagged *ptpA* deletion with the WT *ptpA* genome region.

Animal studies statement

Animal experiments were approved by the local State Review Boards of Saarland and conducted according to the regulations of German veterinary law.

15576 J. Biol. Chem. (2018) 293(40) 15569–15580

SASBMB

Murine abscess model

Preparation of the bacterial inoculum and infection of the animals were carried out as described (37), with minor modifications. Briefly, 100- μ l bacterial suspensions containing $\sim 10^7$ colony forming unit (cfu) were administered intravenously by retro-orbital injection into female, 8–10–week-old C57/BL6N mice that were anesthetized by isoflurane inhalation (5%; Baxter). Immediately after infection, mice were treated with a dose of caprofen (5 mg/kg; Pfizer), and at 4 days post-infection, mice were sacrificed, and livers were removed. The organs were weight adjusted and homogenized in PBS, and serial dilutions of the homogenates were plated on blood agar plates to enumerate the cfu.

Cloning and expression of PtpA in D. discoideum

For *S. aureus* PtpA-C8S overexpression in *D. discoideum*, the coding sequence of PtpA-C8S was amplified by PCR using the set of primer Nter_PtpA_flag_C8S_IF_Bam and Cter_ PtpAflag_Xho_pDXA (Table 2). The amplified product was digested with BamHI and XhoI restriction enzymes and cloned into *D. discoideum* expression vector pDXA vector (63). The pDXA_PtpA-C8S-Flag plasmid was transfected in *D. discoideum* cells as described (64).

Cloning, expression, and purification of recombinant PtpA derivatives

GST-PtpA recombinant protein was obtained by cloning the *ptpA* fragment generated by PCR using *S. aureus* N315 genomic DNA as a template with the primers Nterm PtpA Bam_pGEX and Cterm PtpA Hind_pGEX (Table 2) into the BamHI-HindIII–digested pGEX vector. PtpA_C8S_His harboring cysteine to serine substitution was generated by using the QuikChange Site-directed Mutagenesis Kit (Agilent Technologies) on pETPhos_PtpA template (34) using the primer Nterm PtpA_C8S (Table 2) thus generating pETPhos_PtpA_ C8S. PtpA-His and PtpA-GST derivatives were purified as previously described (34, 65).

Cloning, expression, and purification of coronin derivatives

The coding sequence of the D. discoideum CorA homolog was amplified by PCR from D. discoideum genomic DNA using the appropriate primers introducing BamHI and XhoI restriction sites, respectively (Table 2). The PCR product was digested with BamHI and XhoI, and ligated into the D. discoideum expression vector pDXA that was digested with the same restriction enzymes. The pDXA 3xmyc-CorA plasmid (pFL1290) was linearized with ScaI and transfected in D. discoideum strain DH1-10. Cells were grown at 22 °C in HL5 medium as previously described (64). Human coronin-1A (Hs-Coro-1A) (gi: 300934762, NP_001180262.1) was synthesized, codon optimized for bacterial production by GenScript, and cloned into pUC57 vector. The coding sequence was amplified by PCR from pUC57 vector, digested by NcoI-HindIII restriction enzymes, and ligated into pCDFDuet-GSTCter-up1 expression vector, thus generating pCDFDuet-Coro-1A-GST. The construct was verified by DNA sequencing. For pulldown assays, lysates of BL21 Star expressing GST-Hs-coronin-1A or GST

SASBMB

PtpA affects survival of S. aureus during infection

alone were prepared as follows. Transformed *E. coli* BL21 Star cells with human coronin-1A codon optimized were grown at 16 °C in LB medium containing 1 g/liter of glucose and 50 μ g/ml of spectinomycin and protein synthesis induced with 0.5 mM isopropyl 1-thio- β -D-galactopyranoside overnight. Bacteria expressing GST-Hs-coronin-1A or GST alone were disrupted by sonication (Branson, digital sonifier) and centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 25 min. Protein concentration was determined using BCA reagent (ThermoFisher Scientific, France).

Macrophage culture and infection

The murine macrophage cell line RAW 264.7 (mouse leukemic monocyte macrophage, ATCC TIB-71) was cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (ThermoFisher Scientific, France) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (Thermo-Fisher Scientific, France) in a humidified atmosphere at 5% CO₂ at 37 °C. For macrophage infection, S. aureus Newman and SA564 strains were grown to the midexponential growth phase $(A_{600} = 0.7 - 0.9)$ in TSB medium. The bacteria were then collected by centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 5 min and resuspended in sterile PBS. The RAW 264.7 cells (5×10^5 cells/ml, in 24-well plates) were inoculated with S. aureus at the m.o.i. of 20:1 (bacteria:cells) and incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO₂ for the indicated time. Subsequently, cells were washed once with PBS and the remaining extracellular bacteria were killed by incubation with gentamicin (100 μ g/ml) for 30 min. After gentamicin treatment, macrophages were rinsed twice with PBS (T0), and then further incubated in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium containing 5 μ g/ml of lysostaphin for 45 min and 22 h, respectively. Enumeration of intracellular bacteria was performed by lysing infected macrophages with 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS. Macrophages lysates were serially diluted and plated on TSB agar plates that were subsequently cultivated at 37 °C for 16 h. The survival rate of bacteria was defined as follows: number of bacterial colonies at time post gentamicin/number of bacterial colonies at T0 \times 100%.

Immunoprecipitation of PtpA from D. discoideum

For immunoprecipitations, 2×10^7 *D. discoideum* cells expressing flagged PtpA (PtpA_FLAG), were lysed in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 300 mM NaCl, 0.5% Nonidet P-40, protease inhibitors (Roche Applied Science), and cleared by centrifugation for 15 min at 14,000 rpm. Lysate supernatants were incubated overnight at 4 °C with a monoclonal anti-FLAG antibody coated on agarose beads (Genscript). The beads were then washed five times in wash buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 300 mM NaCl, 0.1% Nonidet P-40) and once in PBS. Bound proteins were migrated on SDS-PAGE and analyzed by immunoblotting or MS when required.

PtpA phosphatase activity assay

Phosphatase activity of PtpA-wt and -C8S His-tagged recombinant proteins was determined using *p*-nitrophenyl-phosphate as chromogenic substrate as previously published (34).

Immunoprecipitation of Coro-1A from infected macrophages

Murine macrophage coronin-1A (Mm_Coro-1A) was obtained from *S. aureus*-infected RAW 264.7 macrophage extracts

by immunoprecipitation with anti-Coro-1A antibody (5 μ g, rabbit anti-coronin-1A; SAB4200078, Sigma). Briefly, the anti-Coro-1A antibody was first coupled to 50 µl of Dynabeads-Protein G (10003D, Life Technologies) in a rotator for 10 min at room temperature and then covalently cross-linked using 5 mM BS3 (21580, Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 30 min at room temperature. Infected macrophages (m.o.i. = 20) were lysed at different time points pGt in 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS containing a protease inhibitor mixture (complete EDTA-free protease inhibitor mixture, Roche). Antibody-coupled beads were added to these lysates and incubated in a rotator for 1 h at room temperature. Thereafter, the beads were washed twice in PBS, 0.02% Tween 20 and 3 times in phosphatase buffer (Tris-HCl 20 тм, pH 7.5, MgCl₂ 5 тм, DTT 5 тм). Immunoprecipitated samples were washed 3 times in PBS, 0.02% Tween 20 followed by elution in Laemmli sample buffer and analyzed by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting using the mouse anti-phosphotyrosine (clone 4G10, Millipore) or the rabbit anti-coronin-1A antibodies.

In vitro dephosphorylation of Mm_Coro-1A

Immunoprecipitated Mm_Coro-1A from infected macrophages was obtained as described above. To examine if phosphorylated Mm_Coro-1A is a suitable substrate of PtpA, equal amounts of beads were incubated with 2 μ g of purified PtpA. After 30 min and 1 h at 37 °C at 650 rpm, respectively, the reaction was stopped by the addition of sample buffer and proteins bound to the beads were resolved in a 4–20% SDS-PAGE. Mm_Coro-1A contents and its phosphorylation status were revealed by immunoblotting using anti-Coro-1A and antiphosphotyrosine antibodies on the same blot.

Pulldown assays

For GST pulldown assays, GST-PtpA fusion proteins were produced as described above and bound to GSH-Sepharose 4B beads according to manufacturer's instructions (GE Heathcare). To prepare cell lysates, *D. discoideum* cells, expressing 3xmyc-Dd_Coro-A (2×10^7) were incubated 15 min in lysis buffer (20 mM HEPES buffer, pH 7.0, 100 mM NaCl, 5 mM MgCl₂, 1% Triton X-100; complete protease inhibitor mixture, Roche) and centrifuged for 15 min at 14,000 rpm in a refrigerated microcentrifuge. GST beads were then incubated with cell lysates (800 µg) overnight at 4 °C on a wheel. After three washes in lysis buffer, beads were heated at 95 °C for 10 min. Bound proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose before incubation with an anti-myc antibody (clone 9E10, Sigma). Blots were revealed with the Odyssey Western Detection System (Bio-Rad).

For His-pulldown assays, His-tagged PtpA fusion proteins were produced as described (34). Equal amounts of PtpA_His Ni-NTA beads were incubated with BL21 Star lysates expressing GST-Hs Coro-1A or GST alone for 30 min at 4 °C with gentle agitation in coupling buffer (HEPES 20 mM, NaCl 100 mM, MgCl₂ 5 mM, Nonidet P-40 0.5%, glycerol 10%, imidazole 10 mM, pH 7.4). In parallel, as a control for unspecific binding, the same amount of Ni-NTA without immobilized PtpA was incubated in the same buffer with both lysates. For each Coro-1A assay, 100 μ l of the matrix with or without immobi-

lized PtpA was incubated with 5 mg of BL21 Star lysates diluted to 1 mg/ml. The matrix was collected by low speed centrifugation and then washed three times with the coupling buffer containing 50 mM imidazole. Proteins bound to the beads were recovered by the treatment with 40 μ l of Laemmli sample buffer at 95 °C for 5 min. Samples were then resolved on SDS-PAGE gel and subjected to immunoblotting with anti-GST and anti-Coro-1A antibodies, respectively.

Statistical analyses

Statistical significance was assessed using the Mann-Whitney U test. p values <0.05 were considered significant.

Author contributions—L. G.-Z., S. H.-B., M. B., and V. M. conceptualization; L. G.-Z., M. B., and V. M. data curation; L. G.-Z., L. P., S. H.-B., R. G., M. M., M. B., and V. M. formal analysis; L. G.-Z., M. B., and V. M. supervision; L. G.-Z., M. B., and V. M. validation; L. G.-Z., L. P., S. H.-B., G. B., M. I. E., R. G., M. M., A.-B. B.-P., F. L., M. B., and V. M. investigation; L. G.-Z. visualization; L. G.-Z., S. H.-B., G. B., M. I. E., R. G., M. B., and V. M. methodology; L. G.-Z., M. B., and V. M. project administration; L. G.-Z., L. P., S. H.-B., M. I. E., R. G., M. M., A.-B. B.-P., F. L., M. B., and V. M. writing-review and editing; G. B. and V. M. writing-original draft; M. B. software; V. M. resources; V. M. funding acquisition.

Acknowledgment—We thank Tim Foster, Dublin, for providing strain IM08B.

References

- Bischoff, M. R., and Romby, P. (2016) Genetic regulation in *Staphylococ*cus: Genetics and Physiology (Somerville, G. A. S., ed) pp. 301–334, Caister Academic Press, Wymondham, United Kingdom
- Schlievert, P. M. (2016) Staphylococcal virulence factors in *Staphylococcus: Genetics and Physiology* (Somerville, G. A. S., ed) pp. 81–106, Caister Academic Press, Wymondham, United Kingdom
- Lowy, F. D. (2000) Is Staphylococcus aureus an intracellular pathogen? Trends Microbiol. 8, 341–343 CrossRef Medline
- 4. Voyich, J. M., Braughton, K. R., Sturdevant, D. E., Whitney, A. R., Saïd-Salim, B., Porcella, S. F., Long, R. D., Dorward, D. W., Gardner, D. J., Kreiswirth, B. N., Musser, J. M., and DeLeo, F. R. (2005) Insights into mechanisms used by *Staphylococcus aureus* to avoid destruction by human neutrophils. *J. Immunol.* **175**, 3907–3919 CrossRef Medline
- Kubica, M., Guzik, K., Koziel, J., Zarebski, M., Richter, W., Gajkowska, B., Golda, A., Maciag-Gudowska, A., Brix, K., Shaw, L., Foster, T., and Potempa, J. (2008) A potential new pathway for *Staphylococcus aureus* dissemination: the silent survival of *S. aureus* phagocytosed by human monocyte-derived macrophages. *PLoS ONE* 3, e1409 CrossRef Medline
- Koziel, J., Maciag-Gudowska, A., Mikolajczyk, T., Bzowska, M., Sturdevant, D. E., Whitney, A. R., Shaw, L. N., DeLeo, F. R., and Potempa, J. (2009) Phagocytosis of *Staphylococcus aureus* by macrophages exerts cytoprotective effects manifested by the upregulation of antiapoptotic factors. *PLoS ONE* 4, e5210 CrossRef Medline
- Horn, J., Stelzner, K., Rudel, T., and Fraunholz, M. (2018) Inside job: *Staphylococcus aureus* host-pathogen interactions. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* **308**, 607–624 Medline
- 8. Fraunholz, M., and Sinha, B. (2012) Intracellular *Staphylococcus aureus*: live-in and let die. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* **2**, 43 Medline
- Hamza, T., and Li, B. (2014) Differential responses of osteoblasts and macrophages upon *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. *BMC Microbiol.* 14, 207 CrossRef Medline
- Surewaard, B. G., Deniset, J. F., Zemp, F. J., Amrein, M., Otto, M., Conly, J., Omri, A., Yates, R. M., and Kubes, P. (2016) Identification and treatment of the *Staphylococcus aureus* reservoir *in vivo. J. Exp. Med.* 213, 1141–1151 CrossRef

SASBMB

15578 J. Biol. Chem. (2018) 293(40) 15569–15580

- Tranchemontagne, Z. R., Camire, R. B., O'Donnell, V. J., Baugh, J., and Burkholder, K. M. (2016) *Staphylococcus aureus* strain USA300 perturbs acquisition of lysosomal enzymes and requires phagosomal acidification for survival inside macrophages. *Infect. Immun.* 84, 241–253 Medline
- Jubrail, J., Morris, P., Bewley, M. A., Stoneham, S., Johnston, S. A., Foster, S. J., Peden, A. A., Read, R. C., Marriott, H. M., and Dockrell, D. H. (2016) Inability to sustain intraphagolysosomal killing of *Staphylococcus aureus* predisposes to bacterial persistence in macrophages. *Cell Microbiol.* 18, 80–96 CrossRef Medline
- Koziel, J., Chmiest, D., Bryzek, D., Kmiecik, K., Mizgalska, D., Maciag-Gudowska, A., Shaw, L. N., and Potempa, J. (2015) The Janus face of α-toxin: a potent mediator of cytoprotection in staphylococci-infected macrophages. *J. Innate Immun.* **7**, 187–198 CrossRef Medline
- Alto, N. M., and Orth, K. (2012) Subversion of cell signaling by pathogens. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 4, a006114, Medline
- Cornejo, E., Schlaermann, P., and Mukherjee, S. (2017) How to rewire the host cell: a home improvement guide for intracellular bacteria. *J. Cell Biol.* 216, 3931–3948 CrossRef Medline
- Heneberg, P. (2012) Finding the smoking gun: protein tyrosine phosphatases as tools and targets of unicellular microorganisms and viruses. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 19, 1530–1566 CrossRef Medline
- 17. Wong, D., Chao, J. D., and Av-Gay, Y. (2013) *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*secreted phosphatases: from pathogenesis to targets for TB drug development. *Trends Microbiol.* **21**, 100–109 Medline
- Whitmore, S. E., and Lamont, R. J. (2012) Tyrosine phosphorylation and bacterial virulence. *Int. J. Oral Sci.* 4, 1–6 CrossRef Medline
- Cozzone, A. J. (2005) Role of protein phosphorylation on serine/threonine and tyrosine in the virulence of bacterial pathogens. J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 9, 198–213 CrossRef Medline
- Bach, H., Papavinasasundaram, K. G., Wong, D., Hmama, Z., and Av-Gay, Y.(2008)*Mycobacteriumtuberculosis*virulenceismediatedbyPtpAdephosphorylation of human vacuolar protein sorting 33B. *Cell Host Microbe* 3, 316–322 CrossRef Medline
- Bliska, J. B. (2000) Yop effectors of *Yersinia* spp., and actin rearrangements. *Trends Microbiol.* 8, 205–208 CrossRef Medline
- Black, D. S., Montagna, L. G., Zitsmann, S., and Bliska, J. B. (1998) Identification of an amino-terminal substrate-binding domain in the *Yersinia* tyrosine phosphatase that is required for efficient recognition of focal adhesion targets. *Mol. Microbiol.* 29, 1263–1274 CrossRef Medline
- Persson, C., Nordfelth, R., Andersson, K., Forsberg, A., Wolf-Watz, H., and Fällman, M. (1999) Localization of the *Yersinia* PTPase to focal complexes is an important virulence mechanism. *Mol. Microbiol.* 33, 828 – 838 CrossRef Medline
- Persson, C., Carballeira, N., Wolf-Watz, H., and Fällman, M. (1997) The PTPase YopH inhibits uptake of *Yersinia*, tyrosine phosphorylation of p130Cas and FAK, and the associated accumulation of these proteins in peripheral focal adhesions. *EMBO J.* 16, 2307–2318 CrossRef Medline
- Lin, S. L., Le, T. X., and Cowen, D. S. (2003) SptP, a Salmonella typhimurium type III-secreted protein, inhibits the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway by inhibiting Raf activation. Cell Microbiol. 5, 267–275 CrossRef Medline
- Kaniga, K., Uralil, J., Bliska, J. B., and Galan, J. E. (1996) A secreted protein tyrosine phosphatase with modular effector domains in the bacterial pathogen *Salmonella typhimurium. Mol. Microbiol.* 21, 633–641 CrossRef
- Koul, A., Choidas, A., Treder, M., Tyagi, A. K., Drlica, K., Singh, Y., and Ullrich, A. (2000) Cloning and characterization of secretory tyrosine phosphatases of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J. Bacteriol.* 182, 5425–5432
- Wong, D., Bach, H., Sun, J., Hmama, Z., and Av-Gay, Y. (2011) *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* protein tyrosine phosphatase (PtpA) excludes host vacuolar-H⁺-ATPase to inhibit phagosome acidification. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 19371–19376 CrossRef Medline
- Singh, B., Singh, G., Trajkovic, V., and Sharma, P. (2003) Intracellular expression of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-specific 10-kDa antigen downregulates macrophage B7.1 expression and nitric oxide release. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 134, 70–77 CrossRef Medline
- Flannagan, R. S., Heit, B., and Heinrichs, D. E. (2015) Antimicrobial mechanisms of macrophages and the immune evasion strategies of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Pathogens* 4, 826–868 Medline

- Soulat, D., Vaganay, E., Duclos, B., Genestier, A. L., Etienne, J., and Cozzone, A. J. (2002) *Staphylococcus aureus* contains two low-molecularmass phosphotyrosine protein phosphatases. *J. Bacteriol.* 184, 5194–5199 CrossRef Medline
- 32. Gemayel, R., Fortpied, J., Rzem, R., Vertommen, D., Veiga-da-Cunha, M., and Van Schaftingen, E. (2007) Many fructosamine 3-kinase homologues in bacteria are ribulosamine/erythrulosamine 3-kinases potentially involved in protein deglycation. *FEBS J.* 274, 4360 – 4374 CrossRef Medline
- Vega, C., Chou, S., Engel, K., Harrell, M. E., Rajagopal, L., and Grundner, C. (2011) Structure and substrate recognition of the *Staphylococcus aureus* protein-tyrosine phosphatase PtpA. *J. Mol. Biol.* **413**, 24–31 CrossRef Medline
- Brelle, S., Baronian, G., Huc-Brandt, S., Zaki, L. G., Cohen-Gonsaud, M., Bischoff, M., and Molle, V. (2016) Phosphorylation-mediated regulation of the *Staphylococcus aureus* secreted tyrosine phosphatase PtpA. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 469, 619–625 CrossRef Medline
- Hingley-Wilson, S. M., Sambandamurthy, V. K., and Jacobs, W. R., Jr. (2003) Survival perspectives from the world's most successful pathogen, *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Nat. Immunol.* 4, 949–955 CrossRef Medline
- Clemens, D. L., and Horwitz, M. A. (1995) Characterization of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* phagosome and evidence that phagosomal maturation is inhibited. *J. Exp. Med.* 181, 257–270 CrossRef Medline
- 37. Gaupp, R., Wirf, J., Wonnenberg, B., Biegel, T., Eisenbeis, J., Graham, J., Herrmann, M., Lee, C. Y., Beisswenger, C., Wolz, C., Tschernig, T., Bischoff, M., and Somerville, G. A. (2016) RpiRc is a pleiotropic effector of virulence determinant synthesis and attenuates pathogenicity in *Staphylococcus aureus. Infect. Immun.* 84, 2031–2041 CrossRef Medline
- Bliska, J. B., Clemens, J. C., Dixon, J. E., and Falkow, S. (1992) The Yersinia tyrosine phosphatase: specificity of a bacterial virulence determinant for phosphoproteins in the J774A.1 macrophage. J. Exp. Med. 176, 1625–1630 CrossRef Medline
- Barford, D., Das, A. K., and Egloff, M. P. (1998) The structure and mechanism of protein phosphatases: insights into catalysis and regulation. *Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct.* 27, 133–164 CrossRef Medline
- Dennis, J. W., Granovsky, M., and Warren, C. E. (1999) Protein glycosylation in development and disease. *Bioessays* 21, 412–421 CrossRef Medline
- Lauffenburger, D. A., and Horwitz, A. F. (1996) Cell migration: a physically integrated molecular process. *Cell* 84, 359–369 CrossRef Medline
- Wienke, D., Drengk, A., Schmauch, C., Jenne, N., and Maniak, M. (2006) Vacuolin, a flotillin/reggie-related protein from *Dictyostelium* oligomerizes for endosome association. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 85, 991–1000 CrossRef Medline
- Diment, S., Martin, K. J., and Stahl, P. D. (1989) Cleavage of parathyroid hormone in macrophage endosomes illustrates a novel pathway for intracellular processing of proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 264, 13403–13406 Medline
- Seaman, M. N., and Williams, H. P. (2002) Identification of the functional domains of yeast sorting nexins Vps5p and Vps17p. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 13, 2826–2840 CrossRef Medline
- Ferrari, G., Langen, H., Naito, M., and Pieters, J. (1999) A coat protein on phagosomes involved in the intracellular survival of mycobacteria. *Cell* 97, 435–447 CrossRef Medline
- 46. Jayachandran, R., Sundaramurthy, V., Combaluzier, B., Mueller, P., Korf, H., Huygen, K., Miyazaki, T., Albrecht, I., Massner, J., and Pieters, J. (2007) Survival of mycobacteria in macrophages is mediated by coronin L-dependent activation of calcineurin. *Cell* **130**, 37–50 CrossRef Medline
- 47. Jayachandran, R., Gatfield, J., Massner, J., Albrecht, I., Zanolari, B., and Pieters, J. (2008) RNA interference in J774 macrophages reveals a role for coronin 1 in mycobacterial trafficking but not in actin-dependent processes. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **19**, 1241–1251 CrossRef Medline
- Kumar, D., Nath, L., Kamal, M. A., Varshney, A., Jain, A., Singh, S., and Rao, K. V. (2010) Genome-wide analysis of the host intracellular network that regulates survival of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Cell* **140**, 731–743 Medline
- 49. Seto, S., Tsujimura, K., and Koide, Y. (2012) Coronin-1a inhibits autophagosome formation around *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-containing pha-

J. Biol. Chem. (2018) 293(40) 15569-15580 15579

SASBMB

gosomes and assists mycobacterial survival in macrophages. *Cell Microbiol.* **14**, 710–727 CrossRef Medline

- 50. Bosedasgupta, S., and Pieters, J. (2014) Inflammatory stimuli reprogram macrophage phagocytosis to macropinocytosis for the rapid elimination of pathogens. *PLoS Pathog.* **10**, e1003879 CrossRef Medline
- 51. Itoh, S., Suzuki, K., Nishihata, J., Iwasa, M., Oku, T., Nakajin, S., Nauseef, W. M., and Toyoshima, S. (2002) The role of protein kinase C in the transient association of p57, a coronin family actin-binding protein, with phagosomes. *Biol. Pharmaceut. Bull.* **25**, 837–844 Medline
- Oku, T., Nakano, M., Kaneko, Y., Ando, Y., Kenmotsu, H., Itoh, S., Tsuiji, M., Seyama, Y., Toyoshima, S., and Tsuji, T. (2012) Constitutive turnover of phosphorylation at Thr-412 of human p57/coronin-1 regulates the interaction with actin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 42910–42920 CrossRef Medline
- 53. Wang, J., Ge, P., Qiang, L., Tian, F., Zhao, D., Chai, Q., Zhu, M., Zhou, R., Meng, G., Iwakura, Y., Gao, G. F., and Liu, C. H. (2017) The mycobacterial phosphatase PtpA regulates the expression of host genes and promotes cell proliferation. *Nat. Commun.* 8, 244 CrossRef Medline
- Wang, J., Teng, J. L., Zhao, D., Ge, P., Li, B., Woo, P. C., and Liu, C. H. (2016) The ubiquitin ligase TRIM27 functions as a host restriction factor antagonized by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* PtpA during mycobacterial infection. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 34827 CrossRef Medline
- 55. Lee, Y. G., Chain, B. M., and Cho, J. Y. (2009) Distinct role of spleen tyrosine kinase in the early phosphorylation of inhibitor of $\kappa B \alpha$ via activation of the phosphoinositide-3-kinase and Akt pathways. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* **41**, 811–821 CrossRef Medline
- Yi, Y. S., Son, Y. J., Ryou, C., Sung, G. H., Kim, J. H., and Cho, J. Y. (2014) Functional roles of Syk in macrophage-mediated inflammatory responses. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2014, 270302 Medline

- 57. Bohnenberger, H., Oellerich, T., Engelke, M., Hsiao, H. H., Urlaub, H., and Wienands, J. (2011) Complex phosphorylation dynamics control the composition of the Syk interactome in B cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 41, 1550–1562 CrossRef Medline
- Nguyen, L., and Pieters, J. (2005) The Trojan horse: survival tactics of pathogenic mycobacteria in macrophages. *Trends Cell Biol.* 15, 269–276 CrossRef Medline
- BoseDasgupta, S., and Pieters, J. (2014) Coronin 1 trimerization is essential to protect pathogenic mycobacteria within macrophages from lysosomal delivery. *FEBS Lett.* 588, 3898–3905 CrossRef Medline
- 60. Somerville, G. A., Beres, S. B., Fitzgerald, J. R., DeLeo, F. R., Cole, R. L., Hoff, J. S., and Musser, J. M. (2002) *In vitro* serial passage of *Staphylococcus aureus*: changes in physiology, virulence factor production, and agr nucleotide sequence. *J. Bacteriol.* **184**, 1430–1437 CrossRef Medline
- 61. Bruckner, R. (1997) Gene replacement in *Staphylococcus carnosus* and *Staphylococcus xylosus. FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **151**, 1–8 CrossRef
- Monk, I. R., Tree, J. J., Howden, B. P., Stinear, T. P., and Foster, T. J. (2015) Complete bypass of restriction systems for major *Staphylococcus aureus* lineages. *mBio* 6, e00308-00315 Medline
- Manstein, D. J., Schuster, H. P., Morandini, P., and Hunt, D. M. (1995) Cloning vectors for the production of proteins in *Dictyostelium discoideum. Gene* 162, 129–134 Medline
- Alibaud, L., Cosson, P., and Benghezal, M. (2003) Dictyostelium discoideum transformation by oscillating electric field electroporation. *Bio-Techniques* 35, 78 – 80 Medline
- Molle, V., Kremer, L., Girard-Blanc, C., Besra, G. S., Cozzone, A. J., and Prost, J. F. (2003) An FHA phosphoprotein recognition domain mediates protein EmbR phosphorylation by PknH, a Ser/Thr protein kinase from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Biochemistry* 42, 15300–15309 Medline

Supplementary Material

PtpA, a secreted tyrosine phosphatase from *Staphylococcus aureus*, contributes to virulence and interacts with coronin-1A during infection

Laila Gannoun-Zaki^{‡,1,2}, Linda Pätzold^{§,1}, Sylvaine Huc-Brandt[‡], Grégory Baronian[‡], Mohamed Ibrahem Elhawy^{§,3}, Rosmarie Gaupp[§], Marianne Martin[‡], Anne-Béatrice Blanc-Potard[‡], François Letourneur[‡], Markus Bischoff[§], Virginie Molle^{‡,4}

From the ‡ Laboratoire de Dynamique des Interactions Membranaires Normales et Pathologiques, Université de Montpellier, CNRS, UMR 5235, Montpellier 34000, France and

the § Institute of Medical Microbiology and Hygiene, University of Saarland, 66421 Homburg/Saar, Germany.

2 To whom correspondence may be addressed. Tel.: 33-4-67-14-47-26; E-mail: <u>laila.gannoun@umontpellier.fr</u>

4 To whom correspondence may be addressed. Tel.: 33-4-67-14-47-25; E-mail: <u>virginie.molle@univ-montp2.fr</u>

1 Both authors contributed equally to this manuscript.

3 Supported by the German Egyptian Research Long-term Scholarship (GERLS) program.



Figure S1: Phosphatase activity of PtpA and derivatives. $PtpA_{His}$ or $PtpA_{C8S_{His}}$ were used to test their phosphatase activity by using *p*-nitrophenylphosphate (pNPP) as a substrate as previously described by Brelle *et al.* (2016). The assay was performed in triplicate. The PtpA_C8S activity is null.

Brelle, S., Baronian, G., Huc-Brandt, S., Zaki, L. G., Cohen-Gonsaud, M., Bischoff, M., and Molle, V. (2016) Phosphorylation-mediated regulation of the Staphylococcus aureus secreted tyrosine phosphatase PtpA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **469**, 619-625

Mm_Coro_1A	1	MSRQVVRSSKFRHVFGQPAKADQC <mark>Y</mark> EDVRVSQTTWDSGFCAVNPKF <mark>M</mark> ALICEASGGGAFL
Hs_Coro_1A	1	MSRQVVRSSKFRHVFGQPAKADQQ <mark>YEDVRVSQTTWDSGFCAVNPKFV</mark> ALICEASGGGAFL
Dd_Coro_A	1	MS-K <u>VVRSSKYRHVFAAQPKKEEC<mark>Y</mark>QNLKVTKSAWDSNY</u> VAANTRYFGVIWDAAGGGSFA
Mm Coro 1A	61	VLPLGKTGRVDKNVPLVCGHTAPVLDIAWCPHNDNVIASGSEDCTVMVWEIPDGGL
Hs Coro 1A	61	VLPLGKTGRVDKNAPTVCGHTAPVLDIAWCPHNDNVIASGSEDCTVMVWEIPDGGLMLPL
Dd_Coro_A	60	VIPHEASGKTTS-VPLFNGHKSAVLDIAFHPFNENLVGSVSEDCNICIWGIPEGGLTDSI
Mm_Coro_1A	121	REPVITLEGHTKRVGIVAWHPTAQNVLLSAGCDNVIIVWDVGTGAAVLTLGPDVHPDTIV
Hs_Coro_1A	121	REPVVTLEGHTKRVGIVAWHTAQNVLLSAGCDNVIWVWDVGTGAAMLTLGPEVHPDTIY
Dd_Coro_A	119	STPLQTLSGHKRKVGTISFNPVADNVAVTSSGDFLVKTWDVEQGKNLTTVEGHSDMIT
Mm_Coro_1A	181	SVDWSRDGALICTSCRDKRVRVIEPRKGTVVAEKDRPHEGTRPVHAVFVSEGKILTTGFS
Hs_Coro_1A	181	<u>SVDWSRDG<mark>C</mark>LICTSCRDKRVR<mark>I</mark>IEPRKGTVVAEKDRPHEGTRPVRAVFVSEGKILTT</u> GFS
Dd_Coro_A	177	SCEWNHNGSQIVTTCKDKKARVFDPRTNSIVNEVVC-HQGVKNSRAIFAKD-KVITVGFS
Mm Coro 1A	241	RMSEROVALWDTKHLEEPLSLOELDTSSGVLLPFFDPDTNIVVLCGKGDSSIRVFEITSE
Hs Coro 1A	241	RMSERQVALWDTKHLEEPLSLQELDTSSGVLLPFFDPDTNIV <mark>y</mark> LCGKGDSSIR <mark>y</mark> FEITSE
Dd_Coro_A	235	KTSERËLHI <mark>Y</mark> DPRAFTTPLSAQVVDSASGLLMPFYDADNSIL <mark>V</mark> LAGKGDGNIR <mark>VY</mark> ELVDE
Mm Coro 1A	301	APFLHYLSMFSSKESORGMGYMPKRGLEVNKCEIARFYKLHER <mark>K</mark> CEPIAMTVPRKSDLFO
Hs_Coro_1A	301	APFLHYLSMFSSKESQRGMGYMPKRGLEVNKCEIARFYKLHER <mark>R</mark> CEPIAMTVPRKSDLFQ
Dd_Coro_A	295	SP <mark>Y</mark> IHFLSEFKSATPQRGLCFLPKRCLNTSECEIARGLKVTPFTVEPISFRVPRKSDIFQ
Mm Coro 1A	361	
Hs Coro 1A	361	E DI VPPTAGPDPALTAEEWIGGRDAGPLIISLKDGVVPPKSRELRVNRGLDTGRRRAAPE
Dd_Coro_A	355	DDIYPDTYAGEPSLTAEQWVSGTNAEPKTVSLAGGFVK-KASAVEFKPVVQ
Mm Coro 1A	421	PSGTPSSDWVSRLEEDWRNLNAHVOKLOBRLDRLEETVOAK
Hs Coro 1A	421	ASGTPSSDAVSRLEEEMRKLOATVÕELÕKRLDRLEETVÕAK
Dd Coro A	405	VQEGPKNEKELREE <mark>Y</mark> EKLKIRVAYLESEIVKKDAKIKELTN

Figure S2: Sequence alignment of Coronin 1A proteins. Sequences were aligned using ClustalW program. Alignments are shaded using the BOXSHADE server. Sequence designations and NCBI GI numbers are as follows: Mm_Coro-1A from Murine macrophages, GI 089053; Hs_Coro-1A from Homo sapiens, GI P31146; and Dd_Coro-A from *Dictyostelium discoideum*, GI P27133. Black boxes represent identical residues and grey boxes indicate similar residues. Tyrosine residue (Y) are highligted in orange. Similar tyrosine residues in all three species are framed in orange boxes.

Figure S

Plasmodium falciparum Toxoplasma gondii Amphimedon queenslandica Caenorhabditis elegans Anopheles darlingi Drosophila melanogaster Nilaparvata lugens Trichogramma pretiosum Columba livia Gallus gallus Danio rerio Salmo salar Xenopus tropicalis Ophiophagus hannah Python bivittatus Chrysemys picta bellii Mus musculus Pteropus alecto Trichechus manatus Homo sapiens Macaca nemestrina Dictyostelium discoideum Entamoeba histolvtica Saccharomyces cerevisiae Penicillium camemberti

Plasmodium falciparum Toxoplasma gondii Amphimedon queenslandica Caenorhabditis elegans Anopheles darlingi Drosophila melanogaster Nilaparvata lugens Trichogramma pretiosum Columba livia Gallus gallus Danio rerio Salmo salar Xenopus tropicalis Ophiophagus hannah Python bivittatus Chrysemys picta bellii Mus musculus Pteropus alecto Trichechus manatus Homo sapiens Macaca nemestrina Dictyostelium discoideum Entamoeba histolytica Saccharomyces cerevisiae Penicillium camemberti

Plasmodium falciparum Toxoplasma gondii Amphimedon queenslandica Caenorhabditis elegans Anopheles darlingi Drosophila melanogaster Nilaparvata lugens Trichogramma pretiosum Columba livia Gallus gallus Danio rerio Salmo salar Xenopus tropicalis Ophiophagus hannah Python bivittatus Chrysemys picta bellii Mus musculus Pteropus alecto Trichechus manatus Homo sapiens Macaca nemestrina Dictvostelium discoideum Entamoeba histolytica Saccharomyces cerevisiae Penicillium camemberti

----MYNVPLIKNLYPDPS--NNLYGDLRICSRATETCGIACSAGYIAVPWQVEGGGMIG 54 -MADAVDVPLIKNLYAEAW--KQQYSDLRLSTKQTESCGLAANTEYIAAPWDVGGGGVLG 57 -MAFKQRHSKFKHVKGEPFKKDNCYDNVKISKSPWDSNKSDVNGKFLAVVLESQGGGAFT 59 -MAQIVRQSKFRHVFCKPVKHESCMSDIRVTEITWDSLFCDVNPKFIAFINRG-AGGPFM 58 MSFRVVRSSKFRHVYGQALKREQC<mark>Y</mark>DNIRVSKSSWDSTFCAVNPKFLAIIVESAGGGAFI 60 MSFRVVRSSKFRHVYGQALKREQC<mark>Y</mark>DNIRVSKSSWDSTFCAVNPKFLAIIVESAGGGAFI 60 MSFRVVRTSKFRHVYGSSLKRDQC<mark>Y</mark>DNIRVSKSSWDSTFCCVNPKFLAIIVESAGGGAFI 60 MSFRVVRSSKFRHVYGTPLKREQC<mark>Y</mark>DNIRVSKSSWDSTFCAVNPKFLAIIVESAGGGAFI 60 -MRRVVRQSKFRHVFGQAVKNDQCYDDIRVSRVTWDSSFCAVNPRFVAIIVDASGGGAFL 59 -MRRVVRQSKFRHVFGQAVKNDQC<mark>Y</mark>DDIRVSRVTWDSSFCAVNPRFVAIIVDASGGGAFL 59 MSRKVVRSSKFRHVFGQAVKADQCYDDIRISQMTWDSNFCSVNPKFVSMIVDASGGGAFI 60 MSRKVVRASKFRHVFGQGVKADQCYDDIRISQMTWDSNFCSVNPKFVAMIVDASGGGAFL 60 MSRKVVRTSKFRHVFGOAVKADOCYDDIRVSONTWDSNFCCVNPKFLAIVVEASGGGAFM 60 MSRKVVRSSKFRHVYGQPVKGDQC<mark>Y</mark>DDIRVSQMTWDGNFCSVNPQFLAIVVEASGGGAFL 60 MSRKVVRSSKFRHVYGQPVKADQC<mark>Y</mark>DDIRVSQMTWDGNFCSVNPQFLAIVVEASGGGAFL 60 MSRKVVRSSKFRHVFGQPAKADQC<mark>Y</mark>DDVRISQTTWDSSFCSVNPKFLAMIVEASGGGAFM 60 MSRQVVRSSKFRHVFGQPAKADQC<mark>Y</mark>EDVRVSQTTWDSGFCAVNPKFMALICEASGGGAFL MSRQVVRSSKFRHVFGQPAKADQC<mark>Y</mark>EDVRVSQTTWDSGFCAVNPKFVALICEASGGGAFL 60 60 MSRQVVRSSKFRHVFGQPAKADQC<mark>Y</mark>EDVRVSQTTWDSGFCAVNPKFVALICEASGGGAFL 60 MSRQVVRSSKFRHVFGQPAKADQC<mark>Y</mark>EDVRVSQTTWDSGFCAVNPKFVALICEASGGGAFL 60 MSRQVVRSSKFRHVFGQPAKADQC<mark>Y</mark>EDVRVSQTTWDSGFCAVNPKFVALICEASGGGAFL 60 -MSKVVRSSKYRHVFAAQPKKEECYQNLKVTKSAWDSNYVAANTRYFGVIWDAAGGGSFA 59 MSYRFIRTSKYRHVFGTEFKNDOO<mark>Y</mark>NGTKMTNSAWDSNIIVCGYKHFSMIWDVAGGGAFA 60 MSGKFVRASKYRHVFGQAAKKELQ<mark>Y</mark>EKLKVTNNAWDSNLLKTNGKFIAVNWNASGGGAFA 60 MSGRFVRSSKYRHVFGRSTRKDQC<mark>Y</mark>DNLRVSRNAWDTNLLKVNPKHIAVNWEAGGGGAFA 60 TTS-PL-TTITLDNAASPLLPHYDESVGMI<mark>Y</mark>LIGKGDGNCR<mark>Y</mark>YQYSQGS--IRKVDEYKS 305 FDK-PV-YHAEIDRGSSPLYPIFDETTGMLYVCGKGDSSCRYYQYHGGT--LRSVDAYRS 308 LSS-SL-ATETLDNGSGTIFSFFDEDTKMV<mark>Y</mark>FIGKGDGQMR<mark>Y</mark>YEILDESPYVQQLSMYQH 310 LST-PI-VEEELDTSNGVVFPFYDEDSGLV<mark>Y</mark>LVGKGDCAIR<mark>Y</mark>YEVNNDAPYVHYINTYTT 307 LGD-PI-VMVELDTSNGVMFPLYDPDTNLI<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSVIR<mark>Y</mark>FEVTPEQPFVHYINQFQT 340 LNE-PI-VMVELDTSNGVMFPLYDADTNMI<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSVIR<mark>Y</mark>FEVTPEPPFVHYINTFQT 309 LTE-PI-VMVELDTSNGVMFPLYDPDTNLV<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSVIR<mark>Y</mark>FEITAELPFVHYINTFQT 309 LAE-PI-TMLELDTSNGVMFPLYDPDTNLV<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSVIR<mark>Y</mark>FEITPEPPFVHYINTFOT 309 MEE-PI-ALHEMDTSNGVLLPFYDPDTNII<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSSIR<mark>Y</mark>FEITDESPYVHYLNTFSS 310 MEE-PI-ALHEMDTSNGVLLPFYDPDTNII<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSSIR<mark>Y</mark>FEITDESPYVHYLNTFSS 310 FGE-PL-TLOELDTSSGVLLPFFDPDTGTVYLCGKGDSSTRYFEVTDEAPYVHYLSMYSS 311 FGE-PL-TLQELDTSSGVLLPFFDPDTGIV<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSSIR<mark>Y</mark>FEVTDEAPYVHYLSMYSS 311 LGE-PL-TLQELDTSSGVLIPFFDPDTNVV<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSSIR<mark>Y</mark>FEVTDEPPYVHYLSLYSS 310 PEE-PL-TLQELDTSSGVLLPYYDPDTNVV<mark>Y</mark>LTGKGDSSIR<mark>Y</mark>FELTGEAPYVHYLSMFTS 312 PEE-PL-TLQELDTSSGVLLPYYDPDTNVV<mark>Y</mark>LTGKGDSSIR<mark>Y</mark>FELTGEAPYVHYLSMFTS 312 LEE-PM-NLQELDTSSGVLLPHYDPDTSMV<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSSIR<mark>Y</mark>FEVTPEAPYLHFLSLFSS 311 LEE-PL-SLQELDTSSGVLLPFFDPDTNIV<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSSIR<mark>Y</mark>FEITSEAPFLHYLSMFSS 312 LEE-PL-SLQELDTSSGVLLPFFDPDTNIV<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSSIR<mark>Y</mark>FEITSEAPFLHYLSMFSS 312 LEE-PL-SLQELDTSSGVLLPFFDPDTNIV<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSSIR<mark>Y</mark>FEITSEAPFLHFLSMFSS 312 LEE-PL-SLQELDTSSGVLLPFFDPDTNIV<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSSIR<mark>Y</mark>FEITSEAPFLHYLSMFSS 312 LEE-PL-SLQELDTSSGVLLPFFDPDTNIV<mark>Y</mark>LCGKGDSSIR<mark>Y</mark>FEITSEAPFLHYLSMFSS 312 FTT-PL-SAQVVDSASGLLMPFYDADNSIL<mark>Y</mark>LAGKGDGNIR<mark>Y</mark>YELVDESPYIHFLSEFKS 306 LES-PL-CRHTVDNQSGVLMPFYDPDLSLL<mark>Y</mark>LGGKGDSTIS<mark>Y</mark>FEIVHKKPYFYSLNTFRG 309 IEKGDLGGFYTVDQSSGILMPFYDEGNKIL<mark>Y</mark>LVGKGDGNIR<mark>Y</mark>YEFQNDE--LFELSEFQS 318 V-REPINGFKTLDSISGVCMPFWDDGTNML<mark>Y</mark>LAGRGDGNIR<mark>Y</mark>FELENDK--FEFLSEHKS 316 CLPFRSFGFLPKRMCDVYKCEIGRVYKNGNNTDIRPISFYVPRKNSSIF0EDL<mark>Y</mark>PPIIMR 365 SVPIKNFCFIPKLAVDOMRAEIGRMLKOENGNVLOPISFIVPRKNODVFOADLYPPAPDV 368 SLPQIGVCSMPKRFLDHKACEVMRFFKLHNKGMVEPIQMIVPRK-SGMFQEDI 369 NEPQRAVGFQSKRGMSSEENEINRIYKLTTKGVVDILQFFVPRK-SDLFQHDLYPDTRST 366 PDSQRAIGMMPKRGCDVSTCEVARFYRLNNSGLCQVISMTVPRK-SELFQEDLYPDTLAD 399 TEPORGIGLMPKRGCDVTTCEVAKFYRMNNNGLCOVISMTVPRK-SDLFOEDLYPDTLAE 368 PDPORGIGMMPKRGCDVSSCEITRFYRLNNSGLCQVITMTVPRK-SELFQEDLYPDTLGD 368 PDPORGIGMMPKRGCDVNSCEISRFYRLNNSGFCOVVSMTVPRK-SELFOEDLYPDTPGD 368 KEPORGMGFMPKRGLDVNKCEIARFFKLHE-RKCEPIIMTVPRK-SDLFODDLYPDTAGP 368 KEPQRGMGFMPKRGLDVNKCEIARFFKLHE-RKCEPIIMTVPRK-SDLFQDDL<mark>Y</mark>PDTAGP 368 KESQKGMGYMPKRGLEVNKCEIARFYKLHE-RKCEPVVMTVPRK-SDLFQEDLYPNTVGP 369 KESQKGMGYMPKRGLEVNKCEIARFYKLHE-RKCEPIVMTVPRK-SDLFQEDL<mark>Y</mark>PDTMGP 369 KESQRGMGYMPKRGLEVNKCEIARFYKLHE-RKCEPIIMTVPRK-SDLFQEDLYPDTVGP 368 KESQRGGGWMPKRGLDVSKCEIARFYKLHE-RKCEPIAMTVPRK-SDLFQEDL<mark>Y</mark>PDTAGP 370 KESQRGGGWMPKRGLDVSKCEIARFYKLHE-RKCEPIAMTVPRK-SDLFQEDL<mark>Y</mark>PDTAGP 370 KESQRGGGWMPKRGLDVSKCEIARFYKLHE-RRCEPIAMTVPRK-SDLFQEDLYPDTAGP 369 KESQRGMGYMPKRGLEVNKCEIARFYKLHE-RKCEPIAMTVPRK-SDLFQEDL<mark>Y</mark>PPTAGP 370 KESQRGMGYMPKRGLEVNKCEIARFYKLHE-RRCEPIAMTVPRK-SDLFQEDLYPPTAGP 370 KESQRGMGYMPKRGLEVNKCEIARFYKLHE-RRCEPIAMTVPRK-SDLFQEDL<mark>Y</mark>PPTAGP 370 KESORGMGYMPKRGLEVNKCEIARFYKLHE-RRCEPIAMTVPRK-SDLFOEDLYPPTAGP 370 KESQRGMGYMPKRGLEVNKCEIARFYKLHE-RRCEPIAMTVPRK-SDLFQEDLYPPTAGP 370 AT PORGLCFL PKRCLNTSECE I ARGLKVTP - FTVEP I SFRVPRK - SDI FODDI YPDTYAG 364 EKPOSGLGVIPKRLCNTTICEITKFMKIVP-DGVVPISFCVPRK-SEFFODDI 367 TEAORGFAVAPKRMVNVKENEVLKGFKTVVDORIEPVSFFVPRR-SEEFOEDI<mark>Y</mark>PDAPSN 377 ADPQRGVAFMPKRGVNMHDNEVARAYKTVNDQYIEPVSFIVPRR-SETFQDDI<mark>Y</mark>PPTVGV 375

Figure S3: Sequence alignment of conserved tyrosine residues harboring regions of Coronin 1 proteins. Sequences were aligned using Clustal Omega. Conserved tyrosine residues are labeled in yellow, mismatches are indicated in red. Sequences corresponding to the ones dipicted in Fig. S2 are labeled in blue. Sequences were obtained from the following NCBI entries: *Amphimedon queenslandica*, XP_003382924; *Anopheles darlingi*, GI 568254291; *Caenorhabditis elegans*, GI 25150742; *Chrysemys picta bellii*, XP_005290238; *Columba livia*, GI 1307741494; *Danio rerio*, GI 41055464; *Drosophila melanogaster*, GI 21685588; *Entamoeba histolytica*, GI 1033413111; *Gallus gallus*, GI 482661642; *Homo sapiens*, GI P31146; *Macaca nemestria*, GI 795657297; *Mus musculus*, GI 089053; *Nilaparvata lugens*, XP_022202333; *Ophiophagus hannah*, GI 565307310; *Penicillium camemberti*, GI 902279349; *Plasmodium falciparum*, GI 2808641; *Pteropus alecto*, GI 586561765; *Python bivittatus*, GI 602635008; *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, GI 151940945; *Salmo salar*, GI 223647640; *Toxoplasma gondii*, GI 53801426; *Trichechus manatus*, GI 471410223;*Trichogramma pretiosum*, XP_014222528; *Xenopus tropicalis*, GI 54262238. Article (II)

The phosphoarginine phosphatase PtpB from *Staphylococcus aureus* is involved in bacterial stress adaptation during infection

Reprinted with the permission from **Mohamed Ibrahem Elhawy**, Sylvaine Huc-Brandt, Linda Pätzold, Laila Gannoun-Zaki, Ahmed Mohamed Mostafa Abdrabou, Markus Bischoff, and Virginie Molle.

Status of publication: This manuscript was published in Cells in March 2021.





Article The Phosphoarginine Phosphatase PtpB from *Staphylococcus aureus* Is Involved in Bacterial Stress Adaptation during Infection

Mohamed Ibrahem Elhawy ^{1,2}, Sylvaine Huc-Brandt ³, Linda Pätzold ¹, Laila Gannoun-Zaki ³, Ahmed Mohamed Mostafa Abdrabou ^{1,4}, Markus Bischoff ^{1,*} and Virginie Molle ^{3,*}

- ¹ Institute of Medical Microbiology and Hygiene, University of Saarland, D-66421 Homburg, Germany;
- Mohamed.Elhawy@uks.eu (M.I.E.); Linda.Paetzold@uks.eu (L.P.); Ahmed.Mostafa@uks.eu (A.M.M.A.)
- ² Department of Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Zagazig University, Zagazig 44511, Egypt
 ³ Laboratory of Pathogen Host Interactions, Université de Montpellier, CNRS, UMR 5235, 34095 Montpellier, France; sylvaine.huc-brandt@umontpellier.fr (S.H.-B.);
 - laila.gannoun@umontpellier.fr (L.G.-Z.)
- ⁴ Medical Microbiology and Immunology Department, Faculty of Medicine,
- Mansoura University, Mansoura 35516, Egypt
 - Correspondence: markus.bischoff@uks.eu (M.B.); virginie.molle@umontpellier.fr (V.M.);
 - Tel.: +49-(68)-411623963 (M.B.); +33-(46)-7144725 (V.M.)

Abstract: *Staphylococcus aureus* continues to be a public health threat, especially in hospital settings. Studies aimed at deciphering the molecular and cellular mechanisms that underlie pathogenesis, host adaptation, and virulence are required to develop effective treatment strategies. Numerous host-pathogen interactions were found to be dependent on phosphatases-mediated regulation. This study focused on the analysis of the role of the low-molecular weight phosphatase PtpB, in particular, during infection. Deletion of *ptpB* in *S. aureus* strain SA564 significantly reduced the capacity of the mutant to withstand intracellular killing by THP-1 macrophages. When injected into normoglycemic C57BL/6 mice, the SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ mutant displayed markedly reduced bacterial loads in liver and kidney tissues in a murine *S. aureus* abscess model when compared to the wild type. We also observed that PtpB phosphatase-activity was sensitive to oxidative stress. Our quantitative transcript analyses revealed that PtpB affects the transcription of various genes involved in oxidative stress adaptation and infectivity. Thus, this study disclosed first insights into the physiological role of PtpB during host interaction allowing us to link phosphatase-dependent regulation to oxidative bacterial stress adaptation during infection.

Keywords: Staphylococcus aureus; arginine phosphatase; infection; oxidative response

1. Introduction

Staphylococcus aureus has emerged as a major human pathogen responsible for hospital and community-associated infections that can involve almost any organ system, including skin and soft tissue infections, necrotizing pneumonia, and infective endocarditis [1]. The increase in multi-resistant variants of this species, coupled with its increasing prevalence as a nosocomial pathogen, is of major concern [2]. The success of *S. aureus* as a pathogen and its ability to cause such a wide range of infections are the result of its large armamentarium of virulence factors that is controlled by a sophisticated network of regulatory molecules [3,4]. *S. aureus* has an exceptional ability to survive under unfavorable conditions, either by adapting to environmental factors or by defending against exogenous stresses [5]. Within the human host, the bacterium can infect and reside in a wide range of tissues, ranging from superficial surfaces like the skin to deeper tissues such as the gastrointestinal tract, heart and bones. In order to achieve this multifaceted lifestyle, *S. aureus* uses complex regulatory networks to sense diverse signals that enable it to adapt to different environments and modulate virulence [6].

Cells 2021, 10, 645. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10030645

https://www.mdpi.com/journal/cells



Citation: Elhawy, M.I.; Huc-Brandt, S.; Pätzold, L.; Gannoun-Zaki, L.; Abdrabou, A.M.M.; Bischoff, M.; Molle, V. The Phosphoarginine Phosphatase PtpB from *Staphylococcus aureus* Is Involved in Bacterial Stress Adaptation during Infection. *Cells* **2021**, *10*, 645. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/cells10030645

Academic Editor: Alessandro Poggi

Received: 16 February 2021 Accepted: 12 March 2021 Published: 14 March 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). To survive in changing environments, bacteria have developed exquisite systems that not only sense these stresses but also trigger appropriate responses, which allow survival and even propagation under these conditions. Basic research of staphylococcal protein regulation is therefore required to decipher molecular and cellular mechanisms that underlie pathogenesis, host adaptation and virulence. Thus, understanding how *S. aureus* regulates its virulence in response to host environments is important to devise effective treatment strategies.

Signal transduction is an essential and universal mechanism that allows all cellsfrom prokaryotes to eukaryotes—to translate environmental signals into adaptive changes. By this mechanism, extracellular inputs propagate through complex signaling networks whose activity is often regulated by reversible protein phosphorylation [7]. Protein kinases and phosphatases are the regulatory proteins that tend to amplify an external signal, thus making it crucial. Protein phosphorylation is carried out by a multitude of protein kinases that transfer the gamma-phosphate from ATP to specific amino acids on proteins, predominantly to the side chains of serine, threonine, and tyrosine residues [8,9]. An analogous number of protein phosphatases counteract these reactions by catalyzing the dephosphorylation of specific substrate proteins. Based on their sequence, structure, and function, protein phosphatases are grouped into three main classes. Phosphatases acting on phospho-serine/threonine (pSer, pThr) comprise the PPP (phospho-protein phosphatase) and PPM (Mg²⁺/Mn²⁺-dependent protein phosphatase) families, whereas enzymes acting on phospho-tyrosine (pTyr) constitute the protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTP) superfamily [8,10]. In addition, specialized protein phosphatases act on phosphoaspartate, phospho-histidine, and phospho-cysteine residues [11-14]. Recently, a member of the low-molecular weight protein tyrosine phosphatase (LMW-PTP) family was shown to efficiently target phospho-arginine [15]. Protein arginine phosphorylation represents a novel posttranslational modification (PTM) that alters protein function in vitro and in vivo [16,17]. While bacterial tyrosine phosphatases can be intimately involved in a number of cellular processes, one major theme has become apparent with the involvement of phosphatases as virulence factors [18]. Although a detailed picture is yet unavailable, a role of bacterial protein tyrosine phosphatases during host infection has been identified in different facultative and obligate intracellular pathogens, and the strategies employed by them are currently being elucidated [18,19].

A wealth of information has been gained from studies aimed at deciphering the pathophysiological events during S. aureus-macrophage infection [20], but the signaling pathways leading to these adaptations are still poorly understood. Protein phosphatases are suggested to be important regulatory enzymes in pathogenic bacteria, though the upstream signaling of these proteins needs to be further analyzed under specific environmental conditions, which may help in identifying their sensing mechanisms. S. aureus has been reported to produce two LMW-PTPs, PtpA and PtpB [21], with the corresponding genes being part of the S. aureus core genome [22]. In our previous work, we demonstrated the secretion of the S. aureus phosphatase PtpA [23], and its involvement in the process of infection and intracellular survival [24]. Furthermore, while PtpB was initially described as a tyrosine phosphatase [21], recent phosphoproteomic analysis indicated that PtpB functions as an arginine phosphatase [25] that is involved in oxidative stress response, amino acid metabolism, and virulence factor synthesis [26]. Yet, its role during infection remains to be investigated. In this study, we demonstrate that PtpB contributes to the intracellular survival capacity of S. aureus within macrophages and participates in the infectivity of this pathogen in a murine S. aureus abscess model. In vitro phosphatase activity assays revealed furthermore that PtpB is sensitive to oxidative stress. Additionally, we show that PtpB affects the transcription of various genes involved in oxidative stress adaptation and infectivity.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Bacterial Strains, Media, and Growth Conditions

The bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study are listed in Table 1. All mutant strains and plasmids generated for this study were confirmed by sequencing of the affected region, and by assessing gene transcription by quantitative real-time reverse transcriptase PCR (qRT-PCR). *Escherichia coli* strains were grown at 37 °C in LB medium. *S. aureus* isolates were plated on Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA; BD, Heidelberg, Germany), or grown in Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB; BD) medium at 37 °C and 225 rpm with a culture to flask volume of 1:10. Antibiotics were only used for strain construction and phenotypic selection at the following concentrations: ampicillin, 100 µg/mL; tetracycline, 2.5 µg/mL; erythromycin, 2.5 µg/mL; and chloramphenicol, 10 µg/mL.

Table 1. Strains and plasmids used in this study.

Strain	Description ¹	Reference or Source
S. aureus		
SA564	S. aureus clinical isolate, wild type	[27]
SA564 $\Delta ptpB$	SA564 $\Delta ptpB::lox66-erm(B)-lox71; Erm^R$	This study
SA564 ΔptpB::ptpB E. coli	<i>cis</i> -complemented SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ derivative	This study
BL21(DE3)Star	E. coli strain allowing a high-level recombinant protein expression. IPTG-inducible T7 RNA polymerase	Invitrogen
IM08B	<i>E. coli</i> DC10B derivative harboring <i>hsdS</i> of <i>S. aureus</i> strain NRS384, Δdcm	[28]
TOP10	E. coli derivative ultra-competent cells used for general cloning	Invitrogen
Plasmids	0	
pBASE6	E. coli–S. aureus temperature-sensitive suicide shuttle vector, secY counterselection; bla cat	[29]
pBASE6 ptpB comp	pBASE6 derivative harboring the C-terminal region of NWMN_2020, <i>ptpB</i> , and the N-terminal region of <i>glyA</i> ;	This study
DT	bla, cat	[00]
pBI	S. aureus suicide plasmid; tet(L)	30
pBT ptpB KO	and lox66-erm(B)-lox71; tet(L), erm(B)	This study
pET19b	E. coli vector for IPTG inducible protein expression; bla	Novagen
pET19b_PtpB	pET19b derivative used to express HAT-tagged fusion of <i>S</i> . <i>aureus</i> PtpB WT in <i>E. coli; bla</i>	This study
pET19b_PtpB_D111A	pET19b derivative used to express HAT-tagged fusion of <i>S.</i> aureus PtpB_D111A in <i>E. coli; bla</i>	This study
pET19b_PtpB_T11I	pET19b derivative used to express HAT-tagged fusion of <i>S.</i> <i>aureus</i> PtpB_T11I in <i>E. coli; bla</i>	This study
pRMC2	E. coli–S. aureus shuttle vector, Tetracycline-inducible expression; bla, tet	[31]
pRMC2_PtpA-Spot	pRMC2 derivative used to express C-terminal Spot-tagged fusion of S. aureus PtpA; bla, tet	This study
pRMC2_PtpB-Spot	pRMC2 derivative used to express C-terminal Spot-tagged fusion of <i>S. aureus</i> PtpB; <i>bla, tet</i>	This study
pRMC2_SecA-Spot	pRMC2 derivative used to express C-terminal Spot-tagged fusion of <i>S. aureus</i> SecA; <i>bla, tet</i>	This study

¹ Erm^R, erythromycin-resistant.

2.2. Cloning and Expression of PtpA, PtpB and SecA Spot-Tagged Proteins in S. aureus

The *ptpA*, *ptpB*, and *secA* genes were amplified by PCR using *S. aureus* Newman chromosomal DNA as a template, and the Spot fragment was amplified by PCR using the pSpot2 vector as a template (Chromotek, Planegg, Germany) with the primers listed in Table S1. The *ptpA*, *ptpB*, and *secA* plasmids were constructed using NEB Gibson Assembly kit (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA). The *ptpA*, *ptpB* and *secA* purified PCR products were fused to the Spot-tag at the C-terminus and Gibson cloned into the KpnI/EcoRI digested pRMC2 vector [31], thus generating pRMC2_PtpA-Spot, pRMC2_PtpB-Spot and pRMC2_SecA-Spot, respectively. The plasmids were propagated in *E. coli* IM08B [28] and electroporated into *S. aureus* strain SA564 [27].

2.3. Cloning, Expression and Purification of Recombinant PtpB Proteins.

The *ptpB* derivatives plasmids were constructed using NEB Gibson Assembly kit (New England Biolabs). The *ptpB* gene was amplified by PCR using *S. aureus* Newman chromosomal DNA as a template with the primers listed in Table S1. The *ptpB* fragment was fused to Histidine Affinity Tag (HAT) [32] at the C-terminus and Gibson cloned into the NcoI/BamHI digested pET19b vector (Novagen, Madison, WI, USA), thus generating pET19b_PtpB. PtpB_T11I and PtpB_D111A derivatives harboring threonine to isoleucine or aspartic acid to alanine substitutions, respectively, were generated by Gibson assembly (Table S1). Transformed *E. coli* BL21 Star cells were grown at 16 °C in LB medium containing 1 mg/mL of glucose and 100 µg/mL of ampicillin, and protein synthesis was induced with 0.5 mM IPTG overnight. Bacteria were disrupted in a French pressure cell and centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 25 min. Purifications of the HAT-tagged recombinants were performed using TALON[®] metal affinity resins (Clontech, Mountain View, CA, USA) accordingly to the manufacturer's instructions and eluted in 200 mM imidazole, 50 mM Tris-HCl [pH 7.4], 100 mM NaCl, and 10% [vol/vol] glycerol, to be stored at -20 °C.

2.4. Construction of the S. aureus ptpB Deletion and Cis-Complementation Strains

For the *S. aureus ptpB* deletion mutants, 0.95- and 1.1-kb fragments (nucleotides 2236272-2237225 and 2234785-2235883 of GenBank accession no. AP009351.1, respectively), containing the flanking regions of the *ptpB* open reading frame (ORF), were amplified by PCR from chromosomal DNA of *S. aureus* strain Newman using primer pairs MBH-510/MBH-511 and MBH-512/MBH-513, respectively (Table S1). The PCR products were digested with KpnI/XhoI and EcoRI/SacI, respectively, and cloned together with an XhoI/EcoRI digested lox66-*erm*(B)-lox71 fragment into suicide vector pBT [30] to generate plasmid pBT *ptpB* KO. Plasmid pBT *ptpB* KO was propagated in *E. coli* strain IM08B [28] and subsequently electroporated directly into *S. aureus* strain Newman to obtain strain Newman $\Delta ptpB$, in which nucleotides 17 to 405 of the 420-bp spanning *ptpB* open reading frame were replaced by the lox66-*erm*(B)-lox71 cassette by allelic replacement. The deletion of *ptpB* in Newman $\Delta ptpB$ was confirmed by sequencing, and the strain was then used as a donor for transducing the lox66-*erm*(B)-lox71 tagged *ptpB* deletion into *S. aureus* strain SA564 [27].

For the *cis*-complementation of the $\Delta ptpB$ -erm(B) mutation in SA564 $\Delta ptpB$, a 2.4-kb fragment (nucleotides 2234785-2237225 of GenBank accession no. AP009351.1) covering the C-terminal region of ORF NWMN_2020, *ptpB*, the annotated terminator region of the *NWMN-2020-ptpB* operon, and the N-terminal region of *glyA* was amplified by primers MBH-510/MBH-513 (Table S1), digested with KpnI/SacI, and cloned into KpnI/SacI-predigested plasmid pBASE6 [29] to generate plasmid pBASE6 *ptpB* comp. The plasmid was propagated in *E. coli* IM08B and electroporated into *S. aureus* strain SA564 $\Delta ptpB$. Replacement of the *erm*(B)-tagged *ptpB* deletion by the functional *NWMN_2020-ptpB* locus was done as previously described [33].

2.5. Murine Abscess Model

Animal experiments were performed with approval of the local State Review Board of Saarland, Germany, and conducted following the national and European guidelines for the ethical and human treatment of animals. Preparation of the bacterial inoculum and infection of the animals were carried out as described [34], with minor modifications. Briefly, 100 μ L bacterial suspensions containing ~10⁷ colony forming units (CFU) were administered intravenously by retro-orbital injection into female, 8- to 10-week-old C57BL/6N mice (Charles River, Sulzfeld, Germany) that were anesthetized by isoflurane inhalation (3.5%; Baxter, Unterschleißheim, Germany). Immediately after infection, mice were treated with a dose of carprofen (5 mg/kg; Zoetis, Berlin, Germany), and at four days post infection, mice were sacrificed, and livers and kidneys were removed. The organs were weight adjusted and homogenized in PBS (Thermo Fisher, Dreieich, Germany), and serial dilutions of the homogenates were plated on blood agar plates to enumerate the CFU rates in the organs.

2.6. Macrophage Culture and Infection

Cells of the human leukemia monocytic cell line THP-1 [35] were obtained from the German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures (DSMZ no. ACC 16). THP-1 cells were cultured and differentiated into macrophages as described in [36]. For macrophage infection, S. aureus cells were grown to the mid-exponential growth phase (i.e., 2 h) in TSB medium. The bacteria were collected by centrifugation at 4,000 g for 10 min and resuspended in PBS. The differentiated THP-1 macrophages (5 \times 10⁵ cells/well) were inoculated with S. aureus at the multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 20:1 (bacteria to cells) and incubated in 10% fetal calf serum (FCS; PAA, Pasching, Germany)-supplemented RPMI-1640 (Thermo Fisher) at 37 °C and 5% CO2 for 1 h. Subsequently, cells were washed with PBS to remove unbound bacteria, and the remaining extracellular bacteria were killed by incubation with 100 μ g/mL gentamicin (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) and 20 μ g/mL lysostaphin (Genmedics, Reutlingen, Germany) for 30 min. After gentamicin/lysostaphin treatment, macrophages were rinsed twice with PBS (time point T0), and then further incubated in FCS (10%) and gentamicin (100 µg/mL)-supplemented RPMI-1640 for 45 min (time point T45). Lysis of macrophages and enumeration of intracellular bacteria at time points T0 and T45 was performed as described in [24]. The intracellular survival rate was determined by dividing the CFU rate seen at T45 by the corresponding CFU rates seen at T0.

2.7. PtpB Phosphatase Activity Assay

The phosphatase activity of PtpB was assayed in vitro by using a method based on the detection of p-nitrophenol (PNP) formed from p-nitrophenyl phosphate (PNPP) cleavage. Tests were performed in buffer containing 100 mM sodium citrate, 40 mM PNPP, and 3 mM dithiothreitol (DTT) when required. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 0.5 μ M PtpB phosphatase or derivatives followed by incubation in 96-well microplates at 25 °C. To test the effect of oxidation, DTT was omitted and H₂O₂ (500 μ M final concentration) was added, respectively. The phosphatase reaction was monitored at 405 nm (absorption maximum of the generated PNP) using a Spark 20M fluorimeter (Tecan, Lyon, France) microplate reader. All experiments were performed at least in triplicate.

2.8. H₂O₂ Susceptibility Assays

Minimal inhibitory concentrations of SA564 and its $\Delta ptpB$ derivative for H₂O₂ (Sigma, Saint-Quentin-Fallavier, France) were determined by broth microdilution assays according to CLSI standard M07 [37], however, by using TSB instead of cation-adjusted Mueller-Hinton broth. In a second assay, bacterial cells were cultured in TSB at 37 °C and 225 rpm for 2 h, and subsequently challenged with H₂O₂ (50 mM final concentration) for 1 h. At the end of the incubation time, CFU rates of the cultures were determined by plate counting.

2.9. NO Susceptibility Assay

SA564 and its isogenic $\Delta ptpB$ mutant were grown overnight on TSA, and colonies were picked on the next morning and suspended in fresh TSB to a McFarland of 0.5. Cell suspensions were diluted 1:100 in TSB and subsequently mixed 1:1 with TSB supplemented with different concentrations (0, 6.25 and 12.5 μ M final concentration) of the NO[•] donor diethylamine NONOate diethylammonium salt (DEA NONOate, Sigma). Growth of the cultures was monitored for 12 h using digital time-lapse microscopy with the oCelloScope instrument (BioSense Solutions, Farum, Denmark) under static conditions at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. Growth kinetics of the cultures were determined using the Background Corrected Absorption (BCA) algorithm of the UniExplorer software (BioSense Solutions, version 9.0).

2.10. pH 5.5 Survival Assay

Exponential growth phase cells (i.e., 2 h) of SA564 and its isogenic $\Delta ptpB$ mutant were washed with PBS (pH 7.4) and suspended in PBS (pH 5.5) to an OD₆₀₀ of 1. PBS washed cells resuspended in PBS (pH 7.4) served as unchallenged controls. Cell suspensions were cultured for up to 3 h at 37 °C, and OD₆₀₀ values of acid stressed cell suspensions were

determined every 30 min. The relative survival rates were determined by dividing the OD_{600} readings of the cell suspensions through the values recorded at time point 0. At 1 h post inoculation, aliquots of acid stress challenged cell suspensions and controls were removed, and CFU rates of the cultures were determined by plate counting.

2.11. Measurement of Gene Expression by qRT-PCR

RNA isolation, cDNA synthesis and qRT-PCR were carried out as previously described [38], using the primer pairs listed in Table S1. Transcripts were quantified in reference to the transcription of gyrase B (in copies per copy of *gyrB*).

2.12. Statistical analyses

The statistical significance of changes between groups was assessed by the Mann-Whitney *U* test for experiments containing \geq 4 biological replicates using the GraphPad Prism 6.01 software package (GraphPad, San Diego, CA, USA). *p* values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. PtpB Does Not Affect the In Vitro Growth of S. aureus SA564 but Promotes Survival in Macrophages

Earlier work demonstrated that S. aureus survives readily in macrophages [39]. Given the impact of Ptp homologues on survival within macrophages [24,40], we wondered whether PtpB might fulfill similar functions in S. aureus. For this purpose, a ptpB deletion mutant in S. aureus strain SA564, a clinical isolate of clonal complex 5 (CC5), was generated (SA564 $\Delta ptpB$), as well as the *cis*-complementation derivative SA564 $\Delta ptpB$::ptpB. In vitro growth curves performed with the wild type, the mutant and the complemented strain demonstrated that the deletion of *ptpB* in *S. aureus* SA564 did not markedly affect the bacterial growth in TSB (Figure 1a), which is in line with earlier observations made with S. aureus ptpB mutants cultured in full media [26,41]. Next, survival rates of S. aureus SA564, the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant, and the *cis*-complemented strain were determined within THP-1 macrophages at 45 min post Gentamicin treatment (pGt). Already after this short period, a significantly smaller proportion of intracellular surviving cells were observed in THP-1 cells infected with the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant. *Cis*-complementation of the *ptpB* mutant with a functional *ptpB* locus reverted the intracellular survival rates to levels comparable to the wild type strain (Figure 1b). These data suggest that PtpB is involved in the intracellular survival capacity of S. aureus within macrophages.

3.2. PtpB Contributes to Infectivity of S. aureus in a Murine Abscess Model

As PtpB is involved in the survival capacity of *S. aureus* within macrophages (Figure 1b), we wondered whether and how PtpB might affect the infectivity of the bacterium in vivo. To address this, we assessed the ability of the strain triplet SA564/SA564 $\Delta ptpB/SA564$ $\Delta ptpB:ptpB$ to cause disease in a murine abscess model [34]. Coherent with our intramacrophage survival results (Figure 1b), a significant decrease (about 3-log) in the bacterial loads in liver and kidney was detected in mice infected with the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant when compared to mice challenged with the wild type strain (Figure 2).

Mice infected with the *cis*-complemented derivative SA564 $\Delta ptpB::ptpB$ displayed comparable bacterial loads in liver as wild type infected mice. In kidneys, SA564 $\Delta ptpB::ptpB$ infected mice produced CFU rates that were about 1-*log* lower than the CFU rates determined in wild type infected mice (Figure 2a). However, SA564 $\Delta ptpB::ptpB$ infected mice displayed about 100-fold higher bacterial loads in kidneys than the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant challenged mice, indicating that the decreases in bacterial loads seen in livers and kidneys of $\Delta ptpB$ mutant challenged mice were due to the deletion of *ptpB* and not caused by polar mutations. Taken together, these findings suggest that PtpB is a major contributor to abscess formation of *S. aureus* in mice. Remarkably, inactivation of *ptpB* in *S. aureus* decreased abscess formation in both, liver and kidneys, which is not the rule for other mutations affecting liver and renal abscess formation of *S. aureus*, such as *ccpA*, *nor*, *nos*, and *sea* that altered the abscess formation only in one of the two organs upon infection via the blood system [42–44].



Figure 1. PtpB does not affect growth of *S. aureus* SA564 in TSB but promotes survival in macrophages. (a) Growth kinetics of *S. aureus* strains SA564 (black symbols), SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ (white symbols), and SA564 $\Delta ptpB$:*ptpB* (gray symbols) in TSB. Cells were cultured at 37 °C and 225 rpm at a culture to flask volume of 1:10. Data represent the mean A_{600} readings \pm SD at the time points indicated (n = 3). (b) *S. aureus* short-term survival in infected macrophages. Survival rates are given in relationship to the intracellular bacterial cell numbers seen immediately after the gentamicin/lysostaphin treatment, which was set to 100%. The data are presented as box and whisker plot showing the interquartile range (25–75%, box), the median (horizontal line) and the standard deviation (bars) of six independent experiments. * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01 (Mann-Whitney *U* test).



Figure 2. PtpB contributes to infectivity of *S. aureus* SA564 in a murine abscess model. C57BL/6N mice were infected via retroorbital injection with 1×10^7 cells of *S. aureus* strain SA564 (black symbols), SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ (white symbols), and the *cis*-complemented derivative SA564 $\Delta ptpB$::*ptpB* (gray symbols), respectively (n = 10 per group). Mice were euthanized 4 days post-infection, livers and kidneys were removed and homogenized in PBS, and serial dilutions of the homogenates plated on sheep blood agar plates to determine the bacterial loads in kidney (**a**) and liver (**b**) organs. Each symbol represents an individual mouse. Horizontal bars indicate the median of all observations. * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01 (Mann-Whitney *U* test).

3.3. PtpB Is Not Secreted by S. aureus during In Vitro Growth and Upon Ingestion by Macrophages

Various pathogenic bacteria use the secretion of bacterial signaling proteins into target host cells to modulate the phosphorylation status of host signaling networks [45–47]. We have recently shown that *S. aureus* PtpA is secreted during in vitro growth or within macrophages [23,24]. Additionally, PtpA has been identified in the secretome of this bacterium [48], despite of the fact that PtpA does not exhibit a general export pathway

signal sequence at its *N*-terminus. In order to determine whether PtpB might be secreted by *S. aureus* and interact directly with signaling networks of the host, we created a *C*terminal Spot-tag *ptpB* translational fusion construct and introduced this construct in *trans* into the SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ derivative to avoid the expression of endogenous PtpB, generating strain SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ + pRMC2_PtpB-Spot. The plasmid is expected to drive high levels of expression of a PtpB-Spot fusion protein upon anhydrotetracycline induction [31]. Cultures expressing the PtpB-Spot fusion protein were induced and grown in liquid media for only two hours in order to minimize cell death and lysis. Presence of PtpB-Spot in supernatants and bacterial cells was determined by Western-blot analyses using anti-Spot antibodies. SA564 derivatives expressing Spot-tagged versions of PtpA and SecA served as positive and negative secretion control, respectively [24,49] (Figure 3).



Figure 3. PtpB is not secreted by S. aureus. (a) Cultures were induced with $0,2 \mu g/mL$ of anhydrotetracycline for 2 h and supernatants from S. aureus SA564 ΔptpB + pRMC2_PtpB-Spot, SA564 $\Delta ptpA + pRMC2_PtpA$ -Spot (positive secretion control), and SA564 + pRMC2_SecA-Spot (negative secretion control) were filtered and immunoprecipitated with anti-Spot magnetic beads, whereas bacterial pellets were resuspended and lysed in PBS with protease inhibitor cocktail, lysostaphin, and DNAaseI. Immunoprecipitated proteins (IP) from supernatants and bacterial pellets (BP) were resolved on SDS-PAGEs, transferred to PVDF membranes, and subjected to Western-blot analyses using an anti-Spot antibody as primary antibody (Chromotek) and a HRP-coupled goat-anti-lama antibody as secondary antibody (Bethyl). Data are representative of three independent experiments. (b) RAW 264.7 macrophages (5 \times 10⁵ cells/mL) were incubated in presence of anhydrotetracycline (0.1 μ g/mL) to induce PtpB expression after phagosomal uptake of the bacteria for 2 h with S. aureus SA564 AptpB + pRMC2_PtpB-Spot at a MOI of 20, and non-phagocytosed bacteria were subsequently removed by gentamicin/lysostaphin treatment. At 3 h pGt, infected macrophages were lysed in 0.1% Triton X-100, and centrifuged at 14 000 g. The obtained supernatants corresponding to macrophage lysates were immunoprecipitated with anti-Spot magnetic beads (Chromotek), whereas the pellets containing intracellular bacteria were resuspended in an equal amount of lysis buffer. Immunoprecipitated proteins and bacterial pellets were resolved on SDS-PAGE and detected with an anti-Spot antibody as described in (a). Data are representative of three independent experiments (M kDa: molecular markers).

Cultures expressing the PtpB-Spot fusion construct allowed the identification of the fusion protein within the bacterial pellet but did not indicate the presence of PtpB-Spot in immunoprecipitated culture supernatants (Figure 3a). As a positive secreted control, we used our recently constructed C-terminal Spot-tag translational fusion to the S. aureus *ptpA* gene in the pRMC2 vector [24], and introduced this construct into strain SA564 $\Delta ptpA$. A C-terminal Spot-tag translational fusion to the S. aureus secA gene cloned into pRMC2 served as negative control to monitor the potential release of cytosolic proteins by cell lysis. In line with our earlier observations [23,24], we observed clear signals for PtpA-Spot in the bacterial pellets and in immunoprecipitated supernatant fractions, while SecA-Spot was exclusively found in bacterial pellets (Figure 3a), indicating that PtpA is secreted by S. aureus during exponential growth, while PtpB is kept within the bacterial cell under these growth conditions. The lack of a SecA-Spot signal in the IP culture supernatant fractions indicates furthermore a negligible release of intracellular proteins via cell lysis under the growth conditions used in this assay, supporting the idea that PtpA is actively secreted by S. aureus into the extracellular milieu by a yet unidentified mechanism [24]. Moreover, to test whether PtpB might be secreted by S. aureus under infection mimicking

conditions, we next infected THP-1 macrophages with the SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ + pRMC2_PtpB-Spot derivative, induced the expression of PtpB-Spot by addition of anhydrotetracycline to the infected macrophages, and tested the presence of PtpB-Spot in lysed macrophage supernatants and intracellular persisting bacteria three hours post infection. Similar to our observations made with the in vitro cultured cells (Figure 3a), we failed to detect a PtpB-Spot signal in macrophage lysates upon cell infection, while a clear signal could be detected in bacterial cell pellets (Figure 3b), demonstrating that PtpB-Spot was produced by THP-1 ingested *S. aureus* cells. Taken together, these findings indicate that PtpB is not actively secreted by *S. aureus* to modulate host cell signaling, suggesting that the phosphoarginine phosphatase affects the macrophage survival capacity and infectivity of *S. aureus* via intracellular pathways.

3.4. S. aureus PtpB Phosphatase Activity Depends on a Highly Specific Threonine Residue in Its Catalytic Loop

PtpB from S. aureus was originally characterized in vitro as an acid low-molecularmass phosphotyrosine protein phosphatases [21,50], although recent in vitro studies reported substrate specific activity of PtpB to release inorganic phosphate from arginine phosphate containing substrates [25,26]. However, the phosphotyrosine phosphatase activity of S. aureus PtpB was confirmed by structural motifs typical for LMW-PTPases, which are highly conserved among different staphylococcal strains and even species, and known to play pivotal roles in the catalytic cleavage mechanism [50]. All LMW-PTPs have a specifically shaped binding pocket to distinguish pTyr from other phosphorylated residues. Given this conserved architecture, it is surprising that an annotated LMW-PTP is able to target a different phospho-residue, but this was firstly reported for the LMW-PTP YwlE from Bacillus subtilis, which possesses a highly specific phospho-arginine phosphatase activity [15]. YwlE belongs to the LMW-PTP family which contains a conserved active site signature motif, C(X)4CR(S/T) (Supplementary Figure S1), corresponding to the active-site loop (P-loop) region that comprises a conserved cysteine and arginine residue. This P-loop is critical for binding the phosphate group of the incoming substrate and subsequently, to form a transient enzyme-substrate phosphothioester adduct [51]. Overall, YwlE adopts the typical LMW-PTP fold consisting of four β-strands forming a central, highly twisted parallel β -sheet that is flanked by α -helices H1, H2, H5, and H6 on one side, and H3 and H4 on the other side (Fuhrmann et al., 2013a). The P-loop encompassing the C7XXXXXR13 motif connects strand S1 and a helix H1 and constitutes the base of the active-site pocket. As a result, residues Cys7 and Asp118 are properly arranged to dephosphorylate the incoming substrate in a concerted reaction [52]. Although all LMW-PTPs exhibit a similar active-site architecture, in which residues lining the substrate-binding cleft are particularly well conserved, structural comparison of YwlE with the related S. aureus PtpA and PtpB phosphatase revealed a remarkable difference regarding position 5 within the CXXXX5XR P-loop (the PX5 residue: Thr in YwlE and PtpB; Ile in PtpA) (Supplementary Figure S1). Furhmann et al. [15] demonstrated already that position PX5 of the CXXXX5XR P loop is critical to direct substrate selectivity either to pArg (PX5 = Thr) or pTyr (PX5 = Ile), as a Thr to Ile exchange increase the pTyr phosphatase activity of YwlE, while reducing its pArg phosphatase activity. We hypothesized that the S. aureus PtpB specificity towards pArg is mainly driven by the Thr residue at position PX5, as has been seen with its orthologue YwlE [15]. To assess the role of the critical residues, Thr11 and Asp111, on PtpB phosphatase activity, we constructed single mutants where Thr11 and Asp111 (the catalytically active Asp residue of the conserved D-P-Y triad) were mutated to isoleucine and alanine, respectively. Proteins were overexpressed in E. coli and purified as recombinant proteins fused to a HAT-tag. The purified tagged PtpB protein derivatives were then assayed for phosphatase activity in presence of the universal phosphate donor PNPP and the reducing agent DTT (Figure 4, black bars).



Figure 4. *S. aureus* PtpB phosphatase activity. Recombinant expressed versions of PtpB, PtpB_T111, and PtpB_D111A were used to test their phosphatase activity on PNPP in presence (black bars) and absence of DTT (blue bars), respectively. Data are presented as mean + SD of four biological replicates. *,*p < 0.05 (# Mann-Whitney *U* test between PtpB and its derivatives in presence of DTT; * Mann-Whitney *U* test between + DTT and –DTT samples).

The D111A exchange in PtpB strongly decreased the PNPP hydrolysis capacity by a factor of ~7-fold, in line with earlier findings indicating that this Asp residue acts as the general acid catalyst in the transition stage for the phosphate group release [50]. Mutating residue Thr11, on the other hand, had an opposing effect. The T11I exchange in PtpB resulted in a significant increase in PNPP hydrolysis (~6-fold). Therefore, substitution of a single hydroxyl group (threonine) by an ethyl group (isoleucine) led to a drastic change in the phosphatase activity of PtpB as previously described for YwlE from *B. subtilis* [15].

The C(X)4 CR(S/T) motif possessed by LMW-PTPs is crucial for catalysis and redox regulation of their activity. In fact, the dephosphorylation mechanism occurs in a two-step process and involves the formation of a covalent phosphothioester reaction intermediate that is generated by nucleophilic attack of the active site cysteine on the incoming phosphoarginine residue. Studies with other LMW-PTPs suggest that the active site cysteine exists as the negatively charged thiolate anion at physiological pH [53]. In this form, the cysteine residue acts as a strong nucleophile. However, in the latter state, the cysteine residue is also particularly vulnerable to oxidation via reactive oxygen species (e.g., hydrogen peroxide, H₂O₂). To further explore the redoxbased putative regulation of PtpB, we performed phosphatase assays with our PtpB derivatives in absence of DTT and in presence of H2O2, respectively. The results of these studies revealed that both the wild-type PtpB and the T11I mutant activities were decreased in absence of the reducing agent by a factor > 5, while the PNPP hydrolase activity of the D111A mutant was not markedly changed (Figure 4, blue bars). No PNPP hydrolase activities were detectable for all three PtpB derivatives in presence of H_2O_2 (data not shown), in line with observations obtained with other LMW-PTPs [54–56]. Thus, it can be inferred that the redox status of the cell is likely to affect PtpB activity in S. aureus.

3.5. PtpB Affects the Capacity of S. aureus to Adapt to Oxidative Stress

S. aureus cells phagocytosed by macrophages are likely to end up in phagolysosomes in which the bacterial cells are challenged among others by reactive oxygen species (ROS) and low pH [57]. Based on our observations that *S. aureus* cells lacking a functional *ptpB* locus have a reduced capacity to survive within THP-1 macrophages (Figure 1b) and that PtpB activity is modulated by oxidative treatment (Figure 4), we wondered whether PtpB
might affect the ability of *S. aureus* to cope with oxidative stress. To test this hypothesis, we first determined the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) of SA564 and its $\Delta ptpB$ derivative for H₂O₂ using a broth microdilution assay. Unexpectedly, cells of the wild type and the *ptpB* deletion mutant displayed an equal MIC of 0.25 mM. However, when grown in TSB for 2 h and subsequently challenged with 50 mM of H₂O₂, SA564 and its $\Delta ptpB$ derivative produced clearly differing CFU rates at 1 h post H₂O₂ challenge (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Effect of a *ptpB* deletion on the H₂O₂ resistance of *S. aureus* SA564. Cells of *S. aureus* strain SA564, its isogenic $\Delta ptpB$ mutant, and the *cis*-complemented derivative were cultured in TSB at 37 °C and 225 rpm for 2 h, challenged with 50 mM H₂O₂, and CFU rates of the cultures determined at 1 h post H₂O₂ challenge. The data presented are the mean + SD of five biological experiments. ** *p* < 0.01 (Mann-Whitney *U* test).

Treatment of exponential growth phase cultures of the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant with H₂O₂ significantly reduced the number of CFU, when compared to the CFU rates obtained with H₂O₂ challenged cultures of the wild type and the *cis*-complemented derivative, respectively, in line with findings made by Junker et al. [26] for *S. aureus* strain COL. These findings suggest that PtpB does not alter the ability of *S. aureus* SA564 to cope with H₂O₂ stress *per se*, but does affect the ability of the pathogen to adapt to oxidative stress during growth.

3.6. PtpB Promotes the Capacity of S. aureus to Withstand NO[•] Stress.

In order to test whether PtpB might also affect the capacity of *S. aureus* to cope with NO[•] stress, cells of SA564 and its $\Delta ptpB$ mutant were challenged with NO[•] donor diethylamine NONOate (DEA NONOate), and growth of the cultures monitored over time (Figure 6).

Addition of the NO donor at a concentration of 12.5 μ M delayed the growth of wild type and $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cultures for about 2 h, but had only little effect on the growth rate of the wild type after 12 h of growth (Figure 6a,b). In contrast, a clear decrease in growth rates was observed when cells of the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant were challenged with the NO⁻ donor, which reached about 75% of the growth rates seen with the untreated control after 12 h of cultivation (Figure 6b). These findings suggest that PtpB also contributes positively to the capacity of *S. aureus* to recover from nitrosative stress.



Figure 6. Effect of a *ptpB* deletion on the NO[•] resistance of *S. aureus* SA564. Cells of *S. aureus* strain SA564 (filled symbols) and its isogenic $\Delta ptpB$ mutant (opened symbols) were cultured in presence and absence of 12.5 μ M DEA NONOate in TSB under static conditions at 37 °C and 5% CO₂ for 12 h. Growth was measured by optical density using the oCelloScope BCA algorithm. (a) Growth kinetics of DEA NONOate treated (green symbols) and untreated (black symbols) cell suspensions. The graph represents the average growth values \pm SD of four biological experiments. (b) Relative growth rates of DEA NONOate treated cells in relation to the growth rates recorded for the untreated controls at 12 h of growth. * *p* < 0.05 (Mann-Whitney *U* test).

3.7. PtpB Alters the Transcription of Genes Encoding Factors Involved in the Detoxification of ROS

The adaptive capacity of staphylococcal cells to oxidative stress is of major impact for host infection [58], and our findings show that the lack of *ptpB* decreased the capacity of S. aureus to protect itself from H_2O_2 and NO' induced oxidative stress (Figures 5 and 6). Thus, we wondered whether PtpB might affect the transcription of genes whose products are involved in the detoxification of ROS, specifically of H2O2. The detoxification of H2O2 in S. aureus is thought to be accomplished mainly by catalase (encoded by katA) and the peroxiredoxin alkyl hydroperoxide reductase (encoded by ahpC), which convert H₂O₂ to water and oxygen [59]. At first, we analyzed the impact of the ptpB deletion on katA and ahpC transcription of S. aureus during growth in TSB (Figure 7a). In line with earlier findings [59], we observed a growth phase-dependent transcription of both genes in wild type cells, with a maximum expression in the post-exponential growth phase. Notably, when the transcript rates of katA and ahpC were determined in cultures of the isogenic Δ*ptpB* mutant along with growth, rather similar growth phase-dependent kinetics were observed. However, when compared in relation to the transcript rates seen for katA and *ahpC* in wild type cells at a given time point, $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cells produced significantly reduced amounts of katA and ahpC at all three time points analyzed (Figure 7a), suggesting that PtpB is involved in the expression of KatA and AhpC in S. aureus.

Another mechanism utilized by *S. aureus* to cope with extracellular H_2O_2 stress is the production of the yellow to orange pigment staphyloxanthin [60], which is synthesized from the enzymes coded within the *crtOPQMN* operon [61], and known to be of importance for the resistance of *S. aureus* to phagocytotic killing [60,62,63]. However, we neither observed clear differences in pigment production between the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant and wild type cells of SA564 during in vitro growth (data not shown), nor in the transcription of *crtM* (Figure 7b), suggesting that PtpB does not affect intramacrophage survival via the modulation of staphyloxanthin biosynthesis.

Encouraged by our findings that PtpB promotes the transcription of *katA* and *ahpC* (Figure 7a), we additionally tested the impact of the *ptpB* deletion on the transcription of the superoxide dismutases encoding genes *sodA* and *sodM* [64,65]. Both gene products are involved in maintaining cell viability during exogenous O_2^- stress by catalyzing the dismutation of O_2^- to oxygen and H_2O_2 [58]. While no clear differences in *sodM* transcription between $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cells and wild type cells were noticed in our qRT-PCR analyses, we observed significantly decreased *sodA* transcript rates in $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cells for the later time points analyzed (Figure 7c).

Detoxification of nitric oxide in *S. aureus* is mediated mainly by the flavohemoglobin Hmp [66]. To test whether PtpB might also affect the expression of Hmp, we also analyzed the transcription of the respective gene (Figure 7d). Here, no clear differences in *hmp* transcription between $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cells and wild type cells were noticed, suggesting that PtpB does not modulate the nitrosative stress response of *S. aureus* via transcription of *hmp*, at least under uninduced conditions. Taken together, these data suggest that PtpB is likely to contribute to intramacrophage survival and abscess formation of *S. aureus* via the upregulation of ROS detoxifying enzymes such as AhpC, KatA, and SodA.



Figure 7. Effect of a *ptpB* deletion on the transcription of genes encoding enzymes involved in the detoxification of ROS in *S. aureus*. Quantitative transcript analyses of *ahpC* and *katA* (**a**), *crtM* (**b**), *sodA* and *sodM* (**c**), and *hmp* (**d**) by qRT-PCR in SA564 (black bars) and SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ (white bars) cells grown in TSB at 37 °C and 225 rpm to the time points indicated. Transcripts were quantified in reference to the transcription of gyrase B (in copies per copy of *gyrB*). Data are presented as mean + SD of five biological replicates. * *p* < 0.05; ** *p* < 0.01 (Mann-Whitney *U* test between WT and mutant at a given time point).

3.8. PtpB Contributes to the Survival Capacity of S. aureus Under Low pH.

S. aureus cells ingested by macrophages are challenged among others in the phagolysosome by low pH [67]. To evaluate whether PtpB might also affect the capacity of *S. aureus* to cope with acidic stress, we next tested the survival capacity of wild type and $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cells in PBS at pH 5.5, an average pH found in phagolysosomes of macrophages loaded with viable *S. aureus* cells [67]. To closer resemble conditions seen in the macrophage phagolysosome, exponential growth phase cells of the wild type and the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant were challenged with the low pH in PBS and not the culture medium (i.e., TSB). When compared to wild type cells incubated in PBS at pH 5.5, the OD₆₀₀ values of the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cell suspensions dropped faster at all time points analyzed (Figure 8a).

Similarly, cell suspensions of the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant produced significantly smaller relative CFU rates after 1 h of cultivation than wild type cultures (Figure 8b), suggesting that PtpB contributes to the ability of *S. aureus* to survive under pH conditions encountered by the bacterial cell in the macrophage phagolysosome. As urease was recently reported to represent an essential component of the acid response network of *S. aureus* [68], we next tested whether PtpB might affect the transcription of the corresponding operon, *ureABCEFGD*. Our qRT-PCR analyses revealed that the *ptpB* deletion indeed strongly affected the transcription of *ureA* in SA564 (Figure 8c), however, unlike expected. When cultured in TSB, cells of the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant produced significantly increased transcript rates of *ureA* than wild type cells at all time points analyzed, suggesting that PtpB represses the transcription of the *ureABCEFGD* operon during in vitro growth. The enhanced level

of *ureA* transcripts seen in $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cells is probably due to a reduced production of the transcriptional regulator CodY, a known repressor of urease gene transcription in gram-positive bacteria [68], as Junker et al. [26] reported significantly lower amounts of CodY in $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cells when compared to wild type cells. However, if and how a reduction of urease affects the ability of *S. aureus* to survive within the macrophage phagolysosome remains subject to further analysis.



Figure 8. Effect of a *ptpB* deletion on the survival capacity of *S. aureus* at pH 5.5. Exponential growth phase cells of SA564 (black symbols) and its SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ mutant (white symbols) were inoculated into PBS (pH 5.5) at an OD₆₀₀ of 1 and cultured for 3 h at 37 °C. (a) Survival rates over time. Data are presented as mean \pm SD of five biological replicates. (b) Relative CFU rates of the cultures after 1 h of incubation in PBS at pH 5.5. CFU rates are given in relation to the CFU rates determined in cell suspensions cultured for 1 h in PBS at pH 7.4. Data are presented as mean + SD of five biological replicates. (c) Quantitative transcript analyses of *ureA* in *S. aureus* cells grown in TSB at 37 °C and 225 rpm to the time points indicated. Transcripts were quantified in reference to the transcription of gyrase B (in copies per copy of *gyrB*). Data are presented as mean + SD of five biological replicates. * *p* < 0.05; ** *p* < 0.01 (Mann-Whitney *U* test between WT and mutant at a given time point).

4. Conclusions

Phosphatases expressed by pathogenic bacteria can act as key regulators of important microbial processes, especially during environmental adaptation encountered upon host infection [18,19]. Our macrophage survival-, mice infection-, and transcription data suggest a similar role for PtpB in S. aureus. Interestingly, S. aureus PtpB presents important differences compared to its LMW-PTPs orthologues. In particular, we provide evidence that PtpB phosphatase activity could be influenced by a single Thr residue in its catalytic loop. Our observations that PtpB activity is affected by its redox status suggest a putative role during the oxidative stress response, as has been seen for the PtpB homolog YlwE in bacilli [56,69]. In line with this assumption, we observed a decreased capacity of the ptpB deletion mutant to withstand H₂O₂, NO^{\cdot}, and low pH stresses, skills that are probably very important for S. aureus to survive inside macrophages [70]. Professional phagocytes such as macrophages express a multifaceted antimicrobial arsenal, which includes but is not limited to the production of reactive oxygen or nitrogen species (ROS, RNS), and antimicrobial peptides in an acidified environment [71]. Nevertheless, S. aureus can withstand these mechanisms and conditions [70]. It is thus tempting to speculate that PtpB redox regulation might participate in the adaptation processes initiated by S. aureus to survive and replicate within the phagolysosome. However, further work will be needed to decipher the molecular mechanisms utilized by PtpB that allow S. aureus to adapt to oxidative stresses encountered in macrophages and during infection.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/2073-4 409/10/3/645/s1, Table S1: Primers used in this study; Supplementary Figure S1: Alignment of LMW-PTPs.

15 of 17

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, V.M. and M.B.; methodology, V.M. and M.B.; formal analysis, V.M. and M.B.; investigation, M.I.E., S.H.-B., L.P., L.G.-Z., and A.M.M.A.; resources, V.M and M.B.; writing—original draft preparation, V.M. and M.B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by grants from the ATIP/AVENIR Program and Region Languedoc-Roussilon for V.M. M.I.E. and A.M.M.A. acknowledge support by the German Egyptian Research Long-Term Scholarship Program (GERLS).

Institutional Review Board Statement: Animal experiments were performed with approval of the local State Review Board of Saarland, Germany (project identification code 60/2015 [approved 21.12.2015]), and conducted following the national and European guidelines for the ethical and human treatment of animals.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The datasets generated during and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Acknowledgments: The authors thank Karin Hilgert for excellent technical support.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Lowy, F.D. Staphylococcus aureus infections. N. Engl. J. Med. 1998, 339, 520-532. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 2. Gajdács, M. The Continuing Threat of Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus. Antibiotics 2019, 8, 52. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bischoff, M.; Romby, P. Genetic Regulation. In Staphylococcus: Genetics and Physiology; Caister Academic Press: Poole, UK, 2016; pp. 301–334.
- Schlievert, P.M. Staphylococcal Virulence Factors. In Staphylococcus: Genetics and Physiology; Somervill, G.A., Ed.; Caister Academic Press: Lincoln, NE, USA, 2016; pp. 81–106.
- Fraunholz, M.; Sinha, B. Intracellular *Staphylococcus aureus*: Live-in and let die. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 2012, 2, 43. [CrossRef]
 Balasubramanian, D.; Harper, L.; Shopsin, B.; Torres, V.J. *Staphylococcus aureus* pathogenesis in diverse host environments.
- Pathog. Dis. 2017, 75. [CrossRef]
- 7. Barājk, I. Complexity of bacterial phosphorylation interaction network. Front. Microbiol. 2014, 5, 725. [CrossRef]
- Hunter, T. Protein kinases and phosphatases: The Yin and Yang of protein phosphorylation and signaling. Cell 1995, 80, 225–236. [CrossRef]
- 9. Pereira, S.F.F.; Goss, L.; Dworkin, J. Eukaryote-Like Serine/Threonine Kinases and Phosphatases in Bacteria. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 2011, 75, 192–212. [CrossRef]
- Barford, D.; Das, A.K.; Egloff, M.-P. The Structure and Mechanism of Protein Phosphatases: Insights into Catalysis and Regulation. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 1998, 27, 133–164. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 11. Perego, M.; Hanstein, C.; Welsh, K.M.; Djavakhishvili, T.; Glaser, P.; Hoch, J.A. Multiple protein-aspartate phosphatases provide a mechanism for the integration of diverse signals in the control of development in *B. subtilis. Cell* **1994**, *79*, 1047–1055. [CrossRef]
- Rigden, D.J. The histidine phosphatase superfamily: Structure and function. *Biochem. J.* 2007, 409, 333–348. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
 Klumpp, S.; Krieglstein, J. Reversible Phosphorylation of Histidine Residues in Proteins from Vertebrates. *Sci. Signal.* 2009, 2, pe13. [CrossRef]
- Sun, F.; Ding, Y.; Ji, Q.; Liang, Z.; Deng, X.; Wong, C.C.L.; Yi, C.; Zhang, L.; Xie, S.; Alvarez, S.; et al. Protein cysteine phosphorylation of SarA/MgrA family transcriptional regulators mediates bacterial virulence and antibiotic resistance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2012, 109, 15461–15466. [CrossRef]
- Fuhrmann, J.; Mierzwa, B.; Trentini, D.B.; Spiess, S.; Lehner, A.; Charpentier, E.; Clausen, T. Structural Basis for Recognizing Phosphoarginine and Evolving Residue-Specific Protein Phosphatases in Gram-Positive Bacteria. *Cell Rep.* 2013, 3, 1832–1839. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 16. Fuhrmann, J.; Schmidt, A.; Spiess, S.; Lehner, A.; Turgay, K.; Mechtler, K.; Charpentier, E.; Clausen, T. McsB Is a Protein Arginine Kinase That Phosphorylates and Inhibits the Heat-Shock Regulator CtsR. *Science* **2009**, *324*, 1323–1327. [CrossRef]
- Elsholz, A.K.W.; Turgay, K.; Michalik, S.; Hessling, B.; Gronau, K.; Oertel, D.; M\u00e4der, U.; Bernhardt, J.; Becher, D.; Hecker, M.; et al. Global impact of protein arginine phosphorylation on the physiology of *Bacillus subtilis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2012, 109, 7451–7456. [CrossRef]
- 18. Sajid, A.; Arora, G.; Singhal, A.; Kalia, V.C.; Singh, Y. Protein Phosphatases of Pathogenic Bacteria: Role in Physiology and Virulence. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* **2015**, *69*, 527–547. [CrossRef]
- 19. Whitmore, S.E.; Lamont, R.J. Tyrosine phosphorylation and bacterial virulence. Int. J. Oral Sci. 2012, 4, 1–6. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Flannagan, R.S.; Heit, B.; Heinrichs, D.E. Antimicrobial Mechanisms of Macrophages and the Immune Evasion Strategies of Staphylococcus aureus. Pathogens 2015, 4, 826–868. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Soulat, D.; Vaganay, E.; Duclos, B.; Genestier, A.-L.; Etienne, J.; Cozzone, A.J. Staphylococcus aureus Contains Two Low-Molecular-Mass Phosphotyrosine Protein Phosphatases. J. Bacteriol. 2002, 184, 5194–5199. [CrossRef]
- Everitt, R.G.; Didelot, X.; Batty, E.M.; Miller, R.R.; Knox, K.; Young, B.C.; Bowden, R.; Auton, A.; Votintseva, A.; Larner-Svensson, H.; et al. Mobile elements drive recombination hotspots in the core genome of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Nat. Commun.* 2014, *5*, 3956. [CrossRef]
- Brelle, S.; Baronian, G.; Huc-Brandt, S.; Zaki, L.G.; Cohen-Gonsaud, M.; Bischoff, M.; Molle, V. Phosphorylation-mediated regulation of the *Staphylococcus aureus* secreted tyrosine phosphatase PtpA. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2016, 469, 619–625. [CrossRef]
- Gannoun-Zaki, L.; Pätzold, L.; Huc-Brandt, S.; Baronian, G.; Elhawy, M.I.; Gaupp, R.; Martin, M.; Blanc-Potard, A.-B.; Letourneur, F.; Bischoff, M.; et al. PtpA, a secreted tyrosine phosphatase from *Staphylococcus aureus*, contributes to virulence and interacts with coronin-1A during infection. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2018, 293, 15569–15580. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Junker, S.; Maaβ, S.; Otto, A.; Michalik, S.; Morgenroth, F.; Gerth, U.; Hecker, M.; Becher, D. Spectral Library Based Analysis of Arginine Phosphorylations in *Staphylococcus aureus*. Mol. Cell. Proteom. 2018, 17, 335–348. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Junker, S.; Maaß, S.; Otto, A.; Hecker, M.; Becher, D. Toward the Quantitative Characterization of Arginine Phosphorylations in Staphylococcus aureus. J. Proteome Res. 2018, 18, 265–279. [CrossRef]
- Somerville, G.A.; Beres, S.B.; Fitzgerald, J.R.; DeLeo, F.R.; Cole, R.L.; Hoff, J.S.; Musser, J.M. In Vitro Serial Passage of *Staphylococcus aureus*: Changes in Physiology, Virulence Factor Production, and *agr* Nucleotide Sequence. *J. Bacteriol.* 2002, 184, 1430–1437.
 [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Monk, I.R.; Tree, J.J.; Howden, B.P.; Stinear, T.P.; Foster, T.J. Complete Bypass of Restriction Systems for Major Staphylococcus aureus Lineages. mBio 2015, 6, e00308-15. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Geiger, T.; Francois, P.; Liebeke, M.; Fraunholz, M.; Goerke, C.; Krismer, B.; Schrenzel, J.; Lalk, M.; Wolz, C. The Stringent Response of *Staphylococcus aureus* and Its Impact on Survival after Phagocytosis through the Induction of Intracellular PSMs Expression. *PLOS Pathog.* 2012, *8*, e1003016. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 30. Giachino, P.; Engelmann, S.; Bischoff, M. Sigma(B) Activity Depends on RsbU in Staphylococcus aureus. J. Bacteriol. 2001, 183, 1843–1852. [CrossRef]
- 31. Corrigan, R.M.; Foster, T.J. An improved tetracycline-inducible expression vector for *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Plasmid* **2009**, *61*, 126–129. [CrossRef]
- 32. Terpe, K. Overview of tag protein fusions: From molecular and biochemical fundamentals to commercial systems. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **2003**, *60*, 523–533. [CrossRef]
- Bae, T.; Schneewind, O. Allelic replacement in *Staphylococcus aureus* with inducible counter-selection. *Plasmid* 2006, 55, 58–63. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gaupp, R.; Wirf, J.; Wonnenberg, B.; Biegel, T.; Eisenbeis, J.; Graham, J.; Herrmann, M.; Lee, C.Y.; Beisswenger, C.; Wolz, C.; et al. RpiRc Is a Pleiotropic Effector of Virulence Determinant Synthesis and Attenuates Pathogenicity in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Infect. Immun.* 2016, 84, 2031–2041. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Tsuchiya, S.; Yamabe, M.; Yamaguchi, Y.; Kobayashi, Y.; Konno, T.; Tada, K. Establishment and characterization of a human acute monocytic leukemia cell line (THP-1). *Int. J. Cancer* **1980**, *26*, 171–176. [CrossRef]
- Stokes, R.W.; Doxsee, D. The Receptor-Mediated Uptake, Survival, Replication, and Drug Sensitivity of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* within the Macrophage-like Cell Line THP-1: A Comparison with Human Monocyte-Derived Macrophages. *Cell. Immunol.* 1999, 197, 1–9. [CrossRef]
- 37. Weinstein, M.P.; Patel, J.B.; Burnham, C.-A.; Campeau, S.; Conville, P.S.; Doarn, C.; Eliopoulos, G.M.; Galas, M.F.; Humphries, R.M.; Jenkins, S.G.; et al. Methods for Dilution Antimicrobial Susceptibility Tests for Bacteria That Grow Aerobically in CLSI Standard M07. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute: Wayne, PA, USA, 2018.
- Chatterjee, I.; Becker, P.; Grundmeier, M.; Bischoff, M.; Somerville, G.A.; Peters, G.; Sinha, B.; Harraghy, N.; Proctor, R.A.; Herrmann, M. *Staphylococcus aureus* ClpC Is Required for Stress Resistance, Aconitase Activity, Growth Recovery, and Death. *J. Bacteriol.* 2005, 187, 4488–4496. [CrossRef]
- Kubica, M.; Guzik, K.; Koziel, J.; Zarebski, M.; Richter, W.; Gajkowska, B.; Golda, A.; Maciag-Gudowska, A.; Brix, K.; Shaw, L.; et al. A Potential New Pathway for *Staphylococcus aureus* Dissemination: The Silent Survival of S. aureus Phagocytosed by Human Monocyte-Derived Macrophages. *PLoS ONE* 2008, 3, e1409. [CrossRef]
- Wong, D.; Chao, J.D.; Av-Gay, Y. Mycobacterium tuberculosis-secreted phosphatases: From pathogenesis to targets for TB drug development. Trends Microbiol. 2013, 21, 100–109. [CrossRef]
- 41. Vega, C.; Chou, S.; Engel, K.; Harrell, M.E.; Rajagopal, L.; Grundner, C. Structure and Substrate Recognition of the *Staphylococcus aureus* Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase PtpA. J. Mol. Biol. 2011, 413, 24–31. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 42. Li, C.; Sun, F.; Cho, H.; Yelavarthi, V.; Sohn, C.; He, C.; Schneewind, O.; Bae, T. CcpA Mediates Proline Auxotrophy and Is Required for *Staphylococcus aureus* Pathogenesis. *J. Bacteriol.* **2010**, *192*, 3883–3892. [CrossRef]
- 43. Favazzo, L.J.; Gill, A.L.; Farnsworth, C.W.; Mooney, R.A.; Gill, S.R. The Response of *nor* and *nos* Contributes to *Staphylococcus aureus* Virulence and Metabolism. *J. Bacteriol.* **2019**, 201, e00107-19. [CrossRef]
- Xu, S.X.; Gilmore, K.J.; Szabo, P.A.; Zeppa, J.J.; Baroja, M.L.; Haeryfar, S.M.M.; McCormick, J.K. Superantigens Subvert the Neutrophil Response To Promote Abscess Formation and Enhance *Staphylococcus aureus* Survival In Vivo. *Infect. Immun.* 2014, *82*, 3588–3598. [CrossRef]

- Selbach, M.; Paul, F.E.; Brandt, S.; Guye, P.; Daumke, O.; Backert, S.; Dehio, C.; Mann, M. Host Cell Interactome of Tyrosine-Phosphorylated Bacterial Proteins. *Cell Host Microbe* 2009, *5*, 397–403. [CrossRef]
- Canova, M.J.; Molle, V. Bacterial Serine/Threonine Protein Kinases in Host-Pathogen Interactions. J. Biol. Chem. 2014, 289, 9473–9479. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Popa, C.M.; Tabuchi, M.; Valls, M. Modification of Bacterial Effector Proteins Inside Eukaryotic Host Cells. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 2016, 6, 73. [CrossRef]
- Busche, T.; Hillion, M.; Van Loi, V.; Berg, D.; Walther, B.; Semmler, T.; Strommenger, B.; Witte, W.; Cuny, C.; Mellmann, A.; et al. Comparative Secretome Analyses of Human and Zoonotic *Staphylococcus aureus* Isolates CC8, CC22, and CC398. *Mol. Cell. Proteom.* 2018, 17, 2412–2433. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 49. Yang, C.-K.; Ewis, H.E.; Zhang, X.; Lu, C.-D.; Hu, H.-J.; Pan, Y.; Abdelal, A.T.; Tai, P.C. Nonclassical Protein Secretion by *Bacillus subtilis* in the Stationary Phase Is Not Due to Cell Lysis. *J. Bacteriol.* **2011**, *193*, 5607–5615. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 50. Mukherjee, S.; Dhar, R.; Das, A.K. Analyzing the catalytic mechanism of protein tyrosine phosphatase PtpB from *Staphylococcus aureus* through site-directed mutagenesis. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2009**, *45*, 463–469. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Denu, J.M.; Dixon, J.E. Protein tyrosine phosphatases: Mechanisms of catalysis and regulation. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 1998, 2, 633–641. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, Z.-Y. Mechanistic Studies on Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases. Prog. Nucleic Acid. Res. Mol. Biol. 2003, 73, 171–220. [CrossRef]
- 53. Peters, G.H.; Frimurer, T.M.; Olsen, O.H. Electrostatic Evaluation of the Signature Motif (H/V)CX5R(S/T) in Protein–Tyrosine Phosphatases. *Biochemistry* **1998**, *37*, 5383–5393. [CrossRef]
- Grundner, C.; Ng, H.-L.; Alber, T. Mycobacterium tuberculosis Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase PtpB Structure Reveals a Diverged Fold and a Buried Active Site. Structure 2005, 13, 1625–1634. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Fuhrmann, J.; Subramanian, V.; Thompson, P.R. Targeting the Arginine Phosphatase YwlE with a Catalytic Redox-Based Inhibitor. ACS Chem. Biol. 2013, 8, 2024–2032. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 56. Fuhrmann, J.; Subramanian, V.; Kojetin, D.J.; Thompson, P.R. Activity-Based Profiling Reveals a Regulatory Link between Oxidative Stress and Protein Arginine Phosphorylation. *Cell Chem. Biol.* **2016**, *23*, 967–977. [CrossRef]
- 57. Abuaita, B.H.; Schultz, T.L.; O'Riordan, M.X. Mitochondria-Derived Vesicles Deliver Antimicrobial Reactive Oxygen Species to Control Phagosome-Localized *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Cell Host Microbe* **2018**, *24*, 625–636. [CrossRef]
- Gaupp, R.; Ledala, N.; Somerville, G.A. Staphylococcal Response to Oxidative Stress. Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol. 2012, 2. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Cosgrove, K.; Coutts, G.; Jonsson, I.-M.; Tarkowski, A.; Kokai-Kun, J.F.; Mond, J.J.; Foster, S.J. Catalase (KatA) and Alkyl Hydroperoxide Reductase (AhpC) Have Compensatory Roles in Peroxide Stress Resistance and Are Required for Survival, Persistence, and Nasal Colonization in *Staphylococcus aureus*. J. Bacteriol. 2006, 189, 1025–1035. [CrossRef]
- 60. Clauditz, A.; Resch, A.; Wieland, K.-P.; Peschel, A.; Götz, F. Staphyloxanthin Plays a Role in the Fitness of *Staphylococcus aureus* and Its Ability To Cope with Oxidative Stress. *Infect. Immun.* **2006**, *74*, 4950–4953. [CrossRef]
- 61. Pelz, A.; Wieland, K.-P.; Putzbach, K.; Hentschel, P.; Albert, K.; Götz, F. Structure and Biosynthesis of Staphyloxanthin from *Staphylococcus aureus*. J. Biol. Chem. **2005**, 280, 32493–32498. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 62. Liu, G.Y.; Essex, A.; Buchanan, J.T.; Datta, V.; Hoffman, H.M.; Bastian, J.F.; Fierer, J.; Nizet, V. *Staphylococcus aureus* golden pigment impairs neutrophil killing and promotes virulence through its antioxidant activity. *J. Exp. Med.* **2005**, 202, 209–215. [CrossRef]
- Olivier, A.C.; Lemaire, S.; Van Bambeke, F.; Tulkens, P.M.; Oldfield, E. Role of RsbU and Staphyloxanthin in Phagocytosis and Intracellular Growth of *Staphylococcus aureus* in Human Macrophages and Endothelial Cells. *J. Infect. Dis.* 2019, 200, 1367–1370. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 64. Clements, M.O.; Watson, S.P.; Foster, S.J. Characterization of the Major Superoxide Dismutase of *Staphylococcus aureus* and Its Role in Starvation Survival, Stress Resistance, and Pathogenicity. *J. Bacteriol.* **1999**, *181*, 3898–3903. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 65. Valderas, M.W.; Hart, M.E. Identification and Characterization of a Second Superoxide Dismutase Gene (*sodM*) from *Staphylococcus aureus*. *J. Bacteriol*. **2001**, *183*, 3399–3407. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 66. Richardson, A.R.; Dunman, P.M.; Fang, F.C. The nitrosative stress response of *Staphylococcus aureus* is required for resistance to innate immunity. *Mol. Microbiol.* **2006**, *61*, 927–939. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 67. Flannagan, R.S.; Kuiack, R.C.; McGavin, M.J.; Heinrichs, D.E. *Staphylococcus aureus* Uses the GraXRS Regulatory System To Sense and Adapt to the Acidified Phagolysosome in Macrophages. *mBio* **2018**, *9*. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zhou, C.; Bhinderwala, F.; Lehman, M.K.; Thomas, V.C.; Chaudhari, S.S.; Yamada, K.J.; Foster, K.W.; Powers, R.; Kielian, T.; Fey, P.D. Urease is an essential component of the acid response network of *Staphylococcus aureus* and is required for a persistent murine kidney infection. *PLOS Pathog.* 2019, *15*, e1007538. [CrossRef]
- 69. Boortz, C. YwlE and the Regulation of the Oxidative Stress Response in Bacillus anthracis. In *Ph.D. Thesis*; Texas Christian University: Fort Worth, TX, USA, 2016.
- Moldovan, A.; Fraunholz, M.J. In or out: Phagosomal escape of *Staphylococcus aureus*. Cell. Microbiol. 2019, 21, e12997. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 71. Russell, D.G.; VanderVen, B.C.; Glennie, S.; Mwandumba, H.; Heyderman, R.S. The macrophage marches on its phagosome: Dynamic assays of phagosome function. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* **2009**, *9*, 594–600. [CrossRef]

Supplementary Material

The phosphoarginine phosphatase PtpB from Staphylococcus aureus is involved in bacterial stress adaptation during infection

Mohamed Ibrahem Elhawy ^{1,3}, Sylvaine Huc-Brandt ², Linda Pätzold ¹, Laila Gannoun-Zaki ², Ahmed Mostafa M. Abdrabou ^{1,4}, Markus Bischoff ^{1,*}, and Virginie Molle ^{2,*}

¹ Institute of Medical Microbiology and Hygiene, University of Saarland, Homburg/Saar, Germany

² Laboratory of Pathogen Host Interactions, Université de Montpellier, CNRS, UMR 5235, Montpellier, France

³ Department of Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Zagazig University, Zagazig, Egypt.

⁴ Medical Microbiology and Immunology Department, Faculty of Medicine, Mansoura University, Mansoura, Egypt.

* Correspondence: V.M. virginie.molle@umontpellier.fr; Tel.: +33 467144725; M.B. markus.bischoff@uks.eu, +49 6841 1623963

Primer	Direction	Sequence (5'-3') ¹
Cloning primer		
MBH510	For.	gtcgg <u>TACC</u> AACTGAAACAGTTTATGGAC
MBH511	Rev.	gtgctcgagACGAATAAAATCTTCATAGTTCACATCC
MBH512	For.	GATATTATTTGCTAGTAG <u>GAATTC</u> TG
MBH513	Rev.	gtcgagCTCCATATTCAACGAAATTGTAG
VM11_PtpA_pRMC2	For.	tatGGTACCGGGATATAACTACATAGT
VM11(1)_PtpA-spot-Ct_Gib	Rev.	CACGAACACGATCTGGCCCTTCTTTCAAATTTGC
VM11(2)_PtpA-spot-Ct_Gib	For.	GCAAATTTGAAAGAAGGGCCAGATCGTGTTCGTG
VM26_PtpB_pRMC2	For.	T <u>AAGCTT</u> GATGGTACATTATTAAAGGATGTGAACT
VM27_PtpB-spot-Ct_Gib	Rev.	ACGATCTGGTGACCCGCAAATAATATCTTTTAATT
VM28_PtpB-Spot-Ct_Gib	For.	AAAGATATTATTTGCGGGTCACCAGATCGTGTTCG
VM29_Spot-Ct_pRMC2	Rev.	GACGGCCAGT <u>GAATTC</u> TAAGAACTCCAATGTGATA
VM49_SecA_pRMC2	For.	TAAGCTTGATGGTACAACAGTTTTTTAGCTAAAGGAGC
VM50_SecA-spot-Ct_Gib	Rev.	ACGATCTGGTGACCCTTTTCCATGGCAATTTTTGAAT
VM51_SecA-spot-Ct_Gib	For.	AATTG <u>CCATGG</u> AAAAGGGTCACCAGATCGTGTTCG
qRT-PCR primer		
ahpC	For.	TCCAACTGAATTAGAAGACT
ahpC	Rev.	GAGAATACATTTACGCCTAAT
crtM	For.	ACAGTAGGTGAAGTATTGAC
crtM	Rev.	ATCGTATGTCTGATGTGTTT
gyrB	For.	GACTGATGCCGATGTGGA
gyrB	Rev.	AACGGTGGCTGTGCAATA
hla	For.	AACCCGGTATATGGCAATCAACT
hla	Rev.	CTGCTGCTTTCATAGAGCCATTT
katA	For.	AATGGACAATGTATATTCAAGT
<i>katA</i>	Rev.	ATCAAATGGATTATCTTTATGGT
sodA	For.	ACCAAGATAATCCATTAACTGA
sodA	Rev.	ATTTTAGGTAATAAGCGTGTTC
sodM	For.	CCAAGATAATCCATTAACAGAA
sodM	Rev.	CCAAACATCAAATAGTAAGATTG

Supplementary Table 1: Primers used in this study.

 1 Small letters represent nucleotides that do not fit with the target sequence. Restriction sites used for cloning are underlined.

Supplementary Figure 1

	1	10	20	30	40
PtpB_S_aureus YwlE_B_subtilis Wzb_E_coli AmsI_E_amylovora Etp_E_coli PtpA_S_aureus YfkJ_B_subtilis PtpA_M_tuberculosis Acp1_H_sapiens Ltp1_S_cerevisiae	MKILF MDIIF MDIIF MINSILV MINSILV MINSILV MISILV MISLLV MISLLV MISLLV MISLLY MSVLF MSDPLHVTF MSDPLHVTF MSDPLHVTF	VCTGNTCRSE VCTGNTCRSE VCTGNICRSE VCTGNICRSE VCTGNICRSE VCTGNICRSE VCTGNICRSE VCTGNICRSE VCTGNICRSE VCTGNICRSE	LADSIAKEVMP MADALFKSIAE TADRLLQRYHP TGERLLKAALP IGERLLKKRLP MADAIFRDLAA MADKMFAQQLR IADAVFRKLVT MADAIFKHEVE	NHQFE REGLNVNVR ELKVE ERKIA GVKVK DRNIHD.I.KVH KKGLEGKI.KAD HRGLGDAV.RVT DQNISENW.RVD KANLENRFNKID	SRGIFAV.NNQGV SAGVFAS.PNGKA SAGLGAL.VGKGA SAGLKAM.VGGSA SAGVHGL.VKHPA SRGTGSWNLGEPP SAGTGSWHIGNPP SAGTGNWHVGSCA SAATSGYEIGNPP SFGTSNYHVGESP
PtpB_S_aureus YwlE_B_subtilis Wzb_E_coli AmsI_E_amylovora Etp_E_coli PtpA_S_aureus YfkJ_B_subtilis PtpA_M_tuberculosis Acp1_H_sapiens Ltp1_S_cerevisiae	50 SNYVEDLVEEHH TPHAVEALFEKH DPTAISVAAEHQ DETASIVANEHG DATAADVAANHG HEGTQKILNKHN HEGTQEILRREG DERAAGVLRAHG DYRQQSCMKRHG DHRTVSICKQHG	60 LAET.TLSQ LALN.HVSSE LSLEGHCARC SLODHVAQ SLEGHAGRE LSFDGMISEI LSFDGMISEI LSFDGMLARC YPTDHR.AAC IPMSHV.ARC /KINHK.GKC	70 FTEADLK.ADI LTELMESADL ISRRLCRNYDL LTADMCRDSDL (LTAEMARNYDL FEATDDFDY VSEQDLDDFDY VSEQDLDDFDY VGTEHLAA.DL ITKEDFATFDY IKTKHFDEYDY	80 ILTMSYSHKELI VLAMTHQHKQII ILTMEKRHIERL ILVMEKKHIDLV ILAMESEHIAQV IVAMDQSNVDNI IIAMDAENIGSL LVALDRNHARLL ILCMDESNIRDL IIGMDESNINNL	90 EAHFG. LQNH ASQFGRYRDK CEMAPEMRGK CRINPSVRGK KSINP.NLK KSINP.NLK RSMAGFKNT RQLGVEAAR NRKSNQVKTCKAK KKIQPEGSKAK
PtpB_S_aureus YwlE_B_subtilis Wzb_E_coli AmsI_E_amylovora Etp_E_coli PtpA_S_aureus YfkJ_B_subtilis PtpA_M_tuberculosis Acp1_H_sapiens Ltp1_S_cerevisiae	100 VFTLHEYVKI VFTLKEYVT VMLFGHWDNI TMLFGHWIN TMLFGQWLE GQLFKLLEF.SNI SHIKRLLDYVED VRMLRSFDPRSG IELLGSYDP VCLFGDWNTNDG	110 EA.GEVIDPS SSHGDVLDPS EC.EIPDPS QQ.EIADPS MEESDVPDPS SDLADVPDPS THALDVEDPS QKQLIIEDPS TVQTIIEDPS	120 GGTKEMYVHTY GGSIDIYKQTR RKSRETFAAVY KKSRDAFEAVY KKSRDAFEAVY (YTG. NFEGVY (YTG. NFECVC (YGDHSDFEVF (YGDLQDFEYNF	130 EELVSLILKLKD DELEELLRQLAK TLLERSARQWAQ GVLENAAQKWVN GMLERASQEWAK DMVLSSCDNLID QLIKTGCEQLLA AVIESALPGLHD QQCVRCCRAFLE KQITYFSKQFLK	IIC QLKKDRR ALNAEQV RLSR YIVKDANLKEG. SIQKEKQL WVDERLARNGPS KAH KEL

Supplementary Figure 1: Alignment of LMW-PTPs. Sequence alignment of LMW-PTPs from various species (the sequence names consist of the protein name followed by the source organism). Conserved residues are highlighted in red. The characters in red represent the conservative residues. This figure was created using the ESPript server (Robert & Gouet, 2014).

Article (III)

The low-molecular weight protein arginine phosphatase PtpB affects nuclease production, cell wall integrity, and uptake rates of *Staphylococcus aureus* by polymorphonuclear leukocytes

Reprinted with the permission from **Mohamed Ibrahem Elhawy**, Virginie Molle, Sören L. Becker and Markus Bischoff.

<u>Status of publication</u>: This manuscript was published in *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* in May 2021.





The Low-Molecular Weight Protein Arginine Phosphatase PtpB Affects Nuclease Production, Cell Wall Integrity, and Uptake Rates of *Staphylococcus aureus* by Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes

Mohamed Ibrahem Elhawy ^{1,2}, Virginie Molle ³, Sören L. Becker ¹ and Markus Bischoff ^{1,*}

- ¹ Institute of Medical Microbiology and Hygiene, Saarland University, 66421 Homburg, Germany; Mahamad Elhaum@ulo.gu (MLE), agaran hadro@ulo.gu (GLR)
- Mohamed.Elhawy@uks.eu (M.I.E.); soeren.becker@uks.eu (S.L.B.)
- ² Department of Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Zagazig University, Zagazig 44511, Egypt ³ Laboratory of Pathogon Host Interactions, Université de Montreallier, CNPS, UMP 5225
- ³ Laboratory of Pathogen Host Interactions, Université de Montpellier, CNRS, UMR 5235, 34095 Montpellier, France; virginie.molle@umontpellier.fr
- Correspondence: markus.bischoff@uks.eu; Tel.: +49-6841-1623963



Article

Citation: Elhawy, M.I.; Molle, V.; Becker, S.L.; Bischoff, M. The Low-Molecular Weight Protein Arginine Phosphatase PtpB Affects Nuclease Production, Cell Wall Integrity, and Uptake Rates of *Staphylococcus aureus* by Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2021, 22, 5342. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms22105342

Academic Editor: Juan Francisco Martín

Received: 20 April 2021 Accepted: 17 May 2021 Published: 19 May 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). **Abstract:** The epidemiological success of *Staphylococcus aureus* as a versatile pathogen in mammals is largely attributed to its virulence factor repertoire and the sophisticated regulatory network controlling this virulon. Here we demonstrate that the low-molecular-weight protein arginine phosphatase PtpB contributes to this regulatory network by affecting the growth phase-dependent transcription of the virulence factor encoding genes/operons *aur*, *nuc*, and *psma*, and that of the small regulatory RNA *RNAIII*. Inactivation of *ptpB* in *S. aureus* SA564 also significantly decreased the capacity of the mutant to degrade extracellular DNA, to hydrolyze proteins in the extracellular milieu, and to withstand Triton X-100 induced autolysis. SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cells were additionally ingested faster by polymorphonuclear leukocytes in a whole blood phagocytosis assay, suggesting that PtpB contributes by several ways positively to the ability of *S. aureus* to evade host innate immunity.

Keywords: *Staphylococcus aureus;* low-molecular-weight protein arginine phosphatase; PtpB; nuclease; whole blood phagocytosis assay; cell wall integrity; gene transcription; Triton X-100 induced autolysis; innate immunity

1. Introduction

Staphylococcus aureus is a major bacterial pathogen in humans and animals [1]. The ability of this Gram-positive bacterium to respond accurately to changing environments is one of the prerequisites for its success as a versatile pathogen in mammals [2]. The opportunistic pathogen is equipped with an armamentarium of virulence factors and a sophisticated network of regulatory molecules allowing it to control/fine-tune the expression of its virulon in a way to rapidly respond to changing conditions [3]. While virulence factor synthesis in S. aureus is mainly driven by one component systems such as the Sar family of DNA binding proteins and two-component system (TCS) response regulators [4], phosphatases are also known to contribute to this network. Earlier work demonstrated, for instance, that the serine/threonine phosphatase Stp1 directly contributes to virulence factor synthesis and infectivity of *S. aureus* by promoting the transcription of the α -hemolysin encoding gene hla [5]. More recent data indicate that the low-molecular-weight protein arginine phosphatase (LMW-PAP) PtpB might also contribute to staphylococcal pathophysiology by modulating the arginine phosphorylation states of regulators such as the stress response regulator CtsR and the global regulator MgrA, particularly in response to oxidative stress [6,7]. A deletion of *ptpB* in the *S. aureus* clinical isolate SA564 was additionally shown lately to reduce the capacity of the mutant to survive inside of macrophages and to cause infection in a murine-based S. aureus abscess model [8]. PtpB might thereby

Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2021, 22, 5342. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22105342

https://www.mdpi.com/journal/ijms

form a regulatory circuit with McsB, the presumed protein arginine kinase of S. aureus, which is part of the *clpC* operon and known to affect the hemolytic and proteolytic activity of this bacterium [9]. The McsB homolog in Bacillus subtilis was shown to modulate the activity of McsB-targeted regulators by phosphorylating arginine residues within the DNA-binding domains and by marking proteins and aberrant polypeptide molecules for degradation [10,11]; similar functions are assumed for McsB in S. aureus [6]. Thus, by counteracting McsB-dependent arginine phosphorylation of the aforementioned global regulators, PtpB might affect the activity and stability of these transcription factors and thus the expression of stress response genes and virulence factors that are directly and/or indirectly controlled by these regulatory molecules. Additionally, PtpB might interfere with the degradation process of proteins phosphorylated at arginine residues. Notably, a functional classification of arginine phosphorylated proteins found in in vitro cultured S. aureus cells carried out by Junker et al. [6] revealed that nearly half (47%) of the identified arginine phosphoproteins in the *ptpB* mutant could be associated with virulence functions, supporting the idea that PtpB contributes to the regulatory network controlling the virulence factor synthesis in this bacterial pathogen.

In this study, we further strengthen this assumption by demonstrating that inactivation of *ptpB* in *S. aureus* strain SA564—a whole genome sequenced clinical human isolate of the worldwide distributed clonal complex 5 that harbors functional *agr* and *sigB* operons and a *saeS*^L allele [12,13]—affects the transcription of the virulence factor encoding genes *aur* (encoding the zinc-metalloprotease aureolysin), *nuc* (encoding thermonuclease) and *psma* (encoding the phenol-soluble modulins α 1-4), and of the small regulatory RNA *RNAIII*, one of the master regulators controlling exoprotein synthesis in this bacterium [14], which also encodes a protein, δ -hemolysin (Hld). Deletion of *ptpB* also impedes the capacity of *S. aureus* to evade phagocytosis by polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs), to withstand Triton X-100 induced autolysis or lysostaphin mediated lysis, and decreases the exonuclease- and exoprotease activities of this bacterium.

2. Results and Discussion

2.1. PtpB Affects the Ability of S. aureus to Evade Phagocytosis by PMNs

Recent work demonstrated that PtpB contributes to the ability of *S. aureus* to survive inside macrophages [8]. However, it remains unknown whether PtpB also supports the capacity of the pathogen to evade innate immunity. In order to address this issue, we first investigated the impact of a *ptpB* deletion on attachment/phagocytosis of *S. aureus* SA564 by PMNs in whole blood (Figure 1).

When human blood was supplemented with fluorescent-labeled bacteria at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 50 per PMNs, a clear difference in uptake rates of *ptpB* negative and positive *S. aureus* SA564 cells by human PMNs was observed (Figure 1). After 30 min of coincubation in human whole blood, CFSE-stained SA564 isolates harboring a functional *ptpB* (wild-type and *cis*-complemented derivative) demonstrated significantly decreased rates of attachment/phagocytosis by PMNs compared to the CFSE-stained SA564 derivative lacking *ptpB* (SA564 $\Delta ptpB$). These findings suggest that PtpB mediates a relevant protective effect against phagocytosis by PMNs in blood.



Figure 1. Effect of PtpB on phagocytosis of *S. aureus* SA564 by polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs). Carboxy fluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE)-stained cells of *S. aureus* SA564 (black boxes), SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ (white boxes), and SA564 $\Delta ptpB$::ptpB (gray boxes) were added to lithium heparin anticoagulated fresh human blood at a multiplicity of infection of 50 per PMN, and incubated for 30 min at 37 °C and 1000 rpm. Attachment/uptake of bacteria by PMNs was analyzed by flow cytometry as outlined in Material and Methods. The data are representative of three biological replicates carried out in triplicate. Data are presented as box and whisker plots showing the interquartile range (25–75%; box), median (horizontal line), and whiskers (bars; min/max). ** p < 0.01 (Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's post hoc test).

2.2. PtpB Promotes the Transcription and Secretion of Nuclease in S. aureus

Neutrophils are the main pathogen-fighting immune cells in our blood system [15]. Besides their capacity to ingest circulating pathogens, activated neutrophils exert a number of cytotoxic functions such as the production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, the release of antimicrobial peptides, and the formation of extracellular DNA nets called neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) [15]. The latter bacteria-capturing and killing mechanism is counteracted by *S. aureus*, among others, via the secretion of nucleases and the extracellular adherence protein (Eap), which degrade and aggregate NETs, respectively [16,17]. We have recently shown that PtpB supports the capacity of *S. aureus* to cope with oxidative and nitrosative stress [8]. To test whether PtpB might also interfere with other neutrophilderived cytotoxic activities, we next tested whether the LMW-PAP might modulate the capacity of *S. aureus* to degrade extracellular DNA (Figure 2).

When cell suspensions of SA564 and the *cis*-complemented $\Delta ptpB::ptpB$ derivative were spotted on DNase test agar plates and incubated at 37 °C for 24 h, clearly visible lytic areas around the bacterial growth areas were observed that were in comparable ranges (Figure 2a,b). However, when equal volumes of SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ cell suspensions were spotted onto the DNase test agar plates, significantly smaller lytic areas surrounding the bacterial growth zones were observed, suggesting that the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant produces and/or secretes lower amounts of nucleases into the extracellular milieu.

To elucidate whether the reduced nuclease activity observed with the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant might be due to PtpB-induced changes in *nuc* transcription, we next assayed the transcription rates of *nuc* in SA564 and its $\Delta ptpB$ derivative upon growth in tryptic soy broth (TSB) over time. Specifically, total RNAs were obtained from cell populations grown for 3 h (exponential growth phase), 5 h (transition phase), and 8 h (early stationary phase), respectively (Figure 2c). In line with our DNase activity findings, we observed a significantly reduced transcription of *nuc* in SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ cells at two of the three growth stages analyzed, if compared to the wild-type transcript level, while cells of the *cis*-complemented derivative produced *nuc* transcript level that were comparable to the wild-type. Taken together, these findings suggest that PtpB contributes positively to the exonuclease activity of *S. aureus* by supporting *nuc* transcription.



Figure 2. Effect of PtpB on extracellular DNase activity and nuc transcription of S. aureus SA564. (a,b) Impact of PtpB on extracellular DNase activity. Overnight cultures of S. aureus strain SA564 (black bars), its isogenic $\Delta ptpB$ mutant (white bars), and the *cis*-complemented derivative (gray bars) were normalized with fresh tryptic soy broth (TSB) medium to an optical density at 600 nm (OD₆₀₀) of 12, and 5 µL of the suspensions spotted on DNase-Test-Agar plates. Inoculated plates were cultured for 24 h at 37 °C, and lytic areas were determined. (a) Representative image of one experiment. (b) Diameter of lytic areas. The data presented are the mean + SD of three biological experiments done in duplicate. ** p < 0.01 (Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's post hoc test). (c) Growth kinetics of S. aureus strain SA564 in TSB. Cells were cultured at 37 °C and 225 rpm at a culture to flask volume of 1:10. Data represent the mean OD₆₀₀ readings \pm SD at the time points indicated (*n* = 3). Time points of sampling for the transcriptional analyses are indicated by arrows. (d) Impact of PtpB on transcription of the thermonuclease encoding *nuc* gene. Quantitative transcript analyses of *nuc* by qRT-PCR in SA564 (black bars), SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ (white bars), and SA564 $\Delta ptpB$::ptpB (gray bars) cells grown to the time points indicated. Transcript rates were quantified in reference to the transcription of gyrase B (in copies per copy of gyrB). Data are presented as mean + SD of five biological replicates. * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01 (Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's post hoc test between wild-type and mutants at a given time point).

2.3. PtpB Promotes the Transcription of the Aureolysin Encoding Gene aur in S. aureus

Another major virulence determinant interfering with innate host immunity and supporting the survival of *S. aureus* in blood is the zinc-metalloprotease aureolysin, which cleaves, among others, various factors of the human complement system [18]. To test whether PtpB might aid the immune evasion of *S. aureus* by modulating aureolysin expression, we tested the transcription of *aur* during growth in TSB (Figure 3a). This transcriptional analysis revealed a significantly decreased number of *aur* transcripts in exponential growth phase cells of the *ptpB* deletion mutant when compared with cells of the wild-type and the *cis*-complemented derivative harvested at the same growth stage, respectively. However, *aur* transcript rates were rather comparable between wild-type, $\Delta ptpB$ mutant, and *cis*-complemented cells obtained from later growth stages (i.e., 5 and 8 h of growth), suggesting that PtpB contributes to *aur* expression primarily in *S. aureus* exponential growth phase cells.



Figure 3. Effect of a *ptpB* deletion on the transcription of *aur* and the proteolytic activity of *S. aureus* SA564. (a) Quantitative transcript analyses of *aur* by qRT-PCR in SA564 (black bars), SA564 Δ*ptpB* (white bars), and SA564 Δ*ptpB::ptpB* (gray bars) cells grown in tryptic soy broth (TSB) at 37 °C and 225 rpm to the time points indicated. Transcript rates were quantified in reference to the transcription of gyrase B (in copies per copy of gyrB). Data are presented as mean + SD of four to five biological replicates. * p < 0.05 (Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's post hoc test between wild-type and mutants at a given time point). (b) Quantitative transcript analyses of *ptpB* by qRT-PCR in SA564 cells grown in TSB. Sampling and transcription rate quantifications were done as described above. Data are presented as mean + SD of five biological replicates. (c,d) Impact of PtpB on extracellular protease activity. Overnight cultures of S. aureus strain SA564 (black bars), its isogenic \Delta ptpB mutant (white bars), and the cis-complemented SA564 \Delta ptpB::ptpB derivative (gray bars) were normalized with fresh TSB medium to an OD_{600} of 12, and 2 μ L of the suspensions spotted on TSA plates supplemented with 10% skim milk. Inoculated plates were cultured for 48 h at 37 °C, and proteolytic areas were determined. (c) Representative image of one experiment. (d) Diameter of proteolytic areas. The data presented are the mean + SD of three biological experiments done in duplicate. ns, not significant; * p < 0.05 (Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's post hoc test).

To get an idea about whether the impact of PtpB on *aur* transcription might correlate with the expression of the LMW-PAP, we determined the transcription rates of *ptpB* in SA564 during growth in TSB (Figure 3b). These analyses revealed that *ptpB* is transcribed on a rather constant level throughout growth (fold changes in relative transcription rates between growth stages < 2), suggesting that the growth phase-dependent effect of PtpB on *aur* transcription is not likely to be determined by the expression rates of the LMW-PAP during growth.

Besides its complement factors degrading functions [18], aureolysin is also known for its capacity to process and thus activate serine protease SspA (syn. V8 protease), another major exoprotease produced by *S. aureus*, which in turn cleaves the propeptide from the SspB zymogen to create the active cysteine protease SspB (syn. staphopain), a process also known as staphylococcal proteolytic cascade [19].

Wondering whether PtpB might also affect the exoproteolytic capacity of *S. aureus*, we conducted a series of skim milk agar-based protease assays (Figure 3c,d). Stationary phase cell suspensions of SA564 normalized to an OD₆₀₀ of 12 spotted onto the skim

milk supplemented tryptic soy agar (TSA) plates produced only very small proteolytic areas surrounding the bacterial growth zones after 48 h of incubation at 37 °C (Figure 3c). However, when normalized stationary phase cell suspensions of SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ were spotted onto the skim milk TSA plates, significantly smaller proteolytic areas were observed, while cell suspensions of the *cis*-complemented SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ produced proteolytic areas on skimmed milk TSA plates that were in a comparable range to those seen with the wild-type cultures (Figure 3c,d). These findings suggest that PtpB affects the proteolytic capacity of *S. aureus*, potentially via the modulation of *aur* transcription.

2.4. PtpB Reduces the Autolytic Activity of S. aureus

Activated neutrophils secrete, among others, antimicrobial peptides (e.g., defensins) which exert potent in vitro microbicidal activity against *S. aureus* through mechanisms involving cell membrane destabilization, interference with intracellular targets, and activation of autolysins [20]. To test whether and how PtpB might influence the autolytic behavior of *S. aureus*, we next studied the impact of the *ptpB* deletion on the autolytic behavior of SA564 in Triton X-100- and lysostaphin-induced lysis assays, respectively (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Effect of a *ptpB* deletion on the Triton X-100 induced autolysis and lysostaphin-mediated lysis of *S. aureus* SA564. (a) Cells of *S. aureus* strain SA564 (black symbols) and its isogenic $\Delta ptpB$ mutant (white symbols) were cultured in TSB at 37 °C and 225 rpm to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.7, washed twice in ice-cold water, and resuspended in 0.05 M Tris-HCl (pH 7.2) containing 0.01% (vol/vol) Triton X-100. Triton X-100 induced autolysis was measured as the decline of optical density at 600 nm (OD₆₀₀) versus time and is expressed as the percent of the initial optical density (*n* = 6 biological replicates). (b) Effect of a *ptpB* deletion on the lysostaphin-mediated lysis. Cells of *S. aureus* strain SA564 (black symbols) and its isogenic $\Delta ptpB$ mutant (white symbols) were cultured in TSB at 37 °C and 225 rpm to an OD₆₀₀ of 3, washed twice in PBS, and resuspended in PBS to an OD₆₀₀ of 1. The PBS cell suspensions were supplemented with 250 ng/mL lysostaphin and incubated under static conditions at 30 °C for 60 min. Lysostaphin-mediated lysis was measured as the decline of OD₆₀₀ versus time and is expressed as the percent of the initial optical replicates). Data are presented as box and whisker plots showing the interquartile range (25–75%; box), median (horizontal line), and whiskers (bars; min/max). * *p* < 0.05; ** *p* < 0.01 (Ordinary two-way ANOVA followed by Holm–Sidak's multiple comparison test).

When washed exponential growth phase cells of SA564 and its $\Delta ptpB$ mutant were challenged with a low dose of Triton X-100, respectively, cells of the ptpB deletion mutant autolyzed to a significantly larger extent after 3 h of coincubation with the detergent than wild-type cells (Figure 4a). A similar behavior was observed when SA564 and its $\Delta ptpB$ mutant were challenged with the glycyl-glycyl endopeptidase lysostaphin, a *S. aureus* pentaglycine cross-bridges cleaving exoenzyme from *Staphylococcus simulans* bv. *staphylolyticus* [21]. Washed and PBS resuspended late exponential growth phase cells of the *ptpB* deletion mutant lysed again significantly faster than the wild-type cells (Figure 4b), indicating that PtpB is likely to affect the cell wall composition of *S. aureus*. One possible explanation for both observations is that PtpB might interfere with the production and/or

activation of autolysins (e.g., endogenous murein hydrolases), as has been suggested for the lysostaphin resistance of some glycopeptide-intermediate-resistant *S. aureus* (GISA) [22].

As previous studies have already demonstrated that the global regulator MgrA acts as a repressor of autolysins in *S. aureus* [23,24], and that MgrA serves as a substrate for PtpB [6,7], it was tempting to speculate that PtpB might affect the autolytic behavior of *S. aureus* via modulation of MgrA activity. In order to address this hypothesis, we first studied the impact of the *ptpB* deletion on the transcription of MgrA regulated genes [25,26], focusing on genes whose products are involved in the autolytic behavior of *S. aureus* (Figure 5). Specifically, the transcription of *atlR* (encoding a MarR family transcriptional regulator repressing *atl* transcription), *fmtB* (encoding a cell wall-anchored protein involved in methicillin resistance and cell wall biosynthesis), *lrgA* (encoding the holin-like murein hydrolase regulator LrgA), and *lytN* (encoding the cell-wall hydrolase LytN) was analyzed, all of which were reported to directly or indirectly affect the autolytic behavior of *S. aureus* [27–29].



Figure 5. Effect of a *ptpB* deletion on the transcription of MgrA-regulated genes affecting autolysis of *S. aureus.* Quantitative transcript analyses of MgrA regulated genes by qRT-PCR in SA564 (black bars) and SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ (white bars) cells grown in TSB at 37 °C and 225 rpm to the time points indicated. Growth-phase-dependent transcript rates of MgrA-regulated genes *atlR* (a), *ftmB* (b), *lrgA* (c), and *lytN* (d). Transcript rates were quantified in reference to the transcription of gyrase B (in copies per copy of *gyrB*). Data are presented as mean + SD of five biological replicates. * *p* < 0.05; ** *p* < 0.01 (Mann–Whitney-U test between wild-type and mutant at a given time point).

Notably, all four MgrA-regulated genes were transcribed in a significantly different manner in SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ cells than in wild-type cells. Importantly, genes reported to be repressed by MgrA (i.e., *atlR*, *fmtB*, and *lytN*) were all transcribed on higher levels in the *ptpB* deletion mutant, while transcription of *lrgA*, which is positively affected by MgrA activity [25], was increased in wild-type cells throughout growth. However, while transcription of *atlR*, *fmtB*, and *lrgA* was affected by the *ptpB* deletion basically at all three growth stages (Figure 5a–c), this was not the case with *lytN*. Transcription of the cell-wall hydrolase encoding gene was only affected by the *ptpB* deletion during exponential growth phase and transition phase, but not in the early stationary phase (Figure 5d), suggesting that *lytN* expression in the stationary phase cells is dominated by PtpB/MgrA-independent mechanisms. Taken together, these data indicate that the PtpB-driven dephosphorylation

of MgrA phosphoarginine residues observed by Junker et al. [6] is likely to affect MgrA activity, and supports our hypothesis that PtpB interferes with autolysis of *S. aureus* via modulation of MgrA activity.

2.5. PtpB Does Not Alter MgrA Activity per Se

Given that MgrA also promotes the transcription of *aur* and *nuc* [25], which were also found to be transcribed in significantly higher levels in wild-type cells when compared to $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cells (Figures 2c and 3), we wondered whether PtpB might affect the transcription of the whole MgrA regulon. In order to address this hypothesis, we additionally tested the transcription of two MgrA-regulated surface factor encoding genes, *ebh* (encoding extracellular matrix-binding protein Ebh) and *spa* (encoding immunoglobulin G binding protein A), both of which are known to be strongly repressed by MgrA activity on the transcriptional level [26]. In contrast to findings obtained for the MgrA-regulated genes affecting autolysis (Figure 5), we surprisingly observed no clear differences in transcription rates of *ebh* and *spa* between the wild-type and the *ptpB* deletion mutant at any time point analyzed (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Effect of a *ptpB* deletion on the transcription of MgrA-repressed surface factors encoding genes. Quantitative transcript analyses of MgrA-regulated genes *ebh* (**a**) and *spa* (**b**) by qRT-PCR in SA564 (black bars) and SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ (white bars) cells grown in TSB at 37 °C and 225 rpm to the time points indicated. Transcript rates were quantified in reference to the transcription of gyrase B (in copies per copy of *gyrB*). Data are presented as mean + SD of five biological replicates. ns, not significant (Mann–Whitney-U test between wild-type and mutant at a given time point).

As MgrA directly represses *ebh* transcription [26], our findings presented here indicate that PtpB-driven dephosphorylation of MgrA does not alter the activity of the transcription factor towards its regulon per se, but might be important for the expression of a subset of MgrA-regulated factors, particularly of those involved in autolysis. One explanation for our observations might be that PtpB-mediated dephosphorylation of MgrA arginine residues influences the activity of the regulator by differentiating the binding specificity among target gene promoters, depending on the phosphorylation status at arginine residues. In such a scenario, target genes with a high binding affinity for MgrA would not be affected in their expression by the arginine phosphorylation status of the regulator and thus would not display a change in transcription depending on the PtpB status of the cell.

2.6. PtpB Alters the Transcription of Some but Not All SarA Regulated Genes

Transcription of *aur*, *lrgA*, and *nuc* is also reported to be affected by SarA [30–32], suggesting that PtpB might also interfere with the transcription of the aforementioned genes via modulation of SarA activity, although SarA was not identified as a direct substrate for McsB/PtpB [6,7]. To test whether and how PtpB affects the transcription of the SarA regulon in SA564, we assayed the transcription rates of three additional SarA target genes, *hla* (encoding α -hemolysin), *hld* (encoding δ -hemolysin), and *splB* (encoding serine protease SplB; Figure 7) [32–34], which all contain a putative Sar box within the gene/operon's promoter region [32]. Similar to the situation seen with MgrA-regulated genes, we found

significant changes in transcription rates in *ptpB* lacking cells for some but not all SarAregulated genes. While transcription of the *hld* encoding *RNAIII* was affected by the *ptpB* deletion during the exponential growth phase and early stationary phase (Figure 7b), this was neither the case with *hla* nor *splB* (Figure 7a,c). Notably, exponential growth phase cells of the *ptpB* mutant produced lower *RNAIII* transcript rates than wild-type cells, while the opposite was encountered with early stationary phase cells, suggesting PtpB to modulate the transcription of the *agr* locus in SA564 by several means.



Figure 7. Effect of a *ptpB* deletion on the transcription of SarA- and/or AgrA-regulated genes in *S. aureus* SA564. (**a**–**d**) Quantitative transcript analyses of SarA- and/or AgrA-regulated genes by qRT-PCR in SA564 (black bars) and SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ (white bars) cells grown in TSB at 37 °C and 225 rpm to the time points indicated. Growth phase-dependent transcript rates of Sar box containing genes *hla* (**a**), *hld* (**b**), and *splB* (**c**), and of the AgrA-driven *psma* cluster (**d**). Transcript rates were quantified in reference to the transcription of gyrase B (in copies per copy of *gyrB*). Data are presented as mean + SD of five biological replicates. * *p* < 0.05; ** *p* < 0.01; ns, not significant (Mann–Whitney-U test between wild-type and mutant at a given time point). (**e**,**f**) Overnight cultures of *S. aureus* strain SA564 (black bar), its isogenic $\Delta ptpB$ mutant (white bar), and the *cis*-complemented SA564 $\Delta ptpB$::*ptpB* derivative (gray bar) were normalized with fresh TSB medium to an OD₆₀₀ of 12, and 5 µL of the suspensions spotted on sheep blood agar plates. Inoculated plates were cultured for 24 h at 37 °C, and hemolytic areas were determined. (**e**) Representative image of one experiment. (**f**) Diameter of hemolytic areas. The data presented are the mean + SD of three biological experiments done in duplicate. ns, not significant (Kruskal–Wallis test followed by Dunn's post hoc test).

One potential factor contributing to this phenomenon could be AgrA, the response regulator of the *agr* locus, and the main transcription factor driving *RNAIII* transcription [35]. Since AgrA is also known to control the expression of the phenol-soluble modulin operons $psm\alpha$ and $psm\beta$ [36], we additionally tested whether $psm\alpha$ transcription in SA564 is altered by the *ptpB* deletion (Figure 7d). In line with our *RNAIII* transcription data (Figure 7b), we observed significantly increased $psm\alpha$ transcript rates in early stationary phase cells of the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant, suggesting that PtpB might modulate *RNAIII* and $psm\alpha$ transcription in stationary phase cells via AgrA.

To support our transcriptional findings indicating that PtpB does not markedly alter the expression of α -hemolysin in SA564, we tested the hemolytic activity of our strain triplet on sheep blood agar plates (Figure 7e,f). In line with our *hla* transcription findings, we did not encounter clear differences in the hemolytic areas surrounding the growth zones for all three SA564 derivatives.

Together with the observations that SarA was not identified to be phosphorylated at arginine residues [6,7], our transcriptional findings made for the Sar box-containing genes *hla, spa,* and *splB* suggest that PtpB is not likely to directly modulate SarA activity, albeit of the fact that the transcription rates of other Sar box containing genes such as *aur, hld,* and *nuc* (Figures 2c, 3 and 7b) were markedly affected by the *ptpB* deletion. The differences in transcription rates observed for the latter genes between the wild-type and the *ptpB* deletion mutant might be attributed to other direct PtpB mediated effects on regulatory factors such as MgrA and AgrA, and/or indirect PtpB effects on regulators such as ArlR, CodY, SaeR, SarR, SarV, SarX, and SarZ, which all were found to be expressed to different extents in wild-type and *ptpB* deletion mutant cells of *S. aureus* strain COL under non-stress conditions [6].

3. Conclusions

Protein posttranslational modifications such as reversible phosphorylation by kinases/phosphatases is a common mechanism employed by bacteria and eukaryotes to modulate the activity of enzymes and regulatory molecules, which is also utilized by S. aureus to adjust central metabolic pathways and virulence factor synthesis [37]. The serine/threonine protein kinase-phosphatase pair Stk1-Stp1 is, for instance, known for its ability to modulate the activities of the SarA family transcription factors MgrA, SarA, and SarZ [38], with Stp1 promoting infectivity, while Stk1 attenuates infectivity [5,38]. Stk1-driven phosphorylation of the catabolite control protein A was additionally shown to inhibit the DNA-binding capacity of the master regulator of carbon catabolite repression in S. aureus, thereby modulating the expression of metabolic and virulence genes [39], and infectivity [40]. Our findings, presented here and elsewhere [8], demonstrate that the deletion of *ptpB* in the clinical *S. aureus* isolate SA564 alters the transcription of various genes/operons whose products are involved in stress adaptation and infectivity, suggesting that PtpB-driven removal of phosphates from arginine phosphosites is another posttranscriptional mechanism utilized by this pathogen to fine-tune the expression and activity of its virulon, in order to successfully adapt to the diverse host environmental conditions encountered by the bacterium during infection. Given the clear impact of PtpB on the transcription of specific virulence determinants shown here, its impact on S. aureus to cause disease in mice [8], and the fact that several low molecular weight protein tyrosine phosphatase inhibitors are currently in development to combat diseases such as cancer, diabetes/obesity, and bacterial infections [41-45], PtpB might constitute an additional interesting target for drug development against this notorious human nosocomial pathogen.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Bacterial Strains, Media, and Growth Conditions

The bacterial strains used in this study are listed in Table 1. *S. aureus* isolates were plated on Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA; BD, Heidelberg, Germany), or grown in Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB; BD) medium at 37 °C and 225 rpm with a culture to flask volume of 1:10.

Table 1. Strains used in this study.

Strain	Description ¹	Reference
SA564	S. aureus clinical isolate, wild type	[12]
SA564 $\Delta ptpB$	SA564 $\Delta ptpB::lox66-erm(B)-lox71; Erm^R$	[8]
SA564 $\Delta ptpB::ptpB$	cis-complemented SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ derivative	[8]

¹ Erm^R, erythromycin-resistant.

4.2. Human Whole Blood Phagocytosis Assay

The uptake of *S. aureus* cells by PMNs in whole blood was performed essentially as described in [46]. Overnight cultures of S. aureus strains SA564, SA564 $\Delta ptpB$, and SA564 $\Delta ptpB$::ptpB were inoculated into fresh TSB to an optical density at 600 nm (OD₆₀₀) of 0.05 and grown at 37 °C and 225 rpm to mid-exponential growth-phase (i.e., 2 h). Cultures were centrifuged at $10,000 \times g$ for 5 min, bacterial pellets washed three times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS; Thermo Fisher, Dreieich, Germany), and subsequently stained with a 50 µM carboxy fluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE; Invitrogen, Darmstadt, Germany)-PBS solution for 15 min at 37 °C and 1000 rpm. CFSE-stained bacterial cells were afterwards washed again three times with PBS to remove unbound dye, and adjusted to an OD₆₀₀ of 1. Fresh human whole blood was withdrawn from healthy donors and anticoagulated with lithium heparin (S-Monovette; Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, Germany). The PMN contents of the blood samples were determined using the RAL DIFF-QUICK kit (RAL Diagnostics, Martillac, France) according to the manufacturer's recommendations, and blood samples were substituted with fluorescent-labeled bacteria at an MOI of 50 per PMN. Infected blood samples were cultured in the dark at 37 °C and 1000 rpm for 30 min and subsequently placed into 5 mL round bottom polystyrene tubes (BD). Erythrocytes were lysed by adding FACS lysis solution (BD), and lysed cell debris was removed by centrifugation at $450 \times g$ for 5 min. The cell pellets were resuspended in PBS supplemented with 2% fetal calf serum (PAA, Pasching, Germany) and 0.05% sodium azide, and subjected to flow cytometry using a FACSCalibur (BD) system. PMNs were gated using the CellQuest Pro Software version 4.02 (BD), and the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) per PMN was recorded, indicating the number of bacteria that were attached to or ingested by the leukocyte.

4.3. Extracellular DNase-, Hemolytic- and Proteolytic Activity Assays

Overnight cultures of the *S. aureus* SA564 strain triplet were adjusted for all three assays with fresh TSB to an OD_{600} of 12. For extracellular DNase activity measurements, 5 µL of the adjusted bacterial suspensions were spotted on DNase-Test-Agar plates (Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) and incubated for 24 h at 37 °C. Lytic zones were visualized by overlaying the agar with 1N HCl to precipitate undigested DNA. The hemolytic activities of the bacterial cell suspensions were tested by spotting 5 µL aliquots of the bacterial suspensions on TSA II plates supplemented with 5% Sheep Blood (BD), and diameters of hemolytic zones were determined after 24 h of incubation at 37 °C. The proteolytic activity of the bacterial cell suspensions was determined by spotting 2 µL aliquots of the bacterial suspensions on TSA plates supplemented with 10% skim milk (BD). Variations in zones of proteolysis were evaluated after incubating the plates for 48 h at 37 °C.

4.4. Triton X-100 Induced Autolysis Assay

Triton X-100 induced autolysis of *S. aureus* was assayed using a modified version of the protocol described in [47]. Cells of *S. aureus* SA564 and its *ptpB* deletion mutant were cultured in TSB at 37 °C and 225 rpm to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.7, washed twice in ice-cold water, and resuspended in 0.05 M Tris-HCl (pH 7.2) containing 0.01% (vol/vol) Triton X-100 (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany). The cell suspensions were incubated at 30 °C and 225 rpm and the OD₆₀₀ measured every 30 min. Triton X-100 induced autolysis was determined as the decline of optical density versus time and is expressed as the percent of the initial optical density.

4.5. Lysostaphin Induced Autolysis Assay

The lysostaphin-induced autolysis of *S. aureus* was assayed as described in [48]. Cells of *S. aureus* SA564 and SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ were cultured in TSB at 37 °C and 225 rpm to an OD₆₀₀ of 3, washed twice in PBS, and resuspended in PBS to an OD₆₀₀ of 1. Cell suspensions were supplemented with 250 ng/mL of lysostaphin (Dr. Petry Genmedics GMBH, Reutlingen, Germany) and incubated under static conditions at 30 °C for 60 min. The OD₆₀₀ was

measured every 10 min. Lysostaphin-induced autolysis was determined as the decline of optical density versus time and is expressed as the percent of the initial optical density.

4.6. qRT-PCR Analyses

RNA isolation, cDNA synthesis, and qRT-PCR were carried out as previously described [49], using the primer pairs listed in Table 2. Transcripts were quantified in reference to the transcription of gyrase B using the $2^{-\Delta Ct}$ method [50].

Table 2. qRT-PCR primer used in this study.

Gene Target	Primer	Sequence (5'-3')
atlR	forward reverse	AACTTATTACACTGACTAACAATG TGTCCAAATCTTCTATTCACTAA
aur	forward reverse	AATAGTATTGACGGTGGATTT AATGCTGATAATTTACCTTGATG
ebh	forward reverse	GTAATAATGAACAGACTGAGAATC AGCGGATAATGATTGACTATT
fmtB	forward reverse	GATGCTTCAAGAATTACAACAA ATCCTGAGAATAGACCTACAT
gyrB	forward reverse	GACTGATGCCGATGTGGA AACGGTGGCTGTGCAATA
hla	forward reverse	AACCCGGTATATGGCAATCAACT CTGCTGCTTTCATAGAGCCATTT
hld	forward reverse	AGGAGTGATTTCAATGGCACAAG TGTGTCGATAATCCATTTTACTAAGTCA
lrgA	forward reverse	GCCGGTATCTCAGTTGTTAACTCTT AAATGGTGCTTGGCTAATGACAC
lytN	forward reverse	CTATTGTCTTAAATGGTGATTATG ATCTAAACTTTGGAACTTCATTA
пис	forward reverse	TAGCTCAGCAAATGCATCACAA GAACCACTTCTATTTACGCCATTATCT
psma	forward reverse	ATCAACAACTCATCACTATGTTAAATCAAC GCCATCGTTTTGTCCTCCTGT
<i>ptpB</i>	forward reverse	AGCCCATTAGCGGAAAGTATTG AAATTGATGATTTGGCATAACCTCT
spa	forward reverse	TACTTATATCTGGTGGCGTAA GGTCGTCTTTAAGACTTTGA
splB	forward reverse	AAGGTAATGGTGGTATTTATTC GAATGACTGATACATCTTCTTTA

4.7. Statistical Analyses

The statistical significance of changes between groups was determined using the Graph-Pad software package Prism 6.01. p values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, V.M. and M.B.; methodology, M.I.E. and M.B.; formal analysis, M.I.E. and M.B.; investigation, M.I.E.; resources, M.B. and S.L.B.; writing—original draft preparation, M.B.; writing—review and editing, M.I.E., V.M., S.L.B. and M.B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by grants from the ATIP/AVENIR Program for V.M., M.I.E. acknowledges support by the German Egyptian Research Long-Term Scholarship Program (GERLS). We acknowledge the support by the DFG and Saarland University within the funding program Open Access Publishing.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Association of Saarland (code number 39/20, approved 25 February 2020).

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: The datasets generated during and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Acknowledgments: The authors thank Karin Hilgert for excellent technical support.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Haag, A.F.; Fitzgerald, J.R.; Penadés, J.R. Staphylococcus aureus in Animals. Microbiol. Spectr. 2019, 7. [CrossRef]
- Bischoff, M.; Rhomby, P. Genetic Regulation. In *Staphylococcus: Genetics and Physiology*; Somerville, G.A., Ed.; Caister Academic Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 2016; pp. 301–334.
- Balasubramanian, D.; Harper, L.; Shopsin, B.; Torres, J.V. Staphylococcus aureus Pathogenesis in Diverse Host Environments. Pathog. Dis. 2017, 75. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Jenul, C.; Horswill, A.R. Regulation of *Staphylococcus aureus* Virulence. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 2019, 7. [CrossRef]
- Burnside, K.; Lembo, A.; Reyes, M.D.L.; Iliuk, A.; BinhTran, N.-T.; Connelly, J.E.; Lin, W.-J.; Schmidt, B.Z.; Richardson, A.R.; Fang, F.C.; et al. Regulation of Hemolysin Expression and Virulence of *Staphylococcus aureus* by a Serine/Threonine Kinase and Phosphatase. *PLoS ONE* 2010, 5, e11071. [CrossRef]
- Junker, S.; Maaß, S.; Otto, A.; Hecker, M.; Becher, D. Toward the Quantitative Characterization of Arginine Phosphorylations in Staphylococcus aureus. J. Proteom. Res. 2019, 18, 265–279.
- Junker, S.; Maaß, S.; Otto, A.; Michalik, S.; Morgenroth, F.; Gerth, U.; Hecker, M.; Becher, D. Spectral Library Based Analysis of Arginine Phosphorylations in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Mol. Cell. Proteom.* 2018, 17, 335–348. [CrossRef]
- Elhawy, M.I.; Huc-Brandt, S.; Pätzold, L.; Gannoun-Zaki, L.; Abdrabou, A.M.M.; Bischoff, M.; Molle, V. The Phos-Phoarginine Phosphatase PtpB from *Staphylococcus aureus* Is Involved in Bacterial Stress Adaptation During Infection. *Cells* 2021, 10, 645. [CrossRef]
- Wozniak, D.J.; Tiwari, K.B.; Soufan, R.; Jayaswal, R.K. The McsB Gene of the ClpC Operon Is Required for Stress Tolerance and Virulence in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Microbiology* 2012, 158, 2568–2576. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 10. Trentini, D.B.; Suskiewicz, M.J.; Heuck, A.; Kurzbauer, R.; Deszcz, L.; Mechtler, K.; Clausen, T. Arginine Phosphorylation Marks Proteins for Degradation by a Clp Protease. *Nature* **2016**, *539*, 48–53. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 11. Fuhrmann, J.; Schmidt, A.; Spiess, S.; Lehner, A.; Turgay, K.; Mechtler, K.; Charpentier, E.; Clausen, T. McsB Is a Protein Arginine Kinase That Phosphorylates and Inhibits the Heat-Shock Regulator CtsR. *Science* **2009**, *324*, 1323–1327. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Somerville, G.A.; Beres, S.B.; Fitzgerald, J.R.; DeLeo, F.R.; Cole, R.L.; Hoff, J.S.; Musser, J.M. In Vitro Serial Passage of *Staphylococcus aureus*: Changes in Physiology, Virulence Factor Production, and Agr Nucleotide Sequence. J. Bacteriol. 2002, 184, 1430–1437. [CrossRef]
- Giraud, C.; Hausmann, S.; Lemeille, S.; Prados, J.; Redder, P.; Linder, P. The C-Terminal Region of the RNA Helicase CshA Is Required for the Interaction with the Degradosome and Turnover of Bulk RNA in the Opportunistic Pathogen *Staphylococcus aureus*. RNA Biol. 2015, 12, 658–674. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Novick, R.P.; Ross, H.F.; Projan, S.J.; Kornblum, J.; Kreiswirth, B.; Moghazeh, S. Synthesis of Staphylococcal Virulence Factors Is Controlled by a Regulatory RNA Molecule. *EMBO J.* **1993**, *12*, 3967–3975. [CrossRef]
- Mayadas, T.N.; Cullere, X.; Lowell, C.A. The Multifaceted Functions of Neutrophils. Annu. Rev. Pathol. Mech. Dis. 2014, 9, 181–218. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Berends, E.T.; Horswill, A.R.; Haste, N.M.; Monestier, M.; Nizet, V.; Von Köckritz-Blickwede, M. Nuclease Expression by *Staphylococcus aureus* Facilitates Escape from Neutrophil Extracellular Traps. J. Innate Immun. 2010, 2, 576–586. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Eisenbeis, J.; Saffarzadeh, M.; Peisker, H.; Jung, P.; Thewes, N.; Preissner, K.T.; Herrmann, M.; Molle, V.; Geisbrecht, B.V.; Jacobs, K.; et al. The *Staphylococcus aureus* Extracellular Adherence Protein Eap Is a DNA Binding Protein Capable of Blocking Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 2018, *8*, 235. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Jusko, M.; Potempa, J.; Kantyka, T.; Bielecka, E.; Miller, H.K.; Kalinska, M.; Dubin, G.; Garred, P.; Shaw, L.N.; Blom, A.M. Staphylococcal Proteases Aid in Evasion of the Human Complement System. J. Innate Immun. 2014, 6, 31–46. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Shaw, L.; Golonka, E.; Potempa, J.; Foster, S.J. The Role and Regulation of the Extracellular Proteases of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Microbiology* 2004, 150, 217–228. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sahl, H.-G.; Pag, U.; Bonness, S.; Wagner, S.; Antcheva, N.; Tossi, A. Mammalian Defensins: Structures and Mechanism of Antibiotic Activity. J. Leukoc. Biol. 2004, 77, 466–475. [CrossRef]
- Schindler, C.A.; Schuhardt, V.T. Purification and Properties of lysostaphin—A Lytic Agent for Staphylococcus aureus. Biochim. Biophys. Acta (BBA) Gen. Subj. 1965, 97, 242–250. [CrossRef]

- Koehl, J.L.; Muthaiyan, A.; Jayaswal, R.K.; Ehlert, K.; Labischinski, H.; Wilkinson, B.J. Cell Wall Composition and Decreased Autolytic Activity and Lysostaphin Susceptibility of Glycopeptide-Intermediate *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 2004, 48, 3749–3757. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Trotonda, M.P.; Xiong, Y.Q.; Memmi, G.; Bayer, A.S.; Cheung, A.L. Role of MgrA and SarA in Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus Autolysis and Resistance to Cell Wall-Active Antibiotics. J. Infect. Dis. 2009, 199, 209–218. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Manna, A.C.; Ingavale, S.S.; Maloney, M.; Van Wamel, W.; Cheung, A.L. Identification of SarV (SA2062), a New Transcriptional Regulator, Is Repressed by SarA and MgrA (SA0641) and Involved in the Regulation of Autolysis in *Staphylococcus aureus*. J. Bacteriol. 2004, 186, 5267–5280. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Luong, T.T.; Dunman, P.M.; Murphy, E.; Projan, S.J.; Lee, C.Y. Transcription Profiling of the MgrA Regulon in *Staphylococcus aureus*. J. Bacteriol. 2006, 188, 1899–1910. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Crosby, H.A.; Schlievert, P.M.; Merriman, J.A.; King, J.M.; Salgado-Pabón, W.; Horswill, A.R. The *Staphylococcus aureus* Global Regulator MgrA Modulates Clumping and Virulence by Controlling Surface Protein Expression. *PLoS Pathog.* 2016, 12, e1005604. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Groicher, K.H.; Firek, B.A.; Fujimoto, D.F.; Bayles, K.W. The *Staphylococcus aureus* LrgAB Operon Modulates Murein Hydrolase Activity and Penicillin Tolerance. J. Bacteriol. 2000, 182, 1794–1801. [CrossRef]
- 28. Sugai, M.; Fujiwara, T.; Komatsuzawa, H.; Suginaka, H. Identification and Molecular Characterization of a Gene Homologous to Epr (endopeptidase Resistance Gene) in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Gene* **1998**, 224, 67–75. [CrossRef]
- Komatsuzawa, H.; Ohta, K.; Sugai, M.; Fujiwara, T.; Glanzmann, P.; Berger-Bächi, B.; Suginaka, H. Tn551-Mediated Insertional Inactivation of the FmtB Gene Encoding a Cell Wall-Associated Protein Abolishes Methicillin Resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 2000, 45, 421–431. [CrossRef]
- Fujimoto, D.F.; Brunskill, E.W.; Bayles, K.W. Analysis of Genetic Elements Controlling *Staphylococcus aureus* LrgAB Expression: Potential Role of DNA Topology in SarA Regulation. *J. Bacteriol.* 2000, 182, 4822–4828. [CrossRef]
- 31. Ziebandt, A.K.; Weber, H.; Rudolph, J.; Schmid, R.; Höper, D.; Engelmann, S.; Hecker, M. Extracellular Proteins of *Staphylococcus aureus* and the Role of SarA and Sigma B. *Proteomics* **2001**, *1*, 480–493. [CrossRef]
- Dunman, P.M.; Murphy, E.; Haney, S.; Palacios, D.; Tucker-Kellogg, G.; Wu, S.; Brown, E.L.; Zagursky, R.J.; Shlaes, D.; Projan, S.J. Transcription Profiling-Based Identification of *Staphylococcus aureus* Genes Regulated by the Agr and/Or SarA Loci. *J. Bacteriol.* 2001, 183, 7341–7353. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chan, P.F.; Foster, S.J. Role of SarA in Virulence Determinant Production and Environmental Signal Trans-Duction in Staphylococcus aureus. J. Bacteriol. 1998, 180, 6232–6241. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Cheung, A.L.; Projan, S.J. Cloning and Sequencing of sarA of Staphylococcus aureus, a Gene Required for the Expression of agr. J. Bacteriol. 1994, 176, 4168–4172. [CrossRef]
- Novick, R.P. Autoinduction and Signal Transduction in the Regulation of Staphylococcal Virulence. Mol. Microbiol. 2003, 48, 1429–1449. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Queck, S.Y.; Jameson-Lee, M.; Villaruz, A.E.; Bach, T.-H.L.; Khan, B.A.; Sturdevant, D.E.; Ricklefs, S.M.; Li, M.; Otto, M. RNAIII-Independent Target Gene Control by the Agr Quorum-Sensing System: Insight into the Evolution of Virulence Regulation in *Staphylococcus aureus. Mol. Cell* 2008, 32, 150–158. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Janczarek, M.; Vinardell, J.-M.; Lipa, P.; Karaś, M. Hanks-Type Serine/Threonine Protein Kinases and Phosphatases in Bacteria: Roles in Signaling and Adaptation to Various Environments. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2018, 19, 2872. [CrossRef]
- Sun, F.; Ding, Y.; Ji, Q.; Liang, Z.; Deng, X.; Wong, C.C.; Yi, C.; Zhang, L.; Xie, S.; Alvarez, S.; et al. Protein Cysteine Phosphorylation of SarA/MgrA Family Transcriptional Regulators Mediates Bacterial Virulence and Antibiotic Resistance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 2012, 109, 15461–15466. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Leiba, J.; Hartmann, T.; Cluzel, M.E.; Cohen-Gonsaud, M.; Delolme, F.; Bischoff, M.; Molle, V. A Novel Mode of Regu-Lation of the *Staphylococcus aureus* Catabolite Control Protein a (CcpA) Mediated by Stk1 Protein Phosphorylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2012, 287, 43607–43619. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bischoff, M.; Wonnenberg, B.; Nippe, N.; Nyffenegger, N.; Voss, M.; Beisswenger, C.; Sunderkötter, C.; Molle, V.; Dinh, Q.T.; Lammert, F.; et al. CcpA Affects Infectivity of *Staphylococcus aureus* in a Hyperglycemic Environment. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 2017, 7, 172. [CrossRef]
- 41. Maccari, R.; Ottanà, R. Low Molecular Weight Phosphotyrosine Protein Phosphatases as Emerging Targets for the Design of Novel Therapeutic Agents. J. Med. Chem. 2011, 55, 2–22. [CrossRef]
- 42. Ruddraraju, K.V.; Aggarwal, D.; Zhang, Z.Y. Therapeutic Targeting of Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases from *Mycobacterium* tuberculosis. *Microorganisms* **2020**, *9*, 14. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 43. Pardella, E.; Pranzini, E.; Leo, A.; Taddei, M.L.; Paoli, P.; Raugei, G. Oncogenic Tyrosine Phosphatases: Novel Therapeutic Targets for Melanoma Treatment. *Cancers* 2020, *12*, 2799. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zhang, Z.-Y. Drugging the Undruggable: Therapeutic Potential of Targeting Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases. Accounts Chem. Res. 2017, 50, 122–129. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Stanford, S.M.; Aleshin, A.E.; Zhang, V.; Ardecky, R.J.; Hedrick, M.P.; Zou, J.; Ganji, S.R.; Bliss, M.R.; Yamamoto, F.; Bobkov, A.A.; et al. Diabetes Reversal by Inhibition of the Low-Molecular-Weight Tyrosine Phosphatase. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 2017, 13, 624–632. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 46. Ballhausen, B.; Jung, P.; Kriegeskorte, A.; Makgotlho, P.E.; Ruffing, U.; Von Müller, L.; Köck, R.; Peters, G.; Herrmann, M.; Ziebuhr, W.; et al. LA-MRSA CC398 Differ from Classical Community Acquired-MRSA and Hospital Acquired-MRSA Lineages: Functional Analysis of Infection and Colonization Processes. *Int. J. Med Microbiol.* 2014, 304, 777–786. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 47. Mani, N.; Tobin, P.; Jayaswal, R.K. Isolation and Characterization of Autolysis-Defective Mutants of *Staphylococcus aureus* Created by Tn917-LacZ Mutagenesis. *J. Bacteriol.* **1993**, *175*, 1493–1499. [CrossRef]
- Peschel, A.; Vuong, C.; Otto, M.; Götz, F.; Cole, A.M.; Darouiche, R.O.; Legarda, D.; Connell, N.; Diamond, G. The D-Alanine Residues of *Staphylococcus aureus* Teichoic Acids Alter the Susceptibility to Vancomycin and the Activity of Autolytic Enzymes. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 2000, 44, 2039–2045. [CrossRef]
- Chatterjee, I.; Becker, P.; Grundmeier, M.; Bischoff, M.; Somerville, G.A.; Peters, G.; Sinha, B.; Harraghy, N.; Proctor, R.A.; Herrmann, M. *Staphylococcus aureus* ClpC Is Required for Stress Resistance, Aconitase Activity, Growth Recovery, and Death. *J. Bacteriol.* 2005, 187, 4488–4496. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 50. Pfaffl, M.W. Relative Quantification. In Real-Time PCR; Tevfik Dorak, M., Ed.; Taylor & Francis: Abingdon, UK, 2006; pp. 63-82.

6. Discussion and conclusion

6.1. Discussion

PtpA, a secreted tyrosine phosphatase from *Staphylococcus aureus*, contributes to virulence and interacts with coronin-1A during infection (article I).

In this study, the impact of PtpA on the pathogenicity of S. aureus was investigated. I started by constructing a *ptpA* deletion mutant within the clinical S. aureus strain SA564. I used the advantage of the availability of a $\Delta ptpA$ mutant in the S. aureus strain Newman, which was constructed in our laboratory and already used in a previously published study (Brelle et al., 2016). I transferred the resistance cassette marked deletion region into the S. aureus strain SA564 via phage transduction to construct the strain SA564 $\Delta ptpA$. In order to confirm that potential phenotypes observed with the ptpA deletion mutant were indeed caused by the deletion of *ptpA* in this S. aureus background, the *cis*-complemented derivative harboring the wild-type ptpA locus was constructed using the previously described pEC1 plasmid (Brückner, 1997). These two S. aureus backgrounds, S. aureus SA564 and Newman, were used in this study, because they represent genetically and phenotypically distinct lineages (Duthie, 1952; Somerville et al., 2002). The S. aureus strain SA564 is a low-passage human clinical strain of the CC5 isolated from a patient with TSS in USA in 2007 (Somerville et al., 2002). This S. aureus strain is worldwide distributed and especially prominent in the western hemisphere (Challagundla et al., 2018). The S. aureus strain Newman (CC8) is a genetically amenable strain and extensively used in staphylococcal research including the phenotypic characterization of S. aureus in murine infection models (Baba et al., 2008).

In a first set of experiments in this study, the effect of a *ptpA* deletion on the bacterial growth of *S. aureus* was investigated. When *S. aureus* strains Newman and its $\Delta ptpA$ mutant were cultivated in a rich medium (e.g. TSB) under aerobic conditions, both strains grew in a similar way, which is in line with earlier findings (Vega *et al.*, 2011) and suggests that PtpA is not involved in regulating metabolic pathways of this bacterium. Given the impact of the *Mtb* Ptp homologues on the infectivity of this intracellular pathogen, and the fact that MPtpA and MPtpB

are effectively secreted by *Mtb* without harboring a clear export signal sequence (Bach *et al.*, 2008; Wong *et al.*, 2011), it was then tempting to speculate that the *S. aureus* Ptp homologues may fulfill similar functions. In line with this assumption, the deletion of *ptpA* in *S. aureus* was found to decrease the capacity of this pathogen to survive inside the mouse-derived RAW 264.7 macrophages, and similar findings were reported with the THP-1 derived human macrophages. The overall ability of *S. aureus* to invade and survive inside macrophages has been described before (Kubica *et al.*, 2008; Grosz *et al.*, 2014; Lacoma *et al.*, 2013; Tranchemontagne *et al.*, 2016). With the observations made in study I, we could define PtpA as an additional factor contributing to the internal survival of *S. aureus* in this important immune cell type. Moreover, when a *S. aureus*-based murine abscess model was investigated, a more than 3-*log* reduction in bacterial loads obtained from the liver of mice infected with the $\Delta ptpA$ deletion mutant was noticed. Collectively, these findings indicate that the LMW-PTP homologue PtpA is of major importance for the infectivity of *S. aureus*, presumably by promoting its survival in macrophages.

To test whether S. aureus secretes PtpA not only under in vitro conditions (Brelle et al., 2016), but also under infection-mimicking conditions, a number of immunoblotting experiments were carried out. In these experiments, it became clear that PtpA was also secreted by S. aureus when bacterial cells were internalized by macrophages, suggesting that PtpA secretion is also functional under in vivo conditions. Immunoprecipitation assays further identified putative intracellular binding partners for PtpA inside macrophages such as Coronin-1A, which was also found to be phosphorylated on tyrosine residues upon S. aureus infection. Besides its function in regulating the actin cytoskeleton assembly, Coronin-1A is thought to be involved also in a variety of cellular processes including signal transduction (Punwani et al., 2015). Mutations of the Coronin-1A encoding gene (COR01A) were reported to increase the infection susceptibility and modulate the immune response in mice and humans (Shiow et al, 2008; Moshous et al., 2013). This protein accumulates in the phagocytic cups and on phagosomal membranes during phagocytosis hindering the fusion of phagosomes with lysosomes (Itoh et al., 2002). Furthermore, Oku and colleagues (Oku et al., 2021) reported that this protein is phosphorylated on the Thr412 residue in a process required for the full activity of phagocytes. Based on these observations, we propose that PtpA from S. aureus also modulates the host immune response, presumably by interacting with Coronin-1A inside macrophages. Although the impact of the phosphorylation of Coronin-1A on tyrosine residues in phagocytic cells infected with S. aureus is not known yet, one may hypothesize that such phosphorylation might be linked to alterations in the distribution of this protein inside macrophages during infection. This assumption is in line with a previous observation that macrophages infected with Mtb showed a retention of Coronin-1A on the phagosomal membrane. These phagosomes were

also found to contain viable and not killed bacteria, suggesting that the retention of Coronin-1A on phagosomes enhances the intracellular survival capacity of *Mtb* inside macrophages by blocking the delivery of bacterial cells to lysosomes (Ferrari *et al.*, 1999; Jayachandran *et al.*, 2007). Another study also observed that oligomerization of Coronin-1A is an important key determinant of *Mtb*-macrophage interaction, in which the trimerization of Coronin-1A was reported to enhance the survival of mycobacterial cells in macrophages (BoseDasgupta and Pieters, 2014).

The phosphoarginine phosphatase PtpB from *Staphylococcus aureus* is involved in bacterial stress adaptation during infection (article II).

As our first set of data indicated that PtpA plays an important role in host immune evasion and infectivity of S. aureus in mice, we hypothesized that the other closely related phosphatase, PtpB, might have similar effects. In this study, the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant strain was constructed using the phage transduction strategy and its *cis*-complemented derivative was then constructed using the shuttle vector pBASE6 in double-crossover mechanism (Geiger et al., 2012). Firstly, i studied the survival capacity of a S. aureus SA564 ptpB deletion mutant in THP-1 derived macrophages, which were firstly described by Tsuchiya and colleagues (Tsuchiya et al., 1980), and since then extensively used as a model to explore macrophage activity (Qin, 2012, Starr et al., 2018). Infection of THP-1 macrophages with the S. aureus strain SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ cells revealed a significant reduction in the number of viable bacterial cells recovered from the infected macrophages, similar to our findings made with the S. aureus ptpA deletion mutant. Additionally, this finding agrees with a previous study in which the mycobacterial PtpB homologue was also found to promote intracellular survival of *Mtb* inside macrophages via the modulation of several macrophage proteins (Singh et al., 2003). In addition, Zhou and colleagues (Zhou et al., 2010) showed that mycobacterial PtpB interferes with the interferon gamma (IFN-y) mediated signaling pathway, which in turn results in inhibition of IL-6 production. IL-6 is a very effective cytokine activating microbicidal activities of macrophages (Van der Poll et al., 1997). By using our murine abscess model, we also showed that the deletion of *ptpB* in *S. aureus* is associated with decreased bacterial loads in liver and kidneys of the infected mice, a phenotype that also fits with observations made for the *Mtb* homologue showing that a deletion of *ptpB* in *Mtb* results in a severe reduction in bacterial loads in a guinea pig model of infection (Singh et al., 2003). However, unlike the PtpB homolog of Mtb (Dhamija et al., 2019), we failed to identify a relevant secretion of PtpB into the extracellular milieu by *S. aureus*, suggesting that PtpB, unlike PtpA, is not secreted by *S. aureus*, and indicating that this protein is likely to affect the pathogenicity of *S. aureus* by different means.

Part of the success of S. aureus as a human pathogen originates from its ability to quickly adapt to adverse conditions encountered within the host during infection (Cole et al., 2014; Dastghey and Otto, 2015). The diminished capacity of S. aureus strain SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ to survive intracellularly within THP-1 derived macrophages hit us with the idea to mimic relevant stresses encountered by S. aureus within macrophages in order to identify potential mechanisms exerted by PtpB to enhance the intracellular survival in this immune cell type. Phagocytosis of S. aureus by professional phagocytic cells is followed by activation of diverse killing mechanisms including the release of ROS, reactive nitrosative species (RNS), and a low pH milieu (Peyrusson et al., 2020; Pidwill et al., 2021). All of these stresses usually work together in a coordinated way to destroy the engulfed bacterial cells (Viola et al., 2019). On the other side, the ability of bacteria to sense and respond to such stresses is considered a key signaling strategy used by these pathogens to evade the hostile immune response (Marshall et al., 2000; Mongkolsuk and Helmann, 2002; Chen et al., 2011). Challenging S. aureus strain SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ with 50 mM of H₂O₂ as a final concentration uncovered a reduced capacity of the mutant cells to resist oxidative stress induced by H_2O_2 compared to that of the wild-type. This finding is in a line with a previous study in which deletion of *ptpB* in the S. aureus strain COL resulted in a reduction in bacterial ability to survive in H₂O₂-supplemented media (Junker et al., 2019). S. aureus exploits various mechanisms to counteract the effects of oxidative stress by increasing the expression of detoxification enzymes (Gaupp et al., 2012). Moreover, PTMs of bacterial proteins are considered mechanisms used by bacterial cells to sense and adapt to such oxidative stress (Marshall et al., 200). Based on these observations, we assumed that PtpB might affect the transcription of genes required to counteract this stress in S. aureus. To test this assumption, i performed qRT-PCR analyses of genes whose products are involved in detoxification of H₂O₂ in S. aureus which revealed decreased transcription rates for *ahpC*, *katA* and *sodA*. These rates of reduced expression explains the retarded capacity of the $\Delta p t p B$ cells to withstand the H₂O₂-induced stress and agree with a study in which deletion of *ahpC* and *katA* resulted in a severe decline in the ability of *S. aureus* to overcome deleterious effects of this oxidative stress (Cosgrove et al., 2007). In accordance, inactivation of NADPH oxidase, a key component of oxidative burst in macrophages, results in a dramatic decrease in the killing ability of macrophages. This diminished killing capabilities of macrophages were reflected by increases in numbers of S. aureus cells (20 to 30-fold) surviving inside NADPH oxidase-defected macrophages (Surewaard et al., 2016). These observations, together with another study (Krause et al., 2019), indicate that macrophages

use high levels of ROS to restrict *S. aureus* during infections, a mechanism that seems to be counteracted by the bacterium via PtpB-driven modulation of ROS inactivating factors.

Activated macrophages also synthesize nitric oxide (NO[•]) in a micromolar range together with other RNS to clear internalized S. aureus cells (Weinberg, 1998; Vazquez-Torres et al., 2008). In fact, NO is a main component of the bactericidal activity of macrophages (Fang und Vazquez-Torres 2002; Chakravortty und Hensel 2003). After engulfing pathogens, activated macrophages are stimulated to form NO⁻ and oxygen by activation of iNOS (Stuehr, 1991; Webb et al., 2001). RNS are then produced in the presence of oxygen to inhibit bacterial respiration (Fang, 2004; Pacher et al., 2007). Thus, macrophages use RNS together with ROS to induce synergistic antimicrobial capabilities (Pacelli et al., 1995). To investigate the impact of PtpB on the capacity of S. aureus to deal with NO' stress, we used the NO' donor dimethylamine NONOate (DEA/NONOate). This family of NO⁻ donor compounds was used because of its established ability to release NO[•] in aqueous solutions with known decay rates (Ramamurthi and Lewis, 1997). Interestingly, we observed a reduced capacity of the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cells to survive the NO stress induced by DEA/NONOate challenge, suggesting that PtpB contributes to the intracellular survival of S. aureus inside immune cells by increasing the capacity of the bacterium to withstand NO -induced killing. This assumption is in line with findings made by Urbano and colleagues (Urbano et al., 2018) who demonstrated that internalized S. aureus cells promote their survival inside macrophages by counteracting the produced NO[•]. Other studies also linked the intracellular survival capacity of S. aureus to its adaptability to RNS produced by phagocytic cells (Hochgräfe et al., 2008). Similarly, Kinkel et al. (Kinkel et al., 2013) concluded that being resistant to NO is a prerequisite for survival of S. aureus inside host cells. However, my qRT-PCR analysis of hmp transcription, a flavohemoglobin gene encoded in all sequenced S. aureus genomes and required for detoxification of nitrosative stress (Gonçalves et al., 2006; Lewis et al., 2015), revealed no clear differences between the wild-type and $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cells, which might be attributed to the lack of NO[•] challenge under the *in vitro* growth conditions used. This assumption is consistent with this of Kinkel et al. (Kinkel et al., 2013) who reported that hmp is tightly regulated by the SrrAB two-component system and its expression in the absence of NO⁻ could intensify the oxidative stress. This finding highlights the importance of the NO[•] challenge to induce the expression of *hmp* in *S. aureus*.

In addition to the above-mentioned mechanisms, acidification of the phagolysosome is another major mechanism employed by macrophages to kill the ingested *S. aureus* cells (Ip *et al.*, 2010). This bactericidal acidification step is generated by protons imported via a proton transporting ATPase (Westman and Grinstein, 2021). The resulting decline in pH generates acidic and hydrolytic phagolysosomes which are detrimental for the survival of intracellular *S*. aureus cells (Korting et al., 1992). However, the permeability of the phagosomal membrane and the rate of proton leakage are two important factors resulting in variations of the acidic pH value generated inside macrophages (Canton et al., 2004). In this regard, the lumen of early phagosomes is a little acidic with a pH value of 6.1-6.5 (Kinchen and Ravichandran, 2008), however it becomes more acidic due to translocation more protons into the lumen of phagosomes forming the so-called late phagosomes with a pH value of 5.5-6 (Lee et al., 2020). This pH value further declines to 5-5.5 when the phagolysosomes are formed (Marshansky and Futai, 2008). In order to mimic a similar in vitro effect, i used PBS adjusted to pH of 5.5 to estimate the survival capacity of S. aureus strain SA564 AptpB under such a condition. My determinations of the CFU values together with the drop in the OD₆₀₀ values indicated that PtpB is involved in enhancing the capacity of S. aureus to resist the low pH stress that is usually encountered within macrophages. Earlier work demonstrated that S. aureus alters its phospoproteome to adapt to acidic pH conditions (Junker et al., 2019). Specifically, exposing S. aureus cells to acidic conditions resulted in an increased serine/theronine phosphorylation of proteins (Huemer et al., 2021). Likewise, McsB was reported to be of importance for S. aureus to resist acidic stress (Wozniak et al., 2012), further supporting the idea that the McsB/PtpB phosphorylation/dephosphorylation system is of relevance for this pathogen to adapt to acidic conditions. Nevertheless, additional analyses of the staphylococcal proteome are still required in order to identify potential specific targets of McsB and PtpB.

The low-molecular weight protein arginine phosphatase PtpB affects nuclease production, cell wall integrity, and uptake rates of *Staphylococcus aureus* by polymorphonuclear leukocytes (article III).

Within my third study, i investigated whether PtpB might also contribute to the pathogenicity of *S. aureus* toward the host innate immunity. PMNs represent another integral part of the innate immune response, which is particularly effective for the engulfment and clearance of *S. aureus* (Lu *et al.*, 2014). Activation of PMNs during *S. aureus* infections results in the production of proteases and AMPs in concert with a variety of ROS, which all aim at destroying the invading *S. aureus* cells (Guerra *et al.*, 2017; Kobayashi *et al.*, 2018). Despite this, *S. aureus* is able to evade clearance by PMNs in a process required for establishment and maintenance of infections (DuMont *et al.*, 2013). Upon the encounter with PMNs, *S. aureus* secretes several proteases to either inhibit uptake by these immune cells or even induce lysis

after being engulfed (Rigby and DeLeo, 2012, Spaan *et al.*, 2013; van Kessel *et al.*, 2014; Prajsnar *et al.*, 2020). In order to address the effect of *ptpB* deletion on the uptake of *S. aureus* by PMNs, i employed a whole blood flow cytometric assay (Ballhausen *et al.*, 2014; Jung *et al.*, 2017). This assay enables to quantitatively analyze phagocytosis of fluorescent labelled *S. aureus* cells by PMNs in whole human blood. Analysis of the obtained MFI together with the associated histograms (population comparisons) showed that cells of the SA564 $\Delta ptpB$ mutant were taken up by PMNs in significantly higher rates than cells of the wild-type and *cis*complemented strains. These findings indicate that PtpB is of importance for *S. aureus* to evade phagocytosis by neutrophils in the human blood, although it cannot be excluded that cells of the *ptpB* deletion mutant adhered in larger quantities to PMNs than the wild-type and *cis*-complemented cells. In fact, the inability to differentiate between bacterial cells which are already phagocytosed and those being only attached to the PMNs is a major limitation of this assay (Boero *et al.*, 2021).

In order to gain a better understanding of the contribution of PtpB to the interactions of neutrophils with S. aureus, i tested whether PtpB might be crucial for S. aureus to inhibit cytotoxic activities of these immune cells. As mentioned earlier in this thesis, NETs are neutrophil-derived bactericidal determinants of the immune response and consist mainly of large quantities of eDNA decorated with granular proteins (Papayannopoulos and Zchlinsky, 2009). S. aureus is known to significantly reduce the activity of NETs mainly by the production of exonucleases (Speziale and Pietrocola, 2021). Thus, i tested the effect of the *ptpB* deletion on the ability of *S. aureus* to degrade eDNA. Here, i found that cells of the *ptpB* deletion mutant produced significantly smaller lytic areas surrounding the bacterial growth zones than the wildtype and *cis*-complemented cells when cultured on DNase agar test plates. To substantiate this finding, i further assessed the transcription of *nuc*, encoding for the major exonucleases of S. aureus. In line with the DNase assay, a significant reduction in transcription rates of nuc was observed in the $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cells in three time points representing different growth phases (exponential, transition and early stationary phases). Together, these findings suggest that PtpB promotes the expression of nucleases and thus positively contributes to the exonuclease activity of S. aureus, which is considered as a major pathogenicity factor of S. aureus to resist killing by NETs (Schilcher et al., 2014) and to even persist within suppurative lesions during infection (Chen et al., 2009).

Inactivation of the host complement system is another mechanism used by *S. aureus* to evade the host innate immunity (Sakiniene *et al.*, 1999). The complement system is a central part of the human immune response against pathogens (Dunkelberger and Song, 2010). During bacterial infections, activation of the complement system results in cleaving of the C3 into two proteins, C3a and C3b in a process required for opsonization of *S. aureus* (Harboe *et al.*,

2004). However, S. aureus is capable of counteracting this process by secreting the zincdependent metalloprotease Aur (Shaw et al., 2004). Aur is synthesized by S. aureus throughout the growth cycle and effectively cleaves C3b, thus interfering with the phagocytic activity of phagocytes and providing opportunities for S. aureus to disseminate from the blood stream into different organs (Kubica et al., 2008; Jusko et al., 2014). In addition, Sieprawska-Lupa et al. (Sieprawska-Lupa et al., 2004) reported that Aur secreted by S. aureus contributes to the inactivation of Cathelicidin LL-37, one of the main human AMPs with a potent antistaphylococcal activity. These findings, together with the information that Aur attenuates phagocytosis of S. aureus by neutrophils (Laarman et al., 2011), indicate that Aur contributes to the protection S. aureus against phagocytosis (Kubica et al., 2008). Based on these observations, i determined the transcription rate of *aur* (encoding aureolysin) when *ptpB* was deleted in comparison to the wild-type cells. My data showed that deletion of *ptpB* results in a significant reduction in *aur* transcription rates, suggesting that PtpB promotes immune evasion of *S. aureus* by increasing the expression of Aur. Regarding its other targets, aureolysin also activates V8 protease and cleaves staphylococcal surface-associated proteins such as FNBPs, SpA and ClfB, thus contributing to the proteolytic activity in S. aureus (McGavin et al., 1997; McAleese et al., 2001; Dubin, 2002; Shaw et al., 2004). In this study, i also observed that deletion of *ptpB* reduced the overall proteolytic activity of *S. aureus* spotted on skimmed milk tryptic soy agar plates. In a similar way, Wozniak et al. (Wozniak et al., 2012) reported that deletion of McsB was associated with a decreased proteolytic activity in S. aureus mainly by decreasing the expression of the *clpC* operon (Frees *et al.*, 2003).

Another major mechanism used by neutrophils during their battle with bacterial pathogens is to destabilize bacterial cytoplasmic membranes via the release of large amounts of AMPs (Oppenheim et al., 2003). Defensins are the principal AMPs secreted by neutrophils, accounting for 50% of their azurophilic granules (Lundy et al., 2008). Exposure of S. aureus to defensins is known to induce structural changes of the cell wall, even when low concentration is used (Shimoda et al., 1995). To test whether PtpB contributes to the capacity of S. aureus to withstand such a kind of stress, i tested the capability of the wild-type and $\Delta ptpB$ mutant cells to cope with cell wall-damaging substances in a series of Triton X-100and lysostaphin-induced lysis assays. Triton X-100 is a non-ionic detergent known to stimulate the activity of autolysins in S. aureus (Raychaudhuri and Chatterjee, 1985). Lysostaphin is zinc metalloproteinase degrading the cell wall of S. aureus by targeting the pentaglycine interpeptide bridges of the PG (Schindler and Schuhardt, 1964). Notably, when cells of the ptpB deletion mutant were exposed to Triton X-100 and lysostaphin, respectively, a significantly faster lysis was observed than with cells of the wild-type strain. These findings, in contrary to the previous findings of Brelle et al. (Brelle et al., 2011), suggest a potential role of PtpB in maintaining the integrity of the cell wall in *S. aureus*. Maintenance of the cell wall integrity is achieved either by affecting the cell wall synthesis processes or the cell wall lytic activities (Sutton *et al.*, 2021). Based on a previous study of Junker *et al.* (Junker *et al.*, 2018; Junker *et al.*, 2019) that MgrA is phosphorylated on Arg when *ptpB* was deleted and also the fact that MgrA controls the autolysis in *S. aureus* (Ingavale *et al.*, 2003), we postulated that PtpB might affect the autolysis in *S. aureus* by modulating the activity of MgrA. In *S. aureus*, autolysis is mediated by autolytic enzymes (autolysins or murein hydrolases) that cleave covalent bonds in the cross-linked PGN chains (Antignac *et al.*, 2007). Thus, i investigated the transcription rates of major genes affecting the staphylococcal autolytic activities such as *atlR*, *fmtB*, *IrgA* and *LytN* which are all regulated by MgrA (Komatsuzawa *et al.*, 2000; Luong *et al.*, 2006). AS expected, deletion of *ptpB* affected the transcription of all these genes in the S. aureus strain SA564.

The findings of Junker et al. (Junker et al., 2018; Junker et al., 2019) that MgrA is a substrate of PtpB in S. aureus and my findings that deletion of ptpB affected the transcription of a set of MgrA-regulated genes especially those controlling the autolysis in S. aureus supported the possibility that PtpB might affect the whole MgrA operon. Interestingly, my gRT-PCR analysis of the transcription of *ebh* and *spa* which are also controlled by MgrA showed that PtpB does not alter the activity of MgrA per se. In fact, interruption of the regulation process of MgrA induced by the lack of Arg phosphorylation was previously reported by Junker et al. (Junker et al., 2018). Furthermore, changing of the phosphorylation status of MgrA induced by the Ser/Thr kinase (StK1) was also reported to change its binding capacity to promoters of the MgrA-targeted genes norA and norB (Truong-Bolduc et al., 2008; Truong-Bolduc and Hooper, 2010). Thus, we postulated that Arg dephosphorylation of MgrA induced by PtpB results in differential promoter-binding reactions on a number of MgrA-regulated genes, and thus a differential transcription rate of these genes. Similarly, investigating the transcription of a number of genes regulated by the global transcriptional regulator SarA revealed that PtpB affects the transcription of some but not all genes controlled by this regulator. In this regard, PtpB enhanced the expression of nuc, aur, IrgA and hld but did not affect the expression of hla and splB. This finding agrees with previous studies of Junker et al., (Junket et al., 2018; Junker et al., 2019) in which phosphorylation of SarA on Arg residues was not reported. Of importance, SarA phosphorylated by StK1 was found to interact with its promoters in a different way to the nonphosphorylated SarA (Didier et al., 2010) Furthermore, my gRT-PCR data together with the hemolytic assay performed on blood agar plates showed a relation of PtpB to the activity of the accessory gene regulator locus (agr) locus presumably via the response regulator AgrA which is regarded to mainly control the transcription of the agr operon and stimulate the transcription of RNAIII (Dunman et al., 2001). This assumption is supported by the findings *ptpB* deletion induced a higher transcription rate of *hld* (encodes RNAIII) in the early stationary phase of growth. Similarly, transcription of *psmα*, which is also known to be regulated by the AgrA regulator (Tan *et al.*, 2018) was also found to be increased by the deletion of *ptpB*. Interestingly, i reported no difference in the hemolytic activity and in the transcription of *hla* when *ptpB* was deleted, supporting the hypothesis that PtpB does not modulate the SarA-activity in a direct way.

6.2. Conclusion

While the contribution of PtpA and PtpB homologues to the infectivity of other bacterial pathogen has been described, their biological significance in *S. aureus* remained unknown. The significance of the findings of the current thesis is to indicate the direct relation between these LMW-PPs and the virulence of *S. aureus*.

The major finding of the present study is to indicate for the first time that PtpA is secreted inside macrophages upon *S. aureus* infection and it interacts with potential intracellular binding proteins including coronin-1A. Deletion of *ptpA* was also associated with a decline in the *S. aureus* infectivity in a murine model of infection in which a significant reduction in the bacterial loads retrieved from the liver of mice infected with the *ptpA*-deletion mutant compared to those infected with the wild-type and *cis*-complemented strains was reported. Together, these results suggest that PtpA is secreted by *S. aureus* inside macrophages during infection to interfere with the phospho-dependent cellular signal transduction cascades within the host cells.

In a similar way, findings of this study highlight the positive contribution of PtpB to the ability of *S. aureus* to survive inside human macrophages. PtpB, unlike PtpA, is not secreted by *S. aureus*, indicating that this phosphatase contributes to the infectivity of *S. aureus* in another method away from interfering with the signal transduction cascades of the host cells. Further analysis showed that PtpB is required for *S. aureus* to resist against the oxidative-, nitrosative-and low pH stresses generated inside macrophages to degrade the phagocytosed bacterial cells. In addition, PtpB enhances the protection of *S. aureus* against being ingested by PMN. This finding is attributed to the decreased secretion of nucleases and the diminished proteolytic activities of the *ptpB* mutant cells. Interestingly, PtpB also contributes to the autolytic behavior of *S. aureus* and when deleted, the bacterial cells were autolyzed in a fast way in the presence of Triton X-100 or lysostaphin. This study also uncovers a modulatory effect of PtpB on the regulatory networks in *S. aureus*. Deletion of *ptpB* affected the transcription of the MgrA-regulated genes: *atlR, fmtB, IrgA* and *lytN*. However, this is only one

part of the story, as the findings presented here also showed that PtpB does not affect the MgrA activity *per se*. As a result, a direct link is indicated here between the Agr phosphorylation of MgrA and the virulence in *S. aureus* which was a missed point in a number of previous studies. In a similar way, PtpB also affects the *agr* locus and number of SarA-regulated genes in *S. aureus* including *nuc*, *aur*, *IrgA* and *hld*.

Collectively, the findings of this thesis (articles I, II and III) provide more knowledge about molecular determinants affecting the survival of *S. aureus* inside macrophages. Specifically, PtpA and PtpB could be defined as two protein phosphatases affecting the infectivity of *S. aureus*, and thus could be targeted to develop alternative anti-infectious therapies to combat infections caused by this pathogen.
7. References

- Aarestrup, F.M., Larsen, H.D., Eriksen, N.H., Elsberg, C.S., Jensen, N.E., 1999. Frequency of alpha- and beta-haemolysin in Staphylococcus aureus of bovine and human origin. A comparison between pheno- and genotype and variation in phenotypic expression. APMIS: acta pathologica et microbiologica Scandinavica 107, 425-430.
- 2. **Abbas, A.K., Lichtman, A.H.,** 2009. Basic immunology: functions and disorders of the immune system. Philadelphia, PA: Saunders Elsevier.
- Acton, D.S., Plat-Sinnige, M.J., van Wamel, W., de Groot, N., van Belkum, A., 2009. Intestinal carriage of Staphylococcus aureus: how does its frequency compare with that of nasal carriage and what is its clinical impact? European journal of clinical microbiology and infectious diseases: official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology 28, 115-127.
- Akopian, T., Kandror, O., Raju, R.M., Unnikrishnan, M., Rubin, E.J., Goldberg,
 A.L., 2012. The active ClpP protease from M. tuberculosis is a complex composed of a heptameric ClpP1 and a ClpP2 ring. The EMBO journal 31, 1529-1541.
- Antignac, A., Sieradzki, K., Tomasz, A., 2007. Perturbation of cell wall synthesis suppresses autolysis in Staphylococcus aureus: evidence for coregulation of cell wall synthetic and hydrolytic enzymes. Journal of bacteriology, 189, 7573-7580.
- Apel, F., Andreeva, L., Knackstedt, L.S., Streeck, R., Frese, C.K., Goosmann, C., Hopfner, K.P., Zychlinsky, A. 2021. The cytosolic DNA sensor cGAS recognizes neutrophil extracellular traps. Science signaling 14, eaax7942.
- 7. **Aravind L, Koonin EV.,** 1998. The HD domain defines a new superfamily of metaldependent phosphohydrolases. Trends in biochemical science 23, 469-472.
- Arbibe, L., Kim, D.W., Batsche, E., Pedron, T., Mateescu, B., Muchardt, C., Parsot, C., and Sansonetti, P.J., 2007. An injected bacterial effector targets chromatin access for transcription factor NF-kappaB to alter transcription of host genes involved in immune responses. Nature immunology 8, 47-56.

Archer, G.L., 1998. Staphylococcus aureus: a well-armed pathogen. Clinical infectious diseases: an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America 26, 1179-1181.

- Archer, N.K., Mazaitis, M.J, Costerton, J.W., Leid, J.G., Powers, M.E., Shirtliff, M.E., 2011. Staphylococcus aureus biofilms: properties, regulation, and roles in human disease. Virulence 2, 445-459.
- 10. **Armstrong-Esther, C.A.,** 1976. Carriage patterns of Staphylococcus aureus in a healthy non-hospital population of adults and children. Annals of human biology 3, 221-227.
- 11. Arricau, N., Hermant, D., Waxin, H., Popoff, M.Y., 1997. Molecular characterization of the Salmonella typhi StpA protein that is related to both Yersinia YopE cytotoxin and YopH tyrosine phosphatase. Research in microbiology 148, 21-26.
- 12. Baba, T., Bae, T., Schneewind, O., Takeuchi, F., Hiramatsu, K., 2008. Genome sequence of Staphylococcus aureus strain Newman and comparative analysis of staphylococcal genomes: polymorphism and evolution of two major pathogenicity islands. Journal of bacteriology 190, 300-310.
- Bach, H., Papavinasasundaram, K.G., Wong, D., Hmama, Z., Av-Gay, Y., 2008. Mycobacterium tuberculosis virulence is mediated by PtpA dephosphorylation of human vacuolar protein sorting 33B. Cell host & microbe 3, 316-322.
- Bahta, M., Burke, T.R., 2012. Yersinia pestis and approaches to targeting its outer protein H protein-tyrosine phosphatase (YopH). Current medicinal chemistry 19, 5726-5734.
- Ballhausen, B., Jung, P., Kriegeskorte, A., Makgotlho, P.E., Ruffing, U., von Müller, L., Köck, R., Peters, G., Herrmann, M., Ziebuhr, W., Becker, K., Bischoff, M., 2014. LA-MRSA CC398 differ from classical community acquired-MRSA and hospital acquired-MRSA lineages: functional analysis of infection and colonization processes. International journal of medical microbiology: IJMM 304, 777-786.
- 16. **Bamberger, D.M.,** 2007. Bacteremia and endocarditis due to methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: the potential role of daptomycin. Therapeutics and clinical risk management 3, 675-684.
- 17. Benito, D., Lozano, C., Rezusta, A., Ferrer, I., Vasquez, M.A., Ceballos, S., Zarazaga, M., Revillo, M.J., Torres, C., 2014. Characterization of tetracycline and methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus strains in a Spanish hospital: is livestockcontact a risk factor in infections caused by MRSA CC398? International journal of medical microbiology: IJMM 304, 1226-1232.
- Berends, E.T., Horswill, A.R., Haste, N.M., Monestier, M., Nizet, V., von Kockritz-Blickwede, M., 2010. Nuclease expression by Staphylococcus aureus facilitates escape from neutrophil extracellular traps. Journal of innate immunity 2, 576-586.
- 19. Beresford, N.J., Mulhearn, D., Szczepankiewicz, B., Liu, G., Johnson, M.E., Fordham-Skelton, A., Abad-Zapatero, C., Cavet, J.S., Tabernero, L., 2009.

Inhibition of MptpB phosphatase from Mycobacterium tuberculosis impairs mycobacterial survival in macrophages. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy 63, 928-936.

- 20. **Bhalla, A., Aron, D.C., Donskey, C.J.,** 2007. Staphylococcus aureus intestinal colonization is associated with increased frequency of S. aureus on skin of hospitalized patients. BMC infectious diseases 7, 105.
- 21. Bhattacharya, S., Pal, K., Jain, S., Chatterjee, S.S., Konar, J., 2016. Surgical Site Infection by Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus aureus- on Decline? Journal of clinical and diagnostic research: JCDR 10, DC32-DC36.
- 22. **Bischoff, M., Entenza, J.M., Giachino, P.,** 2001. Influence of a functional sigB operon on the global regulators sar and agr in Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of bacteriology 183, 5171-5179.
- 23. **Bischoff, M., Romby, P.,** 2016. Genetic regulation in Staphylococcus: Genetics and Physiology, pp. 301–334. Caister Academic Press, Poole, United Kingdom.
- 24. Boero, E., Brinkman, I., Juliet, T., van Yperen, E., van Strijp, J., Rooijakkers, S., van Kessel, K., 2021. Use of Flow Cytometry to Evaluate Phagocytosis of Staphylococcus aureus by Human Neutrophils. Frontiers in immunology 12:635825.
- 25. **Bohach, G.A., Fast, D.J., Nelson, R.D., and Schlievert, P.M.,** 1990. Staphylococcal and streptococcal pyrogenic toxins involved in toxic shock syndrome and related illnesses. Critical reviews in microbiology17, 251-272.
- 26. **BoseDasgupta, S., Pieters, J.,** 2014. Coronin 1 trimerization is essential to protect pathogenic mycobacteria within macrophages from lysosomal delivery. FEBS letters 588, 3898-3905.
- 27. **Boyle-Vavra S, Daum RS.,** 2007. Community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: the role of Panton-Valentine leukocidin. Laboratory Investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology 87, 3-9.
- 28. Brelle, S., Baronian, G., Huc-Brandt, S., Zaki, L.G., Cohen-Gonsaud, M., Bischoff, M., Molle, V., 2016. Phosphorylation-mediated regulation of the Staphylococcus aureus secreted tyrosine phosphatase PtpA. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 469, 619-625.
- Brinkmann, V., Reichard, U., Goosmann, C., Fauler, B., Uhlemann, Y., Weiss,
 D.S., Weinrauch, Y., Zychlinsky, A., 2004. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. Science. 303, 1532-1535.
- Brown, D.F., Edwards, D.I., Hawkey, P.M., Morrison, D., Ridgway, G.L., Towner,
 K.J., Wren, M.W., Joint Working Party of the British Society for Antimicrobial,
 C., Hospital Infection, S., and Infection Control Nurses, A., 2005. Guidelines for

the laboratory diagnosis and susceptibility testing of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy 56, 1000-1018.

- 31. Buchan, K.D., Foster, S.J., Renshaw, S.A., 2019. Staphylococcus aureus: setting its sights on the human innate immune system. Microbiology 165, 367-385.
- 32. **Brückner, R.,** 1997. Gene replacement in Staphylococcus carnosus and Staphylococcus xylosus. FEMS Microbiology letters 151, 1-8.
- 33. Canova, M.J., Baronian, G., Brelle, S., Cohen-Gonsaud, M., Bischoff, M., and Molle, V., 2014. A novel mode of regulation of the Staphylococcus aureus Vancomycin-resistance-associated response regulator VraR mediated by Stk1 protein phosphorylation. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 447, 165-171.
- 34. **Canton, J., Khezri, R., Glogauer, M., Grinstein, S.**, 2014. Contrasting phagosome pH regulation and maturation in human M1 and M2 macrophages. Molecular biology of the cell 25, 3330-3341.
- 35. Caselli, A., Paoli, P., Santi, A., Mugnaioni, C., Toti, A., Camici, G., Cirri, P., 2016.
 Low molecular weight protein tyrosine phosphatase: Multifaceted functions of an evolutionarily conserved enzyme. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1864, 1339-1355.
- 36. CDC, 2019. Antibiotic Resistance Threats in the United States, 2019. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- 37. **Chakravortty, D., Hensel, M.,** 2003. Inducible nitric oxide synthase and control of intracellular bacterial pathogens. Microbes and infection 5, 621-7.
- 38. Challagundla L., Reyes J., Rafiqullah I., Sordelli D.O., Echaniz-Aviles G., Velazquez-Meza M.E., Castillo-Ramírez S., Fittipaldi N., Feldgarden M., Chapman S.B., Calderwood M.S., Carvajal L.P., Rincon S., Hanson B., Planet P.J., Arias C.A., Diaz L., Robinson D.A., 2018. Phylogenomic Classification and the Evolution of Clonal Complex 5 Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus in the Western Hemisphere. Frontiers in microbiology 9, 1901.
- 39. **Chambers, H.F., Deleo, F.R.,** 2009. Waves of resistance: Staphylococcus aureus in the antibiotic era. Nature reviews. Microbiology 7, 629-641.
- 40. **Chaplin, D.D.,** 2010. Overview of the immune response. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology 125, S3-23.
- 41. Chavakis, T., Wiechmann, K., Preissner, K.T., Herrmann, M., 2005. Staphylococcus aureus interactions with the endothelium: the role of bacterial "secretable expanded repertoire adhesive molecules" (SERAM) in disturbing host defense systems. Thrombosis and haemostasis 94, 278-285.
- 42. Chen, P.R., Bae, T., Williams, W.A., Duguid, E.M., Rice, P.A., Schneewind, O.,

He, C., 2006. An oxidation-sensing mechanism is used by the global regulator MgrA in Staphylococcus aureus. Nature chemical biology 2, 591-595.

- 43. **Chen, P.R., Brugarolas, P., He, C.**, 2011. Redox signaling in human pathogens. Antioxidants & Redox Signal 14, 1107-18.
- 44. Chen, P.R., Nishida, S., Poor, C.B., Cheng, A., Bae, T., Kuechenmeister, L., Dunman, P.M., Missiakas, D., He, C., 2009. A new oxidative sensing and regulation pathway mediated by the MgrA homologue SarZ in Staphylococcus aureus. Molecular microbiology 71, 198-211.
- 45. **Cheung, G.Y., Joo, H.S., Chatterjee, S.S., Otto, M.,** 2014. Phenol-soluble modulins--critical determinants of staphylococcal virulence. FEMS microbiology reviews 38, 698-719.
- 46. Chiaradia, L.D., Mascarello, A., Purificacao, M., Vernal, J., Cordeiro, M.N., Zenteno, M.E., Villarino, A., Nunes, R.J., Yunes, R.A., Terenzi, H., 2008. Synthetic chalcones as efficient inhibitors of Mycobacterium tuberculosis protein tyrosine phosphatase PtpA. Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters 18, 6227-6230.
- Clauditz, A., Resch, A., Wieland, K.P., Peschel, A., Gotz, F., 2006.
 Staphyloxanthin plays a role in the fitness of Staphylococcus aureus and its ability to cope with oxidative stress. Infection and immunity 74, 4950-4953.
- 48. **Clerc, O., Prod'hom, G., Greub, G., Zanetti, G., Senn, L.,** 2011. Adult native septic arthritis: a review of 10 years of experience and lessons for empirical antibiotic therapy. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy 66, 1168-1173.
- 49. **Cohen, P.,** 2002. Protein kinases--the major drug targets of the twenty-first century? Nature reviews Drug discovery 1, 309-315.
- 50. Cohen, T.S., Hilliard, J.J., Jones-Nelson, O., Keller, A.E., O'Day, T., Tkaczyk C, DiGiandomenico, A., Hamilton, M., Pelletier, M., Wang, Q., Diep, B.A., Le, V.T., Cheng, L., Suzich, J., Stover, C.K., Sellman, B.R., 2016. Staphylococcus aureus α toxin potentiates opportunistic bacterial lung infections. Science translational medicine 8, 329ra31.
- 51. **Cole, J., Aberdein, J., Jubrail, J., Dockrell, D.H.**, 2014. The role of macrophages in the innate immune response to Streptococcus pneumoniae and Staphylococcus aureus: mechanisms and contrasts. Advances in microbial physiology 65, 125-202.
- 52. **Cong, Y., Yang, S., Rao, X.,** 2020. Vancomycin resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections: A review of case updating and clinical features. Journal of advanced research 21, 169-176.
- 53. Cosgrove, K., Coutts, G., Jonsson, I.M., Tarkowski, A., Kokai-Kun, J.F., Mond, J.J., Foster, S.J., 2007. Catalase (KatA) and alkyl hydroperoxide reductase (AhpC) have compensatory roles in peroxide stress resistance and are required for survival,

persistence, and nasal colonization in Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of bacteriology 189, 1025-1035.

- 54. **Cozzone, A.J.,** 1993. ATP-dependent protein kinases in bacteria. Journal of cellular biochemistry 51, 7-13.
- 55. Cruz, A.R., Boer, M.A.D., Strasser, J., Zwarthoff, S.A., Beurskens, F.J., de Haas, C.J.C., Aerts, P.C., Wang, G., de Jong, R.N., Bagnoli, F., van Strijp, J.A.G., van Kessel, K.P.M., Schuurman, J., Preiner, J., Heck, A.J.R., Rooijakkers, S.H.M., 2021. Staphylococcal protein A inhibits complement activation by interfering with IgG hexamer formation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 118, e2016772118.
- 56. **Cunnion, K.M., Hair, P.S., Buescher, E.S.,** 2004. Cleavage of complement C3b to iC3b on the surface of Staphylococcus aureus is mediated by serum complement factor I. Infection and immunity 72, 2858-2863.
- 57. Dantes R, Mu Y, Belflower R, Aragon D, Dumyati G, Harrison LH, Lessa FC, Lynfield R, Nadle J, Petit S, Ray SM, Schaffner W, Townes J, Fridkin S; Emerging Infections Program–Active Bacterial Core Surveillance MRSA Surveillance Investigators., 2011. National burden of invasive methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections, United States, 2011. JAMA Internal medicine 173, 1970.
- 58. **Darouiche, R.O.,** 2004. Treatment of infections associated with surgical implants. The New England journal of medicine 350, 1422-1429.
- 59. **Dastgheyb, S.S., Otto, M.,** 2015. Staphylococcal adaptation to diverse physiologic niches: an overview of transcriptomic and phenotypic changes in different biological environments. Future microbiology 10, 1981-1995.
- 60. **David, M.Z., Daum, R.S.,** 2010. Community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: epidemiology and clinical consequences of an emerging epidemic. Clinical microbiology reviews 23, 616-687.
- 61. **Davies, L.C., Taylor, P.R.,** 2015. Tissue-resident macrophages: then and now. Immunology 144, 541-548.
- 62. **Davis, J.P., Zhou, M.M., Van Etten, R.L.,** 1994. Kinetic and site-directed mutagenesis studies of the cysteine residues of bovine low molecular weight phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase. The Journal of biological chemistry 269, 8734-8740.
- 63. **Derre, I., Rapoport, G., Msadek, T.,** 1999. CtsR, a novel regulator of stress and heat shock response, controls clp and molecular chaperone gene expression in grampositive bacteria. Molecular microbiology 31, 117-131.
- 64. Dhamija, E., Yabaji, S., Chatterjee, A., Mishra, A., K. Dubey, R., Narain, A., K.

Srivastava, **K.**, 2019. Elucidation of Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase-B for its role in intracellular survival of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. European respiratory journal 54, PA4592.

- 65. **Didier, J.P., Cozzone, A.J., Duclos, B.,** 2010. Phosphorylation of the virulence regulator SarA modulates its ability to bind DNA in Staphylococcus aureus. FEMS Microbiology letters 306, 30-36.
- 66. **Dinges, M.M., Orwin, P.M., Schlievert, P.M.,** 2000. Exotoxins of Staphylococcus aureus. Clinical microbiology reviews 13, 16-34.
- 67. **Dubin, G.,** 2002. Extracellular proteases of Staphylococcus spp. Biological chemistry 383, 1075-1086.
- 68. Dunman, P.M., Murphy, E., Haney, S., Palacios, D., Tucker-Kellogg, G., Wu, S., Brown, E.L., Zagursky, R.J, Shlaes, D., Projan, S.J., 2001. Transcription profilingbased identification of Staphylococcus aureus genes regulated by the agr and/or sarA loci. Journal of bacteriology 183, 7341-7353.
- 69. **du Plessis, E., Theron, J., Berger, E., Louw, M.,** 2007. Evaluation of the Staphylococcus aureus class C nonspecific acid phosphatase (SapS) as a reporter for gene expression and protein secretion in gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria. Applied and environmental microbiology 73, 7232-7239.
- DuMont, A.L., Yoong, P., Surewaard, B.G., Benson, M.A., Nijland, R., van Strijp, J.A., Torres, V.J., 2013. Staphylococcus aureus elaborates leukocidin AB to mediate escape from within human neutrophils. Infection and immunity 81, 1830-1841.
- 71. **Dunkelberger, J.R., Song, W.C.,** 2010. Complement and its role in innate and adaptive immune responses. Cell research 20, 34-50.
- 72. **Duthie, E.S.,** 1952. Variation in the antigenic composition of staphylococcal coagulase. Journal of general microbiology 7, 320-326.
- 73. **ECDC**, 2012. Antimicrobial resistance surveillance in Europe 2011. European Center for Disease Prevention and Control. ISBN 978-92-9193-398-3.
- FCDC, 2015. Antimicrobial resistance interactive database (Internet). Stockholm (Sweden:): ECDC; (cited 2015 Oct 22).
 Available:

http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/healthtopics/antimicrobial_resistance/database/Pages/data base.aspx.

75. Eisenbeis, J., Saffarzadeh, M., Peisker, H., Jung, P., Thewes, N., Preissner, K.T., Herrmann, M., Molle, V., Geisbrecht, B.V., Jacobs, K., Bischoff, M., 2018. The Staphylococcus aureus Extracellular Adherence Protein Eap Is a DNA Binding Protein Capable of Blocking Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation. Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology 8, 235.

- 76. El-Ahdab, F., Benjamin, D.K., Jr., Wang, A., Cabell, C.H., Chu, V.H., Stryjewski, M.E., Corey, G.R., Sexton, D.J., Reller, L.B., Fowler, V.G., Jr., 2005. Risk of endocarditis among patients with prosthetic valves and Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia. The American journal of medicine 118, 225-229.
- 77. Elhawy, M.I., Huc-Brandt, S., Pätzold, L., Gannoun-Zaki, L., Abdrabou, A.M.M., Bischoff, M., Molle, V., 2021. The Phosphoarginine Phosphatase PtpB from Staphylococcus aureus Is Involved in Bacterial Stress Adaptation during Infection. Cells 10, 645.
- 78. Elhawy, M.I., Molle, V., Becker, S.L., Bischoff, M., 2021. The Low-Molecular Weight Protein Arginine Phosphatase PtpB Affects Nuclease Production, Cell Wall Integrity, and Uptake Rates of Staphylococcus aureus by Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes. International journal of molecular sciences: IJMS 22, 5342.
- 79. Elsholz, A.K., Hempel, K., Pother, D.C., Becher, D., Hecker, M., Gerth, U., 2011. CtsR inactivation during thiol-specific stress in low GC, Gram+ bacteria. Molecular microbiology 79, 772-785.
- Eriksen, N.H., Espersen, F., Rosdahl, V.T., Jensen, K., 1995. Carriage of Staphylococcus aureus among 104 healthy persons during a 19-month period. Epidemiology and infection 115, 51-60.
- 81. Fan, L., Wu, X., Jin, C., Li, F., Xiong, S., Dong, Y., 2018. MptpB Promotes Mycobacteria Survival by Inhibiting the Expression of Inflammatory Mediators and Cell Apoptosis in Macrophages. Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology 8, 171.
- 82. **Fang, F.C.,** 2004. Antimicrobial reactive oxygen and nitrogen species: concepts and controversies. Nature reviews. Microbiology 2, 820-832.
- Fang, F.C., Vazquez-Torres, A., 2002. Nitric oxide production by human macrophages: there's NO doubt about it. American journal of physiology. Lung cellular and molecular physiology 282, L941-3.
- 84. **Fantl, W.J., Johnson, D.E., Williams, L.T.,** 1993. Signalling by receptor tyrosine kinases. Annual review of biochemistry 62, 453-481.
- 85. **Ferrari, G., Langen, H., Naito, M., Pieters, J.,** 1999. A coat protein on phagosomes involved in the intracellular survival of mycobacteria. Cell 97, 435-447.
- 86. **Foster T.,** 1996. Staphylococcus. In: Baron S, editor. Medical Microbiology. 4th ed. Galveston (TX): University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston; 1996. Chapter 12.
- 87. **Foster, T.J.**, 2004. The Staphylococcus aureus "superbug". The Journal of clinical investigation 114, 1693-1696.
- 88. Foster, T.J., 2005. Immune evasion by staphylococci. Nature reviews. Microbiology 3, 948-958.

- 89. **Foster, T.J., Höök, M.,** 1998. Surface protein adhesins of Staphylococcus aureus. Trends in microbiology 6, 484-488.
- 90. **Frees, D., Qazi, S.N., Hill, P.J., Ingmer, H.,** 2003. Alternative roles of ClpX and ClpP in Staphylococcus aureus stress tolerance and virulence. Molecular microbiology 48, 1565-1578.
- 91. Fuhrmann, J., Mierzwa, B., Trentini, D.B., Spiess, S., Lehner, A., Charpentier,
 E., Clausen, T., 2013. Structural basis for recognizing phosphoarginine and evolving residue-specific protein phosphatases in gram-positive bacteria. Cell reports 3, 1832-1839.
- 92. Fuhrmann, J., Schmidt, A., Spiess, S., Lehner, A., Turgay, K., Mechtler, K., Charpentier, E., Clausen, T., 2009. McsB is a protein arginine kinase that phosphorylates and inhibits the heat-shock regulator CtsR. Science 324, 1323-1327.
- 93. Fuhrmann, J., Subramanian, V., Kojetin, D.J., Thompson, P.R., 2016. Activity-Based Profiling Reveals a Regulatory Link between Oxidative Stress and Protein Arginine Phosphorylation. Cell chemical biology 23, 967-977.
- 94. Gannoun-Zaki, L., Pätzold, L., Huc-Brandt, S., Baronian, G., Elhawy, M.I., Gaupp, R., Martin, M., Blanc-Potard, A.B., Letourneur, F., Bischoff, M., Molle, V., 2018. PtpA, a secreted tyrosine phosphatase from Staphylococcus aureus, contributes to virulence and interacts with coronin-1A during infection. Journal of biological chemistry 293, 15569-15580.
- 95. **Gaupp, R., Ledala, N., Somerville, G.A.,** 2012. Staphylococcal response to oxidative stress. Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology 2, 33.
- 96. Gavrish, E., Sit, C. S., Cao, S., Kandror, O., Spoering, A., Peoples, A., Ling, L., Fetterman, A., Hughes, D., Bissell, A., Torrey, H., Akopian, T., Mueller, A., Epstein, S., Goldberg, A., Clardy, J., Lewis, K., 2014. Lassomycin, a ribosomally synthesized cyclic peptide, kills mycobacterium tuberculosis by targeting the ATPdependent protease ClpC1P1P2. Chemistry & biology 21, 509-518.
- 97. Ge, R., Shan, W., 2011. Bacterial phosphoproteomic analysis reveals the correlation between protein phosphorylation and bacterial pathogenicity. Genomics, proteomics & bioinformatics 9, 119.
- 98. Geiger, T., Francois, P., Liebeke, M., Fraunholz, M., Goerke, C., Krismer, B., Schrenzel, J., Lalk, M., Wolz, C. 2012. The stringent response of Staphylococcus aureus and its impact on survival after phagocytosis through the induction of intracellular PSMs expression. PLoS pathogens 8, e1003016.
- Geoghegan, J.A., Foster, T.J., 2017. Cell Wall-Anchored Surface Proteins of Staphylococcus aureus: Many Proteins, Multiple Functions. Current topics in microbiology and immunology 409, 95-120.

- Gillet, Y., Issartel, B., Vanhems, P., Fournet, J.C., Lina, G., Bes, M., Vandenesch, F., Piémont, Y., Brousse, N., Floret, D., Etienne, J., 2002. Association between Staphylococcus aureus strains carrying gene for Panton-Valentine leukocidin and highly lethal necrotising pneumonia in young immunocompetent patients. Lancet, 359, 753-9.
- 101. Glaser, P., Frangeul, L., Buchrieser, C., Rusniok, C., Amend, A., Baquero, F., Berche, P., Bloecker, H., Brandt, P., Chakraborty, T., Charbit, A., Chetouani, F., Couvé, E., de Daruvar, A., Dehoux, P., Domann, E., Domínguez-Bernal, G., Duchaud, E., Durant, L., Dussurget, O., Entian, K.D., Fsihi, H., García-del, Portillo F., Garrido, P., Gautier, L., Goebel, W., Gómez-López, N., Hain, T., Hauf, J., Jackson, D., Jones, L.M., Kaerst, U., Kreft, J., Kuhn, M., Kunst, F., Kurapkat, G., Madueno, E., Maitournam, A., Vicente, J.M., Ng, E., Nedjari, H., Nordsiek, G., Novella, S., de Pablos, B., Pérez-Diaz, J.C., Purcell, R., Remmel, B., Rose, M., Schlueter, T., Simoes, N., Tierrez, A., Vázquez-Boland, J.A., Voss, H., Wehland, J., Cossart, P., 2001. Comparative genomics of Listeria species. Science 294, 849-852.
- Gómez, C. H., Perilla, A, González, C., Valderrama, S.L., Vanegas, N., Chavarro, B., Triana, L.C., Támara, J.R., Álvarez, C.A., 2009. Methicillin-resistant extrahospital Staphylococcus aureus necrotizing pneumonia: report of two cases in Colombia. Biomedical 29,523-530.
- Gonçalves, V.L., Nobre, L.S., Vicente, J.B., Teixeira, M., Saraiva, L.M., 2006.
 Flavohemoglobin requires microaerophilic conditions for nitrosative protection of Staphylococcus aureus. FEBS letters 580, 1817-1821.
- Gordon, R.J., Lowy, F.D., 2008. Pathogenesis of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infection. Clinical infectious diseases: an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America 46 Suppl 5, S350-359.
- 105. **Govindaraj, V.A., Vanitha, A.,** 2018. WHO global priority pathogens list on antibiotic resistance: an urgent need for action to integrate One Health data. Perspect Public Health 138, 87-88.
- Greenwood, D., O'Grady, F., 1972. Scanning electron microscopy of Staphylococcus aureus exposed to some common anti-staphylococcal agents. Journal of general microbiology 70, 263-270.
- 107. Grosz M, Kolter J, Paprotka K, Winkler AC, Schäfer D, Chatterjee SS, Geiger T, Wolz C, Ohlsen K, Otto M, Rudel T, Sinha B, Fraunholz M., 2014. Cytoplasmic replication of Staphylococcus aureus upon phagosomal escape triggered by phenolsoluble modulin α. Cellular microbiology 16, 451-465.
- 108. Grundner, C., Cox, J.S., Alber, T., 2008. Protein tyrosine phosphatase PtpA is not

required for Mycobacterium tuberculosis growth in mice. FEMS microbiology letters 287, 181-184.

- 109. **Grundner, C., Ng, H.L., Alber, T.,** 2005. Mycobacterium tuberculosis protein tyrosine phosphatase PtpB structure reveals a diverged fold and a buried active site. Structure 13, 1625-1634.
- 110. **Guerra, F.E., Borgogna, T.R., Patel, D.M., Sward, E.W., Voyich, J.M.,** 2017. Epic Immune Battles of History: Neutrophils vs. Staphylococcus aureus. Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology 7, 286.
- 111. **Haag, A.F., Fitzgerald, J.R., Penades, J.R.,** 2019. Staphylococcus aureus in Animals. Microbiology spectrum 7 (3).
- 112. **Haggar, A., Ehrnfelt, C., Holgersson, J., Flock, J.I.,** 2004. The extracellular adherence protein from Staphylococcus aureus inhibits neutrophil binding to endothelial cells. Infection and immunity 72, 6164-6167.
- Hamid, N., Gustavsson, A., Andersson, K., McGee, K., Persson, C., Rudd, C.E., Fallman, M., 1999. YopH dephosphorylates Cas and Fyn-binding protein in macrophages. Microbial pathogenesis 27, 231-242.
- Hammel, M., Nemecek, D., Keightley, J.A., Thomas, G.J., Jr., Geisbrecht, B.V.,
 2007. The Staphylococcus aureus extracellular adherence protein (Eap) adopts an elongated but structured conformation in solution. Protein science 16, 2605-2617.
- 115. **Harboe, M., Ulvund, G., Vien, L., Fung, M., Mollnes, T.E.,** 2004. The quantitative role of alternative pathway amplification in classical pathway induced terminal complement activation. Clinical and experimental immunology 138, 439-446.
- 116. **Harris, L.G., Foster, S.J., Richards, R.G.,** 2002. An introduction to Staphylococcus aureus, and techniques for identifying and quantifying S. aureus adhesins in relation to adhesion to biomaterials: review. European cells & materials 4, 39-60.
- 117. Hartlieb, J., Kohler, N., Dickinson, R.B., Chhatwal, G.S., Sixma, J.J., Hartford, O.M., Foster, T.J., Peters, G., Kehrel, B.E., Herrmann, M., 2000. Protein A is the von Willebrand factor binding protein on Staphylococcus aureus. Blood 96, 2149-2156.
- 118. **Heesemann, J.,** 1993. Resistenzmechanismen gegen Betalaktamantibiotika [Mechanisms of resistance to beta-lactam antibiotics]. Infection 21 Suppl 1, S4-9.
- 119. **Heilmann, C.,** 2011. Adhesion mechanisms of staphylococci. Advances in experimental medicine and biology 715, 105-123.
- 120. **Heneberg, P.,** 2012. Finding the smoking gun: protein tyrosine phosphatases as tools and targets of unicellular microorganisms and viruses. Current medicinal chemistry 19, 1530-1566.
- 121. Herman-Bausier, P., Labate, C., Towell, A.M., Derclaye, S., Geoghegan, J.A.,

Dufrene, **Y.F.**, 2018. Staphylococcus aureus clumping factor A is a force-sensitive molecular switch that activates bacterial adhesion. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 115, 5564-5569.

- 122. **Hiramatsu, K., Cui, L., Kuroda, M., Ito, T.,** 2001. The emergence and evolution of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. Trends in microbiology 9, 486-493.
- Hochgräfe, F., Wolf, C., Fuchs, S., Liebeke, M., Lalk, M., Engelmann, S., Hecker, M., 2008. Nitric oxide stress induces different responses but mediates comparable protein thiol protection in Bacillus subtilis and Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of bacteriology 190, 4997-5008.
- Hoppenbrouwers, T., Sultan, A.R., Abraham, T.E., Lemmens-den Toom, N.A., Hansenova Manaskova, S., van Cappellen, W.A., Houtsmuller, A.B., van Wamel, W.J.B., de Maat, M.P.M., van Neck, J.W., 2018. Staphylococcal Protein A Is a Key Factor in Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Formation. Frontiers in immunology 9, 165.
- 125. **Horino, T., Hori, S.,** 2020. Metastatic infection during Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia. Journal of infection and chemotherapy: official journal of the Japan Society of Chemotherapy 26, 162-169.
- 126. **Hu X., Vujanac M., Stebbins C.E.,** 2004. Computational analysis of tyrosine phosphatase inhibitor selectivity for the virulence factors YopH and SptP. Journal of molecular graphics and modelling 23, 175-187.
- 127. Huemer, M., Shambat, S.M., Pereira, S., Van Gestel, L., Bergada-Pijuan, J., Gómez-Mejia, A., Chang, C.-C., Vulin, C., Bär, J., Dworkin, J., Zinkernagel, A.S., 2021. Ser/Thr phospho-regulation by PknB and Stp mediates bacterial quiescence and antibiotic persistence in Staphylococcus aureus. bioRxiv, 2021.2005.2006.442895.
- 128. **Hunter, T.,** 1995. Protein kinases and phosphatases: the yin and yang of protein phosphorylation and signaling. Cell 80, 225-236.
- Hunter, T., 2012. Why nature chose phosphate to modify proteins. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences 367, 2513-2516.
- 130. **Ingavale, S.S., Van Wamel, W., Cheung, A.L.,** 2003. Characterization of RAT, an autolysis regulator in Staphylococcus aureus. Molecular microbiology 48, 1451-1466.
- 131. Ip, W.K., Sokolovska, A., Charriere, G.M., Boyer, L., Dejardin, S., Cappillino, M.P., Yantosca, L.M., Takahashi, K, Moore, K.J., Lacy-Hulbert, A., Stuart, L.M., 2010. Phagocytosis and phagosome acidification are required for pathogen processing and MyD88-dependent responses to Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of immunology 184, 7071-7081.
- 132. Itoh, S., Suzuki, K., Nishihata, J., Iwasa, M., Oku, T., Nakajin, S., Nauseef, W.M.,

Toyoshima, S., 2002. The role of protein kinase C in the transient association of p57, a coronin family actin-binding protein, with phagosomes. Biological & pharmaceutical bulletin 25, 837-844.

- 133. Jamrozy, D., Coll, F., Mather, A.E., Harris, S.R., Harrison, E.M., MacGowan, A., Karas, A., Elston, T., Estée, Török. M., Parkhill, J., Peacock, S.J., 2017. Evolution of mobile genetic element composition in an epidemic methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: temporal changes correlated with frequent loss and gain events. BMC Genomics 18, 684.
- 134. **Jansson, B., Palmcrantz, C., Uhlen, M., Nilsson, B.**, 1990. A dual-affinity gene fusion system to express small recombinant proteins in a soluble form: expression and characterization of protein A deletion mutants. Protein engineering 3, 555-561.
- 135. Jarick, M., Bertsche, U., Stahl, M., Schultz, D., Methling, K., Lalk, M., Stigloher, C., Steger, M., Schlosser, A., Ohlsen, K., 2018. The serine/threonine kinase Stk and the phosphatase Stp regulate cell wall synthesis in Staphylococcus aureus. Scientific reports 8, 13693.
- 136. Jayachandran, R., Sundaramurthy, V., Combaluzier, B., Mueller, P., Korf, H., Huygen, K., Miyazaki, T., Albrecht, I., Massner, J., Pieters, J., 2007. Survival of mycobacteria in macrophages is mediated by coronin 1-dependent activation of calcineurin. Cell 130, 37-50.
- 137. Jevons, M. P., 1961. "Celbenin" resistant Staphylococci. British medical Journal 1, 124-125.
- Jin, J., Pawson, T., 2012. Modular evolution of phosphorylation-based signaling systems. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B, Biological sciences 367, 2540-2555.
- 139. Jin, T., Mohammad, M., Pullerits, R., Ali, A., 2021. Bacteria and Host Interplay in Staphylococcus aureus Septic Arthritis and Sepsis. Pathogens 10, 158.
- Johnson, L.N., Barford, D., 1993. The effects of phosphorylation on the structure and function of proteins. Annual review of biophysics and biomolecular structure 22, 199-232.
- 141. Jokinen, E., Laine, J., Huttunen, R., Rahikka, P., Huhtala, H., Vuento, R., Vuopio, J., Syrjanen, J., 2017. Comparison of outcome and clinical characteristics of bacteremia caused by methicillin-resistant, penicillin-resistant and penicillinsusceptible Staphylococcus aureus strains. Infectious diseases 49, 493-500.
- 142. Jongerius, I., Kohl, J., Pandey, M.K., Ruyken, M., van Kessel, K.P., van Strijp, J.A., Rooijakkers, S.H., 2007. Staphylococcal complement evasion by various convertase-blocking molecules. The Journal of experimental medicine 204, 2461-2471.

- 143. Jorch SK, Surewaard BG, Hossain M, Peiseler M, Deppermann C, Deng J, Bogoslowski A, van der Wal F, Omri A, Hickey MJ, Kubes P., 2019. Peritoneal GATA6+ macrophages function as a portal for Staphylococcus aureus dissemination. Journal of clinical investigation 129, 4643-4656.
- 144. Jung, P., Abdelbary, M.M., Kraushaar, B., Fetsch, A., Geisel, J., Herrmann, M., Witte, W., Cuny, C., Bischoff, M., 2017. Impact of bacteriophage Saint3 carriage on the immune evasion capacity and hemolytic potential of Staphylococcus aureus CC398. Veterinary microbiology 200, 46-51.
- Junker, S., Maabeta, S., Otto, A., Michalik, S., Morgenroth, F., Gerth, U., Hecker,
 M., Becher, D., 2018. Spectral Library Based Analysis of Arginine Phosphorylations in Staphylococcus aureus. Molecular & cellular proteomics: MCP 17, 335-348.
- 146. Junker, S., Maass, S., Otto, A., Hecker, M., Becher, D., 2019. Toward the Quantitative Characterization of Arginine Phosphorylations in Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of proteome research 18, 265-279.
- 147. Jusko, M., Potempa, J., Kantyka, T., Bielecka, E., Miller, H.K., Kalinska, M., Dubin, G., Garred, P., Shaw, L.N., Blom, A.M., 2014. Staphylococcal proteases aid in evasion of the human complement system. Journal of innate immunity 6, 31-46.
- 148. **Kaneko, J., Kamio, Y.,** 2004. Bacterial two-component and hetero-heptameric poreforming cytolytic toxins: structures, pore-forming mechanism, and organization of the genes. Bioscience, biotechnology and biochemistry 68, 981-1003.
- 149. **Kaniga, K., Uralil, J., Bliska, J.B., Galan, J.E.**, 1996. A secreted protein tyrosine phosphatase with modular effector domains in the bacterial pathogen Salmonella typhimurium. Molecular microbiology 21, 633-641.
- 150. **Kaplan, M.J., Radic, M.,** 2012. Neutrophil extracellular traps: double-edged swords of innate immunity. Journal of immunology 189, 2689-2695.
- Kastner, R., Dussurget, O., Archambaud, C., Kernbauer, E., Soulat, D., Cossart,
 P., Decker, T., 2011. LipA, a tyrosine and lipid phosphatase involved in the virulence of Listeria monocytogenes. Infection and immunity 79, 2489-2498.
- 152. Kavanagh, N., Ryan, E.J., Widaa, A., Sexton, G., Fennell, J., O'Rourke, S., Cahill, K.C., Kearney, C.J., O'Brien, F.J., Kerrigan, S.W., 2018. Staphylococcal Osteomyelitis: Disease Progression, Treatment Challenges, and Future Directions. Clinical microbiology reviews 31, e00084-17.
- 153. **Kawakami, T., Ando, T.,** 2013. Salmonella's masterful skill in mast cell suppression. Immunity 39, 996-998.
- 154. **Kennelly, P.J., Potts, M.,** 1996. Fancy meeting you here! A fresh look at "prokaryotic" protein phosphorylation. Journal of bacteriology 178, 4759-4764.
- 155. Khosravi, A.D., Jenabi, A., Montazeri, E.A., 2017. Distribution of genes encoding

resistance to aminoglycoside modifying enzymes in methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) strains. The Kaohsiung journal of medical sciences 33, 587-593.

- 156. Kim, H.K., Falugi, F., Missiakas, D.M., Schneewind, O., 2016. Peptidoglycanlinked protein A promotes T cell-dependent antibody expansion during Staphylococcus aureus infection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 113, 5718-5723.
- 157. **Kinchen, J.M, Ravichandran, K.S.,** 2008. Phagosome maturation: going through the acid test. Nature review. Molecular cell biology 9, 781-795.
- 158. **Kinkel, T.L., Roux, C.M., Dunman, P.M., Fang, F.C.,** 2013. The Staphylococcus aureus SrrAB two-component system promotes resistance to nitrosative stress and hypoxia. mBio 4, e00696-13.
- 159. **Kluytmans, J.A., Wertheim, H.F.,** 2005. Nasal carriage of Staphylococcus aureus and prevention of nosocomial infections. Infection 33, 3-8.
- 160. **Kobayashi, S.D., Malachowa, N., DeLeo, F.R.**, 2018. Neutrophils and Bacterial Immune Evasion. Journal of innate immunity 10, 432-441.
- Kobir, A., Shi, L., Boskovic, A., Grangeasse, C., Franjevic, D., Mijakovic, I., 2011.
 Protein phosphorylation in bacterial signal transduction. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1810, 989-994.
- 162. Koch, T.K., Reuter, M., Barthel, D., Bohm, S., van den Elsen, J., Kraiczy, P., Zipfel, P.F., and Skerka, C., 2012. Staphylococcus aureus proteins Sbi and Efb recruit human plasmin to degrade complement C3 and C3b. PloS one 7, e47638.
- 163. Komatsuzawa, H., Ohta, K., Sugai, M., Fujiwara, T., Glanzmann, P., Berger Bachi, B., Suginaka, H., 2000. Tn551-mediated insertional inactivation of the fmtB gene encoding a cell wall-associated protein abolishes methicillin resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy 45, 421-431.
- 164. Korting, H.C., Lukacs, A., Vogt, N., Urban, J., Ehret, W., Ruckdeschel, G., 1992. Influence of the pH-value on the growth of Staphylococcus epidermidis, Staphylococcus aureus and Propionibacterium acnes in continuous culture. Zentralblatt fur Hygiene und Umweltmedizin = International journal of hygiene and environmental medicine 193, 78-90.
- Koul, A., Choidas, A., Treder, M., Tyagi, A.K., Drlica, K., Singh, Y., Ullrich, A.,
 2000. Cloning and characterization of secretory tyrosine phosphatases of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Journal of bacteriology 182, 5425-5432.
- 166. Krause, K., Daily, K., Estfanous, S., Hamilton, K., Badr, A., Abu Khweek, A., Hegazi, R., Anne, M. N., Klamer, B., Zhang, X., Gavrilin, M. A., Pancholi, V., Amer, A. O., 2019. Caspase-11 counteracts mitochondrial ROS-mediated clearance

of Staphylococcus aureus in macrophages. EMBO reports 20, e48109.

- 167. **Krüger, E., Zühlke, D., Witt, E., Ludwig, H., and Hecker, M.,** 2001. Clp-mediated proteolysis in Gram-positive bacteria is autoregulated by the stability of a repressor. The EMBO journal 20, 852-863.
- 168. Kubica, M., Guzik, K., Koziel, J., Zarebski, M., Richter, W., Gajkowska, B., Golda, A., Maciag-Gudowska, A., Brix, K., Shaw, L., Foster, T., Potempa, J., 2008. A potential new pathway for Staphylococcus aureus dissemination: the silent survival of S. aureus phagocytosed by human monocyte-derived macrophages. PloS one 3, e1409.
- 169. Kuipers, A., Stapels, D.A.C., Weerwind, L.T., Ko, Y.P., Ruyken, M., Lee, J.C., van Kessel, K.P.M., Rooijakkers, S.H.M., 2016. The Staphylococcus aureus polysaccharide capsule and Efb-dependent fibrinogen shield act in concert to protect against phagocytosis. Microbiology 162, 1185-1194.
- 170. Kulhankova, K., King, J., Salgado-Pabon, W., 2014. Staphylococcal toxic shock syndrome: superantigen-mediated enhancement of endotoxin shock and adaptive immune suppression. Immunologic research 59, 182-187.
- 171. Kuroda, M., Ohta, T., Uchiyama, I., Baba, T., Yuzawa, H., Kobayashi, I., Cui, L., Oguchi, A., Aoki, K., Nagai, Y., Lian, J., Ito, T., Kanamori, M., Matsumaru, H., Maruyama, A., Murakami, H., Hosoyama, A., Mizutani-Ui, Y., Takahashi, N.K., Sawano, T., Inoue R, Kaito, C., Sekimizu, K., Hirakawa, H., Kuhara, S., Goto, S., Yabuzaki, J., Kanehisa, M., Yamashita, A., Oshima, K., Furuya, K., Yoshino, C., Shiba, T., Hattori, M., Ogasawara, N., Hayashi, H., Hiramatsu, K., 2001. Whole genome sequencing of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. Lancet 357, 1225-1240.
- 172. **Kurosu, M., Begari, E.,** 2010. Bacterial protein kinase inhibitors. Drug development research 71, 168-187.
- 173. Laarman, A., Milder, F., van Strijp, J., Rooijakkers, S., 2010. Complement inhibition by gram-positive pathogens: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic implications. Journal of molecular medicine 88, 115-120.
- 174. Laarman, A.J., Mijnheer, G., Mootz, J.M., van Rooijen, W.J., Ruyken, M., Malone, C.L., Heezius, E.C., Ward, R., Milligan, G., van Strijp, J.A., de Haas, C.J., Horswill, A.R., van Kessel, K.P., Rooijakkers, S.H., 2012. Staphylococcus aureus Staphopain A inhibits CXCR2-dependent neutrophil activation and chemotaxis. The EMBO Journal 31, 3607-3619.
- Laarman, A.J., Ruyken, M., Malone, C.L., van Strijp, J.A., Horswill, A.R., Rooijakkers, S.H., 2011. Staphylococcus aureus metalloprotease aureolysin cleaves complement C3 to mediate immune evasion. Journal of immunology 186,

6445-6453.

- 176. Lacoma, A., Cano, V., Moranta, D., Regueiro, V., Dominguez-Villanueva, D., Laabei, M., Gonzalez-Nicolau, M., Ausina, V., Prat, C., Bengoechea, J.A., 2017. Investigating intracellular persistence of Staphylococcus aureus within a murine alveolar macrophage cell line. Virulence 8, 1761-1775.
- 177. Ladhani, S., Joannou, C.L., Lochrie, D.P., Evans, R.W., Poston, S.M., 1999. Clinical, microbial, and biochemical aspects of the exfoliative toxins causing staphylococcal scalded-skin syndrome. Clinical microbiology reviews 12, 224-242.
- 178. Lee, H.J., Woo, Y., Hahn, T.W., Jung, Y.M., Jung, Y.J., 2020. Formation and Maturation of the Phagosome: A Key Mechanism in Innate Immunity against Intracellular Bacterial Infection. Microorganisms 8, 1298.
- 179. Lee, K., Boovanahalli, S.K., Nam, K.Y., Kang, S.U., Lee, M., Phan, J., Wu, L., Waugh, D.S., Zhang, Z.Y., No, K.T., Lee, J.J., Burke, T.R. Jr., 2005. Synthesis of tripeptides as potent Yersinia protein tyrosine phosphatase inhibitors. Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters 15, 4037-4042.
- Lee, L.Y., Hook, M., Haviland, D., Wetsel, R.A., Yonter, E.O., Syribeys, P., Vernachio, J., Brown, E.L., 2004. Inhibition of complement activation by a secreted Staphylococcus aureus protein. The Journal of infectious diseases 190, 571-579.
- Leung, A.K.C., Barankin, B., Leong, K.F., 2018. Staphylococcal-scalded skin syndrome: evaluation, diagnosis, and management. World journal of pediatrics: WJP 14, 116-120.
- 182. Lew, D.P., Waldvogel, F.A., 2004. Osteomyelitis. Lancet 364, 369-379.
- Lewis, A.M., Matzdorf, S.S., Endres, J.L., Windham, I.H., Bayles, K.W., Rice, K.C., 2015. Examination of the Staphylococcus aureus nitric oxide reductase (saNOR) reveals its contribution to modulating intracellular NO levels and cellular respiration. Molecular microbiology 96, 651-669.
- 184. Li, H., Andersen, P.S., Stegger, M., Sieber, R.N., Ingmer, H., Staubrand, N., Dalsgaard, A., Leisner, J.J., 2019. Antimicrobial Resistance and Virulence Gene Profiles of Methicillin-Resistant and -Susceptible Staphylococcus aureus From Food Products in Denmark. Frontiers in microbiology 10, 2681.
- Li, Y.P., Curley, G., Lopez, M., Chavez, M., Glew, R., Aragon, A., Kumar, H., Baca,
 O.G., 1996. Protein-tyrosine phosphatase activity of Coxiella burnetii that inhibits human neutrophils. Acta virologica 40, 263-272.
- 186. Li, X., Huang, T., Xu, K., Li, C., Li, Y., 2019. Molecular characteristics and virulence gene profiles of Staphylococcus aureus isolates in Hainan, China. BMC Infectious diseases 19, 873.
- 187. Liang, X., Hall, J. W., Yang, J., Yan, M., Doll, K., Bey, R., Ji, Y., 2011. Identification

of single nucleotide polymorphisms associated with hyperproduction of alpha-toxin in Staphylococcus aureus. PloS one 6, e18428.

- 188. **Lindsay, J.,** 2008. "Staphylococcus: Molecular Genetics", 1st Edition (Caister Academic Press).
- 189. Lindsay, J.A., Moore, C.E., Day, N.P., Peacock, S.J., Witney, A.A., Stabler, R.A., Husain, S.E., Butcher, P.D., Hinds, J., 2006. Microarrays reveal that each of the ten dominant lineages of Staphylococcus aureus has a unique combination of surfaceassociated and regulatory genes. Journal of bacteriology 188, 669-676.
- 190. Lowder, B.V., Guinane, C.M., Ben Zakour, N.L., Weinert, L.A., Conway-Morris, A., Cartwright, R.A., Simpson, A.J., Rambaut, A., Nubel, U., Fitzgerald, J.R., 2009. Recent human-to-poultry host jump, adaptation, and pandemic spread of Staphylococcus aureus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106, 19545-19550.
- 191. **Lowy, F.D.**, 1998. "Staphylococcus aureus infections". The New England journal of medicine, vol. 339, pp. 520-532.
- 192. Lu, T., Porter, A.R., Kennedy, A.D., Kobayashi, S.D., DeLeo, F.R., 2014. Phagocytosis and killing of Staphylococcus aureus by human neutrophils. Journal of innate immunity 6, 639-649.
- 193. Lundy, F.T., Nelson, J., Lockhart, D., Greer, B., Harriott, P., Marley, J.J., 2008. Antimicrobial activity of truncated alpha-defensin (human neutrophil peptide (HNP)-1) analogues without disulphide bridges. Molecular immunology 45, 190-193.
- 194. Luong, T.T., Dunman, P.M., Murphy, E., Projan, S.J., Lee, C.Y., 2006. Transcription Profiling of the mgrA Regulon in Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of bacteriology 188, 1899-1910.
- 195. **Malachowa, N., DeLeo, F.R.,** 2010. Mobile genetic elements of Staphylococcus aureus. Cellular and molecular life sciences 67, 3057-3071.
- 196. **Malachowa, N., DeLeo, F.R.,** 2011. Staphylococcus aureus survival in human blood. Virulence 2, 567-569.
- 197. **Marshall, H.E., Merchant, K., Stamler, J.S.,** 2000. Nitrosation and oxidation in the regulation of gene expression. the FASEB journal 14, 1889-900.
- 198. **Marrack, P., Kappler, J.,** 1990. The staphylococcal enterotoxins and their relatives. Science 248, 705-711.
- 199. **Marriott, I.,** 2013. Apoptosis-associated uncoupling of bone formation and resorption in osteomyelitis. Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology 3, 101.
- 200. **Marshansky, V., Futai, M.,** 2008 The V-type H+-ATPase in vesicular trafficking: targeting, regulation and function. Current opinion in cell biology 20, 415-426.
- 201. Martins, P.G., Mori, M., Chiaradia-Delatorre, L.D., Menegatti, A.C., Mascarello,

A., Botta, B., Benitez, J., Gambino, D., Terenzi, H., 2015. Exploring Oxidovanadium (IV) Complexes as YopH Inhibitors: Mechanism of Action and Modeling Studies. ACS medicinal chemistry letters 6, 1035-1040.

- 202. **Marzec, N.S., Bessesen, M.T.,** 2016. Risk and outcomes of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) bacteremia among patients admitted with and without MRSA nares colonization. American journal of infection control 44, 405-408.
- 203. McAleese, F.M., Walsh, E.J, Sieprawska, M., Potempa, J., Foster, T.J., 2001. Loss of clumping factor B fibrinogen binding activity by Staphylococcus aureus involves cessation of transcription, shedding and cleavage by metalloprotease. Journal of biological chemistry 276, 29969-29978.
- 204. McDevitt, D., Nanavaty, T., House-Pompeo, K., Bell, E., Turner, N., McIntire, L., Foster, T., Hook, M., 1997. Characterization of the interaction between the Staphylococcus aureus clumping factor (ClfA) and fibrinogen. European journal of biochemistry 247, 416-424.
- 205. McGavin, M.J., Zahradka, C., Rice, K., Scott, J.E., 1997. Modification of the Staphylococcus aureus fibronectin binding phenotype by V8 protease. Infection and immunity 65, 2621-2628.
- 206. **McGuinness, W.A., Malachowa, N., DeLeo, F.R.,** 2017. Vancomycin Resistance in Staphylococcus aureus. The Yale journal of biology and medicine 90, 269-281.
- 207. Michailova, L., Stoitsova, S., Markova, N., Kussovski, V., Jordanova, M., Dimova, I., 2000. Interaction of alveolar macrophages with Staphylococcus aureus and induction of microbial L-forms during infection in rats. International journal of medical microbiology: IJMM 290, 259-267.
- Michel, A., Agerer, F., Hauck, C.R., Herrmann, M., Ullrich, J., Hacker, J., Ohlsen,
 K., 2006. Global regulatory impact of ClpP protease of Staphylococcus aureus on regulons involved in virulence, oxidative stress response, autolysis, and DNA repair. Journal of bacteriology 188, 5783-5796.
- 209. **Mijakovic, I., Macek, B.,** 2012. Impact of phosphoproteomics on studies of bacterial physiology. FEMS microbiology reviews 36, 877-892.
- 210. **Mishra, A.K., Yadav, P., Mishra, A.,** 2016. A Systemic Review on Staphylococcal Scalded Skin Syndrome (SSSS): A Rare and Critical Disease of Neonates. The open microbiology journal 10, 150-159.
- 211. **Missiakas, D.M., Schneewind, O.,** 2013. Growth and laboratory maintenance of Staphylococcus aureus. Current Protocols in Microbiology Chapter 9, Unit 9C 1.
- 212. **Mongkolsuk S., Helmann J.D.,** 2002. Regulation of inducible peroxide stress responses. Molecular microbiology 45, 9-15.
- 213. Montagna, L.G., Ivanov, M.I., Bliska, J.B., 2001. Identification of residues in the N-

terminal domain of the Yersinia tyrosine phosphatase that are critical for substrate recognition. The Journal of biological chemistry 276, 5005-5011.

- 214. Moran, G.J., Krishnadasan, A., Gorwitz, R.J., Fosheim, G.E., McDougal, L.K., Carey, R.B., Talan, D.A., 2006. EMERGEncy ID Net Study Group. Methicillinresistant S. aureus infections among patients in the emergency department. The New England journal of medicine 355, 666-674.
- Moreillon, P., Entenza, J.M., Francioli, P., McDevitt, D., Foster, T.J., Francois,
 P., Vaudaux, P., 1995. Role of Staphylococcus aureus coagulase and clumping factor in pathogenesis of experimental endocarditis. Infection and immunity 63, 4738-4743.
- 216. **Morona, J.K., Morona, R., Miller, D.C., Paton, J.C.,** 2002. Streptococcus pneumoniae capsule biosynthesis protein CpsB is a novel manganese-dependent phosphotyrosine-protein phosphatase. Journal of bacteriology 184, 577-583.
- 217. **Mortaz, E., Alipoor, S.D., Adcock, I.M., Mumby, S., Koenderman, L.,** 2018. Update on Neutrophil Function in Severe Inflammation. Frontiers in immunology 9, 2171.
- 218. Moshous, D., Martin, E., Carpentier, W., Lim, A., Callebaut, I., Canioni, D., Hauck, F., Majewski, J., Schwartzentruber, J., Nitschke, P., Sirvent, N., Frange, P., Picard, C., Blanche, S., Revy, P., Fischer, A., Latour, S., Jabado, N., de Villartay, J.P., 2013. Whole-exome sequencing identifies Coronin-1A deficiency in 3 siblings with immunodeficiency and EBV-associated B-cell lymphoproliferation. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology 131, 1594-1603.
- 219. **Mukherjee, S., Dhar, R., Das, A.K.,** 2009. Analyzing the catalytic mechanism of protein tyrosine phosphatase PtpB from Staphylococcus aureus through site-directed mutagenesis. International journal of biological macromolecules 45, 463-469.
- Mulcahy, M.E., Geoghegan, J.A., Monk, I.R., O'Keeffe, K.M., Walsh, E.J., Foster,
 T.J., McLoughlin, R.M., 2012. Nasal colonisation by Staphylococcus aureus depends upon clumping factor B binding to the squamous epithelial cell envelope protein loricrin. PLoS pathogens 8, e1003092.
- Na, M., Jarneborn, A., Ali, A., Welin, A., Magnusson, M., Stokowska, A., Pekna,
 M., Jin, T., 2016. Deficiency of the Complement Component 3 but Not Factor B
 Aggravates Staphylococcus aureus Septic Arthritis in Mice. Infection and immunity
 84, 930-939.
- 222. Nelson, R.E., Goto, M., Samore, M.H., Jones, M., Stevens, V.W., Evans, M.E., Schweizer, M.L., Perencevich, E.N., Rubin, M.A., 2021. Expanding an Economic Evaluation of the Veterans Affairs (VA) Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) Prevention Initiative to Include Prevention of Infections From Other Pathogens. Clinical infectious diseases: an official publication of the Infectious

Diseases Society of America 72, S50-S58.

- 223. **Novick, R.P.,** 2003. Autoinduction and signal transduction in the regulation of staphylococcal virulence. Molecular microbiology 48, 1429-1449.
- 224. **Ogston, A.,** 1881. Report upon Micro-Organisms in Surgical Diseases. British medical journal 1, 369-377
- 225. **Ogston, A.,** 1882. Micrococcus Poisoning. Journal of anatomy and physiology 17, 24-58.
- 226. Oku, T., Kaneko, Y., Ishii, R., Hitomi, Y., Tsuiji, M., Toyoshima, S., Tsuji, T., 2021. Coronin-1 is phosphorylated at Thr-412 by protein kinase Calpha in human phagocytic cells. Biochemistry and biophysics reports 27, 101041.
- 227. Okumura, C.Y., Nizet, V., 2014. Subterfuge and sabotage: evasion of host innate defenses by invasive gram-positive bacterial pathogens. Annual review of microbiology 68, 439-458.
- 228. **Oppenheim, J.J., Biragyn, A., Kwak, L.W., Yang, D**., 2003. Roles of antimicrobial peptides such as defensins in innate and adaptive immunity. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 62 Suppl 2, ii17-21.
- 229. **Otto, M.**, 2014. Staphylococcus aureus toxins. Current opinion in microbiology 17, 32-37.
- 230. Pacelli, R., Wink, D.A., Cook, J.A., Krishna, M.C., DeGraff, W., Friedman, N., Tsokos, M., Samuni, A., Mitchell, J.B., 1995. Nitric oxide potentiates hydrogen peroxide-induced killing of Escherichia coli. The Journal of experimental medicine 182, 1469-1479.
- 231. **Pacher, P., Beckman, J.S., Liaudet, L.,** 2007. Nitric oxide and peroxynitrite in health and disease. Physiological reviews 87, 315-424.
- 232. **Pal, S., Sayana, A., Joshi, A., Juyal, D.,** 2019. Staphylococcus aureus: A predominant cause of surgical site infections in a rural healthcare setup of Uttarakhand. Journal of family medicine and primary care 8, 3600-3606.
- 233. Papayannopoulos, V., Metzler, K.D., Hakkim, A., Zychlinsky, A., 2010. Neutrophil elastase and myeloperoxidase regulate the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps. The Journal of cell biology 191, 677-691.
- 234. **Papayannopoulos, V., Zychlinsky, A.,** 2009. NETs: a new strategy for using old weapons. Trends in immunology 30, 513-521.
- Payne, D.J., 2008. Microbiology. Desperately seeking new antibiotics. Science 321, 1644-1645.
- 236. **Peacock, S.J., de Silva, I., Lowy, F.D.,** 2001. What determines nasal carriage of Staphylococcus aureus? Trends in microbiology 9, 605-610.
- 237. Peacock, S.J., Foster, T.J., Cameron, B.J., Berendt, A.R., 1999. Bacterial

fibronectin-binding proteins and endothelial cell surface fibronectin mediate adherence of Staphylococcus aureus to resting human endothelial cells. Microbiology 145 (Pt 12), 3477-3486.

- 238. **Persson, C., Carballeira, N., Wolf-Watz, H., Fallman, M.,** 1997. The PTPase YopH inhibits uptake of Yersinia, tyrosine phosphorylation of p130Cas and FAK, and the associated accumulation of these proteins in peripheral focal adhesions. The EMBO journal 16, 2307-2318.
- Persson, C., Nordfelth, R., Andersson, K., Forsberg, A., Wolf-Watz, H., Fallman,
 M., 1999. Localization of the Yersinia PTPase to focal complexes is an important virulence mechanism. Molecular microbiology 33, 828-838.
- Peyrusson, F., Varet, H., Nguyen, T.K., Legendre, R., Sismeiro, O., Coppee, J.Y.,
 Wolz, C., Tenson, T., Van Bambeke, F., 2020. Intracellular Staphylococcus aureus persisters upon antibiotic exposure. Nature communications 11, 2200.
- 241. Phan, J., Lee, K., Cherry, S., Tropea, J.E., Burke, T.R., Jr., Waugh, D.S., 2003. High-resolution structure of the Yersinia pestis protein tyrosine phosphatase YopH in complex with a phosphotyrosyl mimetic-containing hexapeptide. Biochemistry 42, 13113-13121.
- Pidwill, G.R., Gibson, J.F., Cole, J., Renshaw, S.A., Foster, S.J., 2021. The Role of Macrophages in Staphylococcus aureus Infection. Frontiers in immunology 11, 620339.
- 243. **Pietrocola, G., Nobile, G., Rindi, S., Speziale, P.,** 2017. Staphylococcus aureus Manipulates Innate Immunity through Own and Host-Expressed Proteases. Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology 7, 166.
- 244. Prajsnar, T.K., Serba, J.J., Dekker, B.M., Gibson, J.F., Masud, S., Fleming, A., Johnston, S.A., Renshaw, S.A., Meijer, A.H., 2020. The autophagic response to Staphylococcus aureus provides an intracellular niche in neutrophils. Autophagy 17, 888-902
- 245. Preda, M., Mihai, M.M., Popa, L.I., Diţu, L.M., Holban, A.M., Manolescu, L.S.C., Popa, G.L., Muntean, A.A., Gheorghe, I., Chifiriuc, C.M., Popa, M.I., 2021. Phenotypic and genotypic virulence features of staphylococcal strains isolated from difficult-to-treat skin and soft tissue infections. PLoS One, 16, e0246478.
- Punwani, D., Pelz, B., Yu, J., Arva, N.C., Schafernak, K., Kondratowicz, K.,
 Makhija, M., Puck, J.M., 2015. Coronin-1A: immune deficiency in humans and mice.
 Journal of clinical immunology 35, 100-107.
- Qin, Z., 2012. The use of THP-1 cells as a model for mimicking the function and regulation of monocytes and macrophages in the vasculature. Atherosclerosis 221, 2-11.

- Quinn, P.J., Markey, B.K., Leonard, F.C., Hartigan, P., Fanning, S., Fitzpatrick,
 E.S., 2011. Veterinary Microbiology and Microbial Disease, 2nd Edition. (John Wiley & Sons, 2011).
- 249. **Ramamurthi, A., Lewis, R.S.,** 1997. Measurement and modeling of nitric oxide release rates for nitric oxide donors. Chemical research in toxicology 10, 408-413.
- 250. **Rammelkamp CH, Maxon T.,** 1942. Resistance of Staphylococcus aureus to the Action of Penicillin. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine 51, 386-389.
- Raugei, G., Ramponi, G., Chiarugi, P., 2002. Low molecular weight protein tyrosine phosphatases: small, but smart. Cellular and molecular life sciences: CMLS 59, 941-949.
- 252. Raumanns, J., Kaufhold, A., Behrendt, W., Peters, G., 1995. [Lethal, nonmenstrual toxic shock syndrome associated with Staphylococcus aureus sepsis]. Der Anaesthesist 44, 869-874.
- 253. **Raychaudhuri D, Chatterjee AN.**, 1985. Use of resistant mutants to study the interaction of triton X-100 with Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of bacteriology 164, 1337-1349.
- 254. **Raygada, J.L., Levine, D.P.,** 2009. Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus: A Growing Risk in the Hospital and in the Community. American health and drug benefits 2, 86-95.
- Rayner, C., Munckhof, W.J., 2005. Antibiotics currently used in the treatment of infections caused by Staphylococcus aureus. Internal medicine journal 35 Suppl 2, S3-16.
- 256. **Ricklin, D., Reis, E.S., Lambris, J.D.,** 2016. Complement in disease: a defence system turning offensive. Nature reviews. Nephrology 12, 383-401.
- 257. **Rigby, K.M., DeLeo, F.R.,** 2012. Neutrophils in innate host defense against Staphylococcus aureus infections. Seminars in immunopathology 34, 237-259.
- Roberts, S., Chambers, S., 2005. Diagnosis and management of Staphylococcus aureus infections of the skin and soft tissue. Internal medicine journal 35 Suppl 2, S97-105.
- Rooijakkers, S.H., Wu, J., Ruyken, M., van Domselaar, R., Planken, K.L., Tzekou,
 A., Ricklin, D., Lambris, J.D., Janssen, B.J., van Strijp, J.A., Gros, P., 2009.
 Structural and functional implications of the alternative complement pathway C3
 convertase stabilized by a staphylococcal inhibitor. Nature immunology 10, 721-727.
- 260. **Rosales, C.,** 2018. Neutrophil: A Cell with Many Roles in Inflammation or Several Cell Types? Frontiers in physiology 9, 113.
- 261. **Rosenbach, F.J.**, 1884. Mikro-organismen bei den Wund-Infections-Krankheiten des

Menschen (J.F. Bergmann, 1884).

- 262. **Roskoski, R., Jr.,** 2012. ERK1/2 MAP kinases: structure, function, and regulation. Pharmacological research 66, 105-143.
- Ruddraraju, K.V., Aggarwal, D., Zhang, Z.Y., 2020. Therapeutic Targeting of Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases from Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Microorganisms 9, 14.
- 264. Sacco, F., Perfetto, L., Castagnoli, L., Cesareni, G., 2012. The human phosphatase interactome: An intricate family portrait. FEBS letters 586, 2732-2739.
- 265. **Sakiniene, E., Bremell, T., Tarkowski, A.,** 1999. Complement depletion aggravates Staphylococcus aureus septicaemia and septic arthritis. Clinical and experimental immunology 115, 95-102.
- 266. **Salomon, D., Orth, K.,** 2013. What pathogens have taught us about posttranslational modifications. Cell host & microbe 14, 269-279.
- 267. Schaffer, A.C., Solinga, R.M., Cocchiaro, J., Portoles, M., Kiser, K.B., Risley, A., Randall, S.M., Valtulina, V., Speziale, P., Walsh, E., Foster, T., Lee, J.C., 2006. Immunization with Staphylococcus aureus clumping factor B, a major determinant in nasal carriage, reduces nasal colonization in a murine model. Infection and immunity 74, 2145-2153.
- 268. Schilcher, K., Andreoni, F., Uchiyama, S., Ogawa, T., Schuepbach, R.A., Zinkernagel, A.S., 2014. Increased neutrophil extracellular trap-mediated Staphylococcus aureus clearance through inhibition of nuclease activity by clindamycin and immunoglobulin. The Journal of infectious diseases 210, 473-482.
- 269. Schindler, C.A., Schuhardt, V.T., 1964. Lysostaphin: a new bacteriolytic agent for the Staphylococcus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 51, 414-421.
- 270. Schmidt, A., Trentini, D.B., Spiess, S., Fuhrmann, J., Ammerer, G., Mechtler, K., Clausen, T., 2014. Quantitative phosphoproteomics reveals the role of protein arginine phosphorylation in the bacterial stress response. Molecular & cellular proteomics: MCP 13, 537-550.
- 271. Seelen, M.A., Roos, A., Wieslander, J., Mollnes, T.E., Sjöholm, A.G., Wurzner, R., Loos, M., Tedesco, F., Sim, R.B., Garred, P., Alexopoulos, E., Turner, M.W., Daha, M.R., 2005. Functional analysis of the classical, alternative, and MBL pathways of the complement system: standardization and validation of a simple ELISA. Journal of immunological methods 296, 187-198.
- 272. Seet, B.T., Dikic, I., Zhou, M.M., Pawson, T., 2006. Reading protein modifications with interaction domains. Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology 7, 473-483.
- 273. Seilie, E.S., Bubeck Wardenburg, J., 2017. Staphylococcus aureus pore-forming

toxins: The interface of pathogen and host complexity. Seminars in cell and developmental biology 72, 101-116.

- 274. Selders, G.S., Fetz, A.E., Radic, M.Z., Bowlin, G.L., 2017. An overview of the role of neutrophils in innate immunity, inflammation and host-biomaterial integration. Regenerative biomaterials 4, 55-68.
- 275. Self, W.H., Wunderink, R.G., Williams, D.J., Zhu, Y., Anderson, E.J., Balk, R.A., Fakhran, S.S., Chappell, J.D., Casimir, G., Courtney, D.M., Trabue, C., Waterer, G.W., Bramley, A., Magill, S., Jain, S., Edwards, K.M., Grijalva, C.G., 2016. Staphylococcus aureus Community-acquired Pneumonia: Prevalence, Clinical Characteristics, and Outcomes. Clinical infectious diseases 63, 300-309.
- 276. Shariati, A., Dadashi, M., Moghadam, M.T., van Belkum, A., Yaslianifard, S., Darban-Sarokhalil, D., 2020. Global prevalence and distribution of vancomycin resistant, vancomycin intermediate and heterogeneously vancomycin intermediate Staphylococcus aureus clinical isolates: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Scientific reports 10, 12689.
- 277. Sharif, S., Singh, M., Kim, S.J., Schaefer, J., 2009. Staphylococcus aureus peptidoglycan tertiary structure from carbon-13 spin diffusion. Journal of the American Chemical Society 131, 7023-7030.
- Shaw, L., Golonka, E., Potempa, J., Foster, S.J., 2004. The role and regulation of the extracellular proteases of Staphylococcus aureus. Microbiology (Reading) 150 (Pt 1), 217-228.
- 279. Shimoda, M., Ohki, K., Shimamoto, Y., Kohashi, O., 1995. Morphology of defensintreated Staphylococcus aureus. Infection and immunity 63, 2886-2891.
- 280. Shiow, L.R., Roadcap, D.W., Paris, K., Watson, S.R., Grigorova, I.L., Lebet, T., An, J., Xu, Y., Jenne, C.N., Foger, N., Sorensen, R.U., Goodnow, C.C., Bear, J.E., Puck, J.M., Cyster, J.G., 2008. The actin regulator coronin 1A is mutant in a thymic egress-deficient mouse strain and in a patient with severe combined immunodeficiency. Nature immunology 9, 1307-1315.
- 281. Sieprawska-Lupa, M., Mydel, P., Krawczyk, K., Wójcik, K., Puklo, M., Lupa, B., Suder, P., Silberring, J., Reed, M., Pohl, J., Shafer, W., McAleese, F., Foster, T., Travis, J., Potempa, J., 2004. Degradation of human antimicrobial peptide LL-37 by Staphylococcus aureus-derived proteinases. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 48, 4673-4679.
- Singh, R., Rao, V., Shakila, H., Gupta, R., Khera, A., Dhar, N., Singh, A., Koul,
 A., Singh, Y., Naseema, M., Narayanan, P.R., Paramasivan, C.N., Ramanathan,
 V.D., Tyagi, A.K., 2003. Disruption of mptpB impairs the ability of Mycobacterium tuberculosis to survive in guinea pigs. Molecular microbiology 50, 751-762.

- 283. Sinha, B., Francois, P.P., Nusse, O., Foti, M., Hartford, O.M., Vaudaux, P., Foster, T.J., Lew, D.P., Herrmann, M., Krause, K.H., 1999. Fibronectin-binding protein acts as Staphylococcus aureus invasin via fibronectin bridging to integrin alpha5beta1. Cellular microbiology 1, 101-117.
- Smagur, J., Guzik, K., Bzowska, M., Kuzak, M., Zarebski, M., Kantyka, T., Walski,
 M., Gajkowska, B., Potempa, J., 2009. Staphylococcal cysteine protease staphopain B (SspB) induces rapid engulfment of human neutrophils and monocytes by macrophages. Biological chemistry 390, 361-371.
- 285. Smiet, E., Grinwis, G.C.M., van den Top, J.G.B., Sloet van Oldruitenborgh-Oosterbaan, M.M., 2012. Equine mammary gland disease with a focus on botryomycosis: a review and case study. Equine veterinary education 24, 357-66.
- Sollid, J.U., Furberg, A.S., Hanssen, A.M., Johannessen, M., 2014. Staphylococcus aureus: determinants of human carriage. Infection, genetics and evolution 21, 531-541.
- 287. Somerville, G.A., Beres, S.B., Fitzgerald, J.R., DeLeo, F.R., Cole, R.L., Hoff, J.S., Musser, J.M., 2002. In vitro serial passage of Staphylococcus aureus: changes in physiology, virulence factor production, and agr nucleotide sequence. Journal of bacteriology 184, 1430-1437.
- Soulat, D., Vaganay, E., Duclos, B., Genestier, A.L., Etienne, J., Cozzone, A.J.,
 2002. Staphylococcus aureus contains two low-molecular-mass phosphotyrosine protein phosphatases. Journal of bacteriology 184, 5194-5199.
- 289. **Spaan, A.N., Surewaard, B.G., Nijland, R., van Strijp, J.A.,** 2013. Neutrophils versus Staphylococcus aureus: a biological tug of war. Annual review of microbiology 67, 629-650.
- 290. **Speziale, P., Pietrocola, G.,** 2021. Staphylococcus aureus induces neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) and neutralizes their bactericidal potential. Computational and structural biotechnology journal 19, 3451-3457.
- 291. Standish, A.J., Morona, R., 2014. The role of bacterial protein tyrosine phosphatases in the regulation of the biosynthesis of secreted polysaccharides. Antioxidants & redox signaling 20, 2274-2289.
- 292. **Stanford, S.M., Bottini, N.,** 2017. Targeting Tyrosine Phosphatases: Time to End the Stigma. Trends in pharmacological sciences 38, 524-540.
- 293. Stapels, D.A., Ramyar, K.X., Bischoff, M., von Köckritz-Blickwede, M., Milder, F.J., Ruyken, M., Eisenbeis, J., McWhorter, W.J., Herrmann, M., van Kessel, K.P., Geisbrecht, B.V., & Rooijakkers, S.H., 2014. Staphylococcus aureus secretes a unique class of neutrophil serine protease inhibitors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111, 13187-13192.

- 294. **Starr, T., Bauler, T.J., Malik-Kale, P., Steele-Mortimer, O.,** 2018. The phorbol 12myristate-13-acetate differentiation protocol is critical to the interaction of THP-1 macrophages with Salmonella Typhimurium. PloS one 13, e0193601.
- 295. Stegger, M., Wirth, T., Andersen, P.S., Skov, R.L., De Grassi, A., Simões, P.M., Tristan, A., Petersen, A., Aziz, M., Kiil, K., Cirković, I., Udo, E.E., del Campo, R., Vuopio-Varkila, J., Ahmad, N., Tokajian, S., Peters, G., Schaumburg, F., Olsson-Liljequist, B., Givskov, M., Driebe, E.E., Vigh, H.E., Shittu, A., Ramdani-Bougessa, N., Rasigade, J.P., Price, L.B., Vandenesch, F., Larsen, A.R., Laurent, F., 2014. Origin and evolution of European community-acquired methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus. mBio 5, e01044-14.
- 296. Stuart, R.L., Cameron, D.R., Scott, C., Kotsanas, D., Grayson, M.L., Korman, T.M., Gillespie, E.E., Johnson, P.D., 2013. Peripheral intravenous catheterassociated Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia: more than 5 years of prospective data from two tertiary health services. The Medical journal of Australia 198, 551-553.
- 297. Stuehr, D.J., Fasehun, O.A., Kwon, N.S., Gross, S.S., Gonzalez, J.A., Levi, R., Nathan, C.F., 1991. Inhibition of macrophage and endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase by diphenyleneiodonium and its analogs. FASEB journal: official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 5, 98-103.
- Surewaard, B.G., Deniset, J.F., Zemp, F.J., Amrein, M., Otto, M., Conly, J., Omri,
 A., Yates, R.M., Kubes, P., 2016. Identification and treatment of the Staphylococcus aureus reservoir in vivo. The Journal of experimental medicine 213, 1141-1151.
- 299. **Suskiewicz, M.J., Clausen, T.,** 2016. Chemical Biology Interrogates Protein Arginine Phosphorylation. Cell chemical biology 23, 888-890.
- 300. **Sutra, L., Poutrel, B.,** 1994. Virulence factors involved in the pathogenesis of bovine intramammary infections due to Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of medical microbiology 40, 79-89.
- 301. Sutton, J., Carnell, O.T., Lafage, L., Gray, J., Biboy, J., Gibson, J.F., Pollitt, E., Tazoll, S.C., Turnbull, W., Hajdamowicz, N.H., Salamaga, B., Pidwill, G.R., Condliffe, A.M., Renshaw, S.A., Vollmer, W., Foster, S.J., 2021. Staphylococcus aureus cell wall structure and dynamics during host-pathogen interaction. PLoS pathogens 17, e1009468.
- 302. Tan, L., Li, S.R., Jiang, B., Hu, X.M., Li, S., 2018 Therapeutic Targeting of the Staphylococcus aureus Accessory Gene Regulator (agr) System. Frontiers in microbiology 9, 55.
- 303. **Taylor, W.P., Zhang, Z.Y., Widlanski, T.S.,** 1996. Quiescent affinity inactivators of protein tyrosine phosphatases. Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry 4, 1515-1520.
- 304. Tenover, F.C., Biddle, J.W., Lancaster, M.V., 2001. Increasing resistance to

vancomycin and other glycopeptides in Staphylococcus aureus. Emerging infectious diseases 7, 327-332.

- 305. Thammavongsa, V., Kim, H.K., Missiakas, D., Schneewind, O., 2015. Staphylococcal manipulation of host immune responses. Nature reviews. Microbiology 13, 529-543.
- 306. **Thammavongsa, V., Missiakas, D. M., Schneewind, O.**, 2013. Staphylococcus aureus degrades neutrophil extracellular traps to promote immune cell death. Science (New York, N.Y.) 342, 863-866.
- 307. Thomer, L., Emolo, C., Thammavongsa, V., Kim, H.K., McAdow, M.E., Yu, W., Kieffer, M., Schneewind, O., Missiakas, D., 2016. Antibodies against a secreted product of Staphylococcus aureus trigger phagocytic killing. The Journal of experimental medicine 213, 293-301.
- 308. **Tiganis, T.,** 2002. Protein tyrosine phosphatases: dephosphorylating the epidermal growth factor receptor. IUBMB life 53, 3-14.
- 309. Tong, S.Y., Davis, J.S., Eichenberger, E., Holland, T.L., Fowler, V.G., Jr., 2015. Staphylococcus aureus infections: epidemiology, pathophysiology, clinical manifestations, and management. Clinical microbiology reviews 28, 603-661.
- Tranchemontagne, Z.R., Camire, R.B., O'Donnell, V.J., Baugh, J., Burkholder,
 K.M., 2016. Staphylococcus aureus Strain USA300 Perturbs Acquisition of Lysosomal Enzymes and Requires Phagosomal Acidification for Survival inside Macrophages. Infection and immunity 84, 241-253.
- Trentini, D.B., Suskiewicz, M.J., Heuck, A., Kurzbauer, R., Deszcz, L., Mechtler,
 K., Clausen, T., 2016. Arginine phosphorylation marks proteins for degradation by a
 Clp protease. Nature 539, 48-53.
- Trzcinski, K., Cooper, B.S., Hryniewicz, W., Dowson, C.G., 2000. Expression of resistance to tetracyclines in strains of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy 45, 763-770.
- 313. Tsuchiya, S., Yamabe, M., Yamaguchi, Y., Kobayashi, Y., Konno, T., Tada, K.,
 1980. Establishment and characterization of a human acute monocytic leukemia cell
 line (THP-1). International journal of cancer 26, 171-176.
- 314. Turner, N.A., Sharma-Kuinkel, B.K., Maskarinec, S.A., Eichenberger, E.M., Shah, P.P., Carugati, M., Holland, T.L., Fowler, V.G., Jr., 2019. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: an overview of basic and clinical research. Nature reviews, Microbiology 17, 203-218.
- 315. **Truong-Bolduc, Q.C., Ding, Y., Hooper, D.C.,** 2008. Posttranslational modification influences the effects of MgrA on norA expression in Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of bacteriology 190, 7375-7381.

- 316. **Truong-Bolduc, Q.C., Hooper, D.C.,** 2010. Phosphorylation of MgrA and its effect on expression of the NorA and NorB efflux pumps of Staphylococcus aureus. Journal of bacteriology 192, 2525-2534.
- 317. **Ubersax, J.A., Ferrell, J.E., Jr.,** 2007. Mechanisms of specificity in protein phosphorylation. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology 8, 530-541.
- 318. Urbano, R., Karlinsey, J.E., Libby, S.J., Doulias, P.T., Ischiropoulos, H., Warheit-Niemi, H.I., Liggitt, D.H., Horswill, A.R., Fang, F.C., 2018. Host Nitric Oxide Disrupts Microbial Cell-to-Cell Communication to Inhibit Staphylococcal Virulence. Cell host & microbe 23, 594-606.
- 319. van Belkum, A., Verkaik, N.J., de Vogel, C.P., Boelens, H.A., Verveer, J., Nouwen, J.L., Verbrugh, H.A., Wertheim, H.F., 2009. Reclassification of Staphylococcus aureus nasal carriage types. The Journal of infectious diseases 199, 1820-1826.
- 320. van der Flier M., van Dijk N.B., Fluit A.C., Fleer A., Wolfs T.F., van Gestel J.P., 2003. Fatale pneumonie bij een adolescent door thuis opgelopen meticillineresistente Staphylococcus aureus positief voor Panton-Valentine-leukocidine [Fatal pneumonia in an adolescent due to community-acquired methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus positive for Panton-Valentine-leukocidin]. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 147, 1076-9.
- 321. van der Poll, T., Keogh, C.V., Guirao, X., Buurman, W.A., Kopf, M., and Lowry,
 S.F., 1997. Interleukin-6 gene-deficient mice show impaired defense against pneumococcal pneumonia. The Journal of infectious diseases 176, 439-444.
- 322. **van Kessel, K.P., Bestebroer, J., van Strijp, J.A.**, 2014. Neutrophil-Mediated Phagocytosis of Staphylococcus aureus. Frontiers in immunology 5, 467.
- 323. **Vandenesch, F., Lina, G., Henry, T.,** 2012. Staphylococcus aureus hemolysins, bicomponent leukocidins, and cytolytic peptides: a redundant arsenal of membranedamaging virulence factors? Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology 2, 12.
- Vazquez-Torres, A., Stevanin, T., Jones-Carson, J., Castor, M., Read, R.C., Fang, F.C., 2008. Analysis of nitric oxide-dependent antimicrobial actions in macrophages and mice. Methods in enzymology 437, 521-538.
- 325. Vega, C., Chou, S., Engel, K., Harrell, M.E., Rajagopal, L., Grundner, C., 2011. Structure and substrate recognition of the Staphylococcus aureus protein tyrosine phosphatase PtpA. Journal of molecular biology 413, 24-31.
- 326. **Vestergaard, M., Frees, D., Ingmer, H.,** 2019. Antibiotic Resistance and the MRSA Problem. Microbiology spectrum 7(2).
- 327. Viela, F., Prystopiuk, V., Leprince, A., Mahillon, J., Speziale, P., Pietrocola, G., Dufrene, Y.F., 2019. Binding of Staphylococcus aureus Protein A to von Willebrand

Factor Is Regulated by Mechanical Force. mBio 10, e00555-19.

- Viola, A., Munari, F., Sanchez-Rodriguez, R., Scolaro, T., Castegna, A., 2019. The Metabolic Signature of Macrophage Responses. Frontiers in immunology 10, 1462.
- 329. **Wajant, H., Pfizenmaier, K., Scheurich, P.,** 2003. Tumor necrosis factor signaling. Cell death and differentiation 10, 45-65.
- 330. Waksman, G., Kominos, D., Robertson, S.C., Pant, N., Baltimore, D., Birge, R.B., Cowburn, D., Hanafusa, H., Mayer, B.J., Overduin, M., Resh, M.D., Rios, C.B., Silverman, L., Kuriyan, J., 1992. Crystal structure of the phosphotyrosine recognition domain SH2 of v-src complexed with tyrosine-phosphorylated peptides. Nature 358, 646-653.
- 331. Walsh, E.J., Miajlovic, H., Gorkun, O.V., Foster, T.J., 2008. Identification of the Staphylococcus aureus MSCRAMM clumping factor B (ClfB) binding site in the alphaC-domain of human fibrinogen. Microbiology 154, 550-558.
- 332. Wang, J., Ge, P., Qiang, L., Tian, F., Zhao, D., Chai, Q., Zhu, M., Zhou, R., Meng, G., Iwakura, Y., Gao, G. F., & Liu, C. H., 2017. The mycobacterial phosphatase PtpA regulates the expression of host genes and promotes cell proliferation. Nature communications 8, 244.
- 333. Wang, J.E., Jorgensen, P.F., Almlof, M., Thiemermann, C., Foster, S.J., Aasen, A.O., Solberg, R., 2000. Peptidoglycan and lipoteichoic acid from Staphylococcus aureus induce tumor necrosis factor alpha, interleukin 6 (IL-6), and IL-10 production in both T cells and monocytes in a human whole blood model. Infection and immunity 68, 3965-3970.
- 334. Webb, J.L., Harvey, M.W., Holden, D.W., Evans, T.J., 2001. Macrophage nitric oxide synthase associates with cortical actin but is not recruited to phagosomes. Infection and immunity 69, 6391-6400.
- Weinberg, J.B., 1998. Nitric oxide production and nitric oxide synthase type 2 expression by human mononuclear phagocytes: a review. Molecular medicine 4, 557-591.
- Wertheim, H.F., Verveer, J., Boelens, H.A., van Belkum, A., Verbrugh, H.A., Vos, M.C., 2005. Effect of mupirocin treatment on nasal, pharyngeal, and perineal carriage of Staphylococcus aureus in healthy adults. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 49, 1465-1467.
- 337. **Westman, J., Grinstein, S.,** 2021. Determinants of Phagosomal pH During Host-Pathogen Interactions. Frontiers in cell and developmental biology 8, 624958.
- 338. Whitmore, S.E., Lamont, R.J., 2012. Tyrosine phosphorylation and bacterial virulence. International journal of oral science 4, 1-6.

- 339. **Williams, R.E.,** 1963. Healthy carriage of Staphylococcus aureus: its prevalence and importance. Bacteriological reviews 27, 56-71.
- 340. Wong, D., Bach, H., Sun, J., Hmama, Z., Av-Gay, Y., 2011. Mycobacterium tuberculosis protein tyrosine phosphatase (PtpA) excludes host vacuolar-H+-ATPase to inhibit phagosome acidification. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108, 19371-19376.
- 341. Wozniak, D.J., Tiwari, K.B., Soufan, R., Jayaswal, R.K., 2012. The mcsB gene of the clpC operon is required for stress tolerance and virulence in Staphylococcus aureus. Microbiology 158, 2568-2576.
- 342. Xu, H., Xia, B., Jin, C., 2006. Solution structure of a low-molecular-weight protein tyrosine phosphatase from Bacillus subtilis. Journal of bacteriology 188, 1509-1517.
- 343. Xue, L., Chen, Y.Y., Yan, Z., Lu, W., Wan, D., Zhu, H., 2019. Staphyloxanthin: a potential target for antivirulence therapy. Infection and Drug Resistance 12, 2151-2160.
- 344. **Yao, T., Mecsas, J., Healy, J.I., Falkow, S., Chien, Y.,** 1999. Suppression of T and B lymphocyte activation by a Yersinia pseudotuberculosis virulence factor, yopH. The Journal of experimental medicine 190, 1343-1350.
- 345. Zeng, D., Debabov, D., Hartsell, T.L., Cano, R.J., Adams, S., Schuyler, J.A., McMillan, R., Pace, J.L., 2016. Approved Glycopeptide Antibacterial Drugs: Mechanism of Action and Resistance. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine 6, a026989.
- 346. Zhang, Z.Y., Clemens, J.C., Schubert, H.L., Stuckey, J.A., Fischer, M.W., Hume, D.M., Saper, M.A., Dixon, J.E., 1992. Expression, purification, and physicochemical characterization of a recombinant Yersinia protein tyrosine phosphatase. The Journal of biological chemistry 267, 23759-23766.
- 347. Zhang Z, Shen K, Lu W, Cole PA., 2003. The role of C-terminal tyrosine phosphorylation in the regulation of SHP-1 explored via expressed protein ligation. Journal of biological chemistry 278, 4668-4674.
- 348. Zheng W., Cai X., Xie M., Liang Y., Wang T., Li Z., 2016. Structure-based identification of a potent inhibitor targeting Stp1-mediated virulence regulation in Staphylococcus aureus. Cell chemical biology 23, 1002-1013.
- 349. Zhou, B., He, Y., Zhang, X., Xu, J., Luo, Y., Wang, Y., Franzblau, S.G., Yang, Z., Chan, R.J., Liu, Y., Zheng, J., Thang, Z.Y., 2010. Targeting mycobacterium protein tyrosine phosphatase B for antituberculosis agents. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107, 4573-4578.

8. Publications and conferences

Publications (in peer-reviewed journals)

- <u>Elhawy, M.I.</u>, Molle, V., Becker, S.L., Bischoff, M., 2021. The Low-Molecular Weight Protein Arginine Phosphatase PtpB Affects Nuclease Production, Cell Wall Integrity, and Uptake Rates of Staphylococcus aureus by Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes. International journal of molecular sciences: IJMS 22, 5342.
- <u>Elhawy, M.I.</u>, Huc-Brandt, S., Pätzold, L., Gannoun-Zaki, L., Abdrabou, A.M.M., Bischoff, M., Molle, V., 2021. The Phosphoarginine Phosphatase PtpB from Staphylococcus aureus Is Involved in Bacterial Stress Adaptation during Infection. Cells 10, 645.
- Shi, L., Muthukumar, V., Stachon, T., Latta, L., <u>Elhawy, M.I.</u>, Gunaratnam, G., Orosz, E., Seitz, B., Kiderlen, A.F., Bischoff, M., Szentmáry, N., 2020. The Effect of Anti-Amoebic Agents and Ce6-PDT on Acanthamoeba castellanii Trophozoites and Cysts, In Vitro. Translational vision science & technology 9, 29.
- Shi, L., Stachon, T., Latta, L., <u>Elhawy, M.I.</u>, Gunaratnam, G., Orosz, E., Kiderlen, A.F., Seitz, B., Bischoff, M., Szentmáry, N., 2019. Comparison of in vitro assays to study the effectiveness of antiparasitics against Acanthamoeba castellani trophozoites and cysts. Acta Microbiologica et Immunologica Hungarica 67, 23-32.
- Gunaratnam, G., Tuchscherr, L., <u>Elhawy, M.I.</u>, Bertram, R., Eisenbeis, J., Spengler, C., Tschernig, T., Löffler, B., Somerville, G.A., Jacobs, K., Herrmann, M., Bischoff, M., 2019. ClpC affects the intracellular survival capacity of Staphylococcus aureus in non-professional phagocytic cells. Scientific reports 9, 16267.
- Gannoun-Zaki, L., Pätzold, L., Huc-Brandt, S., Baronian, G., <u>Elhawy, M.I.</u>, Gaupp, R., Martin, M., Blanc-Potard, A.B., Letourneur, F., Bischoff, M., Molle, V., 2018.
 PtpA, a secreted tyrosine phosphatase from Staphylococcus aureus, contributes to virulence and interacts with coronin-1A during infection. Journal of biological chemistry 293, 15569-15580.

Conferences (Poster-presentations)

- <u>Elhawy, M.I.</u>, Pätzold, L., Gannoun-Zaki, L., Molle, V., Becker, S., Bischoff, M. The low molecular weight protein tyrosine phosphatase PtpB of Staphylococcus aureus affects intramacrophage survival and infectivity. The 72th Annual Conference of the German Society for Hygiene and Microbiology (DGHM). 8-11 March 2020, Leipzig, Germany.
- Benthien, H., Jonas, B., Pätzold, L., <u>Elhawy, M.I.</u>, Honecker, A., Beisswenger, C., Becker, S.L., Bischoff, M. Impact of the transcription factor SpoVG on biofilm formation of Staphylococcus epidermidis in vitro and in vivo. The 72th Annual Conference of the German Society for Hygiene and Microbiology (DGHM). 8-11 March 2020, Leipzig, Germany.
- Gunaratnam, G., Finke, M., <u>Elhawy, M.I.</u>, Spengler, C., Eisenbeis, J., Jakobs, K., Tscherning, T., Herrmann, M., Bischoff, M. The heat shock protein ClpC affects the intracellular survival capacity of Staphylococcus aureus in endothelial cells. The "Cell Physics 2019" Conference. 9-11 October 2019, Saarbrücken, Germany.
- Shi, L., Stachon, T., Latta, L., <u>Elhawy, M.I.</u>, Gunaratnam, G., Bischoff, M., Seitz, B., Szentmáry, N. Comparison of in vitro assays to study the effectiveness of antiparasitics against Acanthamoeba castellani trophozoites and cysts. The 117th Congress of the DOG (Deutsche Ophthalmologist Gesellschaft). 26-29 September 2019, Berlin, Germany.

9. Curriculum Vitae

The curriculum vitae of the author was removed from the electronic version of the doctoral thesis for reasons of data protection.

10. Acknowledgment

First and foremost, i thank "**ALLAH**" who ennobled me with many chances throughout my life. I thank you my Lord for giving me the ability, patience and enthusiasm to accomplish this work.

This thesis would not be completed without the help of my supervisor, colleagues and family members. My deep thanks to all of them.

My special thanks and gratitude go to my supervisor **Prof. Dr. sc. nat. ETH Markus Bischoff**, the head of the research department at the Institute of Medical Microbiology and Hygiene in Saarland University for giving me the chance to join his research team and suggesting this interesting research point. His supervision, encouragement, valuable advice and constructive feedback made it possible for me to complete my PhD Journey the way i wanted. **Dr. Bischoff** guided me throughout this work and put big efforts to correct my presentations and scientific writing. His scientific expertise and support can never be described with words.

I particularly would like to thank **Prof. Dr. Virginie Molle and her team** at the Laboratory of Pathogen Host Interactions in Université de Montpellier, France for their smooth and straightforward collaborations.

I am also grateful to **Univ.-Prof. Dr. med. vet. Gabriela Krasteva-Christ** at the Institute of Anatomy and Cell Biology in Saarland University for giving me the chance to perform the histopathological examination of this study in her laboratory.

Furthermore, i am thankful to **Dr. rer. nat. Philipp Jung** for his assistance in the cell cultureand FACS-based experiments.

Thanks to my research group, colleagues and technicians. During my PhD time, i was also lucky to work with **Karin Hilgert**. I would like to thank her for her great attitude and our nice conversations in German. My deepest appreciation goes also to my wonderful previous and current labmates: **Dr. rer. nat. Janina Eisenbeis, Gubesh Gunaratnam, Jacqueline Rehner, Issa Sy, Ben Wieland, Vithusan Muthukumar, Ahmed Mostafa Abdrabou, Kinan Nofal, Hannah Benthin, Judith Fürstenberg, Maureen Feucherolles and Lei Shi. Thanks for the familiar and respectful atmosphere in our laboratory.**

I thank also the **DAAD (Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst**) for granting me the German Egyptian Research Long-Term Scholarship (GERLS), thus i was able to travel to Germany and carry out my PhD study. I would like to thank staff members of the DAAD offices, both in Cairo and Bonn for their assistance and cooperation. Above all, thanks for giving me the chance to learn more, meet new people and learn a new language. In this regard, i would like to thank all my language teachers in Goethe Institutes in Cairo and Göttingen.

Last but not the least, I want to express my gratitude to my father and my siblings in Egypt for their prayers and support. Despite the distance, they were always beside me. I thank my awesome wife **Noran** for her love, patience and care during the completion of this work. She gave and is till giving me unlimited support during my life. I dedicate this thesis also to my lovely son **Basil** for filling my life with joy and happiness. I thank him so much specifically for giving me the chance to write this thesis successfully.